NEONATAL ECMO IN 2019: WHERE ARE WE NOW? WHERE NEXT?

EDITED BY: Giacomo Cavallaro, Dick Tibboel, Aparna Hoskote and Matteo Di Nardo PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Pediatrics







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

> The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-264-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-264-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

NEONATAL ECMO IN 2019: WHERE ARE WE NOW? WHERE NEXT?

Topic Editors: **Giacomo Cavallaro**, IRCCS Ca 'Granda Foundation Maggiore Policlinico Hospital, Italy **Dick Tibboel**, Erasmus Medical Center, Netherlands **Aparna Hoskote**, Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children NHS Foundation Trust, United Kingdom

Matteo Di Nardo, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

Citation: Cavallaro, G., Tibboel, D., Hoskote, A., Di Nardo, M., eds. (2022). Neonatal ECMO in 2019: Where Are We Now? Where Next?. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-264-6

Table of Contents

- 04 Editorial: Neonatal ECMO in 2019: Where Are We Now? Where Next? Giacomo Cavallaro, Matteo Di Nardo, Aparna Hoskote and Dick Tibboel
- 09 Principlism and Personalism. Comparing Two Ethical Models Applied Clinically in Neonates Undergoing Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation Support

Matteo Di Nardo, Anna Dalle Ore, Giuseppina Testa, Gail Annich, Edoardo Piervincenzi, Giorgio Zampini, Gabriella Bottari, Corrado Cecchetti, Antonio Amodeo, Roberto Lorusso, Lorenzo Del Sorbo and Roxanne Kirsch

- 18 Interhospital Transport on Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation of Neonates—Perspective for the Future Lars Mikael Broman
- 25 Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation in Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia

Neysan Rafat and Thomas Schaible

- 34 Neonatal Cardiac ECMO in 2019 and Beyond Peter Paul Roeleveld and Malaika Mendonca
- **47** Drug Disposition and Pharmacotherapy in Neonatal ECMO: From Fragmented Data to Integrated Knowledge Genny Raffaeli, Pavla Pokorna, Karel Allegaert, Fabio Mosca, Giacomo Cavallaro, Enno D. Wildschut and Dick Tibboel
- 65 Anticoagulation in Neonatal ECMO: An Enigma Despite a Lot of Effort! Katherine Cashen, Kathleen Meert and Heidi Dalton
- 76 Surgical Expertise in Neonatal Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation (ECMO): A Single Center Experience

Francesco Macchini, Antonio Di Cesare, Anna Morandi, Martina Ichino, Genny Raffaeli, Federica Conigliaro, Gabriele Sorrentino, Simona Neri, Fabio Mosca, Ernesto Leva and Giacomo Cavallaro

- 84 Neurocognitive Outcome After Treatment With(out) ECMO for Neonatal Critical Respiratory or Cardiac Failure
 Raisa M. Schiller and Dick Tibboel
- **93 ECMO for Neonatal Sepsis in 2019** Warwick Wolf Butt and Roberto Chiletti
- 102 Sequestration of Voriconazole and Vancomycin Into Contemporary Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation Circuits: An in vitro Study Genny Raffaeli, Giacomo Cavallaro, Karel Allegaert, Birgit C. P. Koch, Fabio Mosca, Dick Tibboel and Enno D. Wildschut
- 109 Surgery in Neonatal and Pediatric ECMO Patients Other Than Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia Repair: A 10-Year Experience Casper M. Kersten, Sergei M. Hermelijn, René M. H. Wijnen, Dick Tibboel, Robert J. M. Houmes and J. Marco Schnater
- 117 Assessing Anticoagulation in Neonates With Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia During Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation: Does Anti-Factor Xa or Thromboelastometry Provide Additional Benefit?

Alba Perez Ortiz, Carl E. Dempfle, Toni Jung, Thalia Doniga, Christel Weiß, Svetlana Hetjens, Thomas Schaible and Neysan Rafat





Editorial: Neonatal ECMO in 2019: Where Are We Now? Where Next?

Giacomo Cavallaro 1*, Matteo Di Nardo², Aparna Hoskote³ and Dick Tibboel⁴

¹ Neonatal Intensive Care Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milan, Italy, ² Pediatric Intensive Care Unit, Children's Hospital Bambino Gesù, IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ³ Cardiorespiratory and Critical Care Division, Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children NHS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdom, ⁴ Intensive Care and Department of Pediatric Surgery, Erasmus MC-Sophia Children's Hospital, Rotterdam, Netherlands

Keywords: newborn, developmental hemostasis, extracorporeal circulation, cardiac ECMO, sepsis, congenital diaphragmatic hernia, meconium aspiration syndrome, pharmacology

Editorial on the Research Topic

Neonatal ECMO in 2019: Where Are We Now? Where Next?

Despite significant advances in neonatal intensive care, including neonatal ventilation in the current era, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) continues to play a crucial role in selected cases of severe cardio-respiratory failure, potentially reversible, but refractory to conventional ventilatory therapy and maximal pharmacological treatment (1).

Our Research Topic attempted to focus on some of continuing challenges in neonatal ECMO. In this issue of Frontiers in Pediatrics, we have collected a wide range of manuscripts related to the use of ECMO in the neonatal period (Broman; Butt and Chiletti; Cashen et al.; Di Nardo et al.; Kersten et al.; Macchini et al.; Perez Ortiz et al.; Rafat and Schaible; Raffaeli et al.; Raffaeli et al.; Roeleveld and Mendonca; Schiller and Tibboel).

Since the formation of the Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO) in 1989, 45,205 newborns have been supported on ECMO in 492 centers (www.elso.org) (2). Respiratory failure was the predominant reason for ECMO utilization in 33,400 newborns, whereas ECMO was used for cardiac failure in 9,561 newborns, and 2,244 were supported for refractory cardiac arrest-extracorporeal cardiopulmonary resuscitation (ECPR). Today, congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH) and meconium aspiration syndrome (MAS) are the exclusive neonatal diagnoses that alone represent about 46% of all cases of neonatal respiratory ECMO, reaching 92% of total ECMO if all "others" neonatal ECMO were added (2, 3). The classification of "others" includes all other diagnostic categories such as non-specific respiratory failure, congenital anomaly, pulmonary hypoplasia, hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy, cardiorespiratory arrest, and inborn errors of metabolism (4). The mortality rate, however, varies significantly depending on the underlying respiratory disease. For instance, neonates with CDH and sepsis have higher mortality rates (47 and 49%, respectively) in contrast to those with MAS (9%) (2). Pulmonary hypertension and lung hypoplasia play a crucial role in determining survival in CDH (5). Neonates with prolonged ECMO run for >21 days have demonstrated higher mortality due to the increased risk of mechanical complications (6).

Veno-arterial (V-A) ECMO still represents the support of choice in neonates, with more than 80% receiving V-A support (2). The vessel size is the most critical limiting factor in using the veno-venous (V-V) ECMO in neonates as the smallest double-lumen venous cannula currently commercially available is 13 Fr (3, 7). However, it should be noted that mortality is not significantly different between the two types of support. However, neurological complications are reported to be

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Niranjan Kissoon, University of British Columbia, Canada

*Correspondence: Giacomo Cavallaro giacomo.cavallaro@policlinico.mi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Critical Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 17 October 2021 Accepted: 10 December 2021 Published: 04 January 2022

Citation:

Cavallaro G, Di Nardo M, Hoskote A and Tibboel D (2022) Editorial: Neonatal ECMO in 2019: Where Are We Now? Where Next?. Front. Pediatr. 9:796670. doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.796670

4

lower in V-V support as compared to V-A support, although factors other than just the cannulation may account for this (3, 8).

With a wider spectrum of indications for ECMO utilization in the neonatal period as evidenced by the "others" diagnostic category in the ELSO Registry, we speculate that there is greater use of ECMO as compared to a few decades earlier (2).

Several unanswered questions remain on the use of ECMO in CDH [Rafat and Schaible; (9–11)]. The survival is dependent on several factors such as the side and size of the defect, pulmonary hypertension, associated abnormalities, gestational age at birth, and treatment (12–14). The prenatal and postnatal factors that are predictive of mortality, pulmonary hypertension, and the need for ECMO are the focus of many research groups (15). While there are scores developed from the ELSO Registry to predict outcome from ECMO in CDH, these are not to be factored in for patient selection which has to be individualized per patient. An alternative approach using the machine learning approach of the different variables that affect mortality may contribute to developing a reliable and safe predictive model (16).

Until recently, surgical procedures (excluding cardiac surgery and CDH repair) on ECMO remain infrequent (17). Bleeding has been the most feared major complication, although there was no associated increased incidence of mortality (17). Kersten et al. reported the neonatal and pediatric outcomes of surgery on ECMO (other than CDH repair), noting that 14% of patients in their series required surgery, of whom 50% had a poor prognosis. For neonates with congenital tracheobronchial malformations surgery, surgery on ECMO would have the advantage of lower anticoagulation and a wider operating field than CPB. In addition, postoperative ECMO would allow a period of lung rest better than conventional ventilation alone (3).

While pneumonia and neonatal sepsis remain an indication for ECMO support, the use of ECMO in this context has decreased like other neonatal indications. Furthermore, ECMO did not modify the high incidence of mortality related to neonatal septic shock (18), but there are some conflicting data, with some studies reporting 77% survival and others reporting 25% survival (18–20).

The ELSO indications for ECMO have remained unchanged for infants in whom sepsis is associated with pulmonary hypertension, right ventricular dysfunction, and hypoxemia (21). For those in whom sepsis presents with systemic inflammatory response, refractory septic shock, and multi-organ failure, the only indication for ECMO is treatment-resistant hypotension (21). However, time to initiation, mode of ECMO (V-V vs. V-A ECMO), ECMO flow rates, and run length remain controversial (20, 22). Therefore, the International Guidelines for the Management of Septic Shock in Children are weak evidence for recommendation on using V-V ECMO in children with sepsis-induced pediatric acute respiratory distress syndrome and refractory hypoxia. Similarly, the advice concerning V-A ECMO as a rescue treatment in children with septic shock refractory to all other therapies is weak (23).

Bleeding and thrombosis continue to be the most common complications during neonatal ECMO and are associated with increased morbidity and mortality (2, 24, 25). Knowledge of developmental hemostasis, and accurate titrated use of unfractionated heparin (UFH), with the integration of point-of-care monitoring systems based on whole blood [activated clot time (ACT), thromboelastography (TEG), or thromboelastometry (ROTEM)] to plasma tests [activated partial thromboplastin time (APTT) and anti-Factor Xa], may reduce hemorrhagic and thrombotic side effects during neonatal ECMO [Cashen et al.; Perez Ortiz et al.; (26, 27)].

In recent years, single-center studies with limited patient numbers have been published on the use of thrombin inhibitors (bivalirudin, argatroban, lepirudin) (28, 29). These thrombin inhibitors directly inhibit both bound and free thrombin and are antithrombin independent (30). However, their half-life is relatively long compared to UFH (28, 31). These safety and dosing concerns and lack of reversibility make direct thrombin inhibitors less attractive in the neonatal ECMO population as a first-line agent.

Although the indications and cases of neonatal respiratory ECMO decreased, number of cardiac ECMO cases has progressively increased, even though survival remained low ~40% (2). The indications for cardiac ECMO include preoperative hemodynamic stabilization, failure of weaning from cardiopulmonary bypass, low cardiac output syndrome after cardiac surgery, and ECPR (32, 33). The incidence of postoperative ECMO currently varies from center to center and ranges from 1.4 to 5% (34). Any residual lesions should be promptly identified, and interventions should be immediately undertaken (35–37). The implementation of technical performance score as a predictor of early postoperative morbidity and early diagnosis with echocardiography and cardiac catheterization in the first 24 h after surgery is crucial to improve outcomes and survival (35, 36, 38–41).

During ECMO, drug pharmacokinetics (PK) and pharmacodynamics (PD) are modified by several factors related to the patient, drugs, circuits, and interactions (Raffaeli et al.). In addition, in newborns, maturational and non-maturational factors play a crucial role in PK and PD variability (Raffaeli et al.). However, the extensive PK variability during ECMO does not facilitate an adequate understanding of the developmental aspects of PD. A mathematical approach with Monte Carlo simulation or physiologically based pharmacokinetics (PBPK) could help these cases (Raffaeli et al.). Physiologically based pharmacokinetics is a knowledge-driven technique acquired in other settings, like other populations (adult, pediatric, neonatal), other drugs, or other sources (as in vitro, in vivo, in silico experiments), applying mathematical modeling for automatic integration (Raffaeli et al.). Furthermore, the development of virtual organs allows us to add variables to the model, to study any modification in terms of absorption, volume of distribution, and clearance according to the different ages, diseases, or extracorporeal supports (42).

Although the number of neonatal ECMO is constant, the centralization of ECMO delivery—the hub and spoke model also throughout by ECMO transport service is needed, allowing continuous updating and improvement of knowledge through structured training programs, cost reduction, optimization of human and material resources, and improvement of assistance with a decrease of mortality and morbidity [Broman; Macchini

Editorial: Neonatal ECMO

et al.; (43–46)]. However, data in the literature are conflicting as some small programs have published excellent results with low mortality while some high-volume centers appear to have higher mortality that still seems to be linked to the patients' greater complexity (45, 47, 48). Moreover, keeping high quality in small ECMO programs presupposes an increase in training cost, ensuring a continuous training program, especially in machine troubleshooting and patient complications (43, 49, 50).

Independently to ECMO, follow-up of newborns with complex respiratory and cardiac pathologies is required to prevent and treat potential associated neurocognitive deficits. Therefore, long-term and multidisciplinary follow-up associated with neurorehabilitation strategies, as Cogmed working memory training, psychoeducation, compensatory techniques, and external aids, would appear to improve the lives of these tiny patients [Schiller and Tibboel; (51)].

Even though ECMO was introduced several decades ago, it is still required for some clinical conditions that endanger the life of newborns. Therefore, its use must also be based on scientific evidence that deserves careful ethical consideration (Di Nardo et al.). The ethical question is no less critical than the indications of neonatal ECMO. Commonly, the family perceives the difference between rejection and withdrawal differently. In fact, complications during ECMO often would not justify the withdrawal of support in parents' eyes, while refusal to ECMO appears justified by contraindications (Di Nardo et al.).

REFERENCES

- Bahrami KR, Van Meurs KP. ECMO for neonatal respiratory failure. Semin Perinatol. (2005) 29:15–23. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2005.02.004
- ELSO. ELSO Registry Report. International Summary April 2021. Retrieved from: https://www.elso.org (accessed September 01, 2021).
- Amodeo I, Di Nardo M, Raffaeli G, Kamel S, Macchini F, Amodeo A, et al. Neonatal respiratory and cardiac ECMO in Europe. *Eur J Pediatr.* (2021) 2021:1–18. doi: 10.1007/s00431-020-03898-9
- Sharma J, Sherman A, Rimal A, Haney B, Weiner J, Pallotto E. Neonatal respiratory extracorporeal membrane oxygenation and primary diagnosis: trends between two decades. *J Perinatol.* (2020) 40:269– 74. doi: 10.1038/s41372-019-0547-y
- Grover TR, Rintoul NE, Hedrick HL. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. *Semin Perinatol.* (2018) 42:96–103. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2017.12.005
- Prodhan P, Stroud M, El-Hassan N, Peeples S, Rycus P, Brogan TV, et al. Prolonged extracorporeal membrane oxygenator support among neonates with acute respiratory failure: a review of the Extracorporeal Life Support Organization registry. ASAIO J. (2014) 60:63–9. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000006
- Wild KT, Hedrick HL, Rintoul NE. Reconsidering ECMO in premature neonates. *Fetal Diagn Ther*. (2020) 47:927–32. doi: 10.1159/000509243
- Guner Y, Jancelewicz T, Di Nardo M, Yu P, Brindle M, Vogel AM, et al. Management of congenital diaphragmatic hernia treated with extracorporeal life support: interim guidelines consensus statement from the extracorporeal life support organization. ASAIO J. (2021) 67:113– 20. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000001338
- Partridge EA, Peranteau WH, Rintoul NE, Herkert LM, Flake AW, Adzick NS, et al. Timing of repair of congenital diaphragmatic hernia in patients supported by extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO). *J Pediatr Surg.* (2015) 50:260–2. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2014.11.013

Although much has been done to date, much more can be done by focusing on the points still open and, above all, by formalizing the research agenda among a network of hub centers that can work together, sharing successes and failures to improve the quality of care and life of these complex newborns. The futuristic concept of using the extracorporeal circulation of the extra-uterine environment for newborn development (EXTEND) program seems attractive to improve morbidity and mortality of extremely premature babies (23–25 weeks). The goal is to mimic a typical uterine environment and provide physiological support to the fetus (52–54). Thus, we could imagine our NICUs no longer full of incubators and pulmonary ventilators but rather full of wombs and artificial placentas where newborns develop while maintaining the normal physiological process.

Therefore, although we traveled a long road, we still have many more miles in front of us.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GC, MD, AH, and DT contributed to the study's conception and design. GC wrote the first draft of the manuscript. MD, AH, and DT provided extensive critical revision. All authors contributed to the manuscript's critical revision, read and approved the submitted version.

- Schaible T, Hermle D, Loersch F, Demirakca S, Reinshagen K, Varnholt V. A 20-year experience on neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in a referral center. *Intensive Care Med.* (2010) 36:1229–34. doi: 10.1007/s00134-010-1886-5
- 11. Shieh HF, Wilson JM, Sheils CA, Smithers CJ, Kharasch VS, Becker RE, et al. Does the *ex utero* intrapartum treatment to extracorporeal membrane oxygenation procedure change morbidity outcomes for high-risk congenital diaphragmatic hernia survivors? *J Pediatr Surg.* (2017) 52:22–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2016.10.010
- Jani J, Nicolaides K, Keller R, Benachi A, Peralta C, Favre R, et al. Observed to expected lung area to head circumference ratio in the prediction of survival in fetuses with isolated diaphragmatic hernia. *Ultrasound Obstetr Gynecol.* (2007) 30:67–71. doi: 10.1002/uog.4052
- Russo FM, De Coppi P, Allegaert K, Toelen J, van der Veeken L, Attilakos G, et al. Current and future antenatal management of isolated congenital diaphragmatic hernia. *Semin Fetal Neonatal Med.* (2017) 22:383– 90. doi: 10.1016/j.siny.2017.11.002
- 14. Van der Veeken L, Russo FM, De Catte L, Gratacos E, Benachi A, Ville Y, et al. Fetoscopic endoluminal tracheal occlusion and reestablishment of fetal airways for congenital diaphragmatic hernia. *Gynecol Surg.* (2018) 15:9. doi: 10.1186/s10397-018-1041-9
- Cruz SM, Lau PE, Rusin CG, Style CC, Cass DL, Fernandes CJ, et al. A novel multimodal computational system using near-infrared spectroscopy predicts the need for ECMO initiation in neonates with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J Pediatr Surg. (2018) 53:152–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2017.10.031
- Amodeo I, De Nunzio G, Raffaeli G, Borzani I, Griggio A, Conte L, et al. A maChine and deep Learning Approach to predict pulmoNary hyperteNsIon in newbornS with congenital diaphragmatic Hernia (CLANNISH): protocol for a retrospective study. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16:e0259724. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0259724
- 17. Taghavi S, Jayarajan SN, Mangi AA, Hollenbach K, Dauer E, Sjoholm LO, et al. Examining noncardiac surgical procedures in

patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. ASAIO J. (2015) 61:520-5. doi: 10.1097/MAT.0000000000258

- Solé A, Jordan I, Bobillo S, Moreno J, Balaguer M, Hernández-Platero L, et al. Venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support for neonatal and pediatric refractory septic shock: more than 15 years of learning. *Eur J Pediatr.* (2018) 177:1191–200. doi: 10.1007/s00431-018-3174-2
- Rambaud J, Guellec I, Léger P-L, Renolleau S, Guilbert J. Venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support for neonatal and pediatric refractory septic shock. Ind J Crit Care Med. (2015) 19:600. doi: 10.4103/0972-5229.167038
- Skinner SC, Iocono JA, Ballard HO, Turner MD, Ward AN, Davenport DL, et al. Improved survival in venovenous vs venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for pediatric noncardiac sepsis patients: a study of the Extracorporeal Life Support Organization registry. *J Pediatr Surg.* (2012) 47:63–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2011.10.018
- Wild KT, Rintoul N, Kattan J, Gray B, Keene S, Best D, et al. Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO): guidelines for neonatal respiratory failure. *ASAIO J.* (2020) 66:463–70. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000001153
- Oberender F, Ganeshalingham A, Fortenberry JD, Hobson MJ, Houmes RJ, Morris KP, et al. Venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation versus conventional therapy in severe pediatric septic shock. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2018) 19:965–72. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000001660
- Weiss SL, Peters MJ, Alhazzani W, Agus MSD, Flori HR, Inwald DP, et al. Executive summary: surviving sepsis campaign international guidelines for the management of septic shock and sepsis-associated organ dysfunction in children. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2020) 21:186– 95. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000002444
- Dalton HJ, Cashen K, Reeder RW, Berg RA, Shanley TP, Newth CJL, et al. Hemolysis during pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: associations with circuitry, complications, and mortality. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2018) 19:1067–76. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000001709
- Dalton HJ, Reeder R, Garcia-Filion P, Holubkov R, Berg RA, Zuppa A, et al. Factors associated with bleeding and thrombosis in children receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO). *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 196:762–71. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201609-1945OC
- Raffaeli G, Tripodi A, Cavallaro G, Cortesi V, Scalambrino E, Pesenti N, et al. Thromboelastographic profiles of healthy very low birthweight infants serially during their first month. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonat Edn.* (2020) 105:412–8. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2019-317860
- Tripodi A, Raffaeli G, Scalambrino E, Padovan L, Clerici M, Chantarangkul V, et al. Procoagulant imbalance in preterm neonates detected by thrombin generation procedures. *Thromb Res.* (2020) 185:96–101. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2019.11.013
- Sanfilippo F, Asmussen S, Maybauer DM, Santonocito C, Fraser JF, Erdoes G, et al. Bivalirudin for alternative anticoagulation in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a systematic review. J Intensive Care Med. (2017) 32:312– 9. doi: 10.1177/0885066616656333
- Young G, Boshkov L, Sullivan J, Raffini L, Cox D, Boyle D, et al. Argatroban therapy in pediatric patients requiring nonheparin anticoagulation: an openlabel, safety, efficacy, and pharmacokinetic study. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*. (2011) 56:1103–9. doi: 10.1002/pbc.22852
- Bates S, Weitz J. The mechanism of action of thrombin inhibitors. J Invas Cardiol. (2000) 12:27F–32.
- Gallego VF. Lepirudin. PA AP Presion Arterial Revista de Hipertension Para la Atencion Primaria. (2005) 38:37.
- Brown G, Moynihan KM, Deatrick KB, Hoskote A, Sandhu HS, Aganga D, et al. Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO): guidelines for pediatric cardiac failure. ASAIO J. (2021) 67:463–75. doi: 10.1097/MAT.000000000001431
- Guerguerian A-M, Sano M, Todd M, Honjo O, Alexander P, Raman L. Pediatric extracorporeal cardiopulmonary resuscitation ELSO guidelines. ASAIO J. (2021) 67:229–37. doi: 10.1097/MAT.000000000001345
- 34. Mascio CE, Austin EH III, Jacobs JP, Jacobs ML, Wallace AS, He X, et al. Perioperative mechanical circulatory support in children: an analysis of the Society of Thoracic Surgeons Congenital Heart Surgery Database. (2014) J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 147:658–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2013.09.075
- Agarwal HS, Hardison DC, Saville BR, Donahue BS, Lamb FS, Bichell DP, et al. Residual lesions in postoperative pediatric cardiac surgery patients receiving

extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2014) 147:434-41. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2013.03.021

- 36. Howard TS, Kalish BT, Wigmore D, Nathan M, Kulik TJ, Kaza AK, et al. Association of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support adequacy and residual lesions with outcomes in neonates supported after cardiac surgery. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2016) 17:1045–54. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000943
- Nathan M, Levine JC, Van Rompay MI, Lambert LM, Trachtenberg FL, Colan SD, et al. Impact of major residual lesions on outcomes after surgery for congenital heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2021) 77:2382– 94. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2021.03.304
- Abraham BP, Gilliam E, Kim DW, Wolf MJ, Vincent RN, Petit CJ. Early catheterization after initiation of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support in children is associated with improved survival. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2016) 88:592–9. doi: 10.1002/ccd.26526
- Boscamp NS, Turner ME, Crystal M, Anderson B, Vincent JA, Torres AJ. Cardiac catheterization in pediatric patients supported by extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a 15-year experience. *Pediatr Cardiol.* (2017) 38:332– 7. doi: 10.1007/s00246-016-1518-0
- Kato A, Lo Rito M, Lee KJ, Haller C, Guerguerian AM, Sivarajan VB, et al. Impacts of early cardiac catheterization for children with congenital heart disease supported by extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2017) 89:898–905. doi: 10.1002/ccd.26632
- Nathan M, Karamichalis JM, Liu H, Emani S, Baird C, Pigula F, et al. Surgical technical performance scores are predictors of late mortality and unplanned reinterventions in infants after cardiac surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2012) 144:1095.e7–101.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2012.07.081
- 42. Watt KM, Cohen-Wolkowiez M, Barrett JS, Sevestre M, Zhao P, Brouwer KLR, et al. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic approach to determine dosing on extracorporeal life support: fluconazole in children on ECMO. CPT: Pharmacometrics Syst Pharmacol. (2018) 7:629–37. doi: 10.1002/psp4.12338
- Raffaeli G, Ghirardello S, Vanzati M, Baracetti C, Canesi F, Conigliaro F, et al. Start a neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation program: a multistep team training. *Front Pediatr.* (2018) 6:151. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00151
- Bailey KL, Downey P, Sanaiha Y, Aguayo E, Seo Y-J, Shemin RJ, et al. National trends in volume-outcome relationships for extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. J Surg Res. (2018) 231:421–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2018.07.012
- Barbaro RP, Odetola FO, Kidwell KM, Paden ML, Bartlett RH, Davis MM. et al. Association of hospital-level volume of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation cases and mortality analysis of the extracorporeal life support organization registry. *Amer J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2015) 191:894– 901. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201409-1634OC
- Nasr VG, Faraoni D, DiNardo JA, Thiagarajan RR. Association of hospital structure and complications with mortality after pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2016) 17:684–91. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000000723
- 47. Elkhwad M, More KS, Anand D, Al-Maraghi S, Crowe M, Wong D, et al. Successful Establishment of the First Neonatal Respiratory Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) program in the Middle East, in collaboration with Pediatric services. *Front Pediatr.* (2020) 8:506. doi: 10.3389/fped.2020.00506
- Flórez CX, Bermon A, Castillo VR, Salazar L. Setting up an ECMO program in a South American country. World J Pediatr Congenit Heart Surg. (2015) 6:374–81. doi: 10.1177/2150135115589788
- Alsalemi A, Alhomsi Y, Bensaali F, Hssain AA. A high-realism and cost-effective training simulator for extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *IEEE Access.* (2021) 9:20893–901. doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2021. 3052145
- Weems MF, Friedlich PS, Nelson LP, Rake AJ, Klee L, Stein JE, et al. The role of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation simulation training at extracorporeal life support organization centers in the United States. *Simul Healthc.* (2017) 12:233–9. doi: 10.1097/SIH.00000000000243
- Schiller RM, Madderom MJ, Reuser JJ, Steiner K, Gischler SJ, Tibboel D, et al. Neuropsychological follow-up after neonatal ECMO. *Pediatrics*. (2016) 138:e20161313. doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-1313
- 52. De Bie FR, Davey MG, Larson AC, Deprest J, Flake AW. Artificial placenta and womb technology: past, current, and future challenges

towards clinical translation. Prenat Diagn. (2021) 41:145-58. doi: 10.1002/pd.5821

- Flake AW. A supportive physiologic environment for the extreme premature infant: improving life outside the womb. J Pediatr Surg. (2021) S0022– 3468:00736–3. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2021.10.025
- 54. Partridge EA, Davey MG, Hornick M, Dysart KC, Olive A, Caskey R, et al. Pumpless arteriovenous extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a novel mode of respiratory support in a lamb model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. *J Pediatr Surg.* (2018) 53:1453–60. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2018.02.061

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Cavallaro, Di Nardo, Hoskote and Tibboel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Principlism and Personalism. Comparing Two Ethical Models Applied Clinically in Neonates Undergoing Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation Support

Matteo Di Nardo^{1*}, Anna Dalle Ore², Giuseppina Testa³, Gail Annich^{4,5}, Edoardo Piervincenzi¹, Giorgio Zampini¹, Gabriella Bottari¹, Corrado Cecchetti¹, Antonio Amodeo⁶, Roberto Lorusso⁷, Lorenzo Del Sorbo^{5,8} and Roxanne Kirsch^{4,5,9}

¹ PICU, Children's Hospital Bambino Gesù, Rome, Italy, ² Clinical Bioethics, Children's Hospital Bambino Gesù, Rome, Italy, ³ PCICU, Children's Hospital Bambino Gesù, Rome, Italy, ⁴ Department of Critical Care, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁵ Interdepartmental Division of Critical Care Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁶ Mechanical Assist Device and ECMO Unit, Children's Hospital Bambino Gesù, Rome, Italy, ⁷ Department of Adult Cardiac Surgery, Maastricht University Medical Centre, Maastricht, Netherlands, ⁸ MSICU, Toronto General Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁹ Department of Bioethics, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁹ Department of Bioethics, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁹ Department of Bioethics, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Brian Christopher Bridges, Vanderbilt University, United States

rontiers

n Pediatrics

Reviewed by:

Jessica Turnbull, Monroe Carell Jr. Children's Hospital, United States Warwick Wolf Butt, Roval Children's Hospital, Australia

> *Correspondence: Matteo Di Nardo matteo.dinardo@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Critical Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

> **Received:** 03 June 2019 **Accepted:** 11 July 2019 **Published:** 30 July 2019

Citation:

Di Nardo M, Dalle Ore A, Testa G, Annich G, Piervincenzi E, Zampini G, Bottari G, Cecchetti C, Amodeo A, Lorusso R, Del Sorbo L and Kirsch R (2019) Principlism and Personalism. Comparing Two Ethical Models Applied Clinically in Neonates Undergoing Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation Support. Front. Pediatr. 7:312. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00312 Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) is a technology used to temporarily assist critically ill patients with acute and reversible life-threatening cardiac and/or respiratory failure. This technology can often be lifesaving but is also associated with several complications that may contribute to reduced survival. Currently, neonates supported with ECMO are complex and bear an increased risk of mortality. This means that clinicians must be particularly prepared not only to deal with complex clinical scenarios, but also ethical issues associated with ECMO. In particular, clinicians should be trained to handle unsuccessful ECMO runs with attention to high quality end of life care. Within this manuscript we will compare and contrast the application of two ethical frameworks, used in the authors' institutions (Toronto and Rome). This is intended to enhance a broader understanding of cultural differences in applied ethics which is useful to the clinician in an increasingly multicultural and diverse patient mix.

Keywords: bioethic, ECMO-extracorporeal membrane oxygenation, neonates, principlism and code of ethics, personalism

INTRODUCTION

Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation can be used to electively stabilize neonates from ongoing deterioration because of respiratory and/or cardiac failure or to urgently rescue them in case of cardiac arrest (1–3). ECMO can be established: as a bridge to recovery (in case of reversible disease); as a bridge to a bridge (transition to a ventricular assist device), as a bridge to organ transplantation (rare in neonates); or as a bridge to decision (providing time to recovery, time for diagnosis or time to evaluate candidacy for transplantation, or for a longer term mechanical circulatory support) (4). This rapid expansion of clinical indications (5, 6) has outpaced empirical outcome data; challenging bedside clinical decisions as previously contraindicated disease states

9

(immunocompromised patients, recent surgery, or trauma) are now able to be supported with ECMO (7-10). This emphasizes the need to address important questions such as how decisions to offer ECMO are made as well as how and when to discontinue ECMO when unsuccessful (11-14). In general clinical practice, withholding ECMO (15), even contrary to the wishes of the family or of the legal guardians, is widely perceived as justified, while withdrawal in the face of unsuccessful therapy is often perceived differently by the family, as it requires the action of stopping a currently applied therapy (15, 16). Canadian and American bioethics grants no ethical distinction between withholding and withdrawing therapies. As a therapy, ECMO can therefore be withheld or withdrawn under the same ethical justifications as any pharmacological or technological therapy, such as mechanical ventilation or renal replacement therapy (16–18).

Comprehension of the ethical underpinnings guiding the use of medical technologies, and specifically how this relates to ECMO support in the neonatal period will help clinicians in managing decisions about neonatal ECMO. As medical technology continues to be utilized globally, understanding differences in ethical practices can help to inform and enhance the practical application of this complex technology and the evolution of guidelines for its use. We start by outlining the ethical framework of Principlism (19) and how it is applied in clinical decision making in neonatal ECMO. Then, we introduce the less globally known Personalist bioethics (20, 21) framework. We will outline pitfalls and limitations in both and demonstrate how each affects practical use of this complex resource.

A BRIEF REVIEW OF PRINCIPLIST BIOETHICS IN CLINICAL APPLICATION

The health care team in a Principlist bioethics system seeks to balance four principles of autonomy, beneficence, nonmaleficence, and justice (19) when making treatment decisions (**Figure 1**). Additionally, an overarching additional concept of best interests is applied to patients incapable of participating in decision making, due to age, illness, or cognitive capabilities. Ideally, the therapy is desired by the patients, it provides benefit to them, avoids unjustified harms, the benefits outweigh harms, and medical resources are allocated in a fair manner and most often with maximization of benefit. Before initiating ECMO, wherever possible, a detailed and informed consent is undertaken with the parents or legal guardians, communicating risk, benefits, alternatives and including information on the potential for ECMO to be unsuccessful in achieving the intended goal.

THE PRINCIPLE OF AUTONOMY

Central to the ethical provision of any medical intervention is the principle of autonomy, which upholds respect for persons. This provides the basis for informed consent (19). In a practical sense, autonomy refers to the individual's rational capacity for self-determination (19). Each patient can express his preferences about therapies and his reasoning in accepting or refusing them. To uphold this principle, the health care team needs to respect the wishes of patient (presuming they have capacity) regarding medical interventions.

The sick neonate is considered a "vulnerable" patient because is unable to express his will. However, this limits only in part the application of this ethical principle because the guarantors of this principle are the parents supported by the best knowledge of the physicians. The physician "must" wisely inform the parents and act consequently taking into account all the other bioethical principles (beneficence/non maleficence and justice). Only a strong and sincere dialogue between the physicians and parents will allow to understand the real needs of the neonate.

In many countries, such as Canada, United States, United Kingdom, and others, it is both ethically and legally permissible to forgo or request discontinuation of life-sustaining therapy, even if the intervention is life prolonging or beneficial (4, 5). Otherwise said, they can choose not to act for their own benefit. This practice is supported by ethical concepts (e.g., Kan's moral theory, etc.) beyond and in addition to the framework of Principlism, although our discussion will focus only on Principlism within the scope of this article (5).

THE PRINCIPLE OF BENEFICENCE

This principle obligates the health care team to contribute to the person's welfare with any interventions conferring benefit directly to the patient (19). Benefit for the patient, however, may reach beyond medical outcome measures. The values, beliefs and culture of the patient may modify how benefit is perceived. For example, a patient may decide that a specific therapy is not beneficial because the resultant residual morbidity is untenable and will not allow a "good" life. This can be understood more readily in the patient with capacity who can express how these values influence their preferences about medical therapies.

Benefit for the patient without capacity, however, is generally not only regarded under a principle of beneficence but under an overarching concept of best interests. This is applied to any incapacitated patient, where others have to make choices that affect him on his behalf, including a child or neonate.

Best interests become more difficult to decipher, therefore, when encompassing both medical outcome and values or preferences expressed by the surrogate decision maker on behalf of the patient. This is particularly true for the child or neonate, who is incapable of having yet expressed any wishes or values. The child or neonate, because they exist within their family's values, beliefs and culture, is most likely to choose in accordance with their family and will leave a medical experience to exist within their family context. Therefore, family surrogates are generally the best choice to represent a view of the child's best interest. Additionally, the pediatric clinician is charged with protection of the child and may question the family's view as truly being in the child's best interest. In this instance they can bring into question the decisional authority of the family. If both parties have moral grounding for their judgment of best interest, however, the determination becomes even more complicated (4-6, 22, 23).

Principlist Biomedical Ethics			
Autonomy	Respect for persons. Humans are a means unto themselves and not a means to a end. This encompasses the right to be free to make choices about your body.		
Beneficence	Obligation to contribute to person's welfare. Interventions and provisions should provide benefit directly to the patient. This focuses on doing things that are of benefit to another. It requires positive steps to help, and not merely avoiding doing harm.		
Nonmaleficence	Obligation not to inflict harm on other persons. Harm is to be avoided or minimized. Underlying tenet of medical professional mission statements (Hippocratic oath).		
Justice	For health care, this is the distribution of health (and health care) in a fair and equitable manner. This requires attention to prioritization and rationing. There is n one just way to allocate resources, and most systems utilize several prioritization schemes in concert to attempt to achieve a just distribution.		
	tion. To use them one aims to uphold ALL of the principles for any issue. If one or more are inciples – which principle is most important (or which two or three) is dependent on the		
 Principlist moral theory can be problematic in that there is no guidance for proceedin principles, although there are many other principles, considerations, and values to be 	ig when the four principles cannot be balanced (or upheld). It also considers ONLY the four considered and weighed into decision making in most ethical dilemmas.		
• In western nations, such as USA, autonomy tends to have a higher emphasis than it m	nay in other places.		

THE PRINCIPLE OF NON-MALEFICENCE

The principle of non-maleficence renders an obligation not to inflict harm on any person (19). Should it be impossible to avoid harm, it should be minimized, and therefore benefits of an intervention should outweigh the risks and the intendent suffering of the intervention. For example, during a neonatal ECMO run, the risks of neurological disabilities, where known are disclosed in advance before the ECMO deployment. These potential comorbidities are acknowledged by the family, especially when the neonates have other risk factors contributing to worsen their neurological outcome (prematurity, low birth weight, coagulopathy, etc.). If the probability of neurological disability is high using ECMO, or the probability of poor outcome (death or severely reduced quality of life) for the patient in general is high, the procedure may not be undertaken, as it would provide risk of harm without any benefit of longer term good outcome (4, 6).

THE PRINCIPLE OF JUSTICE

The principle of justice as it relates to health care considers the obligation to fairly and equitably distribute health and health care. This requires prioritization and rationing of competing claims (19). In health care this might be subdivided into categories of: fair distribution of scarce resources (distributive justice), respect for people's rights (rights based justice) and respect for laws (legal justice) (24). Health care providers are challenged to use resources wisely and to grant equality and

equity to all sick people. The right to be treated equally and with equity can be found in many constitutions, but in the actual practice, a number of different factors may influence the access to treatment (e.g., age, place of residence, social status, ethnic background, culture, sexual preferences, disability, legal capacity, hospital budgets, insurance cover, and prognosis). The principle of justice regulates these aspects in order to avoid any form of discrimination and to provide to all the people the same respect. The sick neonate is often considered a "vulnerable person" because is still not actively part of society and is dependent on parents to survive (incapable of self-determination). However, when dealing with ECMO, this issue is solved using the dedicated "clinical criteria" which grant a fair access to this life support technique even in the less "wealthy" countries.

Good resource allocation must ensure processes that distribute or deny therapies in a fair fashion. There is no single agreed upon prioritization scheme with continued debate upon the best ways to make allocations. Generally, a combination of prioritization schema are required to attempt to achieve a just distribution. Distributing based only on quality-adjusted life years (QALY) saved, or cost-effectiveness allows for comparisons, but still requires subjective judgments about quality of life, and often fails to account for unmeasurable benefits (or harms) to the society or system (4, 25–29).

CONSIDERATIONS ON PRINCIPLISM

The term principle has wide ranging significance. In bioethics, this term is generally used in reference to the four principles of

Beauchamp and Childress, previously addressed (19, 24, 30, 31). In any given ethical deliberation, the principles are meant to be simultaneously upheld, but if one or more principle should be violated, such violation should be minimal and mitigated where possible. However, with no hierarchical structure between the principles, they are left subject to a certain relativism that can be problematic when applied to the complex scenarios of clinical medicine and biotechnology. To overcome these limits, Jonsen et al. (32) proposed the four Box-Method to help clinicians to organize the ethical reasoning in medical indications, patient preferences, quality of life, and contextual features. These four topics provide a pattern for collecting, sorting, and ordering the facts of a clinical ethical problem. Each topic can be filled with the actual facts of the clinical case that are relevant to the identification of the ethical problems. The contents of all four topics viewed together form a comprehensive picture of the ethical dimensions of the case (Figure 2).

When managing complex decisions, the health care team determines which interventions might be offered to alter the course of the medical illness, considering potential survival, comorbidities, and overall quality of life outcomes so as to best inform the patient (or their surrogate decision makers) of the recommended intervention and alternate options (27, 28). Additionally, they try to understand patient or family values and preferences about what constitutes a "good life" (or an acceptable quality of life). In a deliberative process the clinician and patient (or family as surrogate decision maker) then ideally arrive together at an agreement for how to proceed with therapies (29). Disagreements may occur, and a relatively wide latitude is given to many choices of the parent or surrogate decision maker particularly when there is not a high probability of restored health or good outcome. The clinician has the additional task to question the decisional authority of the parent or guardian in instances where they do not feel the best interests of the patient are being upheld. However, disagreements may occur. Should the clinician feel the best interest of the child would be to stop ECMO for reasons of no benefit and induced suffering, while the family holds a stance on the sanctity of life even at a high degree of suffering, an impasse will appear that requires careful mediation and at times, legal determination.

Finally, most health care systems utilizing Principlist ethical justifications do not use it exclusively in any given ethical dilemma, since it considers only the four principles. For a fulsome ethical deliberation, applying the many other principles, moral theories, values and considerations of the issue at hand are required.

INTRODUCTION OF PERSONALIST BIOETHICS

Personalist bioethics was born in Italy, in a catholic context, to deal with the progression of medicine and the complex challenges it presents. The ontologically grounded Personalism was developed from an anthropological point of view by the Pope Karol Wojtyla and from a bioethical point of view by Sgreccia (20). In the personalist perspective life is considered *sacred* and is at the basis of any bioethical discussion. The person is regarded as an entity of both body and spirit (21, 31). Personhood starts from conception and remains unchanged by physical or intellectual disability. Importantly, Personalist bioethics should not be confused with theories of *individualism* (21), which considers the main constitutive feature of the person to be their capability for individual decision. Personalism is based on the principle that *all* human beings deserve respect (20, 21). Personalist bioethics therefore integrates the concept of the protection of the physical life with other bioethical principles commonly used to manage many current medical challenges (**Figure 3**).

Personalist bioethics is articulated in three ontologically-based principles: (a) the principle of freedom and responsibility, (b) the principle of proportionate therapy, and (c) the principle of sociality and subsidiarity (8). All three can be considered as corollaries of the main concept of the personalistic bioethics which regards the protection of the physical life. The body as well as the spirit is essential to the person, as it is the first embodiment in which and by means of which, the person is realized and enters into time and space, expresses and manifests himself.

The protection of the physical life embraces all people, regardless of their developmental status, illness or usefulness for the society. The sick neonate is a physical person independently if 1 day he will be able to express his autonomy, thus both the health care team and the family have the duty to protect his life (21, 33). The defense and promotion of life has its limit in death, which is part of life, and health promotion has its limitations in the disease. When disease is incurable you have to take care of the sick person.

THE PRINCIPLE OF FREEDOM AND RESPONSIBILITY

This principle requires that the protection of our own life and of the life of others are both under our responsibility (20, 21). The concept of responsibility is not detached from the concept of freedom. Freedom means the liberty to take the responsibility for one's own life first and foremost, as well as for the life of others.

In Personalist bioethics, the principle of freedom always requires informed consent (34). Informed consent means full information to the patient, patient's family or to the legal guardians before the intervention, but the responsibility for the final decision to pursue or forgo an intervention is shared between the heath care team and the family. The clinician always asks informed consent before doing an intervention on the patient, respecting the patient's freedom, while the family must always respect the freedom of the doctor to work with responsibility and consciousness. The family cannot choose for the child's death when there are opportunities to sustain and protect life (20). This would misuse the concept of freedom because it does not appropriately care for the child's life. In the personalist bioethics life is always sacred and must be respected. Thus, in certain cases, such as when a family refuses a treatment essential to the neonate's life and the physician has deemed

MEDICAL INDICATION (Principles of Beneficence and Nonmaleficence)	PATIENT CHOICE (Principle of Autonomy)
	 Patient mentally capable and legally competent Patient's preferences about medical treatments Informed consent properly erogated if patient is capable Appropriate surrogate in case of incapability Evaluation of the patient's requests and directives
 Possible phisical/mental/social deficits caused by the treatment Biases that could prevent the evaluation of the patient's Quality of Life by the physician Presence or future condition inacceptable for patient's personal evaluation Plans to forego treatment 	CONTEXT (Principles of loyalty and fairness) Influence of family on the treatment decision Influence of health care providers on the treatment decision Influence of financial/economic aspects Problems concerning the allocation of resources Influence of Religion/cultural aspects Legal/legislative issues Conflict of interest of health care providers

FIGURE 2 Facilitating ethical and medical practice—the 4 b	oox method.
--	-------------

Personalist Biomedical Ethics		
Freedom and Responsibility	The basic principle of freedom and responsibility points to the fact that the protection of our own life and the lives of others are both our responsibility.	
Proportionated Therapy	The principle of totality or proportionate therapy justifies a medical intervention and poses attention to the concept that the whole body is essential for life, both on its entirety and on its details. Resources are not "equally" distributed but are proportionately allocated according to the patient's need.	
Sociality and subsidiarity	The life of the child is considered important not only for its value, but also for its role in the society	
 The personalist bioethics is a bioethical theory based on the person, person starts from the moment of conception is unchanged whether The protection of the physical life embraces all people, regardless of 		
RE 3 Personalist biomedical ethics.		

the treatment as necessary in good conscience, this principle must govern the procedure for "obligatory care." However, first and foremost the personalist bioethics seeks a "therapeutic cooperation" (35, 36) between the heath care team and the family to overcome any divergence.

THE PRINCIPLE OF PROPORTIONATE THERAPY

The principle of totality or proportionate therapy justifies a medical intervention and poses attention to the concept that the whole body is essential for life, both on its entirety and on its details (20). The principle of inviolability of life which has been shown to be primary and fundamental is not disproved but applied when it becomes necessary to intervene in a harmful manner on part of the body in order to save the whole and the very life of the subject. This principle ultimately upholds all the legitimacy of medical and surgical treatment in the Personalist theory. Thus, any intervention on the physical life is justified only if it has a therapeutic purpose to improve the physical life of the patient.

The use of ECMO in neonates is justified, even though invasive and with associated risks, only if it is aimed to allow for cure of a disease state or as a bridge to diagnosis. When ECMO goals are no longer achieved, the intensity of care is reduced. Maintaining ECMO when there is no longer a chance of survival would represent an unjustified "gravamen" (burden) for both child, family, and often the health care team. Personalist bioethics, therefore, suggests a reduction of care. This requires utilizing the concept of proportionate care (20, 21, 31, 35, 36). Here, a treatment must be evaluated within the totality of the person in order to apply or continue it; moreover, there must be a certain proportion between the risks and damages it entails and the benefit it secures. Certain conditions are required to apply this principle: (a) the intervention on a part of the whole body can be performed only in order to save the healthy organism; (b) there is no way or means to correct that condition: (c) there is a good and proportionate chance of success; (d) the patient or the family (legal guardians) have provided consent.

THE PRINCIPLE OF SOCIALITY AND SUBSIDIARITY

The principle of sociality implies that all the citizens work toward respecting their own lives and the lives of other as good—not only a personal one but also a social one—and that they engage the social community to promote the life and the health of all, promoting the common good by promoting the good of each individual (20, 21). In terms of social justice, however, the principle obligates the community to guarantee everyone the means of accessing necessary care, even at the cost of sacrifices for the well-to-do. The principle of sociality melds with the principle of subsidiarity, whereby the community must help more where the need is greater (35, 36).

CONSIDERATIONS ON PERSONALISM

The first characteristic of Personalism is that all the principles refer to a well-defined anthropological theory, the defense of the person's physical life, the second is that all the other principles are considered corollaries of this main aspect (21, 35, 36). This anthropological theory is based on the concept of person, regardless of his functions, conscience, race, sex, and stage of development. In this case, the newborn period represents a stage of the physical life, where the individual is already a person; thus, this implies a profound attention and care. This point is very delicate, especially when a neonate is on ECMO and this

support is failing to reach its goals. According to the personalist bioethics the first thing that we always have to guarantee is the protection of the physical life but, we must not maintain life at all costs. For a neonate when there is no further chance of survival and the body has not responded to therapies, continuing does not respect the physical person, but rather represents a therapeutic stubbornness, or a desperate search for "vitalism," which is not accepted in Personalist bioethics. To avoid such a search for "vitalism," Personalist bioethics considers additionally, the principles of proportionate therapy and of sociality and subsidiarity, to respect the sanctity of life. Only from the integration of these two principles can the sanctity of life be fully respected, especially in neonates who are unable to express their autonomy.

Unfortunately, many conflicts are often unresolvable using these principles (19–21), since there is not a unified moral theory from which these principles are derived (24, 30). By accepting this critique, the personalistic bioethics proposes the "personalistic norm of morality" (20) to order its principles and to work out an integral theory of the dignity of the person to manage fundamental problems in bioethics.

For proponents of Personalist bioethics, additional theories may contribute to a continuing ethical deliberation regarding complex medical scenarios, but the central point of the concept and value of the person that is key to Personalism is generally felt to be missing in other theories.

WITHHOLD AND WITHDRAWAL OF LIFE SUPPORT IN PRINCIPLIST AND PERSONALIST BIOETHICS

Neonatal ECMO when not immediately able to provide good outcome or successful discontinuation of ECMO, can lead to internal and external conflicts in determining a time to stop. This aspect introduces the considerations of futility. Futility considerations have long been argued in the medical literature, but remain ill defined (23, 27-29, 37, 38). In the recent era, futility is most often considered when the goals of a medical intervention cannot be or are not achieved (physiologic futility) (37, 38). This moment is then associated to a consideration of withhold or withdrawal of ECMO as appropriate. Most often in the Principlist bioethics, withhold or withdrawal are determined in an intersection of beneficence and non-maleficence, where autonomy dictates respect for the person so as not to continue therapies that are not of benefit to them. If no benefit for the person can be achieved and harms are being accrued, it is deemed appropriate to stop. The best interest of the patient can no more be accomplished because the purpose of ECMO support is lost or the quality of life is significantly reduced without anticipation of benefit.

This can be compared with Personalist bioethics, which would not consider the quality of life of the patient (in present or future) and would continue ECMO while any chance to cure the patient is still present (39, 40). Nonetheless, Personalist bioethics, would agree with stopping ECMO to avoid suffering when there is no longer a chance to cure. This provides only the briefest discussion of the equivocal and controversial nature of the term futility and the extensive difficulties in understanding and applying this concept (41). Concerns for futility extend well-beyond ECMO therapy and considerations for how to deal with such concerns are multiple and require careful communication and processes for mediation. This is not unique to any institution nor is it solved in practice by any singular bioethical consideration. A more thorough consideration reaches beyond the scope of this manuscript and is well-outlined elsewhere within the literature.

DECISIONAL AUTHORITY IN ECMO

Principlism and Personalism utilize different principles to manage complex clinical scenarios and parental input (**Figure 4**). According to Principlism, the autonomy of the patients is respected in part by involving them or their surrogate (parents) in a shared decision (4, 5, 10, 28, 29, 33) to determine how to intervene for the best interest of the patient. A collaborative process that allows both the family and clinicians to reach a common health care decision has been proposed and endorsed by many international medical and nursing societies (41). In Personalist bioethics, a shared decision is also sought, but here, the main goal between the two parties (clinicians and family) is always the respect and the protection of the physical life. Both clinicians and family must protect the patient's dignity with a proportionate care to avoid suffering when there is no longer a chance for life (35).

Divergences or disagreements can come from both health care teams and patients or families (29, 42, 43). Both Personalist and Principlist bioethics concepts support mediation

of disputes (2), and both look to maintain a therapeutic alliance, advocating regular communication from the very beginning of the ECMO course.

CONCLUSIONS

Applying ECMO to a patient is a medical act, invading the person and inducing a degree of suffering even though it is done in the interests of saving a life. It is therefore inherently a moral act. Like other therapies, a choice between doing "good things" (beneficence) and avoiding "bad things" (non-maleficence) is inherent to ECMO. In these complex scenarios the contribution of bioethics is fundamental to analyze the ethical underpinnings that support decisions and actions. We have attempted to briefly outline the main tenets of both Principlism and Personalism to understand differences and similarities in how these concepts are applied clinically. Overarching both is a clear support for therapeutic interventions that improve patient health. Key differences lay in the emphasis between quality of life and sanctity of life, although neither finds sanctity of life absolute and to be accomplished at all costs. Personalism considers the protection of life first and foremost qualified after by proportionality. Principlism considers the four principles in concert but without hierarchy, although in practice relies additionally on other ethical theories, frameworks, values and considerations to accomplish the best interest of the patient.

All can agree, regardless of bioethical application, that the neonate has no capability for autonomous expression. In Principlism, intervening for the patient's best interest represents a part of the principle of autonomy. In Personalism, the focus is on life first and foremost and a consideration of autonomy

Principlism	Heath care team	Family or legal guardians	B Personalism	Heath care team	Family or legal guardians
Principle of Autonomy	The neonate is not able to express his/her will regarding the use of ECMO. The health care team proposes his therapeutic plan which minimizes costs	a) Start ECMO b) Withdrawal ECMO	Freedom and Responsibility	The health care team proposes the use ECMO according to their experience and knowledge. They are responsible of this procedure and of all the risks associated	The family or the lega guardians, listens to the health care team therapeutic plar including ECMO and establishes a "therapeuti alliance" to cure the child.
Principle of beneficence and nonmaleficence (ECMO) for the benefit of therapies and supports (ECMO) for the benefit of the patient avoiding excessive harm	neonate is to reach a physical and intellectual	Proportionated Therapy	The health care team allocates resources where there is the necessity and not "equally". Proportionately to the needs of the patient		
	the patient avoiding	autonomy	Sociality and subsidiarity	The life of the neonate is considered important not only	
	The health care team allocates the resources in a fair modality in relation to the availability of means			for its sacred value, but also for its role in the "society"	child to be part of the society
			In case of conflict between different principles: harmonization of duties	The heath care team evaluates the real need to use ECMO, balancing benefits and risks to protect the "physical life" and to grant to the child proportionated therapies	The family and the heath care team seek for a commor solution finalized to the best care of the child
between different favours th principles: solution balancing of duties	favours the neutral consult	In case of conflicts between principles, the family chooses the minor damage for the neonate			
	solution that minimizes costs and maximize benefits always prevails		"Sanctity" of life	When ECMO assistance is useless compared to the benefits for which it was	The therapeutic alliance established between the family and the health car
"Quality" of life	The quality life is evaluated with QALYs or DALYs	The family wants to grant to the child a good quality of life considered as the capacity to reach his/her autonomy in the future		started the health care team and the family often agree to withhold or withdraw choosing a treatment that involves less invasiveness and protects the "sanctity of life"	team allows to protect the physical life without maintain life at all cost (vitalism) when no chances to cure are present

FIGURE 4 | (A) Principlist Bioethics method applied at bedside while a neonate is undergoing ECMO. (B) Personalist Bioethics method applied at bedside while a neonate is undergoing ECMO.

would be inappropriate for the neonate. The personalist system helps both clinicians and parents to protect life as a priority even in the face of escalating comorbidities but allows withhold or withdrawal when there is no further chance for life, in practical, when the goals for which ECMO was started are lacking. Given the complexity of medical intervention, conflict is bound to arise regardless of system. Both frameworks agree that communication, empathy, and support of the family are critical to delivering high quality care. In discussing the similarities and differences in applied ethics of both Principlism and Personalism in our cities of Toronto and Rome, it is hoped a broader understanding of cultural differences and ethical justifications can enhance the care of an increasingly multicultural and diverse patient population.

REFERENCES

- Kirsch R, Clark J. The ethics of ECLS. In: Brogan TV, Lequier L, Lorusso R, MacLaren G, Peek G, et al., (eds.). *Extracorporeal Life Support: The ELSO Red Book*, 5th ed. Ann Arbor: ELSO (2017). p. 781–94.
- Bein T, Brodie D. Understanding ethical decisions for patients on extracorporeal life support. *Intensive Care Med.* (2017) 43:1510–11. doi: 10.1007/s00134-017-4781-5
- 3. International Summary of ELSO Registry Report. Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO), Ann Arbor, MI (2018) Available online at: https://www. elso.org/Registry/Statistics/InternationalSummary.aspx
- Kirsch R, Munson D. Ethical and end of life considerations for neonates requiring ECMO support. *Semin Perinatol.* (2018) 42:129–37. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2017.12.009
- Kirsch RE, Balit CR, Carnevale FA, Latour JM, Larcher V. Ethical, cultural, social, and individual considerations prior to transition to limitation or withdrawal of life-sustaining therapies. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2018) 19(Suppl. 2):S10–18. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000001488
- Kirsch RE, Coronado J, Roeleveld PP, Tweddell J, Mott AM, Roth SJ. The burdens of offering: ethical and practical considerations. World J Pediatr Congenit Heart Surg. (2017) 8:715–20. doi: 10.1177/2150135117733940
- Gillam L, Sullivan J. Ethics at the end of life: who should make decisions about treatment limitation for young children with life-threatening or life-limiting conditions? *J Paediatr Child Health*. (2011) 47:594–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1754.2011.02177.x
- Carter MA Ethical considerations for care of the child undergoing extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. AORN J. (2017) 105:148–58. doi: 10.1016/j.aorn.2016.12.001
- Brodie D, Curtis JR, Vincent JL, Bakker J, Brown CE, Creteur J, et al, participants in the round table conference. Treatment limitations in the era of ECMO. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2017) 5:769–70. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(17)30263-1
- Abrams DC, Prager K, Blinderman CD, Burkart KM, Brodie D. Ethical dilemmas encountered with the use of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in adults. *Chest.* (2014) 145:876–82. doi: 10.1378/chest.13-1138
- Abrams DC, Prager K, Blinderman CD, Burkart KM, Brodie D. The appropriate use of increasingly sophisticated lifesustaining technology. *Virtual Mentor*. (2013) 15:1050–5. doi: 10.1001/virtualmentor.2013.15.12.stas2-1312
- Ramanathan K, Cove ME, Caleb MG, Teoh KL, Maclaren G Ethical dilemmas of adult ECMO: emerging conceptual challenges. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. (2015) 29:229–33. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2014.07.015
- 13. Howe EG. New paradigms in medical ethics. J Clin Ethics. (2016) 27:267-80.
- Crow S, Fischer AC, Schears RM. Extracorporeal life support: utilization, cost, controversy, and ethics of trying to save lives. *Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth.* (2009) 13:183–91. doi: 10.1177/10892532093 47385

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MD conceptualized the project and MD, AD, and GT wrote 50% of the manuscript. RK wrote the remaining 50% of the manuscript and provided oversight to form and structure. AA, EP, GZ, GB, CC, RL, GA, and LD provided revisions to the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are thankful to Dr. Yit Guner from the Children's Hospital of Orange County, California for the final revision of the manuscript.

- McClelland W, Goligher EC. Withholding or withdrawing life support versus physician-assisted death: a distinction with a difference? *Curr Opin Anaesthesiol.* (2019) 32:184-89. doi: 10.1097/ACO.000000000000686
- Mahon MM. Withdrawing and withholding life prolonging therapies in children. In: Ravitsky V, Fiester A, Caplan AL, editors. *The Penn Center Guide to Bioethics*. New York, NY. Springer Publishing Company, LLC (2009). p. 484–98.
- Stephens AL, Bruce CR. Setting expectations for ECMO: improving communication between clinical teams and decision makers. *Methodist Debakey Cardiovasc J.* (2018) 14:120–5. doi: 10.14797/mdcj-14-2-120
- Petrou S, Bischof M, Bennett C, Elbourne D, Field D, McNally H. Costeffectiveness of neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation based on 7year results from the United Kingdom Collaborative ECMO Trial. *Pediatrics*. (2006) 117:1640–9. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-1150
- Beauchamp TL, Childress JF. Part II: moral principles. In: *Principles of Biomedical Ethics*, 6th ed. Oxford University Press (2009). p. 99–288.
- 20. Sgreccia E. Human person and personalism. Cuad Bioet. (2013) 24:115-23.
- Sgreccia E. Personalist Bioethics: Foundations and Applications, 1st ed. National Catholic Bioethics Center (2012).
- Vincent JL. Withdrawing may be preferable to withholding. *Crit Care*. (2005) 9:226–9. doi: 10.1186/cc3486
- Williams SB, Dahnke MD. Clarification and mitigation of ethical problems surrounding withdrawal of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Crit Care Nurse*. (2016) 36:56–65. doi: 10.4037/ccn2016504
- Pascual F. Chapter 1: "Principlism": beauchamp and childress. In: *Models of Bioethics*. Rome: Ateneo Pontificio Regina Apostolorum (2005). p. 119–42.
- Gafni A. The quality of QALYs (quality-adjusted-life-years): do QALYs measure what they at least intend to measure? *Health Policy*. (1989) 13:81–3. doi: 10.1016/0168-8510(89)90112-7
- Payot A, Barrington KJ. The quality of life of young children and infants with chronic medical problems: review of the literature. *Curr Probl Pediatr Adolesc Health Care.* (2011) 41:91–101. doi: 10.1016/j.cppeds.2010. 10.008
- 27. Pellegrino ED. Decisions to withdraw life-sustaining treatment: a moral algorithm. JAMA. (2000) 283:1065–7. doi: 10.1001/jama.283.8.1065
- Devictor DJ1, Tissieres P, Gillis J, Truog R; WFPICCS Task Force on Ethics. Intercontinental differences in end-of-life attitudes in the pediatric intensive care unit: results of a worldwide survey. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2008) 9:560–6. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e31818d3581
- 29. Larcher V, Craig F, Bhogal K, Wilkinson D, Brierley J, Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. Making decisions to limit treatment in life-limiting and life-threatening conditions in children: a framework for practice. Arch Dis Child. (2015) 100(Suppl. 2):S3–23. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2014-306666
- Biesaga T. Personalism versus principlism in bioethics. Forum Philosophicum. (2003) 8:23–32. doi: 10.5840/forphil200385

- Petrini C, Gainotti S. A personalist approach to public-health ethics. Bull World Health Organ. (2008) 86:624–9. doi: 10.2471/BLT.08.0 51193
- 32. Jonsen A, Siegler M, Winslade W. *Clinical Ethics*. 6th ed. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill (2006).
- Payot A. Best interest standards do not correlate with the reality of physicians' decision making in life and death choices. *Evid Based Nurs.* (2012) 15:9. doi: 10.1136/ebnurs-2011-100148
- Peetz AB, Sadovnikoff N, O'Connor MF. Is informed consent for extracorporeal life support even possible? AMA J Ethics. (2015) 17:236–42. doi: 10.1001/journalofethics.2015.17.3.stas1-1503
- Gaizler G, Nyéky K. Basic principles of personalist bioethics. In: *Bioethics*. Budapest: Pázmány Péter Katolikus Egyetem (2011). p. 1–15.
- Sgreccia E. Fondamenti ed etica biomedica. In: Manuale di Bioetica. Milan: Vita e Pensiero (2003). p. 159–68.
- 37. Keele L, Meert KL, Berg RA, Dalton H, Newth CJ, Harrison R, et al. Limiting and withdrawing life support in the PICU: for whom are these options discussed? *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2016) 17:110–20. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000614
- Kon AA, Davidson JE. Retiring the term futility in value-laden decisions regarding potentially inappropriate medical treatment. *Crit Care Nurse*. (2017) 37:9–11. doi: 10.4037/ccn2017234
- Misak CJ, White DB, Truog RD. Medical futility: a new look at an old problem. Chest. (2014) 146:1667–72. doi: 10.1378/chest.14-0513

- Janvier A, Bauer KL, Lantos JD. Are newborns morally different from older children? *Theor Med Bioeth*. (2007) 28:413–25. doi: 10.1007/s11017-007-9052-y
- 41. Howe EG. Harmful emotional responses that patients and physicians may have when their values conflict. *J Clin Ethics*. (2016) 27:187–200.
- Bosslet GT, Lo B, White DB resolving family-clinician disputes in the context of contested definitions of futility. *Perspect Biol Med.* (2018) 60:314–18. doi: 10.1353/pbm.2018.0002
- 43. Meltzer EC, Ivascu NS, Stark M, Orfanos AV, Acres CA, Christos PJ, et al. A survey of physicians' attitudes toward decision-making authority for initiating and withdrawing VA-ECMO: results and ethical implications for shared decision making. *J Clin Ethics*. (2016) 27:281–9.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Di Nardo, Dalle Ore, Testa, Annich, Piervincenzi, Zampini, Bottari, Cecchetti, Amodeo, Lorusso, Del Sorbo and Kirsch. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Interhospital Transport on Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation of Neonates—Perspective for the Future

Lars Mikael Broman 1,2*

¹ Department of Pediatric Perioperative Medicine and Intensive Care, Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation Centre Karolinska, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden, ² Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Giacomo Cavallaro, IRCCS Ca 'Granda Foundation Maggiore Policlinico Hospital, Italy

Reviewed by:

Graeme MacLaren, National University Hospital, Singapore Susan Lee Bratton, The University of Utah, United States Thomas Vincent Brogan, Seattle Children's Hospital, United States

> *Correspondence: Lars Mikael Broman lars.broman@sll.se

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neonatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 26 April 2019 Accepted: 22 July 2019 Published: 06 August 2019

Citation:

Broman LM (2019) Interhospital Transport on Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation of Neonates—Perspective for the Future. Front. Pediatr. 7:329. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00329 In recent years the number of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) cases in neonates has been relatively constant. Future expansion lays in new indications for treatment. Regionalization to high-volume ECMO centers allows for optimal utilization of resources, reduction in costs, morbidity, and mortality. Mobile ECMO services available "24-7" are needed to provide effective logistics and reliable infrastructure for patient safety. ECMO transports are usually high-risk and complex. To reduce complications during ECMO transport communication using time-out, checklists, and ECMO A-B-C are paramount in any size mobile program. Team members' education, clinical training, and experience are important. For continuing education, regular wet-lab training, and simulation practices in teams increase performance and confidence. In the future the artificial placenta for the extremely premature infant (23-28 gestational weeks) will be introduced. This will enforce the development and adaptation of ECMO devices and materials for increased biocompatibility to manage the high-risk prem-ECMO (28–34 weeks) patients. These methods will likely first be introduced at a few high-volume neonatal ECMO centers. The ECMO team brings bedside competence for assessment, cannulation, and commencement of therapy, followed by a safe transport to an experienced ECMO center. How transport algorithms for the artificial placentae will affect mobile ECMO is unclear. ECMO transport services in the newborn should firstly be an out-reach service led and provided by ELSO member centers that continuously report transport data to an expansion of the ELSO Registry to include transport quality follow-up and research. For future development and improvement follow-up and sharing of data are important.

Keywords: extracorporeal membrane oxygenation, neonatal, neonate, children, transport, inter-hospital, interhospital, prem

INTRODUCTION

At the dawn of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) in the 1970s the neonatal population was the first group acknowledged to benefit from this new organ support (1). The number of hospitals which offered ECMO treatment was limited and the risk of transporting neonates on conventional respiratory support was considered high (2, 3). Thus, in 1975 the alternative to transport the patient on conventional critical care support, i.e., to initiate ECMO at the referring hospital before transporting the patient was performed in a neonate (4). Subsequently, the feasibility of ECMO transports has been repeatedly confirmed (5–7).

Concerning most aspects of ECMO outcome (patient safety, resource utilization, quality, morbidity, mortality), there is concensus that ECMO is best provided at high-volume ECMO centers (8–10). However, case mix may influence survival data (11), and Bailly et al. found no association between center size and outcome (12). As recently as a decade ago, only a small number of centers worldwide provided mobile ECMO services for bedside assessment and cannulae insertion. After stabilization, the patient was transported on ECMO for continued support at an ECMO center (13, 14). A transport preceded by bedside assessment, decision, and cannulation for ECMO by direct involvement of the transport team is defined as a *primary transport* (14, 15). A *secondary transport* is a transfer of a patient already on ECMO, often for a day or more, i.e., the mobile team was not directly involved in the cannulation procedure.

In the last decades the numbers of neonatal and pediatric ECMO cases have leveled off or tended to decrease for certain diagnoses (16, 17). In adults, the volume of respiratory and cardiac ECMO treatments and number of ECMO centers are increasing (18). These "young" units gain experience over time albeit the annual treatment volume is unlikely to qualify them as high-volume centers (>20-30 respiratory runs per year) (10). In the future, however, these units may serve as support centers in larger clinical ECMO networks. One example of this, the Hub-and-Spoke model, has already been implemented in various health care systems (14, 19, 20). For these to be effective, a "24-7" on-call transport service is needed that provides both primary and secondary transports. Note, a network need not be restrained by national borders for certain diagnoses, i.e., congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH), or by a limited population too low to support a low-incidence high-cost therapy. Transports of neonates and children have been described in both national networks (14, 21, 22) and in networks transcending national borders (13, 23, 24).

During the H1N1 pandemic the need for mobile ECMO became evident. However, the medical community has lost control over the number of centers with transport capabilities and the quantity and quality of transports performed. Most importantly, we need to know more about transport related adverse events, how these should be best managed or avoided, and how they correlate to short- and long-term morbidity and mortality outcomes. ECMO transports are unregulated in most countries (14), and authorized transport programs are sparse. Only a handful of publications are based on large numbers of

transports (13, 24-26). Even fewer have reported complications during transport. Despite the ELSO transport guidelines (15), an international standard concerning transport management, definitions on adverse events and follow-up are lacking (14). In mixed populations transports adverse events vary from "zero" to >30% (24, 25, 27, 28). In neonates, transport complications may reach as high as 40% as reported by Burgos et al. (23). This high number may coincide with case mix as well as a high frequency of venoarterial ECMO patients and fixed wing transport, both associated with an increased risk for transport complications (24). In a mixed group of both neonatal and pediatric patients five adverse events were reported in 20 ECMO transports (21). In an attempt to identify adverse events a four-level risk category scale was introduced by Ericsson et al. (29), and a revision recently published (24). Death during transport is reported to be rare, <0.5% (14, 24, 25). With no international registry and low published numbers, robust data on mortality is lacking. ECMO transport seems to be safe, at least in the hands of experienced teams. Besides the publications from a few high-volume mobile ECMO programs, additional data is published as cases series or case reports. In a review of 27 case series compared to all ELSO Registry patients, Bryner et al. (25) found no difference in survival for patients transported when stratified for age or ECMO indication. Similar survival results comparing ECMO retrievals and non-transported ECMO cases have been reported from single centers (13, 27).

The aim of this work is to elucidate different approaches to the future development and role for mobile ECMO in the neonatal patient population.

DISCUSSION

Where Are We Now?

The decreasing number of ECMO cases in neonates (16) may be attributed to improved technologies and experience in invasive ventilation support, e.g., inhaled nitric oxide, high frequency ventilation, percussive ventilation, etc. It may also be influenced by subtle changes in antenatal care and intervention, e.g., intrauterine procedures such as bronchial blockers used in lung hypoplasia/CDH (30, 31).

The current expansion of adult respiratory and cardiac ECMO, which may see further growth if extracorporeal cardiopulmonary resuscitation becomes well established, not only brings resources but also spread knowledge and awareness concerning the utilization of extracorporeal support in all age groups. Thus, even though referrals for ECMO mainly occur in adult patients, this may also benefit neonates and pediatric patients. An adult center may, depending on local surgeons' training and skills, and hospitals' pediatric/neonatal critical care experiences, provide rescue for a rapidly deteriorating critically ill child. The child is secured, a mobile ECMO team retrieves the patient to an appropriate ECMO center. However, contemporary regional resource utilization may redirect such secondary transport to another region's neonatal or pediatric ECMO center. Adult and pediatric mobile ECMO programs may work in parallel. For example, in the United Kingdom (67 million population) one center, Glenfield Hospital, Leicester, performs

all ECMO transports of children, whereas five centers perform regionalized adult transfers (14).

Safe transport—the following applies to any size ECMO transport program.

Training and Education

The basic training and experience required to become a member of a transport team varies between centers and countries (14). Familiarity with transport equipment used and what differs from the devices used in the ward (14, 24). Guidelines for basic ECMO training and the requirements for team members are published and updated by ELSO (15, 32). Regular training for team members should be arranged with scenarios led by a senior staff. Each scenario is followed by a short discussion. "Waterdrills," using a saline primed ECMO circuit are easily organized, may be performed in small groups and offer opportunities to become familiar with equipment and to train separate procedures (33, 34). Water-drills are excellent to mimic situations in narrow spaces (e.g., elevator, aircraft, etc.). Full high-fidelity simulator training is resource demanding and one complete team is taken from clinical duty for half to an entire day. If more time is allowed, such day may start with a few lectures. However, realistic scenarios are extremely valuable to all team members. Closed loop communication and clear leadership often prove to be what separates the well-performing from the less wellperforming team. One to two simulation days per staff per year at centers with >10 treatments/year, and more often in centers of <5-10 treatments/year would be reasonable (33, 35, 36). Team composition, organization of transport program, funding, etc. are not the scope of this work but can be found in the literature (14, 15).

Preparing for Transport

(Given that the patient is stable enough for transport.) Infusion lines, ECMO and ventilator tubing, cables, oxygen bottles, etc. are checked, fastened, and secured accordingly. Emergency equipment, i.e., an emergency box (saline, antiseptics, sterile clamps, and scissors, connectors, syringes, 3-way stopcocks), rescue kit (dry oxygenator and centrifugal pump connected with tubing ready for priming with saline), console and drive-unit, as well as blood products are controlled according to a checklist. This checklist ensures confidence of availability of all emergency equipment at "arm's length reach" from the patient. Before unplugging from the ward a timeout is performed. In this, Situation-Background-Assessment-Recommendation (SBAR) is a suitable structured format (37, 38). Information about "red flags" is important, e.g., circuit clots, earlier bleeding site, etc. Checklist and timeout should be utilized before leaving any location, e.g., ward, CT, operating room, or vehicle (15, 39, 40).

On Transport

The timeout is extremely important for safe management when personnel unfamiliar with ECMO are asked to contribute outside their usual comfort zone. An example is when airport staff assists in a patient transfer between transport vehicles. Every step should be explained, and a clear back-up plan has to be known by all participants. The SBAR would be prolonged. Continuous re-evaluation of the patient follows the classic A-B-C. The *ECMO A-B-C*, displayed in **Table 1**, focuses on ECMO gear and performance in a structured way and may be used:

- 1) In emergencies for effective and fast problem solving.
- 2) For the continuous re-evaluation of patient treatment.
- 3) In everyday practice as part of ECMO circuit and patient survey at beginning of each shift.
- 4) After every device or patient related intervention, i.e., if the patient has been moved from one bed to another, if equipment has been changed, etc.
- 5) After change from one power and/or oxygen source to another, e.g., when the patient has been "un-plugged" on the ward and now relies on batteries and gas bottles, as well as after "plug-in" in ambulance/aircraft, etc.

For all staff to use same robust algorithm, applicable to any occasion, increases confidence and safety for and around the patient.

To reduce complications in neonatal transports, data available today tell us to keep transport time short (24, 29) and to acknowledge that fixed wing (FW) aircraft transports carry a higher risk than ground ambulance. Concerning patient safety, it is important to *get to* the patient as fast as possible (15). For shorter distances <650–800 km, a rapid response concept would be to use helicopter (rotating wing, RW). The mobile ECMO team may dispatch and land at the referring hospital's roof or close nearby reaching the patient bedside much faster than in any ground ambulance and/or FW combination.

When ECMO has been commenced there is more time to consider transport options. The choice of transport vehicle has to be put in its full context as should associated complications. For transports >650-800 km the only feasible mode of transport to keep transport time down would be FW. The most likely contributors to the increased risk observed in FW are longer time on transport and two additional patient movements between transport vehicles. In these procedures, focus may be diverted from patient monitoring and thermoregulation to more practical issues. If staff is aware of which complications are to be expected in the different phases of a transport, numbers may be reduced.

Heat losses and lack of heat conservation are known problems during transports and awareness concerning these problems are important for safe transports. Experiences from transports of neonates show that these patients are at risk of accidental hypothermia (23, 24), and heaters should always be used. During movement of the patient between transport vehicles or from the ambulance to the ward the heater cannot be operated unless an uninterruptible power supply (UPS) is used. However, very few transport programs use UPS (14). In an ex-vivo simulation in a mock of a 3 kg newborn on body temperature presented by Ericsson and Westlund at the 35th Annual CNMS: ECMO & the Advanced Therapies for Cardiovascular and Respiratory Failure, 2019, Keystone, CO, USA, it was not only shown that hypothermia was a risk in out-door transport but also during in-hospital transports, Figure 1. In future designs of transport devices heat loss due to convection and conduction should be taken seriously and prioritized. Future mobile ECMO may expand into transporting **TABLE 1** Shows an ECMO A-B-C to be used for problem solving in emergencies and for routine evaluation of device performance and function in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support.

The ECMO A-B-C includes the following items:

1.ECMO pump

- i Power/electricity on
- ii Revolutions per minute (rpm)-is the pump running and, at correct speed?
- iii Flow-does the pump rpm create an adequate ECMO blood flow?
- iv Pressures does the pump produce a pressure adequate for flow and are the pressures obtained reasonable? Trends? Pressures are monitored before
- (pre-pump pressure), between pump and oxygenator (pre-oxygenator pressure), and in the return tubing back to the patient (post-oxygenator pressure)

2.Sweep gas

- i Flow-sweep-gas flow correctly adjusted?
- ii Pressure-is there a pressure in the gas-line to the oxygenator? (indicates integrity of line)
- iii Plugged to wall or gas bottle/s? Amount of gas in bottle?

3.Heater on-Power/electricity. There is always risk of hypothermia in the smaller patients, even indoors. Tubing should be lukewarm

4.Tubing

- i Look-the color is an indicator for oxygenation of the blood (darker for venous, bright red for arterial). On transport and in poor lighting conditions a flashlight may be handy for inspection
- ii Feel-tubing lukewarm, otherwise check the heater. Chattering of the tubing indicates a drainage problem
- iii Cannulation site/s: bleeding? Integrity of distal perfusion line?

Use your eyes and hands to assess the patient during transport. In aircraft, lighting conditions are often poor (use flashlight!), and the environment noisy. Noise reduction/hearing protection aids should be provided for the patient.



of –3°C. With permission from A. Ericsson and C.J. Westlund, ECMO Center Karolinska, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden (2019). ox, membrane oxygenator. Aquatherm: heater, HICO-AQUATHERM 660; Hirtz & Co., Cologne, Germany. ReadyHeat: Ready-HeatTM, disposable self-warming blanket, TechTrade LLC, Jersey City, NJ,USA.

smaller patients, and the smaller the patient, the higher the risk for hypothermia. The importance of an ECMO A-B-C (and checklist, SBAR) cannot be emphasized enough to promote a high level of safety.

Even though ECMO in its early development centered on neonates, devices available today are in many cases developed for adults. Centrifugal pumps, for example, are with few exceptions developed for full-flow ECMO in the adult. When used in neonates these pumps may be too coarse in their flow dynamics for safe use. A centrifugal pump running at low flow speed may induce hemolysis and platelet/coagulation activation due to long residence for platelets and red blood cells inside the pump (and other circuit components) (41). Proper sizing of pump devices will reduce the risk of hemolysis and coagulation activation, thus also bleeding complications. Effective integrated heaters are important for safe transport of the newborn. With miniaturized implantable gas-exchangers the need for heaters may decrease in the future. These products, however, are not likely to be seen in neonates initially but rather in chronic adult patients bridged for transplant, etc.

Where Will We Go?

Today the number of neonatal ECMO treatments has become rather constant in most of the developed world. Thus, the likelihood of seeing an increase in the number of neonatal ECMO transports with conventional diagnoses and established criteria for ECMO support is low. Socioeconomic and other factors slow or inhibit the extension of major ECMO programs. New methods for extracorporeal life support for the premature are in development. The artificial placenta (AP) focuses on support in the extremely premature (23-28 weeks gestational age, GA) (42-44). To predict the volume of extremely prematurely born infants to be offered AP, or the spread of this life support mode and the extent of engagement by mobile ECMO teams is impossible. First clinical trials will likely start within 5 years (45). However, this may occur sooner as single center studies in humans are planned in the near future to be followed by multicenter approaches, and the method may be commercially available in the not too distant future (personal communication: Professor Alan W. Flake, Center for Fetal Research, Department of Surgery, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, PA, USA). A major and perhaps unforeseen impact of the AP is that it will elicit an ethical debate where public opinion and media pressure will enforce research concerning prem-ECMO. Prem-ECMO is support in the prematurely born GA 28-34 weeks who are "too old for the AP," but still "too young for conventional ECMO" (46, 47). Today these infants are denied ECMO due to the high risk of cerebral bleeding complications. Improvements in design are centered on coating/lining materials, pumps, gas exchangers, and cannulae. However, insights in the management of anticoagulation as well as ventilation strategies are important. The ventilated lung (and inotropes) may be part of the pathophysiology of cerebral bleedings in the preterm (48, 49). Concerning prem-ECMO transport, it could start tomorrowthe infrastructure is already available by caring for the GA 34+ weeks children.

If, or rather when, prem-ECMO transport is launched, it seems clear that these transports will include high risk patients providing new challenges. Even given that we have proper devices the risk of hypothermia remains. Smaller patient not only requires thinner cannulae, but the margin for error in placement will be small and risk of dislodgement considerable. The implementation of prem-transport has to be guided by adequate protocols and be evaluated. Today we are far beyond the time when anecdotes can mark the path to be followed.

In this article, the impact of stem cell/gene therapy in the neonate will not be discussed and what the future holds is yet to be seen (50). However, AP patients have been suggested as one group for gene therapy (44).

In ECMO transports a lowest acceptable number, or minimum of total accumulated annual transport hours required to ensure patient safety has not been published. However, it may be assumed that the larger the patient volume the better the outcome with reduced morbidity and mortality. The first step needed for us as a community would be to agree on standards, acknowledge that adverse event do occur in any mobile ECMO program and from this create a platform to improve and develop our programs. Resources should be allocated to expand the ELSO Registry with a transport module for reporting but also for extraction of own in- and processed out-put data. ELSO Centers of Excellence with recognized transport programs could be encouraged to take the lead in the development and support of interhospital mobile ECMO and act as "role-models" for safe and reliable mobile ECMO.

CONCLUSIONS

The expansion of neonatal ECMO into new geographical regions is limited. Hence, future volume increases in mobile ECMO in neonates depend on the introduction of new methods for the (extremely) premature: the artificial placenta (GA 23–28 weeks) and what comes thereafter, prem-ECMO (GA 28–34 weeks).

For safe transport of any age patient and in any size program, basic requirements for education, clinical training and experience are needed. Regular wet-lab training and high-fidelity team simulations using clinical scenarios increase performance. Timeouts, checklists and ECMO A-B-C are paramount for safety in-hospital and on transport. For future development and improvement follow-up and sharing of data is important.

ECMO transport services in the newborn should include an out-reach service provided by ELSO member centers that report transport related data to an expansion of the ELSO Registry for transport quality follow-up and research.

DATA AVAILABILITY

No datasets were generated or analyzed for this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author was grateful to Associate Professor Jan Hultman and Associate Professor Peter Radell for editing the language, and to ECMO specialist physician Anders Ericsson and ECMO specialist nurse C. Jerker Westlund for the permission to use data on hypothermia. JH, PR, AE, and CJW are affiliated with Department of Pediatric Perioperative Medicine and Intensive Care, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden.

REFERENCES

- Bartlett RH, Gazzaniga AB, Toomasian J, Coran AG, Roloff D, Rucker R. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) in neonatal respiratory failure: 100 cases. *Ann Surg.* (1986) 204:236–45. doi: 10.1097/0000658-198609000-00003
- Butt W, McDougall, Shann F. Is it safe to transport infants for extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *J Paediatr Child Health*. (1990) 26:286. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1754.1990.tb01074.x
- Boedy RF, Howell CG, Kanto WP. Hidden mortality rate associated with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. J Pediatr Surg. (1991) 117:1762–4. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(05)81098-4
- Bartlett RH, Gazzaniga AB, Fong SW, Jefferies MR, Roohk HV, Haiduc N. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenator support for cardiopulmonary failure. Experience in 28 cases. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (1977) 73:375–86.
- Cornish JD, Carter JM, Gerstmann DR, Null DM Jr. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation as a means of stabilizing and transporting high risk neonates. ASAIO Trans. (1991) 37:564–8.
- Heulitt MJ, Taylor BJ, Faulkner SC, Baker LL, Chipman CW, Harrell JH, et al. Inter-hospital transport of neonatal patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: mobile-ECMO. *Pediatrics*. (1995) 95:562–6.
- Prodhan P, Fiser RT, Cenac S, Bhutta AT, Fontenot E, Moss M, et al. Intrahospital transport of children on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: indications, process, interventions, and effectiveness. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2010) 11:227–33. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e3181b063b2
- Karamlou T, Vafaeezadeh M, Parrish AM, Cohen GA, Welke KF, Permut L, et al. Increased extracorporeal membrane oxygenation center case volume is associated with improved extracorporeal membrane oxygenation survival among pediatric patients. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2013) 145:470–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2012.11.037
- Freeman C, Bennett T, Casper TC, Larsen G, Hubbard A, Wilkes J, et al. Pediatric and neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation; does center volume impact mortality? *Crit Care Med.* (2014) 42:512–9. doi: 10.1097/01.ccm.0000435674.83682.96
- Barbaro R, Odetalo F, Kidwell K, Bartlett R, Davis MM, Annich G. Association between hospital extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) volume and mortality. *Am J Resp Crit Care Med.* (2015) 191:894–901. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201409-1634OC
- Mascio CE, Austin EH III, Jacobs JP, Jacobs ML, Wallace AS, He X, et al. Perioperative mechanical circulatory support in children: an analysis of the Society of Thoracic Surgeons Congenital Heart Surgery Database. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2014) 147:658–64: discussion 664–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2013.09.075
- Bailly DK, Reeder RW, Winder M, Barbaro RP, Pollack MM, Moler FW, et al. Development of the pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation prediction model for risk-adjusting mortality. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2019) 20:426–34. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000001882
- Broman LM, Holzgraefe B, Palmér K, Frenckner B: The Stockholm experience: interhospital transports on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Crit Care.* (2015) 19:278. doi: 10.1186/s13054-015-0994-6
- Broman LM, Dirnberger D, Malfertheiner MV, Aokage T, Morberg P, Næsheim T, et al. International survey on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation transport. ASAIO J. (2019). doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000997. [Epub ahead of print].
- Guidelines for ECMO Transport, Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO), Ann Arbor, MI. Available online at: https://www.elso.org/Portals/ 0/Files/ELSO%20GUIDELINES%20FOR%20ECMO%20TRANSPORT_ May2015.pdf (accessed June 20, 2019).
- Ford JW. Neonatal ECMO: current controversies and trends. Neonatal Netw. (2006) 25:229–38. doi: 10.1891/0730-0832.25.4.229
- Butt W, MacLaren G. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation 2016: an update. *F1000Res.* (2016) 5:F1000 Faculty Rev-750. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.8320.1
- ELSO Registry, Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO), Ann Arbor, MI. Available online at: https://www.elso.org/Registry/Statistics/ InternationalSummary.aspx (accessed April 22, 2019).
- Combes A, Brodie D, Bartlett R, Brochard L, Brower R, Conrad S, et al. Position paper for the organization of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation

programs for acute respiratory failure in adult patients. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2014) 190:488–96. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201404-0630CP

- 20. Broman LM. Inter-hospital transports on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in different health-care systems. J Thorac Dis. (2017) 9:3425–9. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.07.93
- 21. Di Nardo M, Lonero M, Pasotti E, Cancani F, Perrotta D, Cecchetti C, et al. The first five years of neonatal and pediatric transports on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in the center and south of Italy: the pediatric branch of the Italian "Rete Respira" network. *Perfusion*. (2018) 33:24–30. doi: 10.1177/0267659118766829
- Fouilloux V, Gran C, Ghez O, Chenu C, El Louali F, Kreitmann B, et al. Mobile extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for children: single-center 10 years' experience. *Perfusion*. (2019) 34:384–91. doi: 10.1177/0267659118824006
- Burgos CM, Fletcher-Sandersjöö A, Frenckner B, Broman LM. Transport on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for congenital diaphragmatic hernia: a unique center experience. *J Ped Surg.* (2019) S0022-3468(18)30817-0. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2018.11.022. [Epub ahead of print].
- Fletcher-Sandersjöö A, Frenckner B, Broman LM. A single-center experience of 900 interhospital transports on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2019) 107:119–27. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2018.07.040
- Bryner B, Cooley E, Copenhaver W, Brierley K, Teman N, Landis D, et al. Two decades' experience with interfacility transport on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2014) 98:1363–70. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2014.06.025
- Clement KC, Fiser RT, Fiser WP, Chipman CW, Taylor BJ, Heulitt MJ, et al. Single-institution experience with interhospital extracorporeal membrane oxygenation transport: a descriptive study. *Ped Crit Care Med.* (2010) 11:509– 13. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e3181c515ca
- Foley DS, Pranikoff T, Younger JG, Swaniker F, Hemmila MR, Remenapp RA, et al. A review of 100 patients transported on extracorporeal life support. *ASAIO J.* (2002) 48:612–9. doi: 10.1097/00002480-200211000-00007
- Sherren PB, Shepherd SJ, Glover GW, Meadows CI, Langrish C, Ioannou N, et al. Capabilities of a mobile extracorporeal membrane oxygenation service for severe respiratory failure delivered by intensive care specialists. *Anaesthesia.* (2015) 70:707–14. doi: 10.1111/anae.13014
- Ericsson A, Frenckner B, Broman LM. Adverse events during inter-hospital transports on Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Prehospital Emergency Care.* (2017) 21:448–55. doi: 10.1080/10903127.2017.1282561
- Laberge JM, Flageole H. Fetal tracheal occlusion for the treatment of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. World J Surg. (2007) 31:1577–86. doi: 10.1007/s00268-007-9074-7
- Shue EH, Miniati D, Lee H. in prenatal diagnosis and treatment of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. *Clin Perinatol.* (2012) 39:289–300. doi: 10.1016/j.clp.2012.04.005
- Guidelines Training 32. ELSO Continuing for Education and Specialists, of ECMO Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO), Ann Arbor, MI. Available online at: https://www.elso.org/Portals/0/IGD/Archive/FileManager/97000963d6cusers shyerdocumentselsoguidelinesfortrainingandcontinuingeducation ofecmospecialists.pdf (accessed June 20, 2019).
- Guerguerian AM, Ogino MT, Dalton HJ, Shekerdemian LS. Setup and maintenance of extracorporeal life support programs. *Ped Crit Care Med.* (2013) 14(5 Suppl 1):S84–93. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e3182 92e528
- Kim GW, Koh Y, Lim CM, Huh JW, Jung SH, Kim JB, et al. The effect of an improvement of experience and training in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation management on clinical outcomes. *Korean J Intern Med.* (2018) 33:121–9. doi: 10.3904/kjim.2015.027
- 35. Zakhary BM, Kam LM, Kaufman BS, Felner KJ. The utility of high-fidelity simulation for training critical care fellows in the management of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation emergencies: a randomized controlled trial. *Crit Care Med.* (2017) 45:1367–73. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000002437
- Fehr JJ, Shepard M, McBride ME, Mehegan M, Reddy K, Murray DJ, et al. Simulation-based assessment of ECMO clinical specialists. *Simul Healthc*. (2016) 11:194–9. doi: 10.1097/SIH.00000000000153
- 37. Randmaa M, Mårtensson G, Leo Svenne C, Engström M. SBAR improves communication and safety climate and decreases incident reports due to

communication errors in an anaesthetic clinic: a prospective intervention study. *BM Open.* (2014) 4:e004268. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004268

- Raiten JM, Lane-Fall M, Gutsche JT, Kohl BA, Fabbro M, Sophocles A, et al. Transition of care in the cardiothoracic intensive care unit: a review of handoffs in perioperative cardiothoracic and vascular practice. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. (2015) 29:1089–95. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2015.01.003
- Brunsveld-Reinders AH, Arbous MS, Kuiper SG, de Jonge E. A comprehensive method to develop a checklist to increase safety of intra-hospital transport of critically ill patients. *Crit Care.* (2015) 19:214. doi: 10.1186/s13054-015-0938-1
- Oszvald Á, Vatter H, Byhahn C, Seifert V, Güresir E. "Team time-out" and surgical safety—experiences in 12,390 neurosurgical patients. *Neurosurg Focus*. (2012) 33:E6. doi: 10.3171/2012.8.FOCUS12261
- Fuchs G, Berg N, Broman LM, Prahl Wittberg L. Flow-induced platelet activation in components of the extracorporeal membrane oxygenation circuit. *Scient Rep.* (2018) 8:13985. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-3 2247-y
- Bird SD. Artificial placenta: analysis of recent progress. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. (2017) 208:61–70. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2016. 11.005
- Metelo-Coimbra C, Roncon-Albuquerque R Jr. Artificial placenta: recent advances and potential clinical applications. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2016) 51:643– 9. doi: 10.1002/ppul.23401
- 44. Partridge EA, Davey MG, Hornick MA, McGovern PE, Mejaddam AY, Vrecenak JD, et al. An extra-uterine system to physiologically support the extreme premature lamb. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:15112. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15794

- Mychaliska GB. The artificial placenta: is clinical translation next? *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2016) 51:557–9. doi: 10.1002/ppul.23412
- Van Ommen CH, Neunert CE, Chitlur MB. Neonatal ECMO. Front Med. (2018) 5:289. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00289
- Church JT, Kim AC, Erickson KM, Rana A, Drongowski R, Hirschl RB, et al. Pushing the boundaries of ECLS: outcomes in <34 week EGA neonates. J Pediatr Surg. (2017) 52:1810–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2017.03.054
- Hefti MM, Trachtenberg FL, Haynes RL, Hassett C, Volpe JJ, Kinney HC. A century of germinal matrix intraventricular hemorrhage in autopsied premature infants: a historical account. *Pediatr Dev Pathol.* (2016) 19:108–14. doi: 10.2350/15-06-1663-OA.1
- Wong J, Shah PS, Yoon EW, Yee W, Lee S, Dow K. Inotrope use among extremely preterm infants in Canadian neonatal intensive care units: variation and outcomes. *Am J Perinatol.* (2015) 32:9–14. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1371703
- Chang YS, Ahn SY, Park WS. Stem cell therapy for neonatal disorders: prospects and challenges. *Yonsei Med J.* (2017) 58:266–71. doi: 10.3349/ymj.2017.58.2.266

Conflict of Interest Statement: LB is a Medical Advisory Board member of Eurosets (Mirandola, Modena, Italy), and of Xenios (Heilbronn, Germany).

Copyright © 2019 Broman. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation in Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia

Neysan Rafat and Thomas Schaible*

Department of Neonatology, University Children's Hospital Mannheim, University of Heidelberg, Mannheim, Germany

Congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH) is characterized by failure of diaphragmatic development with lung hypoplasia and persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn (PPHN). If conventional treatment with gentle ventilation and optimized vasoactive medication fails, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) may be considered. The benefits of ECMO in CDH are still controversial, since there are only few randomized trials demonstrating the advantages of this therapeutic option. At present, there is no precise prenatal and/or early postnatal prognostication parameter to predict reversibility of PPHN in CDH patients. Indications for initiating ECMO include either respiratory or circulatory parameters, which are also undergoing continuous refinement. Centers with higher case numbers and the availability of ECMO published promising survival rates, but data on long-term results, including morbidity and quality of life, are rare. Survival might be influenced by the timing of ECMO initiation and the timing of surgical repair. In this regard a trend toward early initiation of ECMO and early surgery on ECMO exists. The results concerning the cannulation modes are similar and a consensus on time limit for ECMO runs does not exist. The use of ECMO in CDH will continue to be evaluated, and prospective randomized trials and registry network are necessary to help answering the addressed questions of patient selection and management.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Giacomo Cavallaro, IRCCS Ca' Granda Foundation Maggiore Policlinico Hospital, Italy

Reviewed by:

Tim Jancelewicz, University of Tennessee Health Science Center (UTHSC), United States Bernhard Resch, Medical University of Graz, Austria

> ***Correspondence:** Thomas Schaible thomas.schaible@umm.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Critical Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 03 June 2019 **Accepted:** 24 July 2019 **Published:** 08 August 2019

Citation:

Rafat N and Schaible T (2019) Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation in Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia. Front. Pediatr. 7:336. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00336 Keywords: congenital diaphragmatic hernia, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation, pulmonary hypertension, surgical repair, long-term outcome

INTRODUCTION

Congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH) is currently the most common indication for extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) in neonates (1). Survival rates reported by the extracorporeal life support organization (ELSO) have continued to drop in the modern era (2) and systematic reviews concerning a benefit of ECMO in CDH did not find an advantage for ECMO (3–5). However, some centers and networks have demonstrated an increase in survival rates in CDH with the employment of ECMO by retrospective analysis in their series (6). ECMO may perform as a true safety net when conventional treatment strategies fail or may only be a marketing strategy for a center to become a high-volume center with the positive side effect of increasing experience in the treatment of CDH. By increasing experience in the treatment of CDH, ECMO employment might be reduced, however, in some cases of CDH, pulmonary hypertension is so severe that only ECMO support can provide a chance of survival. The pathophysiology of CDH includes lung hypoplasia and abnormal development of the pulmonary vasculature with hyper-reactivity which leads to persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn (PPHN) (1).

Episodes of hypoxia and hypercapnia can exacerbate the PPHN, leading to severe morbidity and mortality. In patients who continue to have labile physiology and low preductal saturations despite optimal ventilation, inotropic and pulmonary vasodilatory support, the next intervention considered in the management of CDH is extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO), if available. We present a review of literature in this complex patient group and try to answer some questions about optimal time to start ECMO, recommended entry criteria, mode of ECMO, and timing of operation.

PATHOPHYSIOLOGY IN CDH AND RATIONALE FOR ECMO

In isolated CDH it seems possible to predict survival and need for ECMO and also chronic lung disease (CLD) by measuring the lung size by ultrasound or MRI. Liver herniation is also an independent risk factor for employment of ECMO (7). Data obtained by MRI seems to have lower interoperator variation and are easier to unify than data obtained by ultrasound. Categorization of severity was processed as previously described, and allows the comparison of results of different centers or ongoing studies investigating the effect of fetal tracheal occlusion (FETO) (8). As an example, we show our published data from 2006 concerning the prediction for ECMO in the group of left-sided CDH with liver up (Figure 1). Prognostic value in this group was only about 70%, because we could not predict how severe the pulmonary hypertension would be (9). With an optimal delivery room management, severely affected patients with liver up will present with some signs of a honeymoon (preductal saturation > 90%). That may be a reason for some optimism, since these patients with potential reversible pulmonary hypertension may benefit from ECMO. Avoiding stress, acidosis and severe hypoxemia and therefore crises of pulmonary hypertension reduces the need for ECMO. Surely some patients will be severely affected and do not have any sign of honeymoon, but an ongoing respiratory acidosis. In these cases, survival is impossible. But finding precisely the threshold for not offering ECMO is extremely difficult.

Using a multi-variate modeling to define the worst 10% of patients, Kays et al. included 172 consecutive inborn, prenatally diagnosed CDH patients in their analysis (10). Of the 19 worst patients, who were all aggressively resuscitated at birth and showed an average initial pH of 6.83 (at 1 h of life) with a PCO₂ > 100, 10 of 16 patients, eligible for ECMO, survived to discharge (63%) (10). These results are difficult to compare to our data because the underlying prenatal severity is not published. In contrast, in our experience a preductal saturation <85% and/or arterial PCO₂ > 100 after initial stabilization (at 1 h of life) is not compatible with survival despite early initiation of ECMO (within the first 4 h of life).

While evidence is missing for the necessity for employment of ECMO support, data from case series of ECMO centers offer convincing evidence of the potential for ECMO to rescue patients at the highly severe end of the CDH spectrum, a capability not well-documented for other treatment options besides ECMO so



far (10). To understand the importance of ECMO support for selected cases of CDH, we will look at the pathophysiology of pulmonary hypertension in more detail.

Reduced lung volume available for gas exchange may lead to hypoxemia and hypercarbia, and is one of the main pathological abnormalities that can determine the indication for ECMO. One difficulty is that severe lung hypoplasia is not currently reversible in the short term, and can make the possibility of weaning from ECMO difficult or impossible. PPHN can arise even in minor lung hypoplasia by causing a right-to-left shunt and persistent fetal circulation, which further exacerbates hypoxemia and hypercarbia. The vasculature of small pulmonary arteries is pathologically thickened and reaches far into distal airways. Any kind of distress as barotrauma, inflammation or cytokine release by surgical intervention may induce additional vasoconstriction of the small vessels. The presence of PPHN is a significant predictor and cause of morbidity, need for ECMO and mortality in CDH (11). Antenatal markers which accurately predict the degree of PPHN in CDH, are not really known. To best address this challenge there are some suggestions, such as measuring antenatal pulmonary artery diameter, estimation of pulmonary perfusion by doppler measurements or left ventricular volume (12, 13).

Patients with either good or bad prognostication only based on antenatal lung volumes and ratios can have a discrepant clinical course. Postnatal clinical course could be a marker of severity of PPHN, with oxygenation index (OI) or combined parameters of ventilation and oxygenation (Wilford Hall/Santa Rosa Score) on day 1 predictive of outcome (14, 15). In postnatal therapy the institution of effective gentle ventilation from the very beginning in the delivery room, either by conventional ventilation or high frequency oscillatory ventilation (HFOV), is crucial. The VICI trial showed to some extent a benefit for conventional ventilation as the initial mode of ventilation in terms of a shorter ventilation time and a reduced need for ECMO, but not for mortality or BPD (16). The most widely used medication in PPHN management is inhaled nitric oxide (iNO). Inhaled nitric oxide (iNO) can improve oxygenation and reduce the acute need for ECMO in newborns with other causes of PPHN, but not conclusively in CDH (17). Nevertheless, the application of iNO in CDH is about 60% in reported case series (18).

Other treatment options like sildenafil or milrinone intravenously given in PPHN are applied to treat the condition in CDH with varying success (19). A European multi-center study is planned in order to investigate the effect of iNO vs. sildenafil after delivery. Systemic pressure should be maintained on normal values in order to avoid exacerbation of any right to left shunts.

Cardiac dysfunction resulting from the physiological derangements, PPHN or any associated congenital structural cardiac abnormality can complicate the clinical course (**Figure 2**). Poor cardiac output and impaired tissue oxygenation can ensue, and therefore serum lactate may be elevated and may work as an indication for employment of ECMO. In nearly all cases with suprasystemic pulmonary artery pressure and failure of reducing right-to-left shunts, a prostaglandin analog to open the ductus arteriosus and thereby unloading the right heart may help to stabilize the patient until ECMO is established.

Randomized controlled data on the role of ECMO in CDH is limited to two early ECMO studies and the UK ECMO trial (20–22). In the later trial, CDH patients were randomized at an oxygenation index of 40 to conventional ventilation vs. ECMO. From the 17 CDH patients randomized to conventional management all died, while in the ECMO group 4 of 18 infants

survived (0 vs. 22% survival) (22). In 2006 a systematic review of ECMO in CDH was published, identifying 658 publications of which 21 (2,043 patients) met entry criteria (23). Looking at the findings of these studies, the authors concluded that employment of ECMO was associated with a reduction in CDH mortality (23). Zalla et al. (24) reviewed a single center CDH experience, dividing 16 years of treatment into four eras. In the latter two eras ECMO support was then available. *Post-hoc* analysis suggested a 73% reduction in risk of death in the ECMO eras compared to the pre-ECMO eras despite increases in CDH disease severity (24). In a recent analysis of the CDH EURO Consortium at four high volume centers in Europe, there are also higher survival rates reported from ECMO centers compared to non-ECMO centers (25).

There is only little evidence about the impact of the location of the hernia on ECMO need and postnatal prognosis. Patients with right-sided CDH have been identified as requiring increased use of ECMO [54% (26) and 71% (27)], but had better than expected ECMO survival [80% (26) and 83% (27)] (26, 27). Recently published data from the CDH study group are contrary to the before mentioned single center experiences (28). The survival without ECMO in left-sided CDH was higher compared to right-sided CDH and the use of ECMO was comparably low in right-sided CDH (36%) (28). The underlying pathophysiological mechanisms of these findings need to be investigated further. Some explanations for the different outcomes in right- vs. left-sided CDH have been suggested including the atypical dextroposition of the heart in left-sided CDH leading to adverse hemodynamic changes and an impaired cardiac function (27).

In general, improved survival without ECMO and also in ECMO centers is highly associated with the implementation of standardized treatment protocols, which mainly includes strategies to avoid ventilator associated lung injury (VALI) (29).



FIGURE 2 | The Pathophysiology in congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH). The pathophysiology of CDH includes lung hypoplasia and abnormal development of the pulmonary vasculature with hyper-reactivity which leads to persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn (PPHN). LA, left atrium; LV, left ventricle; PA, pulmonary artery; PDA, persistent ductus arteriosus; RA, right atrium; RV, right ventricle.

CDH ELSO INDICATIONS VS. CDH EURO CONSORTIUM INDICATIONS

Entry criteria that accurately predict high mortality prior to the initiation of ECMO in infants with CDH have not been published (1). Various parameters have been used to predict those who benefit from ECMO (30-34), however, none of these criteria has been validated in multicenter studies (1). In the past, entry criteria suggested by ELSO for CDH patients included an oxygenation index (OI)>40 for 4 h or a $PaO_2 < 40$ for 2 h (30), which were general entry criteria for ECMO for neonates with pulmonary hypertension of any cause. In the newest edition of their guidelines (1), ELSO has adopted their entry criteria for infants with CDH also according to the recommendations suggested by the CDH EURO Consortium Consensus -2015 Update (35). They define the following indications to initiate ECMO support in CDH patients: hypoxia, defined as preductal saturations consistently <80-85%; acidosis, defined as metabolic (lactate > 5 mmol/L or pH < 7.20) or respiratory (pH < 7.20 due to hypercarbia); hypercarbia, defined as persistent PaCO₂ > 70 leading to pH < 7.20; or hypotension, defined as poor tissue perfusion, urine output < 0.5 mL/kg/h or unresponsive to IV fluid and inotropic support. In addition, many centers use a specific limit on ventilator settings to avoid ventilatorassociated lung injury (VALI) and transition to ECMO support when a patient does not respond appropriately (1). These include limiting the peak inspiratory pressure (PIP) ($\leq 26 \text{ cm H}_2\text{O}$, HFOV to a MAP of 14–15 cm H_2O), and maintaining pH > 7.20 (usually $PaCO_2 < 70 \text{ mmHg}$) (1). The only minor differences in the recommendation of the CDH EURO Consortium Consensus relate to the hypercarbia leading to a pH < 7.15 and the ventilator settings (PIP > 28 cm H_2O or MAP > 17 cm H_2O) as an entry criteria (35). There are no significant differences between the two guidelines, and the combined entry criteria for ECMO in CDH allow a center-depend individual decision.

Relative contraindications to initiating ECMO support in CDH patients are comprised of significant congenital anomalies (major cardiac anomalies), lethal chromosomal abnormalities or other lethal malformations, Grade III/IV intracranial hemorrhage, prolonged mechanical ventilation requiring prolonged high pressure, weight < 2 kg and gestational age < 34 weeks (1). The last two criteria are due to technical problems of vascular access and the complications of prematurity. In general, prematurity is more common in patients with congenital anomalies and accordingly also in CDH. Notably, preterm infants with CDH have an increased mortality compared to term infants (36).

TIMING OF ECMO DEPLOYMENT: EARLY VS. LATE

The data of the CDH Study Group highlight the trend toward employing ECMO earlier (before CDH repair) as a component of preoperative stabilization (Red Book). While the inclusion criteria for initiating ECMO have been described in detail, there is no data available on the influence of the time point, when ECMO was initiated, on the morbidity and mortality in CDH patients. Many experts have the notion that the starting point of ECMO in CDH patients might be time-sensitive, since the responsivity of the pulmonary vasculature to pulmonary arterial hypertension treatment might be higher at the beginning and potentially reversible. If treated too late and complicated by the degree of pulmonary hypoplasia and VALI, the pulmonary hypertension can progress to right heart failure.

In our retrospective review of 321 neonates treated with ECMO from January 1987 to December 2006 at our center, we have already presented, that an early referral (<24 h) of CDH patients to the ECMO center correlated with an increased survival (6).

In a small cohort of patients with less than 15% predicted lung volume on antenatal scan who underwent EXIT to ECMO, no advantage in either survival or long-term morbidity could be demonstrated (37, 38). Although there are no randomized studies on EXIT to ECMO and these patients were not randomized, results led to the suggestion of little benefit for routine use (39).

TYPE OF SUPPORT: VENO-VENOUS VS. VENO-ARTERIAL ECMO

The mode of ECMO in CDH, whether veno-venous (VV) or veno-arterial (VA), has not been demonstrated to affect survival so far, but the current available data is poorly controlled for underlying disease severity.

Veno-arterial (VA) ECMO is usually performed with an open cut-down technique where the right common carotid artery (CCA) and right internal jugular vein (IJV) are isolated and cannulated. Circuit flows are gradually increased to provide about 50 to 100 mL/kg/min. Centrifugal ECMO circuits require smaller blood volumes for priming, but may be not as exact as roller-pump systems in providing low blood flows (the minimal possible blood flow without increased risk of clotting should be 30 mL/kg KG). Also, for appropriate hemodynamic reloading of the right ventricle in VA ECMO, especially in the weaning or the idling phase at the end of the ECMO support time, the Mannheim experience suggests to apply lower blood flows. The appropriate cannula size is determined depending on the infant's weight (sizes available down to 8 Fr; hence the VA technique may be feasible for the smaller infants). VA ECMO may have some advantages in infants with cardiac dysfunction (unloading of the right ventricle and maintaining good systemic output). Due to the pathophysiology with preexisting lower blood flow through the small pulmonary vascular bed in severely affected CDH patients, we always used VA ECMO in CDH patients in Mannheim (Figure 3).

It is often feasible to repair the CCA at decannulation although the rates of long-term patency are unclear (the IJV is usually ligated). Our own data of repair CCAs showed patency in half of the cohort, stenosis in about one fourth and occlusion in the remaining fourth part of the cohort (40).

Cannulation to Veno-venous (VV) ECMO can be performed by open surgery or using an ultrasound-guided percutaneous technique to cannulate the IJV (thereby preserving the CCA).



Because the cannulae are dual-lumen catheter, the smallest size used is 12 Fr, which requires the weight of the infant to be >2.5 kg. A potential advantage of this technique is that hyper-oxygenated blood is directed into the pulmonary artery and hence may reduce vascular resistance. But it is not clear whether a high amount of oxygen in the pulmonary vessels may lead to more inflammation via radical oxygen species (ROS). For unloading of the right heart, the duct should be open in the initial phase of VV- ECMO (**Figure 4**).

The VV-technique is dependent on satisfactory cardiac output and higher flows are usually required (often about 120 mL/kg/min). Recirculation of oxygenated blood up the venous lumen makes the precise catheter position more critical.

The cumulative ELSO experience on this topic was reviewed in two reports (41, 42), the latter covering 15 years from 1991 to 2006 (42). The report showed that VA ECMO was used in 82%, and VV ECMO only in 18% of the cases (42). Of the patients on VV ECMO 18% required conversion to VA ECMO, with survival dropping from 54% (VV) to 44% (switch from VV to VA), compared to 50% when ECMO was initiated as VA (42).

Although a systematic review suggested that there was no overall advantage with either the VV or VA technique, there is a difference in preferred mode of cannulation between centers (43). VA ECMO seems to be the more popular of the two modes, according to the scientific reports and ECMO registries; presumably as VA ECMO may give the additional benefit in the presence of severe cardiac dysfunction. They reported that VA was associated with slightly higher incidence of intracranial bleeding and seizure, while VV was associated with poorer renal perfusion. Size and vascular anatomy may sometimes dictate the mode used. Overall survival was similar between modes.

TIMING OF SURGICAL INTERVENTION: BEFORE, DURING OR AFTER ECMO?

Typically, the duration of ECMO support in CDH patients takes between 1 and 4 weeks. It has been demonstrated that prolonged need for ECMO is associated with both increased morbidity and mortality (44). In our experience an optimal duration of our preferred ECMO mode (VA) in Mannheim is 7-14 days with an average duration of 10 days. Two days after successful weaning from ECMO support, surgical repair of the CDH will be performed. This traditional approach is supported by some studies, which identified an increased survival rate, if repair could be delayed until ECMO support has been completed (45, 46). Weaning off ECMO includes a trial to clamp off ECMO for 10-15 min, which is performed after 2 days with a very low flow of 30 ml/kg KG. The objective is achieving adequate oxygenation and ventilation (pCO₂ < 60 mmHg) by a FiO₂ \leq 0.5 and gentle ventilation. In cases of weaning failure, we may prolong the ECMO support until a total of 21 days. If weaning fails after 21 days of ECMO support, we will offer compassionate/palliative care and a surgical repair will not be performed.



A main argument against surgical repair while on ECMO support is the higher incidence of bleeding. Complications from bleeding have, however, been reduced by careful anticoagulation management and the use of tranexamic acid perioperatively (47). Whether terminating treatment on ECMO without attempting surgical repair, might be a disadvantage and has not been systematically investigated. Some centers proclaim that surgical repair may increase the chances of survival, especially in the most severe forms of CDH. Yoder et al. reported from the CDH Study Group, that patients with a preductal saturation <85% in the first 24 h of life or before ECMO support, had an increased survival rate, if surgical repair was performed (44 vs. 23%) (48). Due to this finding, surgical repair while on ECMO support was advocated. Theoretically, surgical repair while on ECMO support may improve respiratory function by restoring normal anatomy, and intestinal complications from delaying surgery (ischemia or volvulus) are possible (49).

Analyzing the studies about the timing of surgical repair in more detail, the duration of ECMO support was shorter in patients with surgical repair after ECMO (8.4 days) compared to patients with surgical correction while on ECMO (8.9 days) (45). Also, patients undergoing surgery after ECMO support seemed to have lower severity of disease (45).

Another strategy to avoid mortality due to late or non-repair on ECMO is "early" repair on ECMO. In the study of Dassinger et al. 34 CDH patients underwent surgical repair while on ECMO at an average of 55 h after ECMO initiation (50). Only 9% of the patients suffered bleeding complications requiring intervention, and a total of 22 (71%) survived (50). The same trend toward an early surgical repair while on ECMO is supported by the data of Fallon et al. (51).

A last approach of a very early surgical repair in a honeymoon-like period before decompensation was suggested by Kays et al. (52). They developed a multi-variate modeling, employing anatomic and physiologic markers of severity including prenatal lung measurements, liver position, birth physiology, and blood gas analysis data at 1 h after birth—to assess risk for ECMO at 1 h of life. Left-sided CDH patients with liver-up, which underwent surgical repair early before ECMO (mean time to surgery was 21 h), had a survival rate of 95%, compared to 65% in an equivalent group (left-sided CDH liverup), who underwent ECMO support without previous surgical repair (52).

The optimal timing of surgery for patients on ECMO support is difficult to ultimately establish, but it seems that there is a developing consensus that repair at an earlier stage (within 1 week) with careful management of perioperative risks, may help with either weaning off ECMO or decisions on withdrawal later, and potentially improves outcome. It seems that different patients benefit from different strategies, therefore, we have to learn to individualize some aspects of CDH treatment, e.g., the timing of surgical repair.

IMPROVING LONG-TERM OUTCOME OF CDH VIA STRUCTURED FOLLOW UP

The only outcome criteria of the ELSO-registered neonates with CDH are: transfer to another hospital or survival to discharge (53). In future, more attention should be directed to short and long-term morbidity. ECMO centers may reflect not only their survival rate, but also changes in indications for ECMO and cognitive impairment as the major long-term deficit following neonatal ECMO (54). The most important issue after ECMO in CDH is neurodevelopment outcome. During initial treatment, cerebral bleeding or infarction should be evaluated closely by cranial ultrasound. For long-term evaluation, MRI including angiography seems to be helpful for reflection of the initial decisions and may help to relate the results to the complications (40). Intelligence, memory, attention, behavior, and concentration deficits are domains of interest in school age (54–57).

Looking at the pulmonary outcome due to lung hypoplasia, the degree of CLD represents a short term complication (58); lung function testing may serve as a parameter for lung function development after severe neonatal disease (59). Furthermore, structured echocardiographic investigations may guide treatment and prognosis of pulmonary hypertension in CDH.

Surgical outcome parameters and complications after CDH repair include recurrence rates, feeding disorders and risk of ileus due to adhesions. In addition, further skeletal problems like chest wall deformations, funnel chest and scoliosis may occur. However, there is limited long-term outcome data in this regard.

Most follow-up studies in neonates and children who survived ECMO treatment have been cross-sectional, mono-center and in small study populations. With the current shift toward long-term multidisciplinary evaluations, observational follow-up-programs should be transferred toward risk stratification (60).

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the use of ECMO in CDH remains controversial. While many centers have demonstrated very good survival,

REFERENCES

- Brogan T V., Lequier L, Lorusso R, MacLaren G, Peek G, editors. Congenital diaphragmatic hernia and ECMO. In: *Extracorporeal Life Support: The ELSO Red Book 5th Edition*. Ann Arbor, MI: ELSO (2017). p. 137–43.
- Turek JW, Nellis JR, Sherwood BG, Kotagal M, Mesher AL, Thiagarajan RR, et al. Shifting risks and conflicting outcomes—ECMO for neonates with congenital diaphragmatic hernia in the modern era. *J Pediatr.* (2017) 190:163–8.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2017.08.010
- Wilson JM, Lund DP, Lillehei CW, O'Rourke PP, Vacanti JP. Delayed repair and preoperative ECMO does not improve survival in high-risk congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J Pediatr Surg. (1992) 27:368–72; discussion 373–5. doi: 10.1016/0022-3468(92)90863-3
- Wilson JM, Lund DP, Lillehei CW, Vacanti JP. Congenital diaphragmatic hernia-a tale of two cities: the Boston experience. J Pediatr Surg. (1997) 32:401–5. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3468(97)90590-X
- Azarow K, Messineo A, Pearl R, Filler R, Barker G, Bohn D. Congenital diaphragmatic hernia-a tale of two cities: the Toronto experience. *J Pediatr Surg.* (1997) 32:395–400. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3468(97)90589-3

utilizing minimal to no ECMO in CDH, the highest overall survival rates are reported by centers that employ ECMO, and whose patient populations likely also include the sickest patients. Due to the exceptional potential of ECMO to rescue CDH patients with profound pulmonary hypoplasia, the role of ECMO in severe CDH seems protected. The significance of surgical repair in attaining survival of patients with CDH, especially of those on the more severe end of the spectrum, cannot be overstated. While surgical repair after ECMO works well for those that successfully wean from ECMO, an early repair strategy on or before ECMO might potentially increase survival.

Based on the presented data and significant professional experience with CDH care, we feel confident that ECMO improves survival potential in more severe CDH compared to currently available non-ECMO techniques. Improving CDH survival is still a major goal and since the majority of deaths occur in those more severely affected, improving outcomes in those CDH patients treated with ECMO is essential. However, mortality should not be the only focus and parameter when proclaiming the importance of ECMO in CDH treatment. More research is needed to assess the morbidity of CDH patients after ECMO support and their long-term outcome.

In our opinion, factors which contribute to ongoing improvement, include having updated standardized postnatal treatment guidelines and participation in networks, further referrals to high-volume center with increasing experience in the treatment of CDH and severity-specific management.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NR and TS contributed equally to the concept and drafting of the article. Both authors approved the final version of the article.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are thankful to the CDH EURO Consortium for fruitful discussions on this topic.

- Schaible T, Hermle D, Loersch F, Demirakca S, Reinshagen K, Varnholt V. A 20-year experience on neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in a referral center. *Intens Care Med.* (2010) 36:1229–34. doi: 10.1007/s00134-010-1886-5
- Russo FM, Eastwood MP, Keijzer R, Al-Maary J, Toelen J, Van Mieghem T, et al. Lung size and liver herniation predict need for extracorporeal membrane oxygenation but not pulmonary hypertension in isolated congenital diaphragmatic hernia: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol.* (2017) 49:704–13. doi: 10.1002/uog. 16000
- Deprest J, Brady P, Nicolaides K, Benachi A, Berg C, Vermeesch J, et al. Prenatal management of the fetus with isolated congenital diaphragmatic hernia in the era of the TOTAL trial. *Semin Fetal Neonatal Med.* (2014) 19:338–48. doi: 10.1016/j.siny.2014.09.006
- Kastenholz KE, Weis M, Hagelstein C, Weiss C, Kehl S, Schaible T, et al. Correlation of observed-to-expected MRI fetal lung volume and ultrasound lung-to-head ratio at different gestational times in fetuses with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. *Am J Roentgenol.* (2016) 206:856–66. doi: 10.2214/AJR.15.15018

- Kays DW, Islam S, Perkins JM, Larson SD, Taylor JA, Talbert JL. Outcomes in the physiologically most severe congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH) patients: whom should we treat? *J Pediatr Surg.* (2015) 50:893–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2015.03.005
- Wynn J, Krishnan U, Aspelund G, Zhang Y, Duong J, Stolar CJH, et al. Outcomes of congenital diaphragmatic hernia in the modern era of management. J Pediatr. (2013) 163:114–9.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2012. 12.036
- Ruano R, Aubry M-C, Barthe B, Mitanchez D, Dumez Y, Benachi A. Predicting perinatal outcome in isolated congenital diaphragmatic hernia using fetal pulmonary artery diameters. *J Pediatr Surg.* (2008) 43:606–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2007.12.003
- Vogel M, McElhinney DB, Marcus E, Morash D, Jennings RW, Tworetzky W. Significance and outcome of left heart hypoplasia in fetal congenital diaphragmatic hernia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol.* (2010) 35:310–7. doi: 10.1002/uog.7497
- Ruttenstock E, Wright N, Barrena S, Krickhahn A, Castellani C, Desai AP, et al. Best oxygenation index on day 1: a reliable marker for outcome and survival in infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. *Eur J Pediatr Surg.* (2015) 25:3–8. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1393960
- Hoffman SB, Massaro AN, Gingalewski C, Lou SB. Survival in congenital diaphragmatic hernia: use of predictive equations in the ECMO population. *Neonatology*. (2011) 99:258–65. doi: 10.1159/000319064
- Snoek KG, Capolupo I, van Rosmalen J, Hout Lde J, Vijfhuize S, Greenough A, et al. Conventional mechanical ventilation versus high-frequency oscillatory ventilation for congenital diaphragmatic hernia. *Ann Surg.* (2016) 263:867–74. doi: 10.1097/SLA.00000000001533
- Barrington KJ, Finer N, Pennaforte T, Altit G. Nitric oxide for respiratory failure in infants born at or near term. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2017) 1:CD000399. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD000399.pub3
- Putnam LR, Tsao K, Morini F, Lally PA, Miller CC, Lally KP, et al. Evaluation of variability in inhaled nitric oxide use and pulmonary hypertension in patients with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2016) 170:1188. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.2023
- Pandya KA, Puligandla PS. Pulmonary hypertension management in neonates. Semin Pediatr Surg. (2015) 24:12–6. doi: 10.1053/j.sempedsurg.2014.11.003
- Bartlett R, Gazzaniga A, Toomasian J, Coran A, Roloff D, Rucker R. Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation (ECMO) in neonatal respiratory failure. 100 cases. Ann Surg. (1986) 204:236–45. doi: 10.1097/00000658-198609000-00003
- Schumacher RE, Roloff DW, Chapman R, Snedecor S, Bartlett RH. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in term newborns. A prospective cost-benefit analysis. ASAIO J. (1993) 39:873–9. doi: 10.1097/00002480-199310000-00010
- UK collaborative randomised trial of neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. UK Collaborative ECMO Trail Group. *Lancet.* (1996) 348:75–82. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(96)04100-1
- Morini F, Goldman A, Pierro A. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia: a systematic review of the evidence. *Eur J Pediatr Surg.* (2006) 16:385–91. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-924751
- 24. Zalla JM, Stoddard GJ, Yoder BA. Improved mortality rate for congenital diaphragmatic hernia in the modern era of management: 15 year experience in a single institution. *J Pediatr Surg.* (2015) 50:524–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2014.11.002
- Snoek KG, Greenough A, van Rosmalen J, Capolupo I, Schaible T, Ali K, et al. Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: 10-year evaluation of survival, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation, and foetoscopic endotracheal occlusion in four high-volume centres. *Neonatology*. (2018) 113:63–8. doi: 10.1159/000480451
- Bryner BS, Kim AC, Khouri JS, Drongowski RA, Bruch SW, Hirschl RB, et al. Right-sided congenital diaphragmatic hernia: high utilization of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation and high survival. J Pediatr Surg. (2009) 44:883–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2009. 01.037
- Schaible T, Kohl T, Reinshagen K, Brade J, Neff KW, Stressig R, et al. Rightversus left-sided congenital diaphragmatic hernia. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2012) 13:66–71. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e3182192aa9

- Burgos CM, Frenckner B, Luco M, Harting MT, Lally PA, Lally KP, et al. Right versus left congenital diaphragmatic hernia – What's the difference? J Pediatr Surg. (2018) 53:113–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2017.10.027
- 29. van den Hout L, Schaible T, Cohen-Overbeek TE, Hop W, Siemer J, van de Ven K, et al. Actual outcome in infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia: the role of a standardized postnatal treatment protocol. *Fetal Diagn Ther.* (2011) 29:55–63. doi: 10.1159/000322694
- Sebald M, Friedlich P, Burns C, Stein J, Noori S, Ramanathan R, et al. Risk of need for extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support in neonates with congenital diaphragmatic hernia treated with inhaled nitric oxide. *J Perinatol.* (2004) 24:143–6. doi: 10.1038/sj.jp.7211033
- Somaschini M, Locatelli G, Salvoni L, Bellan C, Colombo A. Impact of new treatments for respiratory failure on outcome of infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. *Eur J Pediatr.* (1999) 158:780–4. doi: 10.1007/s004310051203
- Nagaya M, Kato J, Niimi N, Tanaka S, Tanaka T. Analysis of patients with congenital diaphragmatic hernia requiring pre-operative extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO). *Pediatr Surg Int.* (1998) 14:25–9. doi: 10.1007/s003830050428
- 33. vd Staak FH, Thiesbrummel A, de Haan AF, Oeseburg B, Geven WB, Festen C. Do we use the right entry criteria for extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in congenital diaphragmatic hernia? J Pediatr Surg. (1993) 28:1003–5. doi: 10.1016/0022-3468(93)90502-C
- Howell CG, Hatley RM, Boedy RF, Rogers DM, Kanto WP, Parrish RA. Recent experience with diaphragmatic hernia and ECMO. *Ann Surg.* (1990) 211:793–7; discussion 797–8.
- 35. Snoek KG, Reiss IKM, Greenough A, Capolupo I, Urlesberger B, Wessel L, et al. Standardized postnatal management of infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia in Europe: the CDH EURO Consortium Consensus 2015 Update. *Neonatology*. (2016) 110:66–74. doi: 10.1159/000444210
- Tsao K, Allison ND, Harting MT, Lally PA, Lally KP. Congenital diaphragmatic hernia in the preterm infant. *Surgery.* (2010) 148:404–10. doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2010.03.018
- 37. Shieh HF, Wilson JM, Sheils CA, Smithers CJ, Kharasch VS, Becker RE, et al. Does the *ex utero* intrapartum treatment to extracorporeal membrane oxygenation procedure change morbidity outcomes for high-risk congenital diaphragmatic hernia survivors? *J Pediatr Surg.* (2017) 52:22–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2016.10.010
- Stoffan AP, Wilson JM, Jennings RW, Wilkins-Haug LE, Buchmiller TL. Does the *ex utero* intrapartum treatment to extracorporeal membrane oxygenation procedure change outcomes for high-risk patients with congenital diaphragmatic hernia? *J Pediatr Surg.* (2012) 47:1053–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2012.03.004
- McHoney M, Hammond P. Role of ECMO in congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. (2018) 103:F178–81. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2016-311707
- Buesing KA, Kilian AK, Schaible T, Loff S, Sumargo S, Neff KW. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia: follow-up MRI evaluating carotid artery reocclusion and neurologic outcome. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* (2007) 188:1636–42. doi: 10.2214/AJR.06.1319
- Dimmitt RA, Moss RL, Rhine WD, Benitz WE, Henry MC, Vanmeurs KP. Venoarterial versus venovenous extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in congenital diaphragmatic hernia: the Extracorporeal Life Support Organization Registry, 1990-1999. J Pediatr Surg. (2001) 36:1199–204. doi: 10.1053/jpsu.2001.25762
- 42. Guner YS, Khemani RG, Qureshi FG, Wee CP, Austin MT, Dorey F, et al. Outcome analysis of neonates with congenital diaphragmatic hernia treated with venovenous vs venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *J Pediatr Surg.* (2009) 44:1691–701. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2009.01.017
- Puligandla PS, Grabowski J, Austin M, Hedrick H, Renaud E, Arnold M, et al. Management of congenital diaphragmatic hernia: a systematic review from the APSA outcomes and evidence based practice committee. *J Pediatr Surg.* (2015) 50:1958–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2015.09.010
- 44. Seetharamaiah R, Younger JG, Bartlett RH, Hirschl RB, Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia Study Group. Factors associated with survival in infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia requiring extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a report from the Congenital

Diaphragmatic Hernia Study Group. J Pediatr Surg. (2009) 44:1315–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2008.12.021

- 45. Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia Study Group, Bryner BS, West BT, Hirschl RB, Drongowski RA, Lally KP, et al. Congenital diaphragmatic hernia requiring extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: does timing of repair matter? J Pediatr Surg. (2009) 44:1165–71; discussion 1171–2. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2009.02.022
- Partridge EA, Peranteau WH, Rintoul NE, Herkert LM, Flake AW, Adzick NS, et al. Timing of repair of congenital diaphragmatic hernia in patients supported by extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO). *J Pediatr Surg.* (2015) 50:260–2. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2014.11.013
- Kays DW, Islam S, Larson SD, Perkins J, Talbert JL. Long-term maturation of congenital diaphragmatic hernia treatment results. *Ann Surg.* (2013) 258:638– 45. doi: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3182a53c49
- Yoder BA, Lally PA, Lally KP, Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia Study Group. Does a highest pre-ductal O2 saturation <85% predict nonsurvival for congenital diaphragmatic hernia? J Perinatol. (2012) 32:947–52. doi: 10.1038/jp.2012.18
- Prabhu S, Mattke AC, Anderson B, McBride C, Cooke L, Karl T, et al. Repair of congenital diaphragmatic hernia during extracorporeal life support: experience with six neonates. *ANZ J Surg.* (2016) 86:711–6. doi: 10.1111/ans.13466
- Dassinger MS, Copeland DR, Gossett J, Little DC, Jackson RJ, Smith SD, et al. Early repair of congenital diaphragmatic hernia on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *J Pediatr Surg.* (2010) 45:693–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2009.08.011
- Fallon SC, Cass DL, Olutoye OO, Zamora IJ, Lazar DA, Larimer EL, et al. Repair of congenital diaphragmatic hernias on Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation (ECMO): does early repair improve patient survival? J Pediatr Surg. (2013) 48:1172–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2013. 03.008
- 52. Kays DW, Talbert JL, Islam S, Larson SD, Taylor JA, Perkins J. Improved survival in left liver-up congenital diaphragmatic hernia by early repair before extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: optimization of patient selection by multivariate risk modeling. *J Am Coll Surg.* (2016) 222:459–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2015.12.059
- 53. Extracorporeal Life Support Organization. ECLS Registry Report International Summary January, 2018. Ann Arbor, MI (2018).

- 54. Reiterer F, Resch E, Haim M, Maurer-Fellbaum U, Riccabona M, Zobel G, et al. neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation due to respiratory failure: a single center experience over 28 years. *Front Pediatr.* (2018) 6:263. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00263
- 55. Ijsselstijn H, van Heijst AFJ. Long-term outcome of children treated with neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: increasing problems with increasing age. *Semin Perinatol.* (2014) 38:114–21. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2013.11.009
- Madderom MJ, Reuser JJCM, Utens EMWJ, van Rosmalen J, Raets M, Govaert P, et al. Neurodevelopmental, educational and behavioral outcome at 8 years after neonatal ECMO: a nationwide multicenter study. *Intens Care Med.* (2013) 39:1584–93. doi: 10.1007/s00134-013-2973-1
- Schiller RM, Madderom MJ, Reuser JJCM, Steiner K, Gischler SJ, Tibboel D, et al. Neuropsychological follow-up after neonatal ECMO. *Pediatrics*. (2016) 138:e20161313. doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-1313
- 58. Walleyo A, Debus A, Kehl S, Weiss C, Schönberg SO, Schaible T, et al. Periodic MRI lung volume assessment in fetuses with congenital diaphragmatic hernia: prediction of survival, need for ECMO, and development of chronic lung disease. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* (2013) 201:419–26. doi: 10.2214/AJR.12.8655
- 59. Spoel M, Laas R, Gischler SJ, Hop WJC, Tibboel D, de Jongste JC, et al. Diagnosis-related deterioration of lung function after extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Eur Respir J.* (2012) 40:1531–7. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00189911
- IJsselstijn H, Hunfeld M, Schiller RM, Houmes RJ, Hoskote A, Tibboel D, et al. Improving long-term outcomes after extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: from observational follow-up programs toward risk stratification. *Front Pediatr.* (2018) 6:177. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00177

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Rafat and Schaible. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Neonatal Cardiac ECMO in 2019 and Beyond

Peter Paul Roeleveld^{1*†} and Malaika Mendonca^{2†}

¹ Pediatric Intensive Care, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, ² Pediatric Intensive Care Unit, Children's Hospital, Inselspital, Bern University Hospital, Bern, Switzerland

Worldwide, the use of Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation (ECMO) for cardiac failure has been steadily increasing in the neonatal population and has become a widely accepted modality. Especially in centers caring for children with (congenital) heart disease, ECMO is now an essential part of care available for those with severe heart failure as a bridge to recovery, long term mechanical support, or transplantation. Short-term outcomes depend very much on indication. Hospital survival is \sim 40% for all neonatal cardiac ECMO patients combined. ECMO is being used for pre- and/or post-operative stabilization in neonates with congenital heart disease and in neonates with medical heart disease such as myocarditis, cardiomyopathy or refractory arrhythmias. ECMO use during resuscitation (ECPR) or for sepsis is summarized elsewhere in this special edition of Frontiers in Pediatrics. In this review article, we will discuss the indications for neonatal cardiac ECMO, the difficult process of patients' selection and identifying the right timing to initiate ECMO, as well as outline pros and cons for peripheral vs. central cannulation. We will present predictors of mortality and, very importantly, predictors of survival: what can be done to improve the outcomes for your patients. Furthermore, an overview of current insights regarding supportive care in neonatal cardiac ECMO is given. Additionally, we will address issues specific to neonates with single ventricle physiology on ECMO, for example cannulation strategies and the influence of shunt type (Blalock-Taussig shunt vs. "right ventricle to pulmonary artery" shunt). We will not only focus on short term outcomes, such as hospital survival, but also on the importance of long-term neuro-developmental outcomes, and we will end this review with suggestions for future research.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Giacomo Cavallaro, IRCCS Ca 'Granda Foundation Maggiore Policlinico Hospital, Italy

Reviewed by:

Katherine Cashen, Children's Hospital of Michigan, United States Akif Undar, Pennsylvania State University, United States Mark Danton, Royal Manchester Children's Hospital, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Peter Paul Roeleveld p.p.roeleveld@lumc.nl

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Critical Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 29 May 2019 **Accepted:** 22 July 2019 **Published:** 21 August 2019

Citation:

Roeleveld PP and Mendonca M (2019) Neonatal Cardiac ECMO in 2019 and Beyond. Front. Pediatr. 7:327. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00327 Keywords: ECMO, neonate, cardiac, heart failure, post-cardiotomy, single ventricle, selection criteria

INTRODUCTION

Since the inception of Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation (ECMO), the number of annually performed ECMO runs for neonates with cardiac disease has been steadily increasing (1) (**Figure 1**). In the last decade, \sim 400–500 neonates have been supported with ECMO each year in centers reporting to the Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO). Since 1987, more than 8,000 neonates have been registered in the ELSO database (1). Hospital survival is \sim 40% and hasn't really changed since 1987, despite increased experience, better equipment and enforced education and team training. This might be due to a constant widening of indications, increasing levels of complexity and acuity (2, 3).

34



In hospitals caring for children with heart disease, ECMO has become an essential part of modalities available to temporarily support these neonates when conventional therapy fails. ECMO, however is not a treatment in itself. The goal of ECMO support is to offer the failing myocardium a chance to recover while the body is provided with adequate blood supply. Most often, ECMO for neonatal cardiac disease is used as a bridge to recovery, bridge to long-term support, as a bridge to heart transplantation or bridge to decision making (e.g., diagnostic work-up, organ donor). However, ECMO is no longer a rescue treatment *per se*, as it has also found its way as elective support during diagnostic and therapeutic procedures (4).

In this review article, we will discuss the indications for neonatal cardiac ECMO, the difficult process of patients' selection, identifying the right timing to initiate ECMO, and outline pros and cons for peripheral vs. central cannulation. We will present predictors of mortality and, very importantly, predictors of survival: what can be done to improve the outcomes for your patients. It is essential that explanations are sought for the circulatory compromise leading to ECMO, so attempts can be made to correct possible reversible diseases, such as residual lesions following congenital heart surgery. It is also extremely important to decompress the heart as much as possible to decrease myocardial work and oxygen consumption aiding in recovery. Furthermore, an overview of current insights regarding supportive care in neonatal cardiac ECMO is given. Additionally, we will address issues specific to neonates with single ventricle physiology on ECMO, for example cannulation strategies and the influence of shunt type (Blalock-Taussig shunt vs. "right ventricle to pulmonary artery" shunt). We will not only focus on short-term outcomes, such as hospital survival, but also address the importance of long-term neuro-developmental outcomes and we will end this review with suggestions for future research.

INDICATIONS

Neonates receiving ECMO for cardiac disease constitute a heterogenous group and can receive ECMO for surgical or medical cardiac disease, such as cardiomyopathy, myocarditis, and/or arrhythmias (Table 1).

Congenital Heart Disease

In neonates with surgical cardiac disease, ECMO can be utilized for pre-operative stabilization (e.g., transposition of the great arteries with pulmonary hypertension), failure to wean from cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB), or low cardiac output syndrome (LCOS) post-operatively. Following congenital heart surgery, ECMO is utilized in 1.4–5% of operations (5–7). Cardiac arrest as an indication for ECMO is called Extracorporeal Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation (ECPR) and is discussed elsewhere in this Research Topic of *Frontiers in Pediatrics*.

According to a recent Society of Thoracic Surgeons (STS)database study, risk factors for receiving post-operative ECMO include young age (13 vs. 195 days), low weight (3.4 vs. 6.4 kg), mechanical ventilation prior to surgery (37 vs. 15% chance of receiving ECMO), arrhythmia (4.6 vs. 2.6%), shock (7.4 vs. 1.7%), higher complexity as indicated by 'STAT' category of 4– 5 (72 vs. 34%), and CPB-duration (175 vs. 94 min) (5). Also, more complex lesions have a higher chance of receiving ECMO post-operatively. For instance, in neonates following Norwood operations, incidence of ECMO is much higher with ~13% of neonates receiving mechanical support post-operatively (8). Also,
TABLE 1 | Neonatal cardiac runs by diagnosis in the last five years (2014–2019),

 ELSO registry report January 2019 (1).

Total runs	Avg run time	Longest run time	Survived	% Survived
1,487	144	1,481	698	46%
15	157	600	6	40%
77	153	1,746	43	55%
27	231	848	15	55%
25	250	628	13	52%
621	168	3,737	342	55%
	runs 1,487 15 77 27 25	runs time 1,487 144 15 157 77 153 27 231 25 250	runstimerun time1,4871441,48115157600771531,7462723184825250628	runstimerun time1,4871441,481698151576006771531,7464327231848152525062813

Avg, average. Run times are given in hours.

TABLE 2 | Risk factors for receiving ECMO following neonatal heart surgery.

Risk factors for receiving post-cardiotomy ECMO

Young age	STAT category 4–5
Lower weight	CPB duration
Mechanical ventilation pre-operative	-
Arrhythmia	Shock
Higher vasoactive-inotropic score (VIS)	-

STAT, Society of Thoracic surgeons—European Association for cardio-Thoracic surgery; CPB. cardiopulmonary bypass.

higher Vasoactive-inotropic scores have been associated with increased ECMO utilization (9) (**Table 2**).

Myocarditis/Cardiomyopathy

The incidence of myocarditis in neonates is not clearly known because the diagnosis remains challenging due to non-specific symptoms, often masquerading as respiratory or gastrointestinal infection. In 2017, a group from Finland analyzed the occurrence and features of childhood Myocarditis and found an incidence of 1.95/100,000 person-years (10). Interestingly, two peaks in occurrence were noted: in infants <1 year and in teenagers. Myocarditis in newborns is mainly caused by viral infection, such as enterovirus, parvovirus, or adenovirus (11).

Looking at the ELSO data registry, out of 2,252 neonatal cardiac runs (2014–2018), myocarditis was listed in only 25 cases as the reason for ECMO initiation (1). A recently published article from Melbourne described a series of seven neonatal myocarditis cases requiring ECMO due to Enterovirus infection (12). In this article, Cortina et al. also included 35 cases of Enterovirus Myocarditis supported with ECMO from literature review in their data analysis. The survival rate of all those cases together was 36% (15/42), which is lower than survival (to discharge or transfer) reported in the ELSO registry with 52% for this population (12).

Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation (ECMO) support for neonatal myocarditis is infrequent and still carries a high risk of complications and death, but in some cases can lead to complete cardiac recovery with favorable long-term outcome. But who would benefit from ECMO support and when to initiate it?

Casadonte et al. investigated risk factors for cardiac arrest or mechanical support (MCS) in children with fulminate myocarditis (13). The average age of the 28 patients in this study was 1.2 years (1 day-17 years), but no subgroup of true neonates was analyzed. They found that patients in the CPR/MCS group had higher peak b-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) and peak inotropic score. Unfortunately, there was no marker on admission identified, which could be used as a prediction tool. Other authors found associations between the need for MCS and significant arrhythmias or evidence of end organ dysfunction (14, 15).

Neonates with fulminate myocarditis are at risk for cardiovascular collapse leading to CPR and/or MCS. Unfortunately, no clinical variables predict the probability of MCS or the outcome. In children, ECMO has been shown to improve survival for circulatory collapse due to arrhythmias in myocarditis (16). Further collaboration and research in this field is needed to shed some light on the unknown elements.

A recent meta-analysis of myocarditis and ECMO described a 54–83% long-term survival with optimistic quality of life (17). The analysis included six studies, and all used slightly different criteria for initiation of ECMO, but the authors concluded that a systolic BP < 50 mmHg for neonates despite >2 inotropes or high inotrope score could be a reasonable threshold.

Arrhythmias

Neonatal arrhythmias can occur post-operatively (e.g., atrial junctional ectopic tachycardia, ventricular tachycardia, tachycardia, or complete heart block), as part of myocarditis/cardiomyopathy as discussed above, or as a primary arrhythmia (e.g., re-entry supraventricular tachycardia or Brugada syndrome). If the arrhythmia leads to refractory shock despite pharmacological treatment, ECMO can be indicated (18-20). During ECMO support, pharmacological treatment can be optimized, cardiac catheterization with possible ablation of accessory pathways can be performed, or a pacemaker can be implanted. For total AV-block, a pacemaker can be placed while supported with ECMO. The utilization of ECMO for arrhythmias is rare but carries very good survival and neurologic outcomes (21).

Pulmonary Hypertension

The indication of ECMO for persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn associated with diaphragmatic hernia, meconium aspiration, respiratory distress syndrome, or sepsis is beyond the scope of this review. In a large database study of neonates and children with pulmonary artery hypertension, 1.4% received ECMO with a hospital mortality of 39% and significant complications (22). ECMO for pulmonary hypertension associated with congenital heart disease has good outcomes (23, 24). Said et al. reported the example of pulmonary hypertension associated with transposition of the great arteries (25). Pulmonary hypertension following cardiac surgery is often due to temporarily increased pulmonary vascular resistance because of cardiopulmonary bypass and probably has better ECMO survival than pulmonary artery hypertension. TABLE 3 | Hospital survival based on location of ECMO initiation in either operation room (OR) because of failure to wean from bypass or in the intensive care unit (ICU) due to low cardiac output syndrome or hypoxia (7, 26–30).

			Hospita	al survival (%)	
	Population	Overall survival	OR	ICU	Statistical significance
Jaggers et al. (26)	N = 35 (median age 19 days)	60	60	60	NS
Kolovos et al. (27)	N = 74 (median age 17 days)	50	64	41	P = 0.06
Chaturvedi et al. (28)	N = 81 children (median age 2.4 months)	49	64	29	P = 0.003
Sasaki et al. (7)	N = 36 (median age 64 days)	47	43	60	NS
Casadonte et al. (13)	N = 90 (age 6–912 days)	73	77	62	NS
Khorsandi et al. (30)	N = 66 Age < 16 years	44	47	38	NS

TABLE 4 | Indications to cardiac ECMO according to the ELSO guidelines (33).

Use of extracorporeal life support for cardiac failure should be considered for patients with evidence of inadequate end organ perfusion and oxygen delivery resulting from inadequate systemic cardiac output

(a) Hypotension despite maximum doses of two inotropic or vasopressor medications.

(b) Low cardiac output with evidence of end organ malperfusion despite medical support as described above: persistent oliguria, diminished peripheral pulses.

(c) Low cardiac output with mixed venous, or superior caval central venous (for single ventricle patients) oxygen saturation <50% despite maximal medical support.

(d) Low cardiac output with persistent lactate >4.0 mmol/l and persistent upward trend despite optimization of volume status and maximal medical management.

TIMING-WHEN TO INITIATE ECMO?

In neonates following congenital heart surgery, ECMO can be initiated in the operating room for failure to separate from cardiopulmonary bypass or in intensive care for either LCOS resistant to maximal medical therapy or hypoxia. Reports in the literature vary (see Table 3), and unfortunately offer not enough guidance as to the optimal timing of ECMO initiation. Although it might be logical to assume that earlier support may lead to better outcomes, neonates who fail to separate from bypass might be sicker and have worse myocardial depression than those that do separate from CPB and then develop worsening of LCOS although there is no data to support this hypothesis. Earlier reports suggested that failure to separate from CPB was a risk factor for increased mortality (27, 28). However, a recent ELSO database study among more than 4,000 neonates with congenital and acquired heart disease suggests that earlier initiation of ECMO may reduce mortality due to a decreased degree and duration of acidosis prior to ECMO. The authors hypothesized that acidosis probably reflected poor cardiac output and tissue hypoperfusion and that delayed use of ECMO may result in prolonged exposure of the myocardium and end-organs to reduced oxygen delivery resulting in severe or permanent myocardial or end-organ injury and reduced survival (31). But in a recent large retrospective study longer time between surgery and ECMO initiation was not associated with higher mortality although it was associated with longer ECMO duration, prolonged length of ventilation, and prolonged length of ICU and hospital stay (32).

Timing to initiate ECMO therefore remains very difficult. There are no definitive cut-off points and no evidence-based guidelines exist as to when to initiate ECMO post-operatively. The decision to proceed to ECMO cannulation is typically made on a case-to case basis based on the experience and judgment of the multidisciplinary team, which is reflected by a substantial variation in the use of mechanical support across hospitals (5, 30, 32). The ELSO advises to consider ECMO for patients with evidence of inadequate end organ perfusion and oxygen delivery resulting from inadequate systemic cardiac output (see **Table 4**) (33).

CONTRAINDICATIONS

The number of contraindications has decreased over recent years as experience and technology have advanced. The most important contraindication is lack of possible myocardial recovery and/or contraindications to heart transplantation. The ELSO guidelines list absolute and relative contraindications (**Table 5**). The absolute contraindications have an inappropriate chance of major complications and poor outcome, and therefore ECMO should not be considered in those patients. The relative contraindications also carry a high risk of poor prognosis, but careful management may lead to acceptable outcomes. But parents and the medical team involved should all be aware of the high stakes and be prepared to withdraw ECMO if irreversible damage should develop.

PERIPHERAL VS. CENTRAL CANNULATION

Due to the size of the neonatal patients, cannulation for cardiac neonatal VA-ECMO can be done two ways:

- 1. Peripheral cannulation: drainage via jugular vein and return via the carotid artery. The right side is the side of choice, but the left side is also possible.
- 2. Central cannulation: with chest opening and drainage directly out of the right atrium and return into the aortic arch.

 TABLE 5 | Contraindications to cardiac ECMO according to the ELSO guidelines

 (33).

Use of ECLS is not recommended under certain circumstances, particularly if there is strong evidence for lack of capacity to recover or be treated

1. Cardiopulmonary extracorporeal life support is inappropriate if

(a) The condition is irreversible and/or,

- (b) There is no timely, reasonable therapeutic option and/or,
- (c) High likelihood of poor neurological outcome.

2. Absolute contraindications: Extracorporeal life support is not recommended in the following circumstances

(a) Extremes of prematurity or low birth weight (<30 weeks gestational age or <1 kg) $\,$

- (b) Lethal chromosomal abnormalities (e.g., Trisomy 13 or 18)
- (c) Uncontrollable hemorrhage
- (d) Irreversible brain damage
- 3. Relative contraindications

(a) Intracranial hemorrhage

(b) Less extreme prematurity or low birth weight in neonates (<34 week gestational age or <2.0 kg)

(c) Irreversible organ failure in a patient ineligible for transplantation

(d) Prolonged intubation and mechanical ventilation (>2 week) prior to ECLS

Regardless which way is selected, the adequate size of the cannulas (drainage and return) is crucial to be able to achieve the desired ECMO flow (100–150 ml/kg/min or 3 $l/m^2/min$). Every cannula has a pressure/flow chart which describes its characteristics, so the selection is easily facilitated. Most often, the largest possible cannula is inserted.

Cannulation via right carotid artery provides very good hemodynamic support, with flow to the upper body and the descending aorta, though blood flow of the right cerebral hemisphere depends on an unhindered circle of Willis. Neurological complications (such as intracranial hemorrhage, derangement of cerebral autoregulation, impairment of venous drainage and risk of embolic events) are well-described in this population (34, 35).

Other problems reported with this type of peripheral cannulation approach are dissection of the aorta or carotid artery (36). Early recognition and timely intervention to those complications are critical, and serial Echocardiograms should be provided to detect problems. For further clarification CT angiogram or catheter investigations can be helpful to identify the problem.

In some cases, the desired flow cannot be achieved via the neck cannulation, so the central route is chosen, and for inability to wean from cardiopulmonary bypass, the simple conversion to central ECMO is obvious (37). When converting CPB to ECMO, one should be aware that the arterial CPB cannula might not be large enough to support a normothermic patient for several days, especially if sepsis should develop. Complications of central cannulation include bleeding, vessel injury and embolic phenomena. A recent case report alluded to the occurrence of thrombus in the aorta (38). The cannula inserted in the aorta increases the afterload of the ventricle. TABLE 6 | Hospital survival of neonatal cardiac ECMO by congenital diagnosis.

Congenital lesion	Number of runs	Survival (%)
Left to right shunt	92	45
Left-sided obstructive lesion	87	47
Hypoplastic left heart syndrome	439	43
Right-sided obstructive lesion	52	40
Cyanotic-increased Qp	73	43
Cyanotic-pulmonary congestion	167	47
Cyanotic-decreased Qp	295	50
Other	282	51

Qp, pulmonary blood flow (1).

Thrombosis can occur as a result of stasis within the aorta due to competing flows from the poorly ejecting native ventricle and the ECLS circuit.

Overall cannulation approaches for neonatal VA ECMO have not changed over decades, and unfortunately complications rates remain the same (1).

PREDICTORS OF SURVIVAL

Survival depends very much on the underlying reason for receiving ECMO support. Overall survival is higher in nonsurgical heart disease such as myocarditis or cardiomyopathy (see Table 1). In neonates with congenital lesions, the risk factors of requiring ECMO post-operatively are listed in Table 2 and are especially high following neonatal Ross-Konno repair [Odds Ratio (OR) 70], Truncus arteriosus repair (OR 42), arterial switch operation with VSD (OR 35), ALCPA-repair (OR 20), TAPVD repair (OR 18), or Norwood operation (OR 9) (5). And subsequently, mortality during ECMO is also very dependent on underlying diagnosis and type of operation. According to the STS database, mortality following Ross-Konno repair or Truncus repair is \sim 70%, whereas mortality for ECMO following ALCPA repair is only 14% (5). In neonates with ECMO for congenital heart disease reported to ELSO, survival is between 40 and 51% (see Table 6).

Many outcome predictors have been identified in the literature and are presented in **Table 7** (7, 8, 23, 31, 39–45). Some predictors cannot be modified before or during ECMO, such as age, weight, the presence of chromosomal abnormalities, or the underlying diagnoses. Other predictors are determined by the pre-ECMO clinical course, such as inotrope score, duration of ventilation, presence of fluid overload, and CPR requirement. These predictors could possibly be influenced by early timing of ECMO initiation before these predictors occur.

Risk factors for poor outcome that may be modifiable during ECMO support include the identification of residual lesions, optimizing systemic perfusion (reflected for instance by clearance of acidosis), presence of renal failure, and fluid overload, and the duration of ECMO. As mentioned before, it is essential to determine the reason the patient requires ECMO support, and to provide optimal systemic perfusion while resting the heart as **TABLE 7** | Predictors of mortality and survival of neonatal and pediatric cardiacECMO (7, 8, 23, 31, 39–45).

Predictors of mortality					
Higher mortality	Lower mortality				
Younger age					
Low bodyweight (<3 kg)	Bodyweight >3.3 kg				
Chromosomal abnormalities	No chromosomal abnormalities				
Congenital heart disease	Myocarditis/cardiomyopathy				
Single-ventricle physiology	Two-ventricles				
High inotrope score	Low inotrope score				
Duration of ventilation pre-ECMO >14 days	Duration of ventilation pre-ECMO <14 days				
CPR pre-ECMO	No CPR pre-ECMO				
Acidosis pre-ECMO (pH < 7.26)	No acidosis (pH > 7.28)				
High Lactate pre-ECMO	Low lactate pre-ECMO				
Failure to clear lactate <24 h	Able to clear lactate <24 h				
Renal failure	No renal failure				
Fluid overload on ECMO initiation	No fluid overload				
Organ system complications	No organ system complications				
Bleeding during ECMO	No bleeding				
Cardiac catheterization on ECMO <48 h	Late or no cardiac catheterization				
Duration of ECMO support >7 days	Duration of ECMO support <5 days				

much as possible and limiting the duration of ECMO support and concomitant complications which can impact outcomes.

Residual Lesions

Recently, several studies have shown the importance of early catheterization aimed at identifying and treating residual lesions (43, 44, 46, 47). In a retrospective study by Agarwal et al., residual lesions were present in approximately one-quarter of post-operative cardiac surgery patients receiving ECMO support (43). They conclude that all post-operative pediatric cardiac surgery patients unable to be weaned off ECMO successfully, should be evaluated actively for residual lesions, preferably by cardiac catheterization, as echocardiography only detected 20% of all residual lesions and catheterization the remaining 80%. Furthermore, earlier detection (within 3 days of ECMO support) and reintervention are associated with improved clinical outcome. In another retrospective study of 84 neonates requiring ECMO following cardiac surgery, as many as 83% had residual lesions (44). Time to identification and/or correction of these residual lesions was significantly shorter in survivors than in nonsurvivors (1 vs. 2 days). Abraham et al. catheterized 35 neonates while on ECMO support, which led to direct intervention in \sim 75%, significantly improving survival (46). The average interval from ECMO cannulation to catheterization was significantly shorter in survivors (1.6 days) vs. non-survivors (3.5 days). In a retrospective study by Kato et al., patients who received cardiac catheterization within 48 h after ECMO initiation demonstrated significantly better survival than those who underwent later catheterization (47).

Results of these studies clearly indicate that an early (<24 h) and proactive search for residual lesions is warranted to improve

survival. Cardiac catheterization can be safely performed on patients supported by ECMO, and is a critical tool in the early recognition, diagnosis, and direct treatment of hemodynamic and/or anatomic abnormalities (48).

Clearance of Acidosis

Providing adequate systemic blood flow is an integral aspect of ECMO support. If ECMO flow is inadequate, lactate will remain high as a sign of end-organ hypoperfusion and multiple organ failure may develop impacting on outcomes (44). Therefore, aiming to normalize lactate levels as soon as possible (12–24 h post-cannulation) may improve outcomes. Lactate which has not normalized within 72 h has been associated with decreased survival (44).

Renal Failure and Fluid Overload

Renal failure and fluid overload at ECMO initiation have been identified as risk factors for poor outcomes in multiple studies (49). Acute kidney injury is probably a reflection of pre-ECMO injury but could also be due to insufficient ECMO flow. Fluid overload, with or without renal failure, may impact on respiratory mechanics and myocardial recovery (49, 50). Renal replacement therapy during ECMO is therefore advocated by ELSO, and has been shown to improve fluid balance and electrolytes (51–54). Renal replacement therapy however does not seem to shorten ECMO duration or ICU length of stay, nor to improve survival (51). It is probably best to prevent the development of renal failure and/or fluid overload prior to initiating ECMO rather than attempting fluid removal while on ECMO.

Unloading the Ventricle

The goal of cardiac ECMO is to rest the myocardium as much as possible so it may recover as soon as possible. However, by increasing the afterload of the systemic ventricle by placing an arterial ECMO cannula in the aorta or carotid artery, the already failing myocardium may struggle to eject blood against this increased afterload, and a cardiac stun may occur. The aortic valve remains closed and the left ventricle dilates, because on ECMO there is always blood returning to the left atrium from Thebesian and bronchial veins. While dilated, the myocardium stretches and is under strain, therefore diminishing the coronary perfusion and further impacting on myocardial recovery. Also, intracavitary thrombus formation and pulmonary oedema will occur when left atrial pressure exceeds 25-30 mm Hg. Echocardiography is essential in assessing LV distension and presence of spontaneous contrast (55). To provide optimal myocardial recovery, attempts should be made to prevent dilatation of the left side of the heart. The right-side is decompressed by the ECMO circuit. And in lesions affecting RV dysfunction such as pulmonary hypertension or following pulmonary atresia repair, unloading the left ventricle is probably not necessary. In some neonates with LV dysfunction, it may be enough to support the systemic ventricle with a low dose inotrope to open the aortic valve and eject just enough blood to prevent or treat ventricular dilatation. However, in most neonates, this course of action will not be sufficient, and other steps will have to be made. A solution is to unload the left side of the heart by either creating an atrial shunt via percutaneous atrial septostomy or surgical atrial septectomy, or by placing an extra ECMO cannula in the left atrium which drains blood to the inlet side of the ECMO circuit (the so called "left vent"). In neonates, it is not known which form of ventricular unloading is preferred, or what the best timing of unloading is. Currently, there are no standardized diagnostic criteria or guidelines for the type and timing of intervention for LV overload (56). Tentatively, left ventricular unloading should be performed with significant LV distension or spontaneous contrast on echocardiography, when the aortic valve does not open, or with signs of pulmonary oedema on chest x-ray (55, 57).

Elective decompression has been shown to decrease ECMO duration in pediatric cardiac ECMO patients, but not mortality (58). In a single center study from Boston, percutaneous atrial septostomy was used in 10% of all ECMO patients and in 50% of myocarditis patients (57). Residual atrial septal defects requiring closure occurred in only a few cases.

ECMO Duration

Duration of ECMO support is another important factor and has been associated with decreased survival in several studies (8). With longer ECMO duration, more complications such as renal failure, bleeding, thrombosis, or infection may occur which impact survival. Prolonged ECMO in children with cardiac disease carries much lower survival rates. An ELSO registry study showed that overall ECMO survival is 45% in children with cardiac disease, but drops down to 23–25% survival for ECMO between 14 and 28 days, and 13% for ECMO runs longer than 28 days (40).

SUPPORTIVE CARE

The Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO) regularly publishes informative and updated guidelines on pediatric and neonatal cardiac ECMO including supportive care (33). Anticoagulation during neonatal cardiac ECMO is essential and can be very challenging, although it is beyond the scope of this review. In this review, we restrict ourselves to a few important issues specific to neonatal cardiac ECMO. For more information on supportive care (e.g., infections, temperature management, analgesia, and sedation), we refer to the ELSO guidelines and ELSO "Red book" (33, 59).

Echocardiography

The role of echocardiography in cardiac ECMO is essential in assessing ECMO initiation and separation readiness, cannula positions, and the development of complications such as ventricular dilatation or cardiac tamponade, but also has important limitations as physiological changes induced by ECMO may alter echocardiographic findings (55). An echocardiography-trained physician should be part of the team caring for neonates and children on ECMO, and the use of specific and consistent echocardiographic protocols for patients on ECMO is recommended (55).

Mechanical Ventilation

Generally, neonates who receive cardiac ECMO have healthy lungs and have not received high ventilation pressures for prolonged periods of time prior to ECMO initiation. Also, relatively short ECMO duration of 5-7 days is expected for these patients. The goal of mechanical ventilation during ECMO is to minimize lung injury and to optimize lung function in order to allow separation from ECMO once myocardial recovery has occurred (33). Therefore, most often, low ventilation pressures can be used during ECMO aimed at maintaining normal tidal volumes (4-6 ml/kg) and preventing alveolar collapse by using PEEP of 8-10 cm H₂O. No single ventilation strategy is universally practiced, and the suggested target may be inappropriate in patients with an open sternum, poor lung compliance, pulmonary hemorrhage, or intrathoracic hematoma (33). Some neonates, however, may have atelectasis which may require inhalation therapy, physical therapy, and/or bronchoscopy as it is essential to keep the lung open. Therapy resistant atelectasis can be due to tracheal and/or bronchial compression by cardiac or vascular structures which might require contrast CT-scanning to identify.

In neonates with an open sternum, lower ventilator pressures will often suffice unless there is blood or fluid in the thoracic space which should be considered for removal or drainage. Cardiopulmonary bypass and its extension to ECMO have been shown to cause a decrease in lung compliance through reduction in the surfactant activity and surfactant has recently been used safely and effectively in neonatal cardiac ECMO patients with decreased lung compliance (60).

SINGLE VENTRICLE LESIONS

Extracorporeal support in neonatal patients with single-ventricle physiology is particularly challenging, but also represents a growing and substantial group of neonates who are being supported by ECMO worldwide. Following the stage-one operation for hypoplastic left heart syndrome, 13–20% of neonates will receive ECMO support (8, 61, 62).

General risk factors for requiring ECMO post-stage-one surgery are similar to other post-cardiotomy risk factors, such as low birthweight and longer CPB-time. More specific risk factors include a small ascending aorta (<2 mm), mitral stenosis with aortic atresia, intraoperative shunt revision, and a right ventricular to pulmonary artery shunt (RVPAs) when compared with a modified Blalock-Taussig shunt (mBTs) (62, 63). In the single-ventricle reconstruction (SVR) trial, most neonates who received ECMO post-stage one (70%) failed to separate from CPB and had significantly lower transplant-free survival rates compared to neonates not receiving ECMO post-Norwood (62). In single-center study by Hoskote et al., 56% of post-operative single-ventricle ECMO patients received ECMO because of cardiac arrest, and 44% because of LCOS, with 44% survival to discharge (64). The indication for initiation of ECMO also significantly impacts survival. In a single-center study in 44 neonates, patients cannulated for hypoxemia, and particularly shunt thrombosis, had markedly improved survival (72%)



arterial cannula is placed in the neoaorta, but it can also be placed through the carotid artery or in the innominate artery. RCCA, right common carotid artery; LCCA, left common carotid artery; LSA, left subclavian artery; RSA, right subclavian artery; IA, innominate artery; RPAs, right pulmonary arteries; LPAs, left pulmonary arteries; MPA, main pulmonary artery; SVC, superior vena cava; IVC, inferior vena cava; RA, right atrium; LA, left atrium; RCA, right coronary artery; LCA, left coronary artery; RV, right ventricle; LV, left ventricle. Drawings by Marta Velia Antonini.

compared to those supported primarily for low cardiac output (21%) (65).

ECMO and RVPAs

Without going into the complete debate about mBTs vs. RVPAs, which is out of the scope of this review, there is an important difference between the two shunts regarding ECMO management. In the SVR trial, after adjusting for surgeon and birth weight, neonates with a mBTs had smaller chances of receiving ECMO and had significantly better outcome after ECPR or ECMO compared to neonates with a RVPAs (62). Let's take a closer look at ECMO management in those two specific physiologies (**Figure 2**).

ECMO and mBTs

Because of the position of the arterial cannula relative to the mBTs and the lower vascular resistance in the pulmonary circulation relative to the systemic circulation, a large proportion of ECMO blood flow will be directed toward the pulmonary circulation, leading to underperfusion of the systemic circulation. In the past, attempts were often undertaken to partially or completely close the mBTs while on ECMO to improve systemic blood flow. That approach of "clipping the shunt," however, has been shown to increase mortality due to obstruction in the shunt or in the pulmonary vasculature after decannulation and has largely been abandoned in favor of increasing ECMO flow to desirable systemic blood flow, while accepting a significant amount of pulmonary blood flow (26, 66). We therefore recommend a higher blood flow (up to 200 ml/kg/min).

In neonates with an RVPAs, the arterial ECMO cannula is positioned after the source of pulmonary blood flow. This means that if there is no pulsatility of the heart itself, there will be no pulmonary blood flow at all, which leads to the risk of clotting the shunt and/or the pulmonary vasculature. In neonates with some degree of pulsatility, there will be pulmonary blood flow which is dependent on pre-load of the right ventricle (RV) and pulmonary vascular resistance. In that scenario, increasing ECMO flows will lead to decreased pre-load as the drainage cannula will empty the RV and decrease pulmonary blood flow, with the possible risk of thrombosis of the shunt or even the RV. And absent pulmonary flow might lead to increased mortality similar to mBTs patients with clipped shunts (26). All in all, in neonates with an RVPAs, we recommend not to use high flows as in mBTS patients, but to titrate the flow as low as possible to achieve adequate systemic blood flow and also some degree of pulmonary blood flow over the RVPAs. It might be necessary to use some inotropes to promote contractility in this specific group of patients.

Survival to discharge in hypoplastic left heart patients supported by ECMO was 31% as shown in an ELSO registry study by Sherwin et al. (67). Predictors of mortality were pre-ECMO ventilation > 5 days (OR 1.9), pre-ECMO PEEP > 8 (OR 1.9), and increased ECMO duration. In a separate single-center study, survival was 62% and failure to clear lactate within 24 h was also a significant predictor of mortality (45).

A specific group are patients post-hybrid palliation of HLHS. In an ELSO registry study, survival to discharge was only 16% in neonates who received ECMO following stage 1 hybrid palliation (68). This could be because, in many centers, hybrid palliation is reserved for high risk patients, but also could be due to cannulation challenges, and risk of stent compression or even occlusion.

Of concern is late attrition following ECMO in SV survivors. Although incidence is low, mortality is very high (69). Neonates who survive to discharge following ECMO post-Norwood have been shown to have an increased risk of death or cardiac transplant, when compared to patients who did not receive ECMO post-Norwood (45, 61, 63, 70).

For respiratory failure in SV patients, VV ECMO can also be considered as an option with good outcomes (71, 72). In an ELSO registry study of 89 patients with single-ventricle physiology and a median age of 66 days overall survival was 51% for respiratory indications which included neonates as young as 9 days (71). The most common cannulation approach for patients who were unrepaired or palliated with a central or Sano shunt was a double-lumen venous cannula in the right internal jugular vein.

Advantages could be preservation of pulsatile flow and decreased afterload on the heart, as well as avoiding cannulation of the carotid artery which precludes potential run-off through a systemic-to-pulmonary shunt. For more in-depth information on cannulation strategies, timing, circuit flow, and lung rest strategies we refer you to an excellent review by Nair and Oishi from 2016 (72).

WEANING

In adults, end-tidal CO_2 (et CO_2) has been shown to be a useful continuous parameter for predicting the adequate timing of weaning of ECMO for circulatory failure at the bedside (73). Many physicians dealing with neonates also use et CO_2 as it can indicate increasing pulmonary blood flow as a sign of increased intrinsic right ventricular output due to a healing myocardium or decreasing pulmonary vascular resistance. There is however no known cut-off et CO_2 when a neonate might successfully separate from ECMO, therefore it can merely be used as an indirect indication of ongoing recovery.

When weaning is not successful and additional time does not lead to adequate recovery, it is important to consider possible transplantation or withdrawal of support and shift attention to comfort of the neonate and guidance for the parents.

Survival to decannulation in neonatal cardiac ECMO is 71%, but drops down to 49% when it comes to hospital discharge or transfer (1). Often, ECMO support is removed during a still fragile state of the patient's recovery. Timing and manner of weaning support highly affect the chances of survival. Unfortunately, up to this date, very little evidence has been published to help identifying parameters which predict readiness to be separated from ECMO. Recommendations about the speed of weaning or acceptable amount of inotropic support are also lacking.

The reason of myocardial dysfunction is a relevant factor for the expected time to recovery and removal of ECMO. Recovery from cardiac dysfunction post-cardiac surgery is expected to happen between 48 and 72 h after initiation of ECMO. The absence of signs of recovery, such as increasing pulse pressure or increasing end-tidal pCO_2 after that period, should lead instantly to further assessment of remaining cardiac lesions if not already done so (44).

Recovery from a primary myocardial dysfunction, as with myocarditis, occurs over weeks or months, in some cases not at all. Transition to a VAD device as bridge to recovery or bridge to transplant need to be taken into consideration if no evidence of myocardial recovery has occurred within 2 weeks (74).

Weaning can be started with signs of myocardial recovery and adequate resolution of systemic inflammatory response or pulmonary problems (75).

Cardiac function assessment by echocardiography during full ECMO flow does not predict performance of the heart under the completely different circumstances occurring after decannulation (which will be increased preload and decreased afterload) and might only be used as a trend.

Echocardiography under low flow conditions has been shown as being predictive of successful decannulation in adult patients with cardiogenic shock (76).

However, achieving actual low flow conditions in neonates is not possible due to the required minimal flows of the ECMO devices (100–200 ml/min). Therefore, different techniques of weaning trial in which the readiness for separation from ECMO can be assessed (pulse pressure, blood pressure, inotropic needs, echocardiography) are practiced in this age group. In patients with a left-sided drainage cannula, this must be clamped and/or removed allowing restoration of LV pre-load before assessing weaning readiness.

A common approach of weaning ECMO flows in neonates includes inserting a connection ("Bridge") between the arterial and venous limb (arterio-venous bridge) of the ECMO circuit. This allows to clamp access to the patient, while there remains continuation of flow in the ECMO circuit. The patient and the circuit are isolated from each other. Now the hemodynamics such as blood pressure, CVP, lactate, as well as the demand of inotropic support to remain off circuit, can be assessed and an echocardiography should be performed. This method introduces areas of stagnant blood in stop cocks and the cannulas, with the subsequent risk of clot formation in the ECMO circuit. Most centers flush the cannulas every 10 min and limit this kind of trial off period to around 2 h (59).

Other groups promote trial off with retrograde pump flow of the ECMO circuit (77, 78). During this approach, revolutions per minute (RPM) are lowered until the patient's arterial blood pressure is slightly higher than the post-oxygenator pressure, which results in reversal of the flow. The ECMO circuit becomes an arterio-venous shunt and the patient does not receive circulatory or respiratory support. The advantage of this method is that it has no stagnant blood flow in the cannula and that it places an additional burden on the cardiac output, which therefore reassures of sufficient myocardial function. Not observed or investigated by the groups who practice this approach is the theoretical risk of flushing debris and clots absorbed in the oxygenator with the retrograde flow back into the patient. Further research must be established to further evaluate the risk. Once readiness to be separated from ECMO is established, the process of decannulation can take place. This includes the optimization of conditions with low dose inotropic support started early enough to reach the patient, lung recruitment, correction of metabolic abnormalities, and attaching pacing wires to the pacemaker ensuring proper function of them. Furthermore, each patient should have a defined plan in place in the event of clinical deterioration after decannulation and weather reinstitution of ECMO is an option.

Decannulation for neonatal cardiac ECMO is done surgically and can be performed either in the ICU or in the operating room. Neck cannulation often leads to vessel reconstruction and the cannulation sites must be investigated carefully for any damage, which might need extended repair, such as carotid artery dissection (36). Furthermore, Di Gennaro et al. published a study showing increased risk of stroke in patients with carotid cannulation (79).

Weaning and decannulation of patients with systemic to pulmonary shunts, which are partially or completely clamped is different. In those cases, readiness to wean must be assessed without decreasing flows as this would lead to desaturations.

Separating from ECMO is a complex process and requires careful assessment and planning from the time of ECMO initiation.

NEONATAL ECMO CIRCUIT CONSIDERATIONS

Circuit technology has greatly advanced over the years, but neonates do deserve some special considerations which are nicely reviewed by Connelly and Blinman (80). Nowadays, most centers have moved from roller pumps to modern centrifugal pumps (81). Detailed discussion of the ECMO circuit is beyond the scope of this review but there are some important issues to consider. First, the relatively large priming volumes for neonates can introduce fluid shifts and can have a pharmacological impact. Second, the relatively low blood flows can make neonates more prone to (circuit) thrombosis and more difficult to wean. And third, in the small neonate accurate cannula position can be more precarious than in larger children or adults, especially in veno-venous double-lumen cannulas.

MID AND LONGTERM OUTCOMES

Neonates surviving cardiac ECMO remain at risk of ongoing health problems, unplanned cardiac interventions, unplanned rehospitalization, neurodevelopmental problems, lower mental scores, language acquisition delays, behavioral problems, and diminished quality of life compared to healthy children, children with chronic conditions, and children with congenital heart disease who did not receive ECMO (82–86).

To gain better insight in these mid and long-term outcomes, protocolized follow-up is important, with the aim of identifying neurodevelopmental delay. Hopefully, by focusing on the future development of these patients and sharing outcomes and interventions through research, the ECMO community can develop interventions aimed at minimizing ongoing health issues and optimizing quality of life for patients and their families after hospital discharge.

FUTURE (RESEARCH)

In neonatal cardiac ECMO, one must face many challenges which are common to almost all neonatal and pediatric ECMO patients, such as infection control and anticoagulation. Exciting developments are being made regarding ECMO anticoagulation, in which attempts are being made to anticoagulate the circuit (rather than the patient) by using nitric-oxide donors in the ECMO tubing (87). The balance between bleeding of the neonate and thrombosis of the circuit remains very delicate, especially in neonates with still developing hemostasis in whom the correlation of coagulation tests with the level of anticoagulant and clinical outcomes remains poor (88).

Other important steps that need to be achieved are related to identifying the right patient and the right time for ECMO. Attempts are being made to develop prediction scores, but, at the moment, these remain restricted to pulmonary ECMO and adult cardiac ECMO $(89-92)^1$. No prediction scores exist as of yet for neonatal cardiac ECMO. Hopefully, by gathering more data from large databases such as ELSO or the STSdatabase, and by performing large multicenter trials, prediction scores can be developed in the future. However, due to the relatively small number of neonatal ECMO patients and many aggregating factors, this will be a challenging task, and identifying "the perfect ECMO candidate" will probably remain a local team decision based on experience and published results of others.

Pharmacodynamic and distribution studies are also needed in this very special group of patients. Neonates with their immature organ function, fast changes in maturation (ontogeny) and significantly increased distribution volume on ECMO, plus unknown absorption in the circuit components, are extremely challenging to manage for adequate medication levels. As mentioned before, research directed on long-term outcomes and quality of life are essential. Not only will they help at early patient intervention, but they can also teach the ECMO community the limitations of ECMO support and will help in deciding to which patients we should offer ECMO and to which patients we should not.

CONCLUSIONS

Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation (ECMO) is an invaluable tool for neonates with therapy resistant circulatory failure. Patient selection and timing of ECMO initiation however remain very difficult and is not yet evidence based. Mortality is very much dependent on underlying diagnosis, the ability to provide adequate systemic blood flow, duration of ECMO support and concomitant adverse events and complications. Therefore, after ECMO initiation, attempts should be made

¹http://www.picuscientist.org/pprep

as soon as possible to identify concomitant problems whose solution would improve the outcome, such as residual lesions following cardiac surgery or arrhythmias. By adequately addressing those underlying issues and limiting the time on ECMO, preferably <7 days, while resting the heart as much as possible, mortality can be reduced. In non-surgical heart disease, restoration of adequate myocardial function can take longer, sometimes requiring ECMO support up to 2 or 3 weeks.

REFERENCES

- ECMO Registry of the Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO). Ann Arbor, MI: Extracorporeal Life Support Organization. Available online at: https://www.elso.org/Registry/Overview.aspx (accessed April 29, 2019).
- Barbaro RP, Paden ML, Guner YS, Raman L, Ryerson LM, Alexander P, et al., Pediatric extracorporeal life support organization registry international report 2016. ASAIO J. (2017) 63:456–63. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000603
- Church JT, Kim AC, Erickson KM, Rana A, Drongowski R, Hirschl RB, et al. Pushing the boundaries of ECLS: outcomes in <34 week EGA neonates. J Pediatr Surg. (2017) 52:1810–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2017.03.054
- Ungerleider RM, Shen I, Burch G, Butler R, Silberbach M. Use of routine ventricular assist following the first stage Norwood procedure. *Cardiol Young*. (2004) 14(Suppl 1):61–4. doi: 10.1017/S1047951104006316
- Mascio CE, Austin EH, Jacobs JP, Jacobs ML, Wallace AS, He X, et al. Perioperative mechanical circulatory support in children: an analysis of the Society of Thoracic Surgeons Congenital Heart Surgery Database. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2014) 147:658–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2013.09.075
- Salvin JW, Laussen PC, Thiagarajan RR. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for postcardiotomy mechanical cardiovascular support in children with congenital heart disease. *Paediatr Anaesth.* (2008) 18:1157–62. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2008.02795.x
- Sasaki T, Asou T, Takeda Y, Onakatomi Y, Tominaga T, Yamamoto Y. Extracorporeal life support after cardiac surgery in children: outcomes from a single institution. *Artif Organs.* (2014) 38:34–40. doi: 10.1111/aor. 12191
- Alsoufi B, Slesnick T, McCracken C, Ehrlich A, Kanter K, Schlosser B, et al. Current outcomes of the Norwood operation in patients with single-ventricle malformations other than hypoplastic left heart syndrome. *World J Pediatr Congenit Heart Surg.* (2015) 6:46–52. doi: 10.1177/2150135114558069
- Gaies MG, Jeffries HE, Niebler RA, Pasquali SK, Donohue JE, Yu S, et al. Vasoactive-inotropic score is associated with outcome after infant cardiac surgery: an analysis from the Pediatric Cardiac Critical Care Consortium and Virtual PICU System Registries. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2014) 15:529–37. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000153
- Arola A, Pikkarainen E, Sipilä JO, Pykäri J, Rautava P, Kytö V. Occurrence and features of childhood myocarditis: a nationwide study in Finland. J Am Heart Assoc. (2017) 6:e005306. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.116.005306
- Vigneswaran TV, Brown JR, Breuer J, Burch M. Parvovirus B19 myocarditis in children: an observational study. *Arch Dis Child.* (2016) 101:177–80. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2014-308080
- Cortina G, Best D, Deisenberg M, Chiletti R, Butt W. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for neonatal collapse caused by enterovirus myocarditis. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed.* (2018) 103:F370–6. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2016-312429
- Casadonte JR, Mazwi ML, Gambetta KE, Palac HL, McBride ME, Eltayeb OM et al., Risk factors for cardiac arrest or mechanical circulatory support in children with fulminant myocarditis. *Pediatr Cardiol.* (2017) 38:128–34. doi: 10.1007/s00246-016-1493-5
- Miyake CY, Teele SA, Chen L, Motonaga KS, Dubin AM, Balasubramanian S, et al. In-hospital arrhythmia development and outcomes in pediatric patients with acute myocarditis. *Am J Cardiol.* (2014) 113:535–40. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2013.10.021
- Teele SA, Allan CK, Laussen PC, Newburger JW, Gauvreau K, Thiagarajan RR. Management and outcomes in pediatric patients presenting

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Marta Velia Antonini for her drawing of hypoplastic left heart and ECMO.

with acute fulminant myocarditis. J Pediatr. (2011) 158:638–43 e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2010.10.015

- Lin KM, Li MH, Hsieh KS, Kuo HC, Cheng MC, Sheu JJ, et al. Impact of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation on acute fulminant myocarditisrelated hemodynamic compromise arrhythmia in children. *Pediatr Neonatol.* (2016) 57:480–7. doi: 10.1016/j.pedneo.2016.02.002
- Xiong H, Xia B, Zhu J, Li B, Huang W. Clinical outcomes in pediatric patients hospitalized with fulminant myocarditis requiring extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a meta-analysis. *Pediatr Cardiol.* (2017) 38:209–14. doi: 10.1007/s00246-016-1517-1
- Zampi JD, Hirsch JC, Gurney JG, Donohue JE, Yu S, LaPage MJ, et al. Junctional ectopic tachycardia after infant heart surgery: incidence and outcomes. *Pediatr Cardiol.* (2012) 33:1362–9. doi: 10.1007/s00246-012-0348-y
- Moffett BS, Lupo PJ, delaUz CM, Valdes SO, Miyake CY, Decker JA, et al. Efficacy of digoxin in comparison with propranolol for treatment of infant supraventricular tachycardia: analysis of a large, national database. *Cardiol Young*. (2015) 25:1080–5. doi: 10.1017/S1047951114001619
- Pagel PS, Lilly RE, Nicolosi AC. Use of ECMO to temporize circulatory instability during severe Brugada electrical storm. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2009) 88:982–3. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2009.01.066
- 21. Dyamenahalli U, Tuzcu V, Fontenot E, Papagiannis J, Jaquiss RD, Bhutta A, et al. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support for intractable primary arrhythmias and complete congenital heart block in newborns and infants: short-term and medium-term outcomes. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2012) 13:47–52. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e3182196cb1
- Nasr VG, Faraoni D, DiNardo JA, Thiagarajan RR. Adverse outcomes in neonates and children with pulmonary artery hypertension supported with ECMO. ASAIO J. (2016) 62:728–31. doi: 10.1097/MAT.000000000000419
- 23. Loforte A, Montalto A, Lilla Della Monica P, Musumeci F. Simultaneous temporary CentriMag right ventricular assist device placement in HeartMate II left ventricular assist system recipients at high risk of right ventricular failure. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg.* (2010) 10:847–50. doi: 10.1510/icvts.2009.230706
- Dhillon R, Pearson GA, Firmin RK, Chan KC, Leanage R. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation and the treatment of critical pulmonary hypertension in congenital heart disease. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (1995) 9:553–6. doi: 10.1016/S1010-7940(05)80004-1
- 25. Said AS, McBride ME, Gazit AZ. Successful preoperative bridge with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in three neonates with Dtransposition of the great vessels and pulmonary hypertension. *Cardiol Young.* (2018) 28:1175–7. doi: 10.1017/S1047951118001038
- Jaggers JJ, Forbess JM, Shah AS, Meliones JN, Kirshbom PM, Miller CE, et al. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for infant postcardiotomy support: significance of shunt management. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2000) 69:1476–83. doi: 10.1016/S0003-4975(00)01330-8
- Kolovos NS, Bratton SL, Moler FW, Bove EL, Ohye RG, Bartlett RH, et al. Outcome of pediatric patients treated with extracorporeal life support after cardiac surgery. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2003) 76:1435–41. doi: 10.1016/S0003-4975(03)00898-1
- Chaturvedi RR, Macrae D, Brown KL, Schindler M, Smith EC, Davis KB, et al. Cardiac ECMO for biventricular hearts after paediatric open heart surgery. *Heart*. (2004) 90:545–51. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2002.0 03509
- 29. Chrysostomou C, Morell VO, Kuch BA, O'Malley E, Munoz R, Wearden PD. Short- and intermediate-term survival after extracorporeal membrane

oxygenation in children with cardiac disease. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2013) 146:317-25. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2012.11.014

- Khorsandi M, Davidson M, Bouamra O, McLean A, MacArthur K, Torrance I, et al. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in pediatric cardiac surgery: a retrospective review of trends and outcomes in Scotland. *Ann Pediatr Cardiol.* (2018) 11:3–11. doi: 10.4103/apc.APC_88_17
- 31. Ford MA, Gauvreau K, McMullan DM, Almodovar MC, Cooper DS, Rycus PT, et al. Factors associated with mortality in neonates requiring extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for cardiac indications: analysis of the extracorporeal life support organization registry data. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2016) 17:860–70. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000842
- Gupta P, Robertson MJ, Rettiganti M, Seib PM, Wernovsky G, Markovitz BP, et al. Impact of timing of ECMO initiation on outcomes after pediatric heart surgery: a multi-institutional analysis. *Pediatr Cardiol.* (2016) 37:971–8. doi: 10.1007/s00246-016-1379-6
- Pediatric Cardiac Failure, Extracorporeal Life Support Organization. ELSO Guidelines. (2018) Available online at: http://www.elso.org/resources/ guidelines.aspx
- 34. Polito A, Barrett CS, Rycus PT, Favia I, Cogo PE, Thiagarajan RR. Neurologic injury in neonates with congenital heart disease during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: an analysis of extracorporeal life support organization registry data. ASAIO J. (2015) 61:43–8. doi: 10.1097/MAT.000000000 000151
- 35. Teele SA, Salvin JW, Barrett CS, Rycus PT, Fynn-Thompson F, Laussen PC, et al. The association of carotid artery cannulation and neurologic injury in pediatric patients supported with venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2014) 15:355–61. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000103
- Ryerson LM, Sanchez-Glanville C, Huberdeau C, Aklabi MA. Carotid artery dissection following neck cannulation for extracorporeal life support. World J Pediatr Congenit Heart Surg. (2017) 8:414–6. doi: 10.1177/21501351166 39542
- MacLaren G, Butt W, Best D, Donath S. Central extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for refractory pediatric septic shock. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2011) 12:133–6. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e3181e2a4a1
- Mesher AL, Hermsen JL, Rubio AE, Chen JM, McMullan DM. Neoaortic thrombus after Norwood procedure: complication of extracorporeal life support? *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2015) 99:709–10. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2014.03.051
- Kumar TK, Zurakowski D, Dalton H, Talwar S, Allard-Picou A, Duebener LF, et al. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in postcardiotomy patients: factors influencing outcome. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2010) 140:330–6 e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2010.02.034
- Merrill ED, Schoeneberg L, Sandesara P, Molitor-Kirsch E, O'Brien J, Dai H, et al. Outcomes after prolonged extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support in children with cardiac disease–Extracorporeal Life Support Organization registry study. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2014) 148:582–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2013.09.038
- Morris MC, Ittenbach RF, Godinez RI, Portnoy JD, Tabbutt S, Hanna BD, et al. Risk factors for mortality in 137 pediatric cardiac intensive care unit patients managed with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Crit Care Med.* (2004) 32:1061–9. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000119425.04364.CF
- Joffe AR, Lequier L, Robertson CM. Pediatric outcomes after extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for cardiac disease and for cardiac arrest: a review. ASAIO J. (2012) 58:297–310. doi: 10.1097/MAT.0b013e31825a21ff
- Agarwal HS, Hardison DC, Saville BR, Donahue BS, Lamb FS, Bichell DP, et al. Residual lesions in postoperative pediatric cardiac surgery patients receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2014) 147:434–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2013.03.021
- 44. Howard TS, Kalish BT, Wigmore D, Nathan M, Kulik TJ, Kaza AK, et al. Association of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support adequacy and residual lesions with outcomes in neonates supported after cardiac surgery. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2016) 17:1045–54. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000943
- 45. Polimenakos AC, Rizzo V, El-Zein CF, Ilbawi MN. Post-cardiotomy rescue extracorporeal cardiopulmonary resuscitation in neonates with single ventricle after intractable cardiac arrest: attrition after hospital

discharge and predictors of outcome. *Pediatr Cardiol.* (2017) 38:314-23. doi: 10.1007/s00246-016-1515-3

- Abraham BP, Gilliam E, Kim DW, Wolf MJ, Vincent RN, Petit CJ. Early catheterization after initiation of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support in children is associated with improved survival. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv*. (2016) 88:592–9. doi: 10.1002/ccd.26526
- 47. Kato A, Lo Rito M, Lee KJ, Haller C, Guerguerian AM, Sivarajan VB, et al. Impacts of early cardiac catheterization for children with congenital heart disease supported by extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2017) 89:898–905. doi: 10.1002/ccd.26632
- Boscamp NS, Turner ME, Crystal M, Anderson B, Vincent JA, Torres AJ. Cardiac catheterization in pediatric patients supported by extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a 15-year experience. *Pediatr Cardiol.* (2017) 38:332– 7. doi: 10.1007/s00246-016-1518-0
- Chen H, Yu RG, Yin NN, Zhou JX. Combination of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation and continuous renal replacement therapy in critically ill patients: a systematic review. *Crit Care.* (2014) 18:675. doi: 10.1186/s13054-014-0675-x
- Ronco C, Chionh CY, Haapio M, Anavekar NS, House A, Bellomo R. The cardiorenal syndrome. *Blood Purif.* (2009) 27:114–26. doi: 10.1159/000 167018
- Selewski DT, Cornell TT, Blatt NB, Han YY, Mottes T, Kommareddi M, et al. Fluid overload and fluid removal in pediatric patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation requiring continuous renal replacement therapy. *Crit Care Med.* (2012) 40:2694–9. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e318258ff01
- 52. Hoover NG, Heard M, Reid C, Wagoner S, Rogers K, Foland J, et al. Enhanced fluid management with continuous venovenous hemofiltration in pediatric respiratory failure patients receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support. *Intensive Care Med.* (2008) 34:2241–7. doi: 10.1007/s00134-008-1200-y
- Santiago MJ, Sánchez A, López-Herce J, Pérez R, del Castillo J, Urbano J, et al. The use of continuous renal replacement therapy in series with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Kidney Int.* (2009) 76:1289–92. doi: 10.1038/ki.2009.383
- Lou S, MacLaren G, Paul E, Best D, Delzoppo C, Butt W. Hemofiltration is not associated with increased mortality in children receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2015) 16:161–6. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000290
- Bautista-Rodriguez C, Sanchez-de-Toledo J, Da Cruz EM. The role of echocardiography in neonates and pediatric patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Front Pediatr.* (2018) 6:297. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00297
- Xie A, Forrest P, Loforte A. Left ventricular decompression in veno-arterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Ann Cardiothorac Surg.* (2019) 8:9– 18. doi: 10.21037/acs.2018.11.07
- Eastaugh LJ, Thiagarajan RR, Darst JR, McElhinney DB, Lock JE, Marshall AC. Percutaneous left atrial decompression in patients supported with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for cardiac disease. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2015) 16:59–65. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000276
- Hacking DF, Best D, d'Udekem Y, Brizard CP, Konstantinov IE, Millar J, et al. Elective decompression of the left ventricle in pediatric patients may reduce the duration of venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Artif Organs.* (2015) 39:319–26. doi: 10.1111/aor.12390
- Brogan TV, Lequier L, Lorusso R, MacLaren G, Peek G, *Extracorporeal Life Support: The ELSO Red Book.* 5th ed. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press (2017).
- Chrysostomou C, Maul T, Istvanic F, Wearden P. Surfactant administration during pediatric cardiac extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. ASAIO J. (2019) 65:367–70. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000825
- Debrunner MG, Porayette P, Breinholt JP, Turrentine MW, Cordes TM. Midterm survival of infants requiring postoperative extracorporeal membrane oxygenation after Norwood palliation. *Pediatr Cardiol.* (2013) 34:570–5. doi: 10.1007/s00246-012-0499-x
- 62. Tabbutt S, Ghanayem N, Ravishankar C, Sleeper LA, Cooper DS, Frank DU, et al. Risk factors for hospital morbidity and mortality after the Norwood procedure: a report from the Pediatric Heart Network Single Ventricle Reconstruction trial. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2012) 144:882–95. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2012.05.019

- Friedland-Little JM, Hirsch-Romano JC, Yu S, Donohue JE, Canada CE, Soraya P, et al. Risk factors for requiring extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support after a Norwood operation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2014) 148:266–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2013.08.051
- 64. Hoskote A, Bohn D, Gruenwald C, Edgell D, Cai S, Adatia I, et al. Extracorporeal life support after staged palliation of a functional single ventricle: subsequent morbidity and survival. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2006) 131:1114–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2005.11.035
- 65. Allan CK, Thiagarajan RR, del Nido PJ, Roth SJ, Almodovar MC, Laussen PC. Indication for initiation of mechanical circulatory support impacts survival of infants with shunted single-ventricle circulation supported with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2007) 133:660–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2006.11.013
- 66. Botha P, Deshpande SR, Wolf M, Heard M, Alsoufi B, Kogon B, et al. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenator support in infants with systemic-pulmonary shunts. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2016) 152:912–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2016.03.075
- Sherwin ED, Gauvreau K, Scheurer MA, Rycus PT, Salvin JW, Almodovar MC, et al. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation after stage 1 palliation for hypoplastic left heart syndrome. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2012) 144:1337– 43. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2012.03.035
- Roeleveld PP, Wilde Rd, Hazekamp M, Rycus PT, Thiagarajan RR. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in single ventricle lesions palliated via the hybrid approach. *World J Pediatr Congenit Heart Surg.* (2014) 5:393–7. doi: 10.1177/2150135114526420
- Mitchell EA, Gomez D, Joy BF, Fernandez RP, Cheatham JP, Galantowicz M, et al. ECMO: incidence and outcomes of patients undergoing the hybrid procedure. *Congenit Heart Dis.* (2016) 11:169–74. doi: 10.1111/chd.12311
- Fernandez RP, Joy BF, Allen R, Stewart J, Miller-Tate H, Miao Y, et al. Interstage survival for patients with hypoplastic left heart syndrome after ECMO. *Pediatr Cardiol.* (2017) 38:50–5. doi: 10.1007/s00246-01 6-1483-7
- Aydin SI, Duffy M, Rodriguez D, Rycus PT, Friedman P, Thiagarajan RR, et al., Venovenous extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for patients with single-ventricle anatomy: a registry report. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2016) 151:1730–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2015.12.029
- Nair AB, Oishi P. Venovenous extracorporeal life support in single-ventricle patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Front Pediatr.* (2016) 4:66. doi: 10.3389/fped.2016.00066
- 73. Naruke T, Inomata T, Imai H, Yanagisawa T, Maekawa E, Mizutani T, et al. End-tidal carbon dioxide concentration can estimate the appropriate timing for weaning off from extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for refractory circulatory failure. *Int Heart J.* (2010) 51:116–20. doi: 10.1536/ihj.51.116
- 74. d'Udekem Y, Shime N, Lou S, MacLaren G. Recurrent or prolonged mechanical circulatory support: bridge to recovery or road to nowhere? *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2013) 14(5 Suppl 1):S69–72. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e318292e332
- Park BW, Seo DC, Moon IK, Chung JW, Bang DW, Hyon MS, et al. Pulse pressure as a prognostic marker in patients receiving extracorporeal life support. *Resuscitation*. (2013) 84:1404–8. doi: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2013.04.009
- Aissaoui N, Luyt CE, Leprince P, Trouillet JL, Léger P, Pavie A, et al. Predictors of successful extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) weaning after assistance for refractory cardiogenic shock. *Intensive Care Med.* (2011) 37:1738–45. doi: 10.1007/s00134-011-2358-2
- Westrope C, Harvey C, Robinson S, Speggiorin S, Faulkner G, Peek GJ. Pump controlled retrograde trial off from VA-ECMO. ASAIO J. (2013) 59:517–9. doi: 10.1097/MAT.0b013e31829f5e9f
- Mattke CA, Haisz E, Pandya N, Black A, Venugopal P. Creating a controlled arterio-venous shunt by reversing the extracorporeal membrane oxygenation blood flow: a strategy for weaning patients off veno-arterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2017) 18:973– 6. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000001274

- Di Gennaro JL, Chan T, Farris RWD, Weiss NS, McMullan DM. Increased stroke risk in children and young adults on extracorporeal life support with carotid cannulation. ASAIO J. (2019). doi: 10.1097/MAT.000000000 000912. [Epub ahead of print].
- Connelly J, Blinman T. Special equipment considerations for neonatal ECMO. Semin Perinatol. (2018) 42:89–95. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2017.12.004
- O'Brien C, Monteagudo J, Schad C, Cheung E, Middlesworth W. Centrifugal pumps and hemolysis in pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) patients: an analysis of Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO) registry data. J Pediatr Surg. (2017) 52:975–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2017.03.022
- Peer SM, Emerson DA, Costello JP, Shu MK, Zurakowski D, Jonas RA, et al. Intermediate-term results of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support following congenital heart surgery. World J Pediatr Congenit Heart Surg. (2014) 5:236–40. doi: 10.1177/2150135113515495
- Lequier L, Joffe AR, Robertson CM, Dinu IA, Wongswadiwat Y, Anton NR, et al. Two-year survival, mental, and motor outcomes after cardiac extracorporeal life support at less than five years of age. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2008) 136:976–83 e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2008.02.009
- 84. Garcia Guerra G, Robertson CM, Alton GY, Joffe AR, Moez EK, Dinu IA, et al. Health-related quality of life in pediatric cardiac extracorporeal life support survivors. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2014) 15:720–7. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000212
- Fleck TP, Dangel G, Bächle F, Benk C, Grohmann J, Kroll J, et al. Long-term follow-up on health-related quality of life after mechanical circulatory support in children. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2017) 18:176–82. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000001019
- Clark BG, Acton BV, Alton GY, Joffe AR, Dinu IA, Robertson CM. Screening for language delay after life-saving therapies in term-born infants. *Cardiol Young*. (2016) 26:1343–51. doi: 10.1017/S1047951115002577
- Annich GM, Zaulan O, Neufeld M, Wagner D, Reynolds MM. Thromboprophylaxis in extracorporeal circuits: current pharmacological strategies and future directions. *Am J Cardiovasc Drugs*. (2017) 17:425–39. doi: 10.1007/s40256-017-0229-0
- Barton R, Ignjatovic V, Monagle P. Anticoagulation during ECMO in neonatal and paediatric patients. *Thromb Res.* (2019) 173:172–7. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2018.05.009
- Barbaro RP, Bartlett RH, Chapman RL, Paden ML, Roberts LA, Gebremariam A, et al. Development and validation of the neonatal risk estimate score for children using extracorporeal respiratory support. *J Pediatr.* (2016) 173:56–61 e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.02.057
- Barbaro RP, Boonstra PS, Paden ML, Roberts LA, Annich GM, Bartlett RH, et al. Development and validation of the pediatric risk estimate score for children using extracorporeal respiratory support (Ped-RESCUERS). *Intensive Care Med.* (2016) 42:879–88. doi: 10.1007/s00134-016-4285-8
- Maul TM, Kuch BA, Wearden PD. Development of risk indices for neonatal respiratory extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. ASAIO J. (2016) 62:584– 90. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000402
- Schmidt M, Burrell A, Roberts L, Bailey M, Sheldrake J, Rycus PT, et al. Predicting survival after ECMO for refractory cardiogenic shock: the survival after veno-arterial-ECMO (SAVE)-score. *Eur Heart J.* (2015) 36:2246–56. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehv194

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Roeleveld and Mendonca. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Drug Disposition and Pharmacotherapy in Neonatal ECMO: From Fragmented Data to Integrated Knowledge

Genny Raffaeli^{1,2*}, Pavla Pokorna^{3,4,5}, Karel Allegaert^{6,7}, Fabio Mosca^{1,2}, Giacomo Cavallaro¹, Enno D. Wildschut⁵ and Dick Tibboel⁵

¹ Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, NICU, Milan, Italy, ² Department of Clinical Sciences and Community Health, Università degli Studi di Milano, Milan, Italy, ³ Department of Pediatrics—ICU, General University Hospital, 1st Faculty of Medicine Charles University, Prague, Czechia, ⁴ Department of Pharmacology, General University Hospital, 1st Faculty of Medicine Charles University, Prague, Czechia, ⁵ Intensive Care and Department of Pediatric Surgery, Erasmus MC-Sophia Children's Hospital, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ⁶ Division of Neonatology, Department of Pediatrics, Erasmus MC Sophia Children's Hospital, University Medical Center Rotterdam, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ⁷ Department of Development and Regeneration, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Paolo Biban, Integrated University Hospital Verona, Italy

Reviewed by:

Gail Mary Annich, Hospital for Sick Children, Canada Ravi R. Thiagarajan, Boston Children's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States

> *Correspondence: Genny Raffaeli genny.raffaeli@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Critical Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 21 May 2019 Accepted: 16 August 2019 Published: 03 September 2019

Citation:

Raffaeli G, Pokorna P, Allegaert K, Mosca F, Cavallaro G, Wildschut ED and Tibboel D (2019) Drug Disposition and Pharmacotherapy in Neonatal ECMO: From Fragmented Data to Integrated Knowledge. Front. Pediatr. 7:360. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00360

Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) is a lifesaving support technology for potentially reversible neonatal cardiac and/or respiratory failure. As the survival and the overall outcome of patients rely on the treatment and reversal of the underlying disease, effective and preferentially evidence-based pharmacotherapy is crucial to target recovery. Currently limited data exist to support the clinicians in their every-day intensive care prescribing practice with the contemporary ECMO technology. Indeed, drug dosing to optimize pharmacotherapy during neonatal ECMO is a major challenge. The impact of the maturational changes of the organ function on both pharmacokinetics (PK) and pharmacodynamics (PD) has been widely established over the last decades. Next to the developmental pharmacology, additional non-maturational factors have been recognized as key-determinants of PK/PD variability. The dynamically changing state of critical illness during the ECMO course impairs the achievement of optimal drug exposure, as a result of single or multi-organ failure, capillary leak, altered protein binding, and sometimes a hyperdynamic state, with a variable effect on both the volume of distribution (Vd) and the clearance (CI) of drugs. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation introduces further PK/PD perturbation due to drug sequestration and hemodilution, thus increasing the Vd and clearance (sequestration). Drug disposition depends on the characteristics of the compounds (hydrophilic vs. lipophilic, protein binding), patients (age, comorbidities, surgery, co-medications, genetic variations), and circuits (roller vs. centrifugal-based systems; silicone vs. hollow-fiber oxygenators; renal replacement therapy). Based on the potential combination of the above-mentioned drug PK/PD determinants, an integrated approach in clinical drug prescription is pivotal to limit the risks of over- and under-dosing. The understanding of the dose-exposure-response relationship in critically-ill neonates on ECMO will enable the optimization of dosing strategies to ensure safety and efficacy for the individual patient. Next to in vitro and clinical PK data collection, physiologically-based pharmacokinetic modeling (PBPK) are emerging as alternative approaches to

provide bedside dosing guidance. This article provides an overview of the available evidence in the field of neonatal pharmacology during ECMO. We will identify the main determinants of altered PK and PD, elaborate on evidence-based recommendations on pharmacotherapy and highlight areas for further research.

Keywords: ECMO, pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, critical illness, developmental pharmacology, neonate

BACKGROUND

Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) is an established life-saving support technique for critically-ill neonates with severe cardio-respiratory failure (1, 2). Being a bridge, ECMO buys the time for cure, in part related to drugs to treat and possibly reverse the underlying disease while protecting the failing respiratory/circulatory systems from iatrogenic negative effects with long term consequences (2). Indeed, sustained and maximal mechanical ventilation may lead to hemodynamic compromise and ventilation-induced lung injury, as a result of oxygen toxicity, baro- bio-, and volutrauma (3). Generally, these critically-ill neonates are exposed to polypharmacy, as they require anticoagulants to maintain the hemostatic balance within the ECMO circuit, analgo-sedatives to ensure patient comfort, cardiovascular agents to sustain hemodynamics, anti-infectives to prevent or treat infections, and possibly other drugs to manage underlying specific conditions or complications (4, 5).

As in many of these patients the survival and overall outcome rely on medications, effective pharmacotherapy is essential to improve care and minimize side effects (5). Adequate drug dosing is based on the understanding of two concepts: (1) pharmacokinetics (PK), which explores "what the body does to the drug" and provides the drug concentration-time profile, through the evaluation of absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion (ADME); (2) pharmacodynamics, which represents "what the drug does to the body" and estimates action and side-effects of a given medication, based on dose and patient profile (6, 7). The main drivers of drug PK are volume of distribution (Vd), which describes the dose required to produce the desired peak concentration and clearance (Cl), which is the volume of fluid cleared of drug from the body per unit of time. Both Vd and Cl are primary determinants of drug half-life (7). Safe and efficient prescription in neonatal ECMO depends upon the knowledge of the above-mentioned concepts and the understanding of the determinants affecting drug PK and PD in the complex context of patient immaturity, critical illness, (multi)organ failure and need for supportive extracorporeal circuits (8).

Neonatal age is by itself a window of pharmacological vulnerability (9). Drug PK and PD prediction, based on timedependent maturational changes (age, weight) is the cornerstone of developmental pharmacology (10, 11). Additionally, critical illness may contribute to impaired drug exposure, as a result of multiple organ failure and changes in physiology, such as hyperdynamic state, increased vascular permeability, catabolism, and altered protein binding (8, 12). The need for ECMO further complicates the issue, through the sequestration of drugs into the circuit and the induction of PK specific variability (4, 13, 14).

Although physicochemical properties can be used to predict the drugs' bioavailability while on ECMO (15), the pharmacotherapy in this setting remains too empirical, as a result of limited evidence due to the lack of clinical studies and ever-evolving technology.

Because of this, treating a critically-ill neonate on ECMO is challenging and requires an integrated approach, to limit the risks of under treatment or toxicity. In this review, we will discuss current knowledge of ECMO-induced PK perturbations, and subsequently discuss the relevance of these PK findings for analgo-sedatives and antimicrobial and antiviral drugs, to end with a discussion on approaches to further optimize neonatal pharmacotherapy. However, pharmacotherapy for neonates on ECMO still needs to be integrated with the physiological maturation occurring in early infancy.

THE ROLE OF DEVELOPMENTAL PHARMACOLOGY ON DRUG DISPOSITION

In neonates the evolving physiological maturation has a dynamic impact on clinical pharmacology, thus resulting in inter- and intra- individual variability in drug exposure (PK) and drug effect (PD) (9). Growth, weight, body and plasma protein composition, organ maturation, and energy requirements are the main determinants of the developmental pharmacology, which integrates the knowledge of the ontogenetic changes to deliver safe and effective pharmacological treatment across the pediatric age range (10, 16). While maturational PK considers the agerelated changes of the ADME process (17, 18), the maturational PD takes into account the developmental variability of specific organ function and receptor expression (11). An extensive and contemporary description of the maturational covariates of the developmental pharmacology is beyond the scope of this review and it is available elsewhere (10, 11, 19).

THE ROLE OF NON-MATURATIONAL DETERMINANTS ON DRUG DISPOSITION: FOCUS ON PRE-ECMO DISEASE STATE

To objectivate non-maturational determinants and their impact on drug disposition in critically ill neonates is essential to integrate the concept of "precision dosing to optimize neonatal pharmacotherapy" defined as "personalized, individualized, tailored or precise pharmacotherapy" (20). Moreover, accuracy of drug formulations, drug prescription and new drug development is needed to tune pharmacotherapy in the vulnerable neonatal population (21). Non-maturational determinants such as (perinatal) asphyxia/hypoxia, sepsis/systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS), multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS) are considered as clinically relevant variables of drug disposition (22, 23). However, they are not well understood in critically ill neonates due to dynamically changing conditions in the single patient. There is a large inter individual variability in the PK/PD of frequently used medications (antimicrobials, analgosedatives, anti-convulsives, vasopressors, and inotropes) in neonates under critical illness (24) and ECMO (25, 26). These covariates are either predictable (i.e., related to development or drug = maturational determinants), partly predictable (i.e., related to treatment modality), or almost non-predictable (i.e., related to disease = non-maturational covariates). Changes in the Vd and Cl of drugs under critically ill conditions may lead to a high intra- and inter-individual PK variability (for different drugs 30-70%) resulting in either insufficient or toxic plasma concentrations of drugs (27). This may have an impact on the drug disposition and, as a consequence, both under- and over-dosing may contribute to unfavorable outcomes.

Perinatal Asphyxia-Hypoxia

Perinatal Asphyxia (PA) is defined by the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) and the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) as a condition of severely deficient supply of oxygen to the body (oxygen deprivation) leading to coma or death (28). In 2009, based on international guidelines, therapeutic hypothermia (HT; 33–34°C) has been recommended to be used for therapy in asphyxiated (moderate to severe) neonates (29). However, the decision to place on ECMO newborns treated for perinatal asphyxia and hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy (HIE) is based on criteria of HIE severity (30). Following perinatal asphyxia, neonates may suffer from HIE (69.4%), respiratory or acute kidney failure (AKI 47-61%), cardiac and hepatic dysfunction, whose rates in the era of HT (31) are similar to the pre-cooling period (32). Multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS), defined as the presence of at least one organ dysfunction in addition to HIE, occurred in 58-88% of asphyxiated neonates (33) and contributed to higher mortality rates (20.5-72.9%) (31). MODS may complicate the course of neonatal ECMO, with a negative impact on survival (34, 35). Moreover, after out of hospital pediatric cardiac arrest, AKI is very common (64% of the enrolled cases, n = 282), and severe (41% of the enrolled cases), without difference in incidence in severe AKI between cases that either or not underwent HT (36). As a rule of thumb, asphyxia may lead to changes in drug disposition such as decreased or variable drug absorption (AUC, Ka, t_{max} or F), increased (or unchanged) drug distribution (Vd) and decreased drug elimination (CL) (37). However, data on PK changes under asphyxia in neonates are sparse (ceftazidime, amikacin, gentamicin, amoxicillin, and benzylpenicillin) (37-41) and the same holds true for cardiac arrest in neonates and changes in pH (42). Moreover, PK variability in asphyxiated neonates has been reviewed in relation to the impact of HT alone (43–46) or in combination to ECMO (47). Recently, for anticonvulsive drugs such as phenobarbital, which has low hepatic Cl and low protein bound drug HT was not found to be a PK covariate (48, 49), in contrast to birth weight (BW), postnatal age (PNA) (50), and disease severity (51). The disposition of other drugs during neonatal HT has been evaluated in the recent literature (52–56) and the relevant findings are summarized in **Table 1**.

Sepsis/Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome

There is lack of consensus for the definition of sepsis in neonates (57). So far, the international consensus on pediatric sepsis and SIRS, respectively, was established to address this issue for all children (<18 years old) including term neonates $(\geq 37 \text{ weeks completed gestation})$ in 2005 (58). (59) showed how mortality for MODS, in a pediatric intensive care unit, was significantly higher among term neonates compared with older children (75.4 vs. 50.9%) (59). During sepsis relevant SIRS-related physiological changes occur, which contribute to drug disposition (60). The main physiology and pharmacology considerations in sepsis/septic shock are shown in Table 1. Sepsis, and its related factors like tissue (regional) hypoperfusion, MODS (systemic) hypoperfusion, acidosis, hypoalbuminemia, SIRS, type of shock (hyperdynamic/hypodynamic), capillary leakage syndrome, or pharmacotherapy (diuretics, vasopressors, inotropic drugs) may lead to changes in PK, and therefore PD parameters (Cmax, Cmin, AUC0-24/MIC of concentration, and time dependent antibiotics, T > MIC of time-dependent antibiotics, Cmax/MIC of concentration dependent antibiotics). Moreover, sepsis and SIRS may induce a supraphysiologic renal activity, defined as augmented renal clearance (ARC) with enhanced renal pre-load and glomerular hyperfiltration (61). ARC is an established physiological response to hyperdynamic cardiovascular states in adult (61-63) and pediatric critical care patients (64, 65). However, in the neonatal period ARC has not yet been reported. In case of reduced renal functional reserve, secondary to a previously impaired kidney function or worsening organ perfusion, drug clearance may be compromised (64, 66). In children, sepsis has major impact on cytochrome P450 (CYP)3A activity (-90%), as has been illustrated with midazolam as probe drug (67). Such observations should be considered while prescribing drugs for critically ill neonates on ECMO. The interaction between the extracorporeal circuit itself with pre-ECMO disease states needs to be further characterized (68-70).

THE ROLE OF NON-MATURATIONAL DETERMINANTS ON DRUG DISPOSITION: FOCUS ON ECMO

Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation interferes with the expected attainment of a drug's therapeutic level (71). In the last decades, preclinical and clinical research have provided preliminary evidence of the causative mechanisms for reduced drugs' bioavailability. Pending specific PK studies, the loading dose (LD) is usually based on Vd, while the maintenance

TABLE 1 | Pre-ECMO non-maturational determinants of drug disposition and pharmacology considerations.

Physiology

Perfusion status: changes in tissue (regional) perfusion ($\downarrow\uparrow$), organ (systemic) perfusion ($\downarrow\uparrow$), cerebral-, splanchnic-, liver-, and renal flow ($\downarrow\uparrow$), changes in cardiac output ($\downarrow\uparrow$), SVRI ($\downarrow\uparrow$), MODS

Body water status: changes in total water volume (TV), tissue permeability, capillary leakage syndrome, intravascular volume ($\downarrow\uparrow$), extracellular water volume – ECV ($\downarrow\uparrow$) Acid-base balance: acidosis

Protein status: hypoalbuminemia, α1-acid glycoprotein (increased plasma levels during acute phase decreases free drug plasma levels)

Pharmacology*

Absorption (AUC, F, Tmax, Ka): \downarrow in asphyxia, \downarrow or \uparrow or = in sepsis

Distribution (Vd): ↑ or = in asphyxia, ↑ in hydrophilic drugs under sepsis, = in lipophilic drugs under sepsis

Elimination (CL): \downarrow in asphyxia, \downarrow or \uparrow or = based on shock state (hyper/hypo-dynamic) and type of drug elimination (liver or kidney)

Metabolism*: ↓ in hypoxia and sepsis

Physicochemical properties of a drug

Route of administration: orally administered drugs F = 20-70%, intravenously administered drugs F = 100%

Drug solubility: hydrophilic/lipophilic drugs, based on octanol/water partition coefficient-LogP

- LogP <1 = water soluble
- LogP 1-2 = weak water/more lipid soluble
- LogP >2 = lipid soluble

Protein binding capacity (albumin, α 1-acid glycoprotein):

- Low binding <30%
- Moderate binding 30-70%
- High binding >70%

Elimination via liver:

- High hepatic CL drugs= ↑extraction drugs with ↑ intrinsic hepatic metabolizing capacity, dependency on hepatic blood flow
- Low hepatic CL drugs= ↓extraction drugs with ↓intrinsic hepatic metabolizing capacity, low dependence on hepatic blood flow, dependency on hepatocellular enzyme activities phase I CYP P 450 and phase II (intracellular oxygen tension, cofactors)

Elimination via kidney:

- High/low renal CL drugs, dependency on renal filtration, secretion, and reabsorption

Concomitant medication*

Fluid resuscitation: Vd ↑ in hydrophilic drugs under sepsis, no changes in Vd in lipophilic drugs under sepsis

Circulatory support: CL $\downarrow\uparrow$ in high/low hepatic lipophilic CL drugs. Renal CL \uparrow of active metabolites of lipophilic drugs or non-active metabolites of hydrophilic/weak hydrophilic more lipid soluble drugs

Diuretics: renal CL[↑] of active metabolites of lipophilic drugs or non-active metabolites of hydrophilic/weak hydrophilic more lipid soluble drugs

Drug-drug PK interactions:

Absorption variable or \downarrow due to changes in gut perfusion (omeprazole, digoxin, fluconazole).

Vd J: - competitive protein binding (phenytoin, amiodaron, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs)

- Biotransformation 1/2 for inductors (barbiturates, dexamethasone) or inhibitors (midazolam, fluconazole via CYP 3A4, CYP2A6, CYP2C9, CYP2C19, CYP2C6 a CYP2E1)
- Elimination due to filtration $\uparrow\downarrow$, as changes in Vd may lead to changes in CL or changes in perfusion of vas afferent (aminoglycosides, vancomycin)
- Tubular secretion ↑↓ (morphine, furosemide)
- Reabsorption $\uparrow\downarrow$ as a result of drug ionization and urinary pH (benzodiazepines)

Treatment modalities*

Therapeutic hypothermia (TH): changes in

- Absorption (\downarrow)
- Distribution (\downarrow or \uparrow , no changes, or variable)
- Elimination (↓ or no changes)

Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO): changes in

- Absorption (\downarrow or no changes)*
- Distribution (↑ or no changes)
- Elimination (↑or↓ or no changes)

*Limited data in neonates.

AUC area under the concentration curve, CL clearance, F bioavailability, LogP octanol/water partition coefficient, Ka rate constant of absorption, Tmax—the time at which the Cmax (the maximum serum concentration) is observed, Vd volume of distribution, \uparrow , increase; \downarrow , decrease; = no changes.

dose (MD) is driven by the estimated Cl (72). Moreover, PK changes are strictly dependent on equipment material and circuit design (73). Most data come from *ex vivo* studies on silicone-based oxygenators. Technological advances have added further variability, through the introduction of ever-smaller circuits,

new biocompatible coatings and poly-methyl-pentene(PMP) membrane oxygenators (74). Currently, we lack the knowledge of the interaction of contemporary neonatal ECMO circuits and pharmacotherapy. Hereby we summarize the available evidence, stemming from *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies.

Circuit-Drug Interaction

The modern neonatal circuitry includes cannulas (venous cannula for drainage and arterial cannula for reinfusion or a single double-lumen cannula, when allowed by patients' size), polyvinyl chloride conduit tubing, a centrifugal pump, and PMP hollow-fiber membrane oxygenator (75). Based on patients' conditions, an hemofilter or a continuous renal replacement therapy may be added to the circuit design (75).

Both size and material of each of the above-mentioned components may lead to significant PK changes as a result of three main mechanisms: (i) sequestration into the circuit; (ii) increased Vd; and (iii) altered Cl.

Drugs' Sequestration by the ECMO Circuit: Components and Materials

Significant extraction of medications occurs in off-patient ECMO systems as a result of a complex interaction among circuit components and specific physiochemical properties of drugs, notably molecular weight, ionization, hydrophilicity, and protein binding (13, 15). The octanol-water partition coefficient (LogP) is a measure of a drug's lipophilicity (76). The higher the LogP (>2), the higher the drug sequestration (13, 15, 77). Similarly, highly protein bound drugs are more prone to be adsorbed into the ECMO systems (14). These *ex vivo* findings were confirmed by *in vivo* ovine ECMO models (77).

Equipment matters, as different materials of oxygenators, tubing, coating, and pumps may have a variable impact on drug disposition (15, 78–81).

Pediatric membrane oxygenator technology underwent significant advancements over the last decades (82). Improvement of materials, surface area and priming volume may support pharmacotherapy. Indeed, the variability of drug adsorption by different membrane oxygenators has been acknowledged since the early 90's (71, 83). Lipophilic drugs were largely sequestered into silicone membranes, at variance with the polypropylene ones (15, 71, 83). Similarly, the last-generation polymethylpentene hollow fiber oxygenators have shown less drug adsorption when compared to silicone-based membranes, especially for the lipophilic drugs in the first hours after injection in off-patients experiments (84).

Polyvinylchloride (PVC) tubing was found to be the primary site for drug sequestration (85). According to *in vitro* data, fentanyl was lost to the PVC tubing by 80% after 120 min, with an additional 5% lost to the oxygenators (85). Polymethylpentenebased oxygenator had a slightly higher impact on fentanyl disposition, if compared to the microporous polypropylenebased one (85). In the same study, morphine was lost to the PVC tubing by 40% after 5 min, with almost no further adsorption by the oxygenators (85). In contrast, recombinant human albumin/heparin coating tubing showed no effect on disposition of hydrophilic drugs, such as cephalosporine and carbapenems (86). These findings were further supported in a more recent *ex vivo* study, which evaluated beta-lactams in ECMO circuits made up of polymethylpentene membrane, centrifugal pump, heat exchanger, and PVC tubing (87). Results confirmed that beta-lactams (except for ceftriaxone) were not sequestered into the circuit (87).

Although the impact of coating has been neglected for years, more recent in vitro studies provided evidence that surface modification may affect drug disposition to some extent (88). Coating is meant to mimic the endothelial surface to enhance biocompatibility and it is generally defined as bioactive, when it is based on heparin and nitric oxide, or biopassive, if albumin and polymers such as phosphorylcholine are used (89). In vitro results from a study specifically designed to investigate the influence of coating on morphine and fentanyl disposition have shown that the following four types of coating were inert to drug absorption: synthetic albumin, heparin-free biopassive polymer, recombinant human albumin \pm heparin, and covalently bonded heparin coatings. In contrast, two other types of surface modifications were associated at 5 min with a significant reduction of morphine levels: poly2methoxylacrylate polymer and covalently bonded heparin (88). No significant differences were reported for fentanyl concentrations (88). These findings further illustrate how drug disposition results from a complex chemical and molecular interaction between individual drugs and ECMO components' individual characteristics. Indeed, electrochemical properties, namely the electric charge and degree of hydrophilicity of surface coatings, may contribute to modulate drugs' sequestration (90).

Although the influence of the type of pump itself has not been defined, centrifugal pump-based circuits with hollow-fiber membrane oxygenators have shown the least absorption for all drugs (13, 15), and this phenomenon is most pronounced for lipophilic drugs (15). Besides chemical drivers, mechanics could be advocated to affect drugs' PK, as blood is constantly exposed to variable pressures and flow-rates over the extracorporeal run (79). ECMO blood-flow is thought to affect drugs' PK (91), nevertheless the specific impact of blood-flow variability has not yet been characterized.

In addition, the type of priming solution and temperature are involved in the complex chemical mechanisms of drug loss and stability during ECMO (92), as explained in the next paragraph. Circuit age further affects pharmacotherapy: on one hand the saturation of binding sites may smooth the tubing impact on PK; on the other hand, it is not clear if the circuit acts as a reservoir, by releasing drugs back into the patient with a potential risk of cumulative effect and late toxicity (13, 71, 93). Thus far, the *in vitro* circuit-drug interaction has been characterized over 24 h, no data are available beyond this time frame.

ECMO-Induced Volume of Distribution Increase

The connection of a neonate to the extracorporeal circuit will affect the apparent Vd of drugs, through three main mechanisms. Firstly, as previously mentioned, the direct drug adsorption into the circuit is the driving factor (71, 93). Secondly, the haemodilution from the priming solution has been advocated for ECMO-related PK variability (92). In neonates, the priming volume of contemporary circuits approximates 250–300 ml, which equals the circulatory volume of a 3 kg neonate.

Furthermore, over the course of an ECMO run, the frequent administration of blood products and crystalloids contribute to worsen the hemodilution (94). Hydrophilic drugs are the most affected, as their Vd is limited to the extracellular compartment, with no intracellular drug reservoir available for retrograde diffusion (72). The extension of the plasma compartment during the ECMO start or in critical illness affects the LD, which is the first dose needed to guarantee the therapeutic concentration (72, 95). LD is directly proportional to the enlarged Vd and, hence, should be increased accordingly (95). The priming dilution, in conjunction with electrolytes and temperature perturbations, may affect also plasma proteins, especially albumin and alpha₁acid glycoprotein, thus altering the plasmatic drug-binding (14). Hypoalbuminemia is a multifactorial process, which results from ECMO- and disease-driven physio-pathologic changes (96). The increase of unbound or free drugs may expose ECMO neonates to potential toxicity (97). Lastly, the ECMO-related physiologic changes and the underlying disease state influence Vd, as a result of the systemic inflammatory response (98-102).

ECMO-Induced Clearance Variability

Drug clearance relies on kidney and liver function, which are usually altered on ECMO, as a result of the clinical status and circuit-related factors (73, 94, 103). In the early phase of extracorporeal circulation, the SIRS releases inflammatory mediators and endogenous cytokines, thus leading to vasodilatation, increased cardiac output and renal perfusion (73, 94). In veno-arterial ECMO, non-pulsatile blood flow is associated with a reduction of the glomerular filtration rate (104). Moreover, the inflammatory state of the critically-ill is associated with the downregulation of the expression and activity of cytochrome P450 enzymes involved in the hepatic drug metabolism (67). Low clearance and consequent rise of drug levels might expose the patient to increased pharmacological effect and toxicity (67, 73).

DISPOSITION OF ANALGO-SEDATIVES ON NEONATAL ECMO

During ECMO, neonates are exposed to multiple sedatives and analgesics, mostly for prolonged periods, to provide comfort, pain relief, and safety (105). The extracorporeal circuit has a large impact on sedatives and analgesics disposition, leading to high sedative needs (106–109). Drug physicochemical properties may assist in the dose prediction, which is titrated to clinical effect (5). Indeed, lipophilic agents, like fentanyl, propofol, and midazolam are highly sequestered into the circuit (15, 93, 110), especially in the first hours of bypass (84).

In the neonatal age, prolonged and sustained analgosedation is associated with clinical relevant adverse effects such as tolerance, dependency, impaired brain development, and iatrogenic withdrawal syndrome (105, 111). Among opioidsparing strategies, the daily interruption of sedation and analgesia was shown to be feasible, safe, and effective (112). However, sedation targets differ among ECMO centers, ranging from deep to conscious sedation practice (5, 113). The use of alternative non-opioid agents should be preferred (73, 84). Morphine and paracetamol have a favorable PK profile (15, 84, 114), while preliminary data on α_2 -adrenergic agonists dexmedetomidine and clonidine suggest the need for increased dosing (81, 115).

In this section we will summarize current evidence of the disposition of sedatives and analgesics on contemporary neonatal ECMO circuits (**Tables 2, 3**) (15, 83, 84, 91, 93, 108, 110, 114, 115, 117–120, 134).

Benzodiazepines

Midazolam has been extensively studied in the neonatal ECMO population. Moderate sequestration into the circuit has been observed through in vitro experiments, based on both old (15, 93) and contemporary circuits (15, 84). Two PK studies are available in the neonatal ECMO population, with contrasting results. Although both described the increase of Vd, since the start of ECMO (108, 117), Mulla et al. found a constant Cl of midazolam in neonates on veno-venous ECMO, with a prolonged elimination half-life leading to drug accumulation after 48 h (108). In contrast, Ahsman et al. reported the increase of midazolam Cl over time in neonates on veno-arterial ECMO (117). These PK data suggest the need for an increased LD in the early phase (first 24-48 h) of extracorporeal support, following which dosage should be titrated down, given the risk of accumulation of midazolam and its metabolites (108, 117) and, consequently, prolonged sedation (135).

Opioids

Fentanyl is highly sequestered into the circuit (15, 92) and dose escalation is required in neonates and infants exposed to extracorporeal circuits (107, 136). Despite the technological improvements, the impact of contemporary hollow-fiber-based oxygenators remains high for lipophilic drugs, such as fentanyl and sufentanil (84). Most centers use morphine as analgesic and sedative during neonatal ECMO, because its PK profile is not significantly altered. Clinical PK studies have reported a two-fold increase of morphine Vd (91). The Cl decreased following ECMO cannulation (119, 134) but increased over time, in relation to creatinine clearance, reflecting age-related maturation of drug excretion (91). Moreover, when compared to fentanyl, morphine continuous infusions were associated with improved analgesia, reduced drug withdrawal and length of stay (137). Therefore, morphine remains the opioid of choice for neonatal ECMO. Dose adjustments need to be titrated to clinical sedo-analgesic targets, pending evidence on contemporary circuitry-related PK.

Non-opioid Analgesics

Based on preliminary *in vitro* studies, paracetamol has been suggested as a promising analgesic during neonatal ECMO (84, 114). However, clinical PK evaluations are needed to provide dosing recommendations.

Propofol

This highly lipophilic and protein-bound sedative-hypnotic agent is largely sequestered into the ECMO circuit (93). The drug-related toxicity and concerns for propofol infusion

References	Drug	Pump	Timing (h)	Drug loss (%)
Wildschut et al. (15)	Cefotaxime	Centrifugal	3	2
Cies et al. (116)	Daptomycin	Centrifugal	24	0
Wagner et al. (81)	Dexmedetomidine	Roller	24	76–90
Nasr et al. (110)	Dexmedetomidine	Centrifugal	48	51
Wildschut et al. (15)	Fentanyl	Centrifugal	3	66
Raffaeli et al. (84)	Fentanyl	Centrifugal	24	84
Nasr et al. (110)	Fentanyl	Centrifugal	48	68
Wildschut et al. (15)	Meropenem	Centrifugal	3	11
Wildschut et al. (15)	Midazolam	Centrifugal	3	36
Raffaeli et al. (84)	Midazolam	Centrifugal	24	40
Nasr et al. (110)	Midazolam	Centrifugal	48	26
Wildschut et al. (15)	Morphine	Centrifugal	3	68
Raffaeli et al. (84)	Morphine	Centrifugal	24	51
Nasr et al. (110)	Morphine	Centrifugal	48	4
Wildschut et al. (15)	Paracetamol	Centrifugal	3	56
Gillogly et al. (114)	Paracetamol	Roller	6	0
Raffaeli et al. (84)	Paracetamol	Centrifugal	24	49
Raffaeli et al. (84)	Sufentanil	Centrifugal	24	83
Wildschut et al. (15)	Vancomycin	Centrifugal	3	33

All experiments were reported to be performed on new and blood-primed circuits, based on hollow-fiber membrane oxygenators. Sample site is pre-membrane.

syndrome (PRIS) (138) call for caution in the prolonged use of this drug during neonatal ECMO.

α₂-Adrenergic Agonists

Clonidine use and prescription during neonatal and pediatric ECMO is supported by a recent population PK study, which suggested higher clonidine doses, based on the increase of Vd and Cl in the specific setting of ECMO and renal replacement therapy (115). Limited *in vitro* data are available for dexmedetomidine, which is partially sequestered into the circuit: a LD may be required, although recommendations for its long-term use cannot be provided (81).

DISPOSITION OF ANTIMICROBIAL AND ANTIVIRAL DRUGS DURING NEONATAL ECMO

Infection remains a real threat for critically-ill neonates on ECMO, with an incidence rate of 5.4 and 5.7% in respiratory and cardiac runs, and reduced survival to 51 and 19%, respectively (34). A timely and adequate antimicrobial therapy is therefore pivotal to improve outcomes (139). However, the goal to provide optimal antibiotic therapy is impaired by the ECMO-induced PK changes, which can be only partially predicted, based on current knowledge on drug-circuit-patient interaction (**Figure 1**) (13, 15, 103). Moreover, antimicrobial prescribing is further complicated by the lack of clinical titratable endpoints (103). Therefore, PK and PD remain the best available predictors of antimicrobial efficacy. Pending evidence-based pharmacotherapy guidelines, neonates on ECMO are still at risk

of sub-optimal antibiotic exposure, contributing to treatment failure and bacterial resistance (26). In this section we will summarize current evidence of antimicrobial bioavailability on contemporary neonatal ECMO circuits (**Tables 2–4**) (4, 15, 92, 116, 118, 121–133).

Beta-Lactams

Beta-lactams are hydrophilic time-dependent antimicrobials, with a variable degree of protein binding and renal elimination (150). Their killing activity is strictly related to the time the unbound drug is above the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC). The knowledge of ECMO-related PK changes is limited in novel circuitry and further complicated by the well-known instability (i.e., temperature) of this class of antibiotics (151). Based on *in vitro* observations, ampicillin showed a moderate loss in older silicon-based neonatal systems (92). The impact of contemporary circuits on cefotaxime seems negligible (15).

Although the Vd of cefotaxime was increased during ECMO, Cl was comparable to the one of non-ECMO neonates (121). Based on a neonatal PK study, standard dosing regimen of cefotaxime during ECMO provided supra-MIC plasma levels (121). Therefore, given the large therapeutic window of cefotaxime, dose adjustments are usually not needed.

Broad-spectrum carbapenem agents, such as meropenem, may be required over the neonatal ECMO course (139). The impact of the ECMO circuit on drug disposition consists of a moderate drug sequestration (15), larger Vd, and higher clearance (152). The latter factor is magnified when renal replacement therapy is added to the circuit design (122).

B
ffa
₽.
<u>P</u>
<u>a</u>

References

		_		-	neonates	ECMO	
Benzodiazepine	Midazolam	3.89	97	In vitro: moderate sequestration Clinical PK: Increased Vd	Loading dose 50-150 mcg/kg Maintenance dose 10-60 mcg/kg/h	Consider increasing the loading dose in the early phase of ECMO. Beware of drug/metabolites accumulation over time.	(15, 84, 93, 108, 109, 117, 118)
x ₂ -adrenergic	Dexmedetomidine	3.39	94	In vitro: moderate sequestration	Loading dose 1 mcg/kg	Although sparse, data suggest the need for a	(81, 110, 118)
agonist				No clinical PK	Maintenance dose 0.2–0.7 mcg/kg/h	loading dose.	
	Clonidine	1.59	20–40	Clinical PK: increased Vd and clearance in a population PK study of ECMO with CVVH	Maintenance dose 0.1–1 mcg/kg/h	Although sparse, data suggest the need for higher doses.	(115, 118)
Opioid analgesics	Morphine	0.99	30–40	In vitro: mild to moderate drug loss in contemporary ECMO systems	Loading dose 100 mcg/kg	Analgesic of choice during ECMO at most centers. Minimal dose adjustment may be required.	(15, 84, 91, 118, 119)
				Clinical PK studies (older circuits): no changes	Maintenance dose 10-40 mcg/kg/h		
	Fentanyl	4.12	80–85	In vitro: high drug loss	Loading dose 0.5–3 mcg/kg	Consider alternative drugs. Consider increasing	(15, 83, 84,
				Clinical PK: need for higher doses	Maintenance dose 0.5–2 mcg/kg/h	the dose, when used for procedural analgesia	93, 118)
	Sufentanil	3.4	NA	In vitro: high drug loss	(Pediatric dosage) Loading dose 0.25–2 mcg/kg	Limited data for dosing recommendations.	(84, 118, 120)
				No clinical PK available	Maintenance dose 0.5–1.5 mcg/kg/h		
Anesthetic phenolic derivative)	Propofol	3.79	95–99	<i>In vitro</i> : high drug loss No clinical PK available	Bolus 2.5 mg/kg	Drug-related toxicity, propofol-related infusion syndrome PRIS call for caution in the use of propofol during neonatal ECMO	(93, 118)
Non-opioid	Paracetamol	0.51	25	In vitro: conflicting data	7.5 mg/kg/6h	Limited data for dosing recommendations.	(15, 84, 114,
analgesics				No clinical PK.			118)
o-Lactam	Ampicillin	1.35	15–30	In vitro: increased Vd, low-moderate drug sequestration	50–70 mg/kg/8 h	Standard dosing, given the large therapeutic window.	(92, 118)
				No clinical PK			
	Cefotaxime	-1.4	35	In vitro: low drug sequestration in contemporary systems	Postnatal age < 7 days: 100–150 mg/kg/day in 2 or 3 doses	Standard dosing; perform TDM to verify adequate supra-MIC levels.	(15, 118, 121)
				Clinical PK: standard dosing is effective	Postnatal age 7–28 days: 150–200 mg/kg/day in 3 or 4 doses		
	Meropenem	-0.69	92	In vitro: large increase in Vd and low-moderate drug loss	Postnatal age < 7 days: 20 mg/kg every 12 h	Standard dosing. Perform TDM to verify adequate supra-MIC levels. Consider higher dosing or continuous infusion in case of increased clearance	(15, 118, 122)
				Clinical PK: increased Vd and increased Cl, in ECLS $+ \mbox{ RRT}$	Postnatal age 7–28 days:20 mg/kg every 8 h Meningitis: 40 mg/kg every 8 h	or RRT.	
Glycopeptide	Vancomycin	-1.4	50	<i>In vitro</i> : large increase in Vd, minimal to moderate loss Conflicting clinical PK data in contemporary circuits, in terms of impact on Cl	Postnatal age < 7 days: 10–15 mg/kg every 8/12 h >7 days: 15 mg/kg every 6/8 h	Dosing guidelines based on age and renal clearance. Suggested dose in neonates: 25 mg/kg/dose every 12–24 h. TDM for dosing monitoring and adjustement.	(3, 15, 92, 118, 123– 125)

Standard dosing in critically ill term

Dosing recommendation for neonates on

TABLE 3 | Summary of drug physicochemical properties, ECMO-induced PK changes, and drug dosing.

LogP PB% ECMO-related PK changes

Medication

Drug class

(Continued)

Pharmacotherapy in Neonatal ECMO

Drug class	Medication	LogP PB%	5% ECMO-related PK changes	Standard dosing in critically ill term neonates	Dosing recommendation for neonates on ECMO	References
Aminoglycoside Gentamicin	e Gentamicin	-3.1 0-30	30 <i>In vitro</i> : increased Vd, reduced Cl. Low drug sequestration	Term neonates with normal renal function: 3.5–5 mg/kg every 24h	Dosing guidelines based on age and renal clearance. Initial dose 2.5 mg/kg/dose every 18 h, subsequent doses individualized through TDM. Once ECMO is discontinued, dosage should be readjusted according to body water shifts.	(3, 118, 126– 129)
Antiviral	Oseltamivir	1.3 3	NA	3 mg/kg/dose every 12h, orally	Standard dosing	(118, 130, 131)
Azole anti-fungal	Fluconazole	0.5 11	0.5 11–12 <i>In vitro</i> : minimal sequestration PK-PD study available	Prophylaxis: 3 mg/kg every 72 h	Loading dose 12 mg/kg followed by 6 mg/kg/die	(118, 132, 133)

Raffaeli et al

Glycopeptides

Vancomycin is a hydrophilic time-dependent antimicrobial, largely used in the NICUs for treatment of Gram-positive infections (118, 153). Given the narrow therapeutic window and the risk of nephrotoxicity, the PK profile of vancomycin has been extensively evaluated both *in vitro* and *in vivo* neonatal settings since the 90's (154–156). Vancomycin Cl is strictly related to renal function (155, 157) and the drug half-life was found to be prolonged in ECMO patients (156). However, these findings referred to older roller pump-based systems. Although data on contemporary circuits are limited, recent neonatal PK studies have revealed enhanced Cl, potentially leading to under-exposure (123). An empiric dosing strategy of 25–30 mg/kg/dose every 12–24 h is suggested, with a close therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) (125).

Continuous vancomycin infusions were found to be associated with earlier and improved attainment of target concentrations compared to the intermittent modality in neonates, with no difference in terms of adverse effects (158). However, no evidence is available for the optimal infusion modality during ECMO.

Another glycopeptide antimicrobial which may be used during neonatal ECMO is teicoplanin. Although specific neonatal data of teicoplanin disposition in the extracorporeal setting are lacking, the evidence from an adult PK study suggests the need for higher doses during ECMO (159). In this prospective population PK evaluation, the predictive target attainment was reduced during ECMO for every simulated dosing, despite the Vd was lower and Cl was not affected by the extracorporeal circuit (159). Based on the hydrophilic profile of the drug, the hemodilution and protein binding could be addressed as the main drivers for teicoplanin disposition on ECMO (159).

Aminoglycosides

Gentamicin is a hydrophilic antimicrobial with a relatively low protein binding, largely used in the NICUs for the treatment of infections due to Gram-negative bacteria (118, 153). During ECMO, gentamicin has been found to have an increased Vd, as a result of the large exogenous blood volume for circuit priming and decreased Cl, leading to a prolonged elimination half-life (4, 126, 128). The renal dysfunction, which is a common multifactorial condition during ECMO, may be considered as the main determinant of the prolonged elimination half-life of gentamicin (72). Given the concentrationdependent antimicrobial activity of aminoglycosides, it is highly recommended to perform TDM to ensure adequate antimicrobial exposure.

Antivirals

Oseltamivir is a neuraminidase inhibitor of both type A and B influenza virus (160). This drug is approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for the treatment of children older than 2 weeks of age with flu (130, 161). Oseltamivir is an oral pro-drug which is rapidly converted to oseltamivir carboxylate, the active metabolite (150, 160). Based on previous pediatric PK ECMO case series, the impact of ECMO on oseltamivir disposition is negligible with no need for dosing adjustment

FABLE 3 Continued



(131). However, oral bioavailability was reported to decrease in patients with impaired gastric motility and enteral absorption (131). Although evidence in the neonatal setting is scant, adult data support the lack of effect of ECMO on the oseltamivir's PK (162, 163).

FROM FRAGMENTED DATA TO INTEGRATED KNOWLEDGE

Obviously, also in neonates and children on ECMO, pharmacotherapy is a very important tool in the medical management. As a result of the large PK-PD variability, drug dosing is only to a very limited extent validated in the setting of neonatal ECMO (164). Methodological development within the field of clinical pharmacology and modeling should assist ECMO physicians to improve our practices. The other way around, modelers will need the data to get this job done.

A knowledge-driven improvement strategy necessitates sufficient understanding of human developmental biology to subsequently translate such knowledge into prediction differences in drug absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion (PK). Only once this PK is sufficiently well covered, an appreciation of the developmental aspects of drug-receptor or -target interactions (PD) can be considered. Physiologicallybased PK (PBPK) modeling is such a structured approach to translate knowledge into prediction, but the development of such modeling techniques necessitates the collaboration of clinicians with researchers specifically skilled in modeling techniques (165). PBPK approaches provide a potent systematic way to make the most of already acquired knowledge (physiology, system knowledge) to adapt drug dosing to the needs of children on ECMO, as has recently been illustrated for fluconazole (166).

The aim is not to describe the workflow and technical details related to the development of pediatric or neonatal PBPK model (167, 168), but to illustrate how ECMO physicians and clinical researchers can contribute to improved ECMO-related pharmacotherapy in neonates and children by generating data on ECMO related (patho)-physiology, including aspects related to the initial indication to initiate ECMO, and by sharing PK datasets and data on neonatal and pediatric equipment.

PBPK Methodology

In essence, PBPK is a structured method for data integration, hypothesis testing and knowledge generation (167, 168). Moreover, one may check consistency of data obtained from different sources (*in vitro*, *in vivo*, *in silico*) or predict outcome (PK, PD) of future experiments, hereby enabling decision making or optimization of study design. PBPK ("so-called bottomup") applies mathematical models for mechanistic integration of pharmacology principles, assumptions, and data along the drug development process. It hereby integrates different types of information, such as clinical data and *in silico*, *in vitro*, and *in vivo* observations. PBPK hereby explicitly discriminates between physiological properties of the population (system parameters, like cardiac output, renal function, liver size, weight, plasma protein, different between populations) and compound specific

References	Compound	Protein binding*	pKa*	Comments
Pokorna et al. (140)	Phenobarbital	20-45%	8.14 (acid)	Hepatic, mostly via CYP2C19
Cies et al. (123)	Vancomycin	50%	2.99 (acid)	Mainly by renal route, renal transporters likely involved
			9.93 (basic)	
Kleiber et al. (115)	Clonidine	20-40%	8.16 (basic)	Renal (about 50%) and hepatic (about 50%), including CYP2D6
Niimi et al. (141)	Anti-thrombin	n.a.	n.a.	Protein, no specific elimination routes described
Watt et al. (132)	Fluconazole	11-12%	12.71 (acid)	Renal (90%) and hepatic (10%)
			2.56 (basic)	
Ahsman et al. (117)	Midazolam	97%	6.57 (basic)	Intestinal and hepatic metabolism, CYP3A
Ahsman et al. (121)	Cefotaxime	n.a.	3.18 (acid)	Renal elimination (20–40%) and metabolism (desacetyl derivative is the major metabolite)
			4.15 (basic)	
Ahsman et al. (142)	Sildenafil	96%	7.29 (acid)	Hepatic metabolism, CYP3A4 $> 2C9$
			5.97 (basic)	
Kendrick et al. (143)	Amiodarone	>96%	8.47 (basic)	Almost exclusively hepatic, CYP2B8
Peters et al. (144)	Morphine	30–40%	10.92 (acid)	90% hepatic, glucuronidation >> demethylation
			9.12 (basic)	
Mulla et al. (145)	Theophylline	40%	7.82 (acid)	Hepatic metabolism, demethylation, hydroxylation and N-methylation (CYP1A2) to caffeine
			-0.78 (basic)	
Wells et al. (146)	Ranitidine	15%	8.08 (basic)	N-oxidation is the most relevant metabolite
Aebi et al. (147)	Ribavirin	n.a.	11.88 (acid)	(de)phosphorylation
			-1.2 (basic)	
Wells et al. (148)	Bumetanide	97%	4.69 (acid)	45% primary renal, oxidation 55%
			2.7 (basic)	
Bhatt-Metha et al. (129)	Gentamicin	Low, 0–30%	12.55 (acid)	Primary renal, by glomerular filtration
			10.18 (basic)	
Pokorna et al. (149)	Sufentanil	79–93% (alpha-acid glycoprotein)	8.86 (basic)	Hepatic, oxidative N-, and O-dealkylation

TABLE 4 Overview of the Pubmed (ecmo, newborn, pharmacokinetics, n = 72) search on pharmacokinetics of 16 different compounds.

*Data on protein binding and pKa values were retrieved on www.drugbank.ca [CYP, cytochrome P450; n.a., not available/applicable].

(chemical, pH, solubility) properties, not different between populations (**Figure 2**). Using this approach, it has applications in drug development for first-in-human, first-in-child, or first in ECMO-patients, and became an established tool for drug development and regulatory needs, like e.g., data in cases with hepatic or renal impairment, drug-drug or drug-food interactions to avoid the need to recruit an impossible number of patients with very specific issues while still have sufficient confidence in the dosing regimens. The final intention is to generate dosing recommendations, or alternatively, simulations to subsequently conduct PK studies, as highlighted in **Figure 2** for the specific ECMO setting ([#]).

Why ECMO Physicians and Clinical Researchers Are Needed to Develop Such Models

As illustrated in **Figure 2**, the workflow to develop and build confidence in PBPK models tailored to neonatal and pediatric ECMO pharmacotherapy necessitates availability of *in vivo* PK

data (*), data on disease state (**), and on ECMO circuit parameters (***), and this is exactly why clinicians should become aware of the usefulness of such data beyond compound specific relevance (164, 165, 167, 168).

Availability of in vivo PK Dataset (*, Figure 2)

To illustrate that there are indeed already quite some compound specific PK observations, we conducted a structured search in PubMed on 15 January 2019 with [*ECMO*, *newborn*, and *pharmacokinetics*] as search terms. This resulted in 72 hits, and additional search with "infant" resulted in 79 hits, but no additional compounds. The results of this search are provided in **Table 4**, reporting on the compounds (n = 16) retrieved and supported by the most recent reference (115, 117, 121, 123, 132, 140–149). From a PBPK perspective, it is important to realize that these compounds are quite different when we consider protein binding, pKa (reflecting the chemical characteristics of the compound) and can be used to evaluate and optimize a variety of elimination routes, including renal, phase 1, and phase 2 processes: a perfect mix to validate



the models. So PK data sharing and collaboration is an obvious need, since the data already exist and can be used to predict PK for drugs not yet evaluated or even not yet marketed (169).

Data on Disease State (**, Figure 2)

Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation is a technique to treat life threatening conditions, so data on these underlying disease conditions are also needed to further develop ECMO related P'BPK models: it's is not just the technique, but also the reason for the technique that matters. To illustrate the feasibility to integrated (patho) physiology, we refer to PBPK models for carvedilol in children with cardiac failure (170) or intensive care adult patients with hypo-albuminemia (171). In the neonatal and pediatric ECMO, perinatal asphyxia, sepsis, or post resuscitation are common settings. It has been proven that disease affects drug PK (refer to previous section on pre-ECMO disease) (37, 67). Besides such observations, clinical researchers should also consider to build multi-center datasets (as part of the ongoing ELSO registry initiatives) on interand intra-patient trends of "real world" data. We hereby refer to trends in fluid retention, albumin, creatinine, heart rate, and cardiac output, energy expenditure or more specific issues like alfa-1 glycoprotein (Table 4). This is because such datasets can further feed and improve PBPK prediction, including intra-patient trends with time (8, 172). This has also recently been illustrated for e.g., alfa-1 glycoprotein maturation (173).

Data on ECMO Circuit Parameters (***)

Finally, equipment matters and data on newer extracorporeal technology need to be considered. PBPK modeling will generate further knowledge, which may guide both the development of new ECMO devices and the refinement of current technology at a biomedical engineering level.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation has an established role in the care of critically ill neonates. The exposure to the extracorporeal circuit impacts on drugs' disposition, potentially leading to undertreatment or toxicity, especially for drugs with a narrow therapeutic index. Non-maturational determinants (such as asphyxia/hypoxia, sepsis/SIRS, MODS) during pre-ECMO predetermine large Vd for hydrophilic drugs due to the underlying disease, while superimposed ECMO may lead to larger Vd for lipophilic and, to a lesser extent, hydrophilic drugs. Therefore, LD adjustment may be recommended to achieve optimal drug levels in neonates on ECMO. CL is influenced by renal (hydrophilic, high renal clearance drugs) and/or hepatic functions (lipophilic, high liver clearance drugs) under sepsis, asphyxia and treatment modalities (HT, ECMO), and optimal maintenance dose adjustment should be achieved on an individual basis (development, disease, genetics). Therefore, TDM is suggested to optimize LD/MD in these critically ill neonates. As drug dosing needs to be guided by PK or PD or PK/PD principles, the understanding of PK-PD changes during (pre-) ECMO will assist in the prescribing optimization and, eventually, contribute to improve patients' outcomes.

In this review we have provided an overview of the available evidence on the impact of both maturational and non-maturational determinants of PK in critically-ill neonates on ECMO. We subsequently have discussed the relevance of these determinants on the disposition of analgo-sedatives and antimicrobial and antiviral drugs during neonatal ECMO. Future efforts should be directed toward a more integrated approach, by combining existing knowledge to predict PK profile. *Sparse samplings* of three different periods (pre-, during, post-ECMO) may be adopted to better understand dynamically changing drug disposition. Further *PK in vivo/in vitro studies* will provide insights into the role of contemporary ECMO systems superimposed on maturational/non-maturational determinants.

Gathered knowledge into the maturational physiology-, illness-, and ECMO-related PK impact should be used to inform *PBPK modeling*, which is emerging as an alternative and powerful tool to provide bedside dosing guidance. Lastly, *a prospective validation of PK/PD studies* is needed by well conducted clinical trials to optimize dosing.

The final aim will be to apply pharmacotherapy in a goaldirected fashion, by reaching optimal PD outcomes through

REFERENCES

- Bartlett RH, Gazzaniga AB, Jefferies MR, Huxtable RF, Haiduc N, Fong S. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) cardiopulmonary support in infancy. ASAIO J. (1976) 22:80–92.
- Bahrami KR, Van Meurs KP. ECMO for neonatal respiratory failure. Semin Perinatol. (2005) 29:15–23. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2005.02.004
- Slutsky AS, Ranieri VM. Ventilator-induced lung injury. N Engl J Med. (2013) 369:2126–36. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1208707
- Buck ML. Pharmacokinetic changes during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: implications for drug therapy of neonates. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2003) 42:403–17. doi: 10.2165/00003088-200342050-00001
- Lequier L. Extracorporeal life support in pediatric and neonatal critical care: a review. J Intensive Care Med. (2004) 19:243–58. doi: 10.1177/0885066604267650
- Blumenthal D, Brunton LL, Buxton IL, Parker KL. Goodman & Gilman's Manual of Pharmacology and Therapeutics. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill (2008).
- Katzung BG, Trevor AJ. Basic & Clinical Pharmacology. New York, NY: Lange Medical Books/McGraw-Hill (2004).
- Allegaert K, Simons SH, Tibboel D, Krekels EH, Knibbe CA, van den Anker JN. Non-maturational covariates for dynamic systems pharmacology models in neonates, infants, and children: filling the gaps beyond developmental pharmacology. *Eur J Pharm Sci.* (2017) 109: S27–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2017.05.023
- Allegaert K, van den Anker JN. Clinical pharmacology in neonates: small size, huge variability. *Neonatology*. (2014) 105:344–9. doi: 10.1159/000360648
- Kearns GL, Abdel-Rahman SM, Alander SW, Blowey DL, Leeder JS, Kauffman RE. Developmental pharmacology—drug disposition, action, and therapy in infants and children. N Engl J Med. (2003) 349:1157–67. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra035092
- van den Anker J, Reed MD, Allegaert K, Kearns GL. Developmental changes in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. J Clin Pharmacol. (2018) 58:S10–25. doi: 10.1002/jcph.1284

the *individualization* of the prescription, thus maximizing the therapeutical benefits in these vulnerable patients.

AUTHOR'S NOTE

PP and DT represent the section of Pharmacology of the European Society of Pediatric and Neonatal Intensive Care (ESPNIC).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed conception and design of the article. GR wrote the first draft of the manuscript. PP, KA, and DT wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript critical revision, read and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

PP was supported by a project MH CZ–DRO–VFN64165 and by project Progress–Charles University in the Czech Republic and by an unrestricted research grant of the Intensive Care of the Erasmus MC–Sophia Children's Hospital, Rotterdam, The Netherlands.

- Roberts JA, Kumar A, Lipman J. Right dose, right now: customized drug dosing in the critically ill. *Crit Care Med.* (2017) 45:331–6. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000002210
- Shekar K, Roberts JA, Mcdonald CI, Fisquet S, Barnett AG, Mullany DV, et al. Sequestration of drugs in the circuit may lead to therapeutic failure during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Crit Care.* (2012) 16:R194. doi: 10.1186/cc11679
- Shekar K, Roberts J, McDonald C, Ghassabian S, Anstey C, Wallis SC, et al. Protein-bound drugs are prone to sequestration in the extracorporeal membrane oxygenation circuit: results from an *ex vivo* study. *Crit Care.* (2015) 19:164. doi: 10.1186/s13054-015-0891-z
- Wildschut ED, Ahsman MJ, Allegaert K, Mathot RA, Tibboel D. Determinants of drug absorption in different ECMO circuits. *Intensive Care Med.* (2010) 36:2109–16. doi: 10.1007/s00134-010-2041-z
- Bartelink IH, Rademaker CM, Schobben AF, van den Anker JN. Guidelines on paediatric dosing on the basis of developmental physiology and pharmacokinetic considerations. *Clin Pharmacokinet.* (2006) 45:1077–97. doi: 10.2165/00003088-200645110-00003
- Ehrnebo M, Agurell S, Jalling B, Boreus L. Age differences in drug binding by plasma proteins: studies on human foetuses, neonates and adults. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* (1971) 3:189–93. doi: 10.1007/BF00565004
- Friis-Hansen B. Water distribution in the foetus and newborn infant. Acta Pædiatrica. (1983) 72:7–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.1983.tb09852.x
- Allegaert K, Mian P, N van den Anker J. Developmental pharmacokinetics in neonates: maturational changes and beyond. *Curr Pharm Design*. (2017) 23:5769–78. doi: 10.2174/1381612823666170926121124
- Euteneuer JC, Kamatkar S, Fukuda T, Vinks AA, Akinbi HT. Suggestions for model-informed precision dosing to optimize neonatal drug therapy. J Clin Pharmacol. (2019) 59:168–76. doi: 10.1002/jcph.1315
- Allegaert K, Cosaert K, van den Anker JN. Neonatal formulations: the need for a tailored, knowledge driven approach. *Curr Pharm Design*. (2015) 21:5674–79. doi: 10.2174/1381612821666150901110207
- Bone RC, Sibbald WJ, Sprung CL. The ACCP-SCCM consensus conference on sepsis and organ failure. *Chest.* (1992) 101:1481–4. doi: 10.1378/chest.101.6.1481

- Bodenham A, Shelly M, Park G. The altered pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of drugs commonly used in critically ill patients. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (1988) 14:347–73. doi: 10.2165/00003088-198814060-00003
- De Cock RF, Piana C, Krekels EH, Danhof M, Allegaert K, Knibbe CA. The role of population PK-PD modelling in paediatric clinical research. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* (2011) 67 (suppl. 1):5–16. doi: 10.1007/s00228-009-0782-9
- 25. Shekar K, Roberts JA, Welch S, Buscher H, Rudham S, Burrows F, et al. ASAP ECMO: antibiotic, sedative and analgesic pharmacokinetics during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a multi-centre study to optimise drug therapy during ECMO. *BMC Anesthesiol.* (2012) 12:29. doi: 10.1186/1471-2253-12-29
- Di Nardo M, Wildschut ED. Drugs pharmacokinetics during veno-venous extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in pediatrics. *J Thorac Dis.* (2018) 10 (suppl. 5):S642–52. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.11.02
- Boucher BA, Wood GC, Swanson JM. Pharmacokinetic changes in critical illness. Crit Care Clin. (2006) 22:255–71. doi: 10.1016/j.ccc.2006.02.011
- Carter BS, Haverkamp AD, Merenstein GB. The definition of acute perinatal asphyxia. *Clin Perinatol.* (1993) 20:287–304. doi: 10.1016/S0095-5108(18)30394-4
- Azzopardi DV, Strohm B, Edwards AD, Dyet L, Halliday HL, Juszczak E, et al. Moderate hypothermia to treat perinatal asphyxial encephalopathy. N Engl J Med. (2009) 361:1349–58. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0900854
- Jacobs SE, Berg M, Hunt R, Tarnow-Mordi WO, Inder TE, Davis PG. Cooling for newborns with hypoxic ischaemic encephalopathy. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2013) CD003311. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003311.pub3
- Chhavi N, Zutshi K, Singh NK, Awasthi A, Goel A. Serum liver enzyme pattern in birth asphyxia associated liver injury. *Pediatr Gastroenterol Hepatol Nutr.* (2014) 17:162–9. doi: 10.5223/pghn.2014.17.3.162
- Martin-Ancel A, Garcia-Alix A, Gaya F, Cabanas F, Burgueros M, Quero J. Multiple organ involvement in perinatal asphyxia. *J Pediatr.* (1995) 127:786– 93. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(95)70174-5
- 33. Shah P, Riphagen S, Beyene J, Perlman M. Multiorgan dysfunction in infants with post-asphyxial hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. (2004) 89:F152–5. doi: 10.1136/fn.89.2.F152
- ELSO Registry Report. International Summary January 2019. Available online at: https://www.elso.org (accessed March 30, 2019).
- 35. Reiterer F, Resch E, Haim M, Maurer-Fellbaum U, Riccabona M, Zobel G, et al. Neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation due to respiratory failure: a single center experience over 28 years. *Front Pediatr.* (2018) 6:263. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00263
- 36. Cornell TT, Selewski DT, Alten JA, Askenazi D, Fitzgerald JC, Topjian A, et al. Acute kidney injury after out of hospital pediatric cardiac arrest. *Resuscitation*. (2018) 131:63–8. doi: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2018.07.362
- 37. Cristea S, Smits A, Kulo A, Knibbe CAJ, van Weissenbruch M, Krekels EHJ, et al. Amikacin pharmacokinetics to optimize dosing in neonates with perinatal asphyxia treated with hypothermia. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother.* (2017) 61:e01282-17. doi: 10.1128/AAC.01282-17
- Van Den Anker JN, Van Der Heijden BJ, Hop WC, Schoemaker RC, Broerse HM, Neijens HJ, et al. The effect of asphyxia on the pharmacokinetics of ceftazidime in the term newborn. *Pediatr Res.* (1995) 38:808–11. doi: 10.1203/00006450-199511000-00028
- 39. Bijleveld YA, de Haan TR, van der Lee HJ, Groenendaal F, Dijk PH, van Heijst A, et al. Altered gentamicin pharmacokinetics in term neonates undergoing controlled hypothermia. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* (2016) 81:1067–77. doi: 10.1111/bcp.12883
- Bijleveld YA, Mathôt R, van der Lee JH, Groenendaal F, Dijk PH, van Heijst A, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of amoxicillin in term neonates undergoing moderate hypothermia. *Clin Pharmacol Therapeut.* (2018) 103:458–67. doi: 10.1002/cpt.748
- 41. Bijleveld YA, de Haan TR, van der Lee JH, Groenendaal F, Dijk PH, van Heijst A, et al. Evaluation of a system-specific function to describe the pharmacokinetics of benzylpenicillin in term neonates undergoing moderate hypothermia. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother.* (2018) 62:e02311-17. doi: 10.1128/AAC.02311-17
- Hinderling PH, Hartmann D. The pH dependency of the binding of drugs to plasma proteins in man. *Therapeut Drug Monitor*. (2005) 27:71–85. doi: 10.1097/00007691-200502000-00014

- van den Broek MP, Groenendaal F, Egberts AC, Rademaker CM. Effects of hypothermia on pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics: a systematic review of preclinical and clinical studies. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2010) 49:277– 94. doi: 10.2165/11319360-000000000-00000
- Zanelli S, Buck M, Fairchild K. Physiologic and pharmacologic considerations for hypothermia therapy in neonates. J Perinatol. (2011) 31:377–86. doi: 10.1038/jp.2010.146
- Zhou J, Poloyac SM. The effect of therapeutic hypothermia on drug metabolism and response: cellular mechanisms to organ function. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol.* (2011) 7:803–16. doi: 10.1517/17425255.2011.574127
- 46. Pokorna P, Wildschut ED, Vobruba V, van den Anker JN, Tibboel D. The impact of hypothermia on the pharmacokinetics of drugs used in neonates and young infants. *Curr Pharmaceut Design*. (2015) 21:5705–24. doi: 10.2174/1381612821666150901110929
- 47. Wildschut ED, de Wildt SN, Mathot RA, Reiss IK, Tibboel D, Van den Anker J. Effect of hypothermia and extracorporeal life support on drug disposition in neonates. *Semin Fetal Neonatal Med.* (2013) 18:23–7. doi: 10.1016/j.siny.2012.10.002
- Shellhaas RA, Ng CM, Dillon CH, Barks JD, Bhatt-Mehta V. Population pharmacokinetics of phenobarbital in infants with neonatal encephalopathy treated with therapeutic hypothermia. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2013) 14:194– 202. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e31825bbbc2
- 49. van den Broek MP, Groenendaal F, Toet MC, van Straaten HL, van Hasselt JG, Huitema AD, et al. Pharmacokinetics and clinical efficacy of phenobarbital in asphyxiated newborns treated with hypothermia: a thermopharmacological approach. *Clin Pharmacokinet.* (2012) 51:671–9. doi: 10.1007/s40262-012-0004-y
- Völler S, Flint RB, Stolk LM, Degraeuwe PLJ, Simons SHP, Pokorna P, et al. Model-based clinical dose optimization for phenobarbital in neonates: an illustration of the importance of data sharing and external validation. *Eur J Pharmaceut Sci.* (2017) 109S:S90–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2017.05.026
- Pokorná P, Posch L, Šíma M, Klement P, Slanar O, van den Anker J, et al. Severity of asphyxia is a covariate of phenobarbital clearance in newborns undergoing hypothermia. *J Maternal Fetal Neonatal Med.* (2019) 32:2302–9. doi: 10.1080/14767058.2018.1432039
- Róka A, Melinda KT, Vásárhelyi B, Machay T, Azzopardi D, Szabó M. Elevated morphine concentrations in neonates treated with morphine and prolonged hypothermia for hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy. *Pediatrics.* (2008) 121:e844–9. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-1987
- 53. Smits A, Kulo A, van den Anker J, Allegaert K. The amikacin research program: a stepwise approach to validate dosing regimens in neonates. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol.* (2017) 13:157–66. doi: 10.1080/17425255.2017.1234606
- 54. Filippi L, la Marca G, Cavallaro G, Fiorini P, Favelli F, Malvagia S, et al. Phenobarbital for neonatal seizures in hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy: a pharmacokinetic study during whole body hypothermia. *Epilepsia*. (2011) 52:794–801. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.02978.x
- 55. Filippi L, la Marca G, Fiorini P, Poggi C, Cavallaro G, Malvagia S, et al. Topiramate concentrations in neonates treated with prolonged whole body hypothermia for hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy. *Epilepsia.* (2009) 50:2355–61. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2009.02302.x
- 56. de Haan TR, Bijleveld YA, van der Lee JH, Groenendaal F, van den Broek MP, Rademaker CM, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of medication in asphyxiated newborns during controlled hypothermia. The PharmaCool multicenter study. *BMC Pediatr.* (2012) 12:45. doi: 10.1186/1471-2431-12-45
- Wynn JL. Defining neonatal sepsis. Curr Opin Pediatr. (2016) 28:135–40. doi: 10.1097/MOP.0000000000315
- Goldstein B, Giroir B, Randolph A, International Consensus Conference on Pediatric S. International pediatric sepsis consensus conference: definitions for sepsis and organ dysfunction in pediatrics. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2005) 6:2–8. doi: 10.1097/01.PCC.0000149131.72248.E6
- Bestati N, Leteurtre S, Duhamel A, Proulx F, Grandbastien B, Lacroix J, et al. Differences in organ dysfunctions between neonates and older children: a prospective, observational, multicenter study. *Crit Care.* (2010) 14:R202. doi: 10.1186/cc9323

- Renton KW. Regulation of drug metabolism and disposition during inflammation and infection. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol.* (2005) 1:629– 40. doi: 10.1517/17425255.1.4.629
- Udy AA, Roberts JA, Lipman J. Implications of augmented renal clearance in critically ill patients. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2011) 7:539. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2011.92
- Udy AA, Roberts JA, Boots RJ, Paterson DL, Lipman J. Augmented renal clearance. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2010) 49:1–16. doi: 10.2165/11318140-000000000-00000
- Hobbs AL, Shea KM, Roberts KM, Daley MJ. Implications of augmented renal clearance on drug dosing in critically ill patients: a focus on antibiotics. *Pharmacotherapy*. (2015) 35:1063–75. doi: 10.1002/phar.1653
- 64. Dhont E, Van Der Heggen T, De Jaeger A, Walle JV, De Paepe P, De Cock PA. Augmented renal clearance in pediatric intensive care: are we undertreating our sickest patients? *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2018):1–15. doi: 10.1007/s00467-018-4120-2
- Avedissian SN, Bradley E, Zhang D, Bradley JS, Nazer LH, Tran TM, et al. Augmented renal clearance using population-based pharmacokinetic modeling in critically ill pediatric patients. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2017) 18:e388–94. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000001228
- 66. van den Anker JN, Knibbe CA, Tibboel D. Augmented renal clearance in critically III pediatric patients: does it impact the outcome of pharmacotherapy? *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2017) 18:901–2. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000001264
- Vet NJ, de Hoog M, Tibboel D, de Wildt SN. The effect of inflammation on drug metabolism: a focus on pediatrics. *Drug Discov Today*. (2011) 16:435. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2011.02.014
- Varghese JM, Roberts JA, Lipman J. Antimicrobial pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic issues in the critically ill with severe sepsis and septic shock. *Crit Care Clin.* (2011) 27:19–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ccc.2010.09.006
- Shah S, Barton G, Fischer A. Pharmacokinetic considerations and dosing strategies of antibiotics in the critically ill patient. *J Intensive Care Soc.* (2015) 16:147–53. doi: 10.1177/1751143714564816
- 70. De Paepe P, Belpaire FM, Buylaert WA. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic considerations when treating patients with sepsis and septic shock. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2002) 41:1135–51. doi: 10.2165/00003088-200241140-00002
- Dagan O, Klein J, Gruenwald C, Bohn D, Barker G, Koren G. Preliminary studies of the effects of extracorporeal membrane oxygenator on the disposition of common pediatric drugs. *Therapeut Drug Monitor*. (1993) 15:263–66. doi: 10.1097/00007691-199308000-00001
- De Cock PA, Allegaert K, Linakis MW, Sherwin CM. Antibiotic dosing in pediatric critically Ill patients. In: Antibiotic Pharmacokinetic/Pharmacodynamic Considerations in the Critically Ill. Singapore: Springer (2018). p. 239–63.
- Wildschut ED, Ahsman MJ, Houmes RJ, Pokorna P, de Wildt SN, Mathot RA, et al. Pharmacotherapy in neonatal and pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO). *Curr Drug Metab.* (2012) 13:767–77. doi: 10.2174/138920012800840383
- Rehder KJ, Turner DA, Bonadonna D, Walczak RJ, Rudder RJ, Cheifetz IM. Technological advances in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for respiratory failure. *Expert Rev Respir Med.* (2012) 6:377–84. doi: 10.1586/ers.12.31
- 75. ELSO. *Extracorporeal Life Support, The Red Book: The ELSO Red Book.* 5th ed. Ann Arbor, MI: Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (2017).
- Poole SK, Poole CF. Separation methods for estimating octanolwater partition coefficients. J Chromatogr B. (2003) 797:3–19. doi: 10.1016/j.jchromb.2003.08.032
- 77. Shekar K, Roberts JA, Barnett AG, Diab S, Wallis SC, Fung YL, et al. Can physicochemical properties of antimicrobials be used to predict their pharmacokinetics during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation? Illustrative data from ovine models. *Crit Care.* (2015) 19:437. doi: 10.1186/s13054-015-1151-y
- Himebauch AS, Kilbaugh TJ, Zuppa AF. Pharmacotherapy during pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a review. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol.* (2016) 12:1133–42. doi: 10.1080/17425255.2016.1201066
- 79. Park J, Shin DA, Lee S, Cho YJ, Jheon S, Lee JC, et al. Investigation of key circuit constituents affecting drug sequestration during

extracorporeal membrane oxygenation treatment. ASAIO J. (2017) 63:293–8. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000489

- Bhatt-Mehta V, Annich G. Sedative clearance during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Perfusion*. (2005) 20:309–15. doi: 10.1191/0267659105pf827oa
- Wagner D, Pasko D, Phillips K, Waldvogel J, Annich G. In vitro clearance of dexmedetomidine in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Perfusion*. (2013) 28:40–6. doi: 10.1177/0267659112456894
- Melchior RW, Sutton SW, Harris W, Dalton HJ. Evolution of membrane oxygenator technology for utilization during pediatric cardiopulmonary bypass. *Pediatr Health Med Therapeut.* (2016) 7:45. doi: 10.2147/PHMT.S35070
- Rosen DA, Rosen KR, Silvasi DL. *In vitro* variability in fentanyl absorption by different membrane oxygenators. *J Cardiothorac Anesth.* (1990) 4:332–5. doi: 10.1016/0888-6296(90)90041-D
- Raffaeli G, Allegaert K, Koch B, Cavallaro G, Mosca F, Tibboel D, et al. *In vitro* adsorption of analgosedative drugs in new extracorporeal membrane oxygenation circuits. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2018) 19:e251–8. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000001484
- Preston TJ, Hodge AB, Riley JB, Leib-Sargel C, Nicol KK. *In vitro* drug adsorption and plasma free hemoglobin levels associated with hollow fiber oxygenators in the extracorporeal life support (ECLS) circuit. *J Extra Corpor Technol.* (2007) 39:234–7.
- Tron C, Leven C, Fillåtre P, Maillard N, Nesseler N, Tattevin P, et al. Should we fear tubing adsorption of antibacterial drugs in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation? An answer for cephalosporins and carbapenems. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol.* (2016) 43:281–3. doi: 10.1111/1440-1681.12527
- Leven C, Fillâtre P, Petitcollin A, Verdier MC, Laurent J, Nesseler N, et al. *Ex vivo* model to decipher the impact of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation on beta-lactam degradation kinetics. *Therapeut Drug Monitor*. (2017) 39:180–4. doi: 10.1097/FTD.000000000000369
- Preston TJ, Ratliff TM, Gomez D, Olshove VE, Nicol KK, Sargel CL, et al. Modified surface coatings and their effect on drug adsorption within the extracorporeal life support circuit. *J Extra Corpor Technol.* (2010) 42:199.
- Silvetti S, Koster A, Pappalardo F. Do we need heparin coating for extracorporeal membrane oxygenation? New concepts and controversial positions about coating surfaces of extracorporeal circuits. *Artif Organs*. (2015) 39:176–9. doi: 10.1111/aor.12335
- Myers GJ, Voorhees C, Eke B, Johnstone R. The effect of Diprivan (propofol) on phosphorylcholine surfaces during cardiopulmonary bypass—an *in vitro* investigation. *Perfusion*. (2009) 24:349–55. doi: 10.1177/0267659109353819
- Peters JW, Anderson BJ, Simons SH, Uges DR, Tibboel D. Morphine metabolite pharmacokinetics during venoarterial extra corporeal membrane oxygenation in neonates. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2006) 45:705–14. doi: 10.2165/00003088-200645070-00005
- Mehta NM, Halwick DR, Dodson BL, Thompson JE, Arnold JH. Potential drug sequestration during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: results from an *ex vivo* experiment. *Intensive Care Med.* (2007) 33:1018–24. doi: 10.1007/s00134-007-0606-2
- Mulla H, Lawson G, von Anrep C, Burke MD, Upton DU, Firmin RK, et al. In vitro evaluation of sedative drug losses during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. Perfusion. (2000) 15:21–26. doi: 10.1177/026765910001500104
- 94. Shekar K, Fraser JF, Smith MT, Roberts JA. Pharmacokinetic changes in patients receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *J Crit Care*. (2012) 27:741.e749-18. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2012.02.013
- Pea F. Plasma pharmacokinetics of antimicrobial agents in critically ill patients. *Curr Clin Pharmacol.* (2013) 8:5–12. doi: 10.2174/157488413804810585
- Brink A. Hypoalbuminaemia and altered protein binding. In: Antibiotic Pharmacokinetic/Pharmacodynamic Considerations in the Critically III. Springer (2018). p. 73–99.
- 97. Koch-Weser J, Sellers EM. Binding of drugs to serum albumin. *N Engl J Med.* (1976) 294:311–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJM197602052940605
- Kozik DJ, Tweddell JS. Characterizing the inflammatory response to cardiopulmonary bypass in children. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2006) 81:S2347–54. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2006.02.073
- McILwain RB, Timpa JG, Kurundkar AR, Holt DW, Kelly DR, Hartman YE, et al. Plasma concentrations of inflammatory cytokines rise rapidly during

ECMO-related SIRS due to the release of preformed stores in the intestine. *Lab Invest.* (2010) 90:128–39. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2009.119

- 100. Millar JE, Fanning JP, McDonald CI, McAuley DF, Fraser JF. The inflammatory response to extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO): a review of the pathophysiology. *Crit Care.* (2016) 20:387. doi: 10.1186/s13054-016-1570-4
- 101. Raffaeli G, Ghirardello S, Passera S, Mosca F, Cavallaro G. Oxidative stress and neonatal respiratory extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Front Physiol.* (2018) 9:1739. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01739
- Peek GJ, Firmin RK. The inflammatory and coagulative response to prolonged extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. ASAIO J. (1999) 45:250– 63. doi: 10.1097/00002480-199907000-00003
- 103. Shekar K, Roberts JA, Ghassabian S, Mullany DV, Wallis SC, Smith MT, et al. Altered antibiotic pharmacokinetics during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: cause for concern? *J Antimicrob Chemother*. (2013) 68:726–27. doi: 10.1093/jac/dks435
- 104. Many M, Soroff H, Birtwell W, Giron F, Wise H, Deterling RA. The physiologic role of pulsatile and nonpulsatile blood flow: II. Effects on renal function. *Arch Surg.* (1967) 95:762–7. doi: 10.1001/archsurg.1967.01330170070009
- 105. Arnold JH, Truog RD, Orav EJ, Scavone JM, Hershenson MB. Tolerance and dependence in neonates sedated with fentanyl during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Anesthesiology*. (1990) 73:1136–40. doi: 10.1097/00000542-199012000-00011
- 106. Mulla H, Lawson G, Woodland E, Peek GJ, Killer H, Firmin RK, et al. Effects of neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation circuits on drug disposition. *Curr Therapeut Res.* (2000) 61:838–48. doi: 10.1016/S0011-393X(00)90010-9
- Leuschen MP, Willett LD, Hoie EB, Bolam DL, Bussey ME, Goodrich PD, et al. Plasma fentanyl levels in infants undergoing extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (1993) 105:885–91.
- Mulla H, McCormack P, Lawson G, Firmin RK, Upton DR. Pharmacokinetics of midazolam in neonates undergoing extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Anesthesiology.* (2003) 99:275–82. doi: 10.1097/00000542-200308000-00008
- Mulla H, Lawson G, Peek GJ, Firmin R, Upton DR. Plasma concentrations of midazolam in neonates receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *ASAIO J.* (2003) 49:41–47. doi: 10.1097/00002480-200301000-00007
- 110. Nasr VG, Meserve J, Pereira LM, Faraoni D, Brediger S, Goobie S, et al. Sedative and analgesic drug sequestration after a single bolus injection in an *ex vivo* extracorporeal membrane oxygenation infant circuit. *ASAIO J.* (2019) 65:187–91. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000793
- Suresh S, Anand K. Opioid tolerance in neonates: a state-of-the-art review. Pediatr Anesth. (2001) 11:511–21. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9592.2001.00764.x
- 112. Wildschut ED, Hanekamp MN, Vet NJ, Houmes RJ, Ahsman MJ, Mathot RA, et al. Feasibility of sedation and analgesia interruption following cannulation in neonates on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Intensive Care Med.* (2010) 36:1587–91. doi: 10.1007/s00134-010-1931-4
- 113. DeBerry BB, Lynch JE, Chernin JM, Zwischenberger JB, Chung DH. A survey for pain and sedation medications in pediatric patients during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Perfusion*. (2005) 20:139–43. doi: 10.1191/0267659105pf801oa
- Gillogly A, Kilbourn C, Waldvogel J, Martin J, Annich G, Wagner D. In vitro clearance of intravenous acetaminophen in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. Perfusion. (2013) 28:141–5. doi: 10.1177/0267659112467825
- 115. Kleiber N, Mathôt RA, Ahsman MJ, Wildschut ED, Tibboel D, Wildt SN. Population pharmacokinetics of intravenous clonidine for sedation during paediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation and continuous venovenous hemofiltration. Br J Clin Pharmacol. (2017) 83:1227–39. doi: 10.1111/bcp.13235
- Cies JJ, Moore WS, Giliam N, Low T, Enache A, Chopra A. Impact of *ex vivo* extracorporeal membrane oxygenation circuitry on daptomycin. *Perfusion*. (2018) 33:624–9. doi: 10.1177/0267659118781761
- 117. Ahsman MJ, Hanekamp M, Wildschut ED, Tibboel D, Mathot RA. Population pharmacokinetics of midazolam and its metabolites during venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in neonates. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2010) 49:407–19. doi: 10.2165/11319970-000000000-00000

- 118. Taketomo C, Hodding J, Kraus D. *Pediatric Dosage Handbook*. Hudson, OH: Lexi-Comp. Inc. (2010).
- Dagan O, Klein J, Bohn D, Koren G. Effects of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation on morphine pharmacokinetics in infants. *Crit Care Med.* (1994) 22:1099–101. doi: 10.1097/00003246-199407000-00008
- 120. Ziesenitz VC, Vaughns JD, Koch G, Mikus G, van den Anker JN. Pharmacokinetics of fentanyl and its derivatives in children: a comprehensive review. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2018) 57:125–49. doi: 10.1007/s40262-017-0569-6
- 121. Ahsman MJ, Wildschut ED, Tibboel D, Mathot RA. Pharmacokinetics of cefotaxime and desacetylcefotaxime in infants during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (2010) 54:1734–41. doi: 10.1128/AAC.01696-09
- 122. Cies JJ, Moore WS, Conley SB, Dickerman MJ, Small C, Carella D, et al. Pharmacokinetics of continuous infusion meropenem with concurrent extracorporeal life support and continuous renal replacement therapy: a case report. J Pediatr Pharmacol Therapeut. (2016) 21:92–97. doi: 10.5863/1551-6776-21.1.92
- 123. Cies JJ, Moore WS, Nichols K, Knoderer CA, Carella DM, Chopra A. Population pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamic target attainment of vancomycin in neonates on extracorporeal life support. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2017) 18:977–85. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0000000000 01250
- 124. An SH, Lee EM, Kim JY, sun Gwak H. Vancomycin pharmacokinetics in critically ill neonates receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Eur J Hosp Pharm.* (2019). doi: 10.1136/ejhpharm-2018-001720. [Epub ahead of print].
- 125. Moffett BS, Morris J, Galati M, Munoz F, Arikan AA. Population pharmacokinetics of vancomycin in pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2018) 19:973–80. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000001682
- 126. Munzenberger PJ, Massoud N. Pharmacokinetics of gentamicin in neonatal patients supported with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *ASAIO Trans.* (1991) 37:16–18. doi: 10.1097/00002480-199101000-00006
- 127. Moffett BS, Morris J, Galati M, Munoz FM, Arikan AA. Population pharmacokinetic analysis of gentamicin in pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Therapeut Drug Monitor*. (2018) 40:581–8. doi: 10.1097/FTD.000000000000547
- Southgate WM, DiPiro JT, Robertson AF. Pharmacokinetics of gentamicin in neonates on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (1989) 33:817–9. doi: 10.1128/AAC.33.6.817
- Bhatt-Mehta V, Johnson CE, Schumacher RE. Gentamicin pharmacokinetics in term neonates receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pharmacotherapy*. (1992) 12:28–32.
- 130. Kamal MA, Acosta EP, Kimberlin DW, Gibiansky L, Jester P, Niranjan V, et al. The posology of oseltamivir in infants with influenza infection using a population pharmacokinetic approach. *Clin Pharmacol Therapeut.* (2014) 96:380–9. doi: 10.1038/clpt.2014.120
- 131. Wildschut ED, De Hoog M, Ahsman MJ, Tibboel D, Osterhaus AD, Fraaij PL. Plasma concentrations of oseltamivir and oseltamivir carboxylate in critically ill children on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support. *PLoS ONE.* (2010) 5:e10938. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.00 10938
- 132. Watt KM, Benjamin DK, Cheifetz IM, Moorthy G, Wade KC, Smith PB, et al. Pharmacokinetics and safety of fluconazole in young infants supported with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2012) 31:1042–7. doi: 10.1097/INF.0b013e31825 d3091
- 133. Sherwin J, Heath T, Watt K. Pharmacokinetics and dosing of antiinfective drugs in patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a review of the current literature. *Clin Therapeut.* (2016) 38:1976–94. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2016.07.169
- Geiduschek JM, Lynn AM, Bratton SL, Sanders JC, Levy FH, Haberkern CM, et al. Morphine pharmacokinetics during continuous infusion of morphine sulfate for infants receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Crit Care Med.* (1997) 25:360–4. doi: 10.1097/00003246-199702000-00027

- Bauer TM, Ritz R, Haberthür C, Ha HR, Hunkeler W, Sleight AJ, et al. Prolonged sedation due to accumulation of conjugated metabolites of midazolam. *Lancet*. (1995) 346:145–7. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(95)91209-6
- Koren G, Crean P, Klein J, Goresky G, Villamater J, MacLeod S. Sequestration of fentanyl by the cardiopulmonary bypass (CPBP). *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* (1984) 27:51–56. doi: 10.1007/BF02395206
- 137. Franck LS, Vilardi J, Durand D, Powers R. Opioid withdrawal in neonates after continuous infusions of morphine or fentanyl during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Am J Crit Care.* (1998) 7:364.
- Kam P, Cardone D. Propofol infusion syndrome. Anaesthesia. (2007) 62:690– 701. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2044.2007.05055.x
- 139. Bizzarro MJ, Conrad SA, Kaufman DA, Rycus P. Infections acquired during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in neonates, children, and adults*. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2011) 12:277–81. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e3181e28894
- 140. Pokorná P, Šíma M, Vobruba V, Tibboel D, Slanar O. Phenobarbital pharmacokinetics in neonates and infants during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Perfusion*. (2018) 33 (suppl. 1):80–6. doi: 10.1177/02676591187 66444
- Niimi KS, Fanning JJ. Initial experience with recombinant antithrombin to treat antithrombin deficiency in patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. J Extra Corpor Technol. (2014) 46:84–90.
- 142. Ahsman MJ, Witjes BC, Wildschut ED, Sluiter I, Vulto AG, Tibboel D, et al. Sildenafil exposure in neonates with pulmonary hypertension after administration via a nasogastric tube. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. (2010) 95:F109–14. doi: 10.1136/adc.2009.168336
- 143. Kendrick JG, Macready JJ, Kissoon N. Amiodarone treatment of junctional ectopic tachycardia in a neonate receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. Ann Pharmacother. (2006) 40:1872–5. doi: 10.1345/aph. 1H148
- 144. Peters JW, Anderson BJ, Simons SH, Uges DR, Tibboel D. Morphine pharmacokinetics during venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in neonates. *Intensive Care Med.* (2005) 31:257–63. doi: 10.1007/s00134-004-2545-5
- 145. Mulla H, Nabi F, Nichani S, Lawson G, Firmin R, Upton DR. Population pharmacokinetics of theophylline during paediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. Br J Clin Pharmacol. (2003) 55:23–31. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2125.2003.01735.x
- 146. Wells TG, Heulitt MJ, Taylor BJ, Fasules JW, Kearns GL. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of ranitidine in neonates treated with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. J Clin Pharmacol. (1998) 38:402–7. doi: 10.1002/j.1552-4604.1998.tb04443.x
- 147. Aebi C, Headrick CL, McCracken GH Jr, Lindsay CA. Intravenous ribavirin therapy in a neonate with disseminated adenovirus infection undergoing extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: pharmacokinetics and clearance by hemofiltration. J Pediatr. (1997) 130:612–5. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(97)70246-4
- 148. Wells TG, Fasules JW, Taylor BJ, Kearns GL. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of bumetanide in neonates treated with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. J Pediatr. (1992) 121:974–80. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(05)80355-5
- 149. Pokorná P, Šíma M, Vobruba V, Bašková M, Posch L, Slanar O. Sufentanil pharmacokinetics in a full-term neonate treated with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a case report. *Perfusion*. 2019:0267659118824011. doi: 10.1177/0267659118824011
- 150. Wishart DS, Knox C, Guo AC, Cheng D, Shrivastava S, Tzur D, et al. DrugBank: a knowledgebase for drugs, drug actions and drug targets. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2008) 36 (suppl. 1):D901–6. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkm958
- 151. Wyatt RG, Okamoto GA, Feigin RD. Stability of antibiotics in parenteral solutions. *Pediatrics.* (1972) 49:22–29.
- 152. Cies JJ, Moore WS, Dickerman MJ, Small C, Carella D, Chopra A, et al. Pharmacokinetics of continuous-infusion meropenem in a pediatric patient receiving extracorporeal life support. *Pharmacotherapy*. (2014) 34:e175–9. doi: 10.1002/phar.1476
- Tripathi N, Cotten CM, Smith PB. Antibiotic use and misuse in the neonatal intensive care unit. *Clin Perinatol.* (2012) 39:61–68. doi: 10.1016/j.clp.2011.12.003

- Hoie EB, Swigart SA, Leuschen MP, Willett LD, Bolam DL, Goodrich PD, et al. Vancomycin pharmacokinetics in infants undergoing extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Clin Pharm.* (1990) 9:711–5.
- 155. Amaker RD, DiPiro JT, Bhatia J. Pharmacokinetics of vancomycin in critically ill infants undergoing extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. (1996) 40:1139–42. doi: 10.1128/AAC.40.5.1139
- Buck ML. Vancomycin pharmacokinetics in neonates receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pharmacotherapy*. (1998) 18:1082–6.
- Mulla H, Pooboni S. Population pharmacokinetics of vancomycin in patients receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. Br J Clin Pharmacol. (2005) 60:265–75. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.2005.02432.x
- 158. Gwee A, Cranswick N, McMullan B, Perkins E, Bolisetty S, Gardiner K, et al. Continuous versus intermittent vancomycin infusions in infants: a randomized controlled trial. *Pediatrics.* (2019) 143:e20182179. doi: 10.1542/peds.2018-2179
- 159. Wi J, Noh H, Min KL, Yang S, Jin BH, Hahn J, et al. Population pharmacokinetics and dose optimization of teicoplanin during venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (2017) 61:e01015–17. doi: 10.1128/AAC.01015-17
- 160. Karadag-Oncel E, Ceyhan M. Oseltamivir in neonates, infants and young children: a focus on clinical pharmacology. *Infect Disord Drug Targets*. (2013) 13:15–24. doi: 10.2174/18715265112129990004
- 161. Food and Drug Administration. *Tamiflu (oseltamivir phosphate) Information.* Available online at: https://www.fda.gov/drugs/postmarketdrug-safety-information-patients- and-providers/tamiflu-oseltamivirphosphate-information (accessed May 2, 2019).
- 162. Eyler RF, Heung M, Pleva M, Sowinski KM, Park PK, Napolitano LM, et al. Pharmacokinetics of oseltamivir and oseltamivir carboxylate in critically ill patients receiving continuous venovenous hemodialysis and/or extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pharmacotherapy*. (2012) 32:1061–9. doi: 10.1002/phar.1151
- 163. Lemaitre F, Luyt CE, Roullet-Renoleau F, Nieszkowska A, Zahr N, Corvol E, et al. Impact of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation and continuous venovenous hemodiafiltration on the pharmacokinetics of oseltamivir carboxylate in critically ill patients with pandemic (H1N1) influenza. *Therapeut Drug Monitor*. (2012) 34:171–5. doi: 10.1097/FTD.0b013e318248672c
- 164. Zeilmaker GA, Pokorna P, Mian P, Wildschut ED, Knibbe CAJ, Krekels EHJ, et al. Pharmacokinetic considerations for pediatric patients receiving analgesia in the intensive care unit; targeting postoperative, ECMO and hypothermia patients. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Oxicol.* (2018) 14:417–28. doi: 10.1080/17425255.2018.1461836
- 165. Smits A, De Cock P, Vermeulen A, Allegaert K. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modeling and simulation in neonatal drug development: how clinicians can contribute. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol.* (2019) 15:25–34. doi: 10.1080/17425255.2019.1558205
- 166. Watt KM, Cohen-Wolkowiez M, Barrett JS, Sevestre M, Zhao P, Brouwer KLR, et al. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic approach to determine dosing on extracorporeal life support: fluconazole in children on ECMO. *CPT*. (2018) 7:629–37. doi: 10.1002/psp4.12338
- 167. Michelet R, Bocxlaer JV, Vermeulen A. PBPK in preterm and term neonates: a review. Curr Pharm Design. (2017) 23:5943–54. doi: 10.2174/1381612823666171009143840
- 168. Yellepeddi V, Rower J, Liu X, Kumar S, Rashid J, Sherwin CM. Stateof-the-art review on physiologically based pharmacokinetic modeling in pediatric drug development. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2018) 58:1–13. doi: 10.1007/s40262-018-0677-y
- 169. Anderson BJ, Merry AF. Data sharing for pharmacokinetic studies. Pediatr Anesth. (2009) 19:1005–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2009.03051.x
- 170. Rasool MF, Khalil F, Läer S. A Physiologically based pharmacokinetic drug-disease model to predict carvedilol exposure in adult and paediatric heart failure patients by incorporating pathophysiological changes in hepatic and renal blood flows. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2015) 54:943–62. doi: 10.1007/s40262-015-0253-7
- 171. T'jollyn H, Vermeulen A, Van Bocxlaer J, Colin P. A physiologically based pharmacokinetic perspective on the clinical utility of albumin-based dose

adjustments in critically ill patients. Clin Pharmacokinet. (2018) 57:59–69. doi: 10.1007/s40262-017-0549-x

- 172. Coppini R, Simons SH, Mugelli A, Allegaert K. Clinical research in neonates and infants: challenges and perspectives. *Pharmacol Res.* (2016) 108:80–7. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2016. 04.025
- 173. Maharaj AR, Gonzalez D, Cohen-Wolkowiez M, Hornik CP, Edginton AN. Improving pediatric protein binding estimates: an evaluation of α 1-acid glycoprotein maturation in healthy and infected subjects. *Clin Pharmacokinet.* (2018) 57:577–89. doi: 10.1007/s40262-017-0576-7

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Raffaeli, Pokorna, Allegaert, Mosca, Cavallaro, Wildschut and Tibboel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Anticoagulation in Neonatal ECMO: An Enigma Despite a Lot of Effort!

Katherine Cashen^{1*}, Kathleen Meert¹ and Heidi Dalton^{2,3}

¹ Division of Critical Care Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Children's Hospital of Michigan, Wayne State University, Detroit, MI, United States, ² Division of Critical Care Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, INOVA Heart and Vascular Institute, Inova Fairfax Medical Institute, Falls Church, VA, United States, ³ Department of Surgery, George Washington University, Washington, DC, United States

Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) is a valuable modality used to support neonates, children, and adults with cardiorespiratory failure refractory to conventional therapy. It requires use of anticoagulation to prevent clotting in the extracorporeal circuit. Balancing bleeding from excessive anticoagulation with thrombotic risk remains a difficult aspect of ECMO care. Despite many advances in ECMO technology, better understanding of the coagulation cascade and new monitoring schemes to adjust anticoagulation, bleeding and thrombosis remain the most frequent complications in ECMO and are associated with morbidity and mortality. In neonates, ECMO is also complicated by the immature hemostatic system, laboratory testing norms which are not specific for neonates, lack of uniformity in management, and paucity of high-quality evidence to determine best practices. Traditional anticoagulation focuses on the use of unfractionated heparin. Direct thrombin inhibitors are also used but have not been well-studied in the neonatal ECMO population. Anticoagulation monitoring is complex and currently available assays do not take into account thrombin generation or platelet contribution to clot formation. Global assays may add valuable information to guide therapy. This review provides an overview of hemostatic alterations, anticoagulation, monitoring and management, novel anticoagulant use, and circuit modifications for neonatal ECMO. Future considerations are also presented.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aparna Hoskote, Great Ormond Street Hospital, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Arno Van Heijst, Radboud University Medical Center, Netherlands Luregn J. Schlapbach, University of Queensland, Australia

*Correspondence:

Katherine Cashen kcashen@med.wayne.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neonatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 28 April 2019 Accepted: 21 August 2019 Published: 13 September 2019

Citation:

Cashen K, Meert K and Dalton H (2019) Anticoagulation in Neonatal ECMO: An Enigma Despite a Lot of Effort! Front. Pediatr. 7:366. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00366 Keywords: extracorporeal membrane oxygenation, neonate, anticoagulation, hemostasis, monitoring, thrombosis, bleeding

INTRODUCTION

Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) is a valuable modality used to support neonates, children, and adults with cardiorespiratory failure refractory to conventional therapy. Neonatal ECMO has evolved over the past 50 years with more than 41,700 neonates undergoing this lifesaving modality (1). Survival in the neonatal ECMO population remains highest with 73% survival to hospital discharge in the respiratory cohort and 42% survival to discharge in the cardiac cohort (1). However, despite improvements in ECMO technology and institutional experience, bleeding and thrombosis remain significant complications and are associated with worse outcome (2–4). The most recent Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO) registry report found that 11% of neonates placed on ECMO for respiratory and cardiac indications suffered from an intracranial hemorrhage 7–26% suffered surgical site bleeding, and 1–2% had gastrointestinal hemorrhage. Neonates with bleeding complications had significantly increased mortality compared to neonates without bleeding complications (2). The Bleeding and Thrombosis During ECMO

65

(BATE) study performed by the Collaborative Pediatric Critical Care Research Network also found high rates of bleeding and thrombosis during neonatal ECMO. In the BATE study, 60–77% of neonates placed on ECMO for respiratory or cardiac indications suffered from bleeding events and 19–23% of these consisted of intracranial hemorrhage. Thrombotic events were recorded in 32–44% of the neonatal cohort. In the BATE study, 4–13% of these thrombotic events were patient-related (intracranial infarction, limb ischemia, aortopulmonary shunt clot, and other) and 25–40% were circuit-related. Both bleeding and thrombosis increased morbidity and mortality (3).

Titration of anticoagulation to limit bleeding and thrombosis remains challenging in neonates. The mechanisms of bleeding and thrombosis are complex and dynamic and involve multiple alterations in hemostatic factors. The developmental hemostatic system, increased risk for hemorrhage in the developing brain, heterogeneous disease processes that lead to initiation of ECMO, variability in anticoagulation strategies and lack of high-quality evidence to direct practice all contribute to the challenges in managing anticoagulation in the neonatal population. In this review, we provide an overview of developmental hemostasis, hemostatic alterations, anticoagulation, monitoring, management, and novel anticoagulant use as well as circuit modifications for neonatal ECMO.

DEVELOPMENTAL HEMOSTASIS

Hemostatic equilibrium involves both procoagulant and anticoagulant factors and evolves from fetal to adult life (5–9). Primary hemostasis which is dependent on platelet adhesion, activation, and aggregation is different in the neonatal period compared to the rest of childhood and adulthood. The platelet count of neonates is usually normal or elevated but platelet hyporeactivity is well-described (10–13). However, despite hyporeactive platelets the bleeding time and platelet closure time (a measure of platelet function) are shortened in neonates and do not normalize until the first month of life (11, 12). Higher levels of von Willebrand factor (VWF) and higher percentage of larger VWF multimers likely increase the adhesive activity of platelets in neonates despite the overall platelet hyporeactivity (11, 13, 14). Thus, in healthy neonates elevated VWF balances platelet hyporeactivity and normal hemostasis is maintained.

Secondary hemostasis which consists of the coagulation cascade and ultimately leads to the formation of fibrin factors is substantially different in neonates than adults. At birth, the plasma levels of most coagulation proteins are around half of those measured in adults. Prolonged prothrombin time (PT) and partial thromboplastin time (PTT) in neonates has been consistently reported (8, 9). Decreased anticoagulant factors including protein C and S, and antithrombin as well as decreased thrombin generation and reduced clot lysis have been reported in neonates (9, 15). In healthy neonates hemostatic equilibrium is maintained but in critically ill neonates on ECMO lack of reserve capacity and immaturity of the coagulation system interferes with this fine balance and disequilibrium with resultant bleeding or thrombosis is common.

HEMOSTATIC ALTERATIONS DURING ECMO-ECMO INDUCED COAGULOPATHY

The ECMO Circuit

The ECMO circuit consists of a mechanical blood pump, gas exchange devices, heat exchanger, tubing and cannulas. When blood is exposed to the non-biologic surfaces of the circuit, activation of the coagulation pathway and inflammatory response pathway occur (**Figure 1**). Exposure of blood to the non-endothelial surface of the extracorporeal tubing activates platelets, factor XII and kallikrein-kinin system, tissue factor, and von Willebrand factor, fibrinolysis and inflammation (16–20). Turbulent flow and shear stress from the pump, tubing, and cannula contributes to cellular damage and platelet activation. The continuous exposure of the blood to the non-endothelial surface shifts the normal hemostatic balance to a hypercoagulable state and requires systemic anticoagulation.

Our current understanding of the biomaterial interaction of the ECMO circuit and patient's blood involves surface contact and subsequent hemostatic activation. Fibrinogen binds to the ECMO circuit non-endothelial surfaces within minutes of contact followed by binding of coagulation factors, cellular adhesion and activation of platelets and polymorphonuclear (PMN) cells (21). Exposure of tissue factor and activation of circulating Factor VII then causes downstream thrombin generation. Activation of the complement system also leads to further activation of platelets and PMNs and increased adhesion and release of cytokines contributing to the pro-inflammatory hypercoagulable state (20–24).

To add even more complexity to the blood surface interaction some reports suggest distinct periods of activation in neonates. In the first 24 h of ECMO, contact activation and complement activation occur similar to the pattern of activation seen in



cardiopulmonary bypass. A second period of activation was observed 72 h after EMCO initiation and was characterized by clotting and fibrinolytic activity without activation of the complement system (25). Various strategies have been used to mitigate the contact and hemostatic activation of the ECMO surface and will be detailed in the management section.

Underlying Disease, Endothelial Dysfunction and Inflammation

The underlying disease process that leads to ECMO initiation plays an important role in ECMO induced coagulopathy. Neonates with a primary respiratory diagnosis such as meconium aspiration syndrome likely have very different coagulation profiles than neonates with sepsis or cardiac surgical patients who have undergone cardiopulmonary bypass. Thrombocytopenia also varies based on the pre-existing disease and platelet count prior to cannulation and may contribute to bleeding risk (26). On the other hand, continuous activation of the coagulation system during ECMO may lead to ongoing consumption of platelets and coagulation factors and contribute to a prothrombotic state.

Endothelial dysfunction during neonatal ECMO is also due to both the underlying disease process leading to ECMO initiation and the ECMO circuit itself (27-29). Damaged endothelium via expression of tissue factor activates procoagulant factors and contributes to ECMO induced coagulopathy (28-31). Critically ill neonates often have a generalized inflammatory response and associated coagulopathy. Underlying illness may lead to a hypercoagulable state or a hypocoagulable state and contributes to immune dysfunction and endothelial dysfunction and subsequent consumption of hemostatic factors (32-34). Many of the molecular mechanisms by which inflammation contributes to excessive activation of the coagulation cascade have been delineated and the cross-talk between innate inflammation and coagulation is well-described (35). This cross-talk between the systems may lead to unopposed amplification of the coagulation cascade in the setting of ongoing inflammation and may result in a hypercoagulable state and contribute to tissue damage and thrombosis.

Thrombin Generation

Thrombin is a key enzyme in coagulation that converts fibrinogen to fibrin, activates factor XIII, factor V, factor VIII, factor XI and activates platelets. Thrombin generation also occurs when endothelial injury causes exposure of tissue factor to factor VII (30). Thrombin has a large array of functions and formation occurs during different stages of hemostasis. Anticoagulation with unfractionated heparin (UFH) prevents clot formation but does not stop thrombin generation or coagulation within the circuit (36). Neonates show a persistent increase in thrombin generation and fibrinolysis activation despite anticoagulation in a distinctly different pattern than is seen with children and adults (37).

Platelet Activation and Von Willebrand Factor

Platelets adhere to the non-endothelial surfaces of the circuit and react with other activated components of the coagulation

and complement systems increasing the risk of thrombotic complications. Both quantitative and qualitative platelet dysfunction has been described during ECMO and is associated with bleeding and mortality (31, 38) Thrombocytopenia is common during ECMO and more pronounced in neonates than older children (26). Severe thrombocytopenia from platelet consumption may lead to ongoing platelet transfusion, associated multiple organ dysfunction, microthrombi formation and immune dysregulation (39, 40). Platelets are also activated by shear stress from flow through the ECMO cannulas which is associated with decreased expression of platelet adhesion and structural molecules (41). Platelet microparticles, small circulating fragments of platelet plasma membranes, are produced by platelets during periods of shear stress and participate in thrombus formation (42). Platelet microparticles are increased in neonatal ECMO systems in vivo but no study to date has demonstrated that platelet microparticles contribute to a prothrombotic state in vitro (43).

Von Willebrand Factor (VWF) is a plasma glycoprotein that binds to FVIII, platelet surface glycoproteins and connective tissue. VWF forms a complex with FVIII that protects FVIII from degradation by activated protein C and localizes FVIII to sites of platelet plug and clot formation (44). Acquired VWF syndrome occurs during ECMO due to a loss of high molecular weight VWF multimers from shear stress. Disrupting VWF multimers is associated with increased bleeding complications (45, 46).

Additional Considerations

Hemolysis

Hemolysis measured by plasma free hemoglobin levels has been associated with increased morbidity and mortality during ECMO (47, 48). Increased hemolysis has been reported in neonates compared to older children likely due to increased shear stress from flow through smaller caliber cannulas, increased fetal red blood cells which show greater susceptibility to mechanical stress than adult red blood cells, and higher hemoglobin concentration in neonates with increased blood viscosity (47, 48). Of note, measurement of plasma free hemoglobin is not uniform across centers. When measured, hemolysis (plasma free hemoglobin >50 mg/dL) was present in over 50% of patients and was associated with need for subsequent ECMO component change within 3 days (3).

ANTICOAGULATION STRATEGIES

Unfractionated Heparin

Unfractionated heparin (UFH) remains the most commonly used anticoagulation agent during ECMO (49). UFH potentiates (up to 1,000 times) the anticoagulant effect of antithrombin III (ATIII) by forming a UFH-ATIII complex that inactivates free thrombin and prevents further thrombin generation. UFH also weakly inhibits factor Xa (50). UFH binds to endogenous plasma proteins or heparin binding proteins including platelet factor 4 and high molecular weight multimers of VWF (51). The advantages of UFH include its low cost, short half-life, reversibility, and familiarity with use. Other advantages of UFH are its non-anticoagulant effects. Heparin has anti-inflammatory properties, inhibits reactive oxygen species generation, has tissue repair and protection properties and cardiovascular protective effects (52, 53). While most ECMO research focuses on limiting heparin exposure, higher heparin infusion dose was associated with decreased daily plasma free hemoglobin levels in neonates and children and improved survival in several studies (47, 54). UFH protocols usually include a bolus loading dose of UFH (50–100 units/kg) followed by an UFH infusion (10–51 units/kg/h) titrated for activating clotting time (ACT)or Anti-factor Xa assay activity (54). But, again the major benefit of UFH is the rapid reversibility.

The disadvantages of UFH include pharmacokinetic alterations depending on disease severity, renal failure, and increased volume of distribution in neonates (55). Variation in patient response to fixed dosing in part due to heparin binding proteins and the subsequent reduced anticoagulant activity of UFH especially in the neonatal population. As heparin requires a specific polysaccharide sequence to bind to ATIII, variability in activity between manufactured batches also exists and may help explain the individual responses noted. Another problem is heparin resistance related to reliance on ATIII levels which are lower in critically ill children and neonates and UFH's inability to inhibit factor Xa bound to platelets (56). Evidence suggests that ATIII activity often decreases over time in children on ECMO (57-60). Many centers routinely replace ATIII in an attempt to maximize heparin effect. ATIII can be supplemented by transfusion of fresh frozen plasma or by infusing ATIII concentrates. But, ATIII concentrates are expensive and studies in the neonatal and pediatric population have found mixed results when ATIII supplementation is utilized (57-60). A recent large observational report (including 5,360 neonates) found that ECMO patients supplemented with ATIII had an increased number of thrombotic and hemorrhagic events and longer hospital length of stay with no difference in mortality (61). A limitation of this study was that the rate of complications was not adjusted for exposure or illness severity. At this time, clear recommendations and indications for ATIII supplementation are lacking and use should be judicious.

Another potential disadvantage of UFH is development of heparin induced thrombocytopenia (HIT), an immune mediated adverse drug reaction caused by antibodies to complexes of platelet factor 4 and heparin. The risk of thrombotic events and associated morbidity and mortality is high. A recent systematic review on HIT in children found seroconversion in 0-1.7% of neonates but no cases of neonatal HIT. This could be due to challenges in defining HIT in the neonatal population, lack of studies in this population, or that HIT is indeed rare in neonates. Thus, while this is a disadvantage of heparin use in adults and pediatric patients it should not be a major concern for neonatal ECMO (62).

Direct Thrombin Inhibitors

Direct thrombin inhibitors have been rarely used in neonatal ECMO patients. Direct thrombin inhibitors such as bivalrudin, argatroban, and lepirudin directly bind to active sites on

thrombin providing a greater reduction in thrombin compared to UFH. Direct thrombin inhibitors inhibit both free and bound thrombin, are ATIII independent, are not inhibited by platelet factor 4, and have more predictable dose effects because they do not bind to plasma proteins (63). Use of direct thrombin inhibitors are currently limited in children and reserved for those with allergy to UFH, HIT, and heparin resistance due to cost, safety and dosing concerns (31).

Of the direct thrombin inhibitors, bivalrudin has been utilized the most in the pediatric population but isolated reports of argatroban and lepirudin have been published. A handful of reports describe argatroban use in pediatric ECMO patients with HIT and are associated with good outcome (64-67). A prospective study of argatroban use in pediatrics as an alternative to UFH enrolled 18 pediatric patients and included 2 pediatric ECMO patients. Both of these patients had HIT and were treated with an initial bolus dose of $100 \,\mu$ g/kg followed by initial infusion of 2 µg/kg/min to reach a target ACT 180-220 (68). One of these patients died from progressive thrombosis and severe cardiac dysfunction during cardiac transplantation. In this report, argatroban in pediatric patients was used to achieve aPTT levels 1.5 to 3 times baseline with rapid achievement of therapeutic values however enrollment was limited, and complications persisted (68). Successful administration of lepirudin to treat HIT during ECMO has been reported in a 21-month-old child but two other children (a 15-year-old and a 4-year-old) ultimately died (69-71). In these studies, a lepirudin bolus dose was used ranging from 0.1 to 0.4 mg/kg loading dose followed by an infusion of 0.12 mg/kg/h and titrated in 0.01 mg/kg/h increments. Target aPTT levels were 1.5-2.5 times baseline values. Availability of lepirudin is currently limited.

The shorter half-life of bivalrudin (\sim 25 min) makes this agent more attractive compared to the longer half-life of argatroban (40 min) and lepirudin (78 min). Half-life may be increased in renal failure as roughly 20% is renally cleared while the remainder is degraded by proteases. Neonates compared to older children have more rapid clearance of bivalrudin and a lower average serum concentration than older children (72). Bivalrudin use and target aPTT and dosing is variable in reported case series of pediatric ECMO patients (72-74). Pediatric reports have used either no bolus or a small bolus of 0.5 mg/kg loading dose followed by an infusion of 0.05-0.15 mg/kg/h and targeting aPTT 1.5-2 times baseline (74-76). Others report a lower bolus 0.05-0.5 mg/kg loading dose followed by an infusion rate of 0.03-0.3 mg/kg/h and targeting aPTT 1.5-2.5 times baseline (54, 76). Ranucci and colleagues used bivalrudin in post-cardiotomy pediatric ECMO patients and reported less total blood loss and decreased transfusion needs (75). Direct thrombin inhibitor use is becoming standard in some centers, although little complete data on safety and efficacy is available in the literature except for single site reports.

Unlike UFH, direct thrombin inhibitors do not provide inhibition to the contact pathway which contributes to thrombus formation on ECMO (77). Safety and dosing concerns as well as lack of reversibility make direct thrombin inhibitors less attractive in the neonatal ECMO population as a first-line agent without additional systematic study.

Antiplatelet Agents

Platelet activation on ECMO is well-described however use of antiplatelet agents (aspirin, dipyridamole, clopidogrel) is rare (49). Experience from pediatric ventricular assist device (VAD) patients suggests that there may be utility in adding antiplatelet agents for anticoagulation. In the Berlin EXCOR Investigational Device Exemption trial the guideline for anticoagulation included use of aspirin, dipyridamole, and enoxaparin or warfarin (78). Although still substantial, pediatric VAD patients have decreased bleeding complications compared to pediatric ECMO patients and direct treatment comparisons to the neonatal ECMO population should not be made. In addition, thrombocytopenia is more pronounced in the neonatal ECMO population compared to older children. Neonates are at the highest risk for intracranial hemorrhage therefore antiplatelet agents are rarely used. This is another area in need of specific evaluation. Antihemostatic medications are shown in Table 1.

Circuit Modifications

In an attempt to mitigate the bleeding and thrombotic effects of ECMO, circuit modifications have been developed including surface modifications. Heparin-coated circuits are associated with reduced platelet, leukocyte and coagulation activation and decreased thrombin generation (79). Heparin-coated circuits were used by 59% of ECMO center respondents in a multicenter survey of ELSO centers (49). Nitric oxide embedded surfaces are also under development and are associated with local antiplatelet properties preventing platelet adhesion (80). Finally, modifications to the membrane oxygenator material and coating have also been made to decrease thrombotic risk. Newer generation oxygenators are made with polymethylpentene or polypropylene hollow fibers which are hydrophobic and allow gas exchange without allowing blood or protein absorption (80). The efficacy of surface coatings during prolonged ECMO runs is also unknown.

TABLE 1 | Antihemostatic agents. ATIII is antithrombin III, HIT is heparin induced thrombocytopenia, cAMP is cyclic adenosine monophosphate, ADP is adenosine diphosphate.

Drug	Mechanism of action	Onset of action	Half-life	Excretion	Pro	Con
Unfractionated Heparin	Potentiates the action of antithrombin III and inactivates thrombin (inactivates factors IXa, Xa, Xla, XIIa, and plasmin) and prevents the conversion of fibrinogen to fibrin	Immediate	Dose and age dependent: median 1.5 h, shorter in premature neonates	Renal, at therapeutic doses elimination occurs rapidly via non-renal mechanisms	Low cost, short half life, reversible	Variable patient response, variablility in activity, reliance on ATIII, HIT
DIRECT THRO	MBIN INHIBITORS					
Bivalrudin	Direct thrombin inhibitor	Immediate	25 min	Proteolysis 75–80%, Renal 20–25%	Not dependent on ATIII, inhibits free and bound thrombin, predictable dose effects, Used in HIT	No antidote, no inhibition to contact pathway
Argatroban		Immediate	39–51 min	Hepatic		No antidote, no inhibition to contact pathway
Lepirudin		Immediate	80 min	Renal		No antidote, no inhibition to contact pathway, unavailable
ANTIPLATELET	AGENTS					
Aspirin	Irreversibly inhibits cyclooxygenase-1 and 2 enzymes which results in decreased formation of prostaglandin precursors and inhibition of thromboxane A2	Immediate release, non-enteric coated platelet inhibition within 1 h	concentration 15–20 min, 3 h at lower	Renal	Familiarity of use	Gastritis, normal platelet function only returns when new platelets are released, Reye syndrome with prolonged high dose aspirin
Dipyridamole	Inhibits the uptake and metabolism of adenosine in platelets, endothelial cells and erythrocytes, inhibits platelet cAMP	Peak plasma concentrations ~2 h	Oral tablets: Biphasic; initial half life 40–80 min and terminal half life 10–12 h.		Mediates coronary vasodilation	Variable absorption from gastrointestinal tract, headache, vasodilation
Clopidogrel	Irreversible blockade of the ADP receptor on the platele surface		6-8 h	Hepatic		Bleeding, decrease in white blood cell count, irreversibly inhibits platelet aggregation, normal platelet function only returns when new platelets are released

ANTICOAGULATION MONITORING

Anticoagulation monitoring is extremely variable and remains controversial in ECMO patients (49). Assessing coagulation in critically ill neonates is complex and limited by inability to standardize testing across laboratories. Center specific anticoagulation protocols have been developed with mixed results and the ideal monitoring tool is unclear. Almost 97% of centers reported using the ACT with many centers sending additional anticoagulation testing. There is no widely accepted gold standard in anticoagulation and tests developed *in vitro* may not always represent *in vivo* phenomena. While anticoagulation monitoring is complex, the number of tests and frequency of testing should be determined based on the individual patient's needs and expertise at each center.

Activated Clotting Time (ACT) Values and Limitations

The ACT is available in real time and measures the time for whole blood to clot when activated by kaolin, celite or glass beads. ACT is a global functional test of hemostasis and is low cost. ACT is prolonged with anticoagulant use but can also be prolonged by hemodilution, hypothermia, decreased coagulation factor levels, elevated d-dimer, hypofibrinogenemia and thrombocytopenia. These conditions could overestimate heparin effect (16, 31). ELSO guidelines suggest a target ACT of 180–220 in uncomplicated ECMO patients.

Activated Partial Thromboplastin Time (APTT)

The aPTT is the time for recalcified, citrated, platelet poor plasma to clot when activated with an intrinsic pathway activator. Baseline aPTT is prolonged in neonates and aPTT levels are affected by coagulation factor deficiency, hyperbilirubinemia, hyperlipidemia, anti-phospholipid antibodies and elevated C reactive protein. Variances in laboratory methods for measurement between sites also complicates aPTT interpretation.

Anti-factor Xa Concentration Assay

Anti-Xa assay measures the inhibition of factor Xa by heparin in plasma. This test is more specific to the assessment of heparin effect because it is not affected by other coagulation proteins or platelets. Anti-Xa measures the UFH-ATIII complex levels not the UFH concentration. Some laboratories add ATIII to their Anti-Xa assays to normalize the ATIII levels. In neonatal patients with lower ATIII the addition of ATIII to the assay can significantly impact the results. So, for neonates Anti-Xa assays without added ATIII are preferable. However, levels can be affected by elevated hemoglobin level, plasma free hemoglobin, lipids, and bilirubin. More centers are using Anti-Xa assays as part of their anticoagulation protocols and most target levels 0.3-0.7 IU/mL (54). Anti-Xa assay has a better correlation to UFH dose than ACT to UFH dose (81). But, while Anti-Xa assays may provide advantages over other laboratory testing this value alone cannot be used to determine hemostatic potential and a multifactorial approach is needed.

TEG or ROTEM Guided Algorithm

Global assays of coagulation measure the viscoelastic properties of blood and can provide information on clot dynamics and fibrinolysis. Like the ACT, thromboelastography (TEG) and rotational thromboelastography (ROTEM) can be performed in real time which would be a major advantage. Unfortunately, many centers do not have these capabilities. These assays use an activator Kaolin or tissue factor and are affected by thrombocytopenia and coagulation factor deficiencies. TEG can detect deficiencies in hemostasis throughout the coagulation cascade and provide information regarding fibrinolysis. The measurements of TEG can provide information about initial clot formation (R time), clot acceleration (a angle), maximum clot strength (MA), and fibrinolysis (Ly30) (Figure 2). Therapeutic ranges in the neonatal population are not well-established but recent studies have attempted to determine optimal values to minimize bleeding and thrombosis (82).

Novel Global Assays

Novel global assays of coagulation may have an application in the neonatal ECMO population. Clot formation and lysis assay (CloFAL) a global measure of fibrinolysis, global fibrinolytic capacity (GFC) in whole blood, and the thrombin generation assay (measured by calibrated automated thrombogram-CAT) are all novel assays that have been applied in the research setting and have not been applied clinically to the ECMO population. The CAT seems promising because this plasma-based assay can be performed with and without platelets and may give important information about thrombin generation and risk of bleeding and thrombosis.

Different combinations of laboratory monitoring have been proposed with mixed results. Initial reports suggested decreased blood product use, decreased hemorrhagic complications, and increased circuit life in a pediatric population of ECMO patients after initiation of a comprehensive monitoring protocol (83). However, others have reported no difference in outcomes when comparing a complicated vs. simple monitoring strategy (84). In the era of increasingly complicated patients, using only one anticoagulation laboratory test is likely ill-advised but the frequency of testing and ideal combination of anticoagulation monitoring tests is still unclear in the neonatal ECMO population. The impact of iatrogenic blood loss is especially concerning in the neonatal population and evidence comparing the different anticoagulation measurements with the risk of blood loss is lacking. Use of one measure with whole blood and one with plasma effect may seem a reasonable approach.

MANAGEMENT

Bleeding

Bleeding events occurred in 77% of the neonatal cardiac patients and 60% of the neonatal respiratory patients in the BATE study and were associated with increased mortality (3). Management of bleeding depends on the site of bleeding and primary cause. Initial management includes decreasing anticoagulant dose and using blood product replacement based on known deficiencies (i.e., platelet transfusion for thrombocytopenia). Target levels



for hemoglobin, platelets, and fibrinogen may be changed in the setting of bleeding. In addition, acquired VWF deficiency and FXIII deficiency should be considered in bleeding patients with adequate fibrinogen and platelet counts. Cessation of anticoagulant use (mainly heparin) has also been employed, but the lower ECMO flow rates in neonates may make risk of circuit thrombosis higher than in older children and adults.

Antifibrinolytic agents like aminocaproic acid and tranexamic acid have been used to manage surgical site bleeding in pediatric patients. In pediatric ECMO patients, aminocaproic acid was associated with decreased incidence of surgical bleeding without an increase in thrombotic events (84). Tranexamic acid use was associated with decreased postoperative blood loss in infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia repair while on ECMO (85).

Recombinant activated Factor VII (rVIIa) and Prothrombin Complex Concentrate (PCC) have been used to treat severe refractory bleeding on ECMO in adult and pediatric patients. rVIIa forms complexes with tissue factor and binds to platelet surfaces to generate thrombin and is given in doses of 40-90 ug/kg intravenously and may be repeated every 1-4 h in repeated doses (54). Reports of decreased bleeding and reduced need for transfusion must be balanced with reports of fatal thrombosis (86-88). PCC contains factor II, VII, IX, and X and some contain protein C and S and doses of 25-50 IU/kg have been used in pediatric cardiac surgical patients (89). An adult case report describes fatal circuit thrombosis when a man was treated with rVIIa and PCC for refractory bleeding (90). rVIIa and PCC needs additional study for treatment of severe refractory bleeding during ECMO before recommendations can be made in neonates.

Thrombosis

Thrombotic events were recorded in 32% of neonates on ECMO for respiratory indications and 44% of neonates on ECMO for cardiac indications in the BATE study (3). Thrombus formation, reportedly occurs during periods of low ECMO flow, at sites

of stasis or turbulent flow, and during periods of inadequate anticoagulation (56). Thus, management first involves avoiding these states to prevent thrombosis. If thrombus formation has already occurred, then changing of circuit components may be necessary. Anticoagulation targets may be modified and if thrombotic events are ongoing or HIT is suspected then an alternate anticoagulant should be considered.

Transfusion Thresholds

The optimal threshold for transfusion of packed red blood cells, platelets, fresh frozen plasma, and cryoprecipitate are unknown with a paucity of data to guide clinical decision-making. Thresholds vary by center, location of ECMO care, and by clinical scenario. Multiple reports suggest that increased transfusion volume is associated with increased mortality (91, 92). Platelet transfusion thresholds are variable and volume of platelet transfusion is associated with mortality (26). While most centers focus on platelet count as the transfusion trigger, there is little to no data on platelet activity and associated platelet count in neonatal ECMO. Studies evaluating such associations and evaluating restrictive transfusion strategies are needed to guide therapy.

FUTURE STEPS

Additional Circuit Modifications

Research to develop fluid-repellent surfaces has been ongoing. This technology has been used to coat medical devices in the laboratory and in an animal model but has not been applied to the clinical setting (79). Endothelialization of ECMO surfaces via different techniques is another promising strategy currently being studied to inhibit thrombogenesis (79). Development of ECMO circuit modifications to prevent thrombosis and avoid bleeding associated with systemic anticoagulation could prevent many of the complications seen during ECMO.
Targeted Animal Studies

Factor XII-mediated activation and coagulation may contribute to thrombosis with biomaterial contact (92). Two studies in an animal model suggest that factor XII inhibition (via a monoclonal anti-factor XIIa antibody and a FXII inhibitor) decrease arterial and venous thrombus formation on ECMO but do not increase the rate of bleeding. Thus, this targeted therapy could decrease thrombotic risk without increased risk of bleeding and avoidance of systemic anticoagulation (92, 93).

Phenotyping and Genomics

One of the most perplexing aspects of ECMO is the fact that some patients with similar profiles, ECMO equipment, anticoagulation protocols and monitoring results bleed while others clot and others have neither complication. These facts suggest that individual variability may be important aspects in eliminating thrombotic risk and events. Genetic testing and variation in clotting and bleeding risk has been well-reported in multiple disease processes. In 1993, small endogenous nucleotides which were termed microRNAs (miRNAs) were identified as post-transcriptional regulators of gene expression. Further investigations have demonstrated that miRNAs are regulators of many biologic processes, including hemostatic function (94). miRNAs have been identified which affect many hemostatic factors in the coagulation cascade such as protein C and S production, tissue factor, platelets, fibrinogen and others. They have been shown to be associated with conditions of thrombosis, such as stroke and ischemic heart disease. Platelets, adams13, tissue factor, fibrinogen and proteins regulating fibrinolysis have all been suggested as important players in hemostasis during ECMO (95). The changes in miRNA production related to the hemostatic system on exposure to ECMO has not been evaluated, but establishing what changes in miRNA occur with ECMO may provide new data to develop these as biomarkers for thrombotic risk or even therapeutic intervention. The ability to determine what patients are most at risk for thrombosis may help tailor anticoagulation management, decrease or eliminate need for anticoagulation and improve outcomes. While promising, the connection between genetic variation and phenotypic expression in critically ill neonates on ECMO is not well-understood and needs further study.

CONCLUSION

Optimal anticoagulation in neonatal ECMO patients remains an enigma. Bleeding and thrombosis are common and involve multiple alterations in hemostatic factors. Neonatal anticoagulation is challenging due to the developmental hemostatic system, heterogeneous disease processes that lead to initiation of ECMO, variability in anticoagulation strategies and lack of high-quality evidence to direct practice. UFH remains the most commonly used systemic anticoagulant but there have been increasing reports of DTI use. Comprehensive

assessments of hemostasis using more than one of the currently available assays (ACT, anti-Xa, PT, aPTT) is still variable across centers and suboptimal in isolation because these tests do not take thrombin generation or platelet contribution to clot formation into account. Global assays (TEG/ROTEM, CloFAL, CAT) may improve our anticoagulation management but still need to be studied in the neonatal population. A combination of whole blood and plasma assessment has also been suggested as optimal for anticoagulation management but no gold standard algorithm has been universally developed or accepted. Standard treatments for bleeding and thrombosis are lacking and case reports and expert opinion guides management. Optimal transfusion thresholds are unknown. Pragmatic multicenter trials randomizing neonates to restrictive vs. standard transfusion therapies are needed with well-defined endpoints. Detailed observational studies focused on sites with low neonatal rates of thrombosis and bleeding should be considered in order to compare anticoagulation algorithms. Then, with a protocol to standardize circuitry, transfusion thresholds, laboratory testing and clearly defined thrombotic and bleeding complications a trial to compare "best practice" anticoagulation strategy should be initiated. Finally, ongoing studies to develop new circuit modifications and targeted thrombotic factor inhibition are promising. Multicenter research focused on standardized anticoagulation protocols, monitoring and treatment are needed to improve our care of neonatal ECMO patients. Genomic investigation offers an exciting new area of research to achieve the "Holy Grail" of eliminating thrombotic risk and need for anticoagulation during extracorporeal support.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KC wrote the manuscript draft and finalized changes after revision and approval. KM and HD revised, read, and approved final manuscript.

FUNDING

The authors are part of requested compilation of articles related to neonatal ECMO, no payment for this section is required. Dr. Cashen has no disclosures. Dr. Meert was supported in part by cooperative agreements from the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, National Institutes of Health, Department of Health and Human Services: U10HD050096, U10HD049981, U10HD049983, U10HD050012, U10HD063108, U10HD063106, U10HD063114, and U01HD049934. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health. Dr. Dalton received funding from Maquet and Innovative extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) Concepts, and she disclosed off-label product use of ECMO.

REFERENCES

- 1. Available online at: https://www.elso.org/Registry/Statistics/ InternationalSummary.aspx
- 2. Barbaro RP, Paden ML, Guner YS, Raman L, Ryerson LM, Alexander P, et al. Pediatric extracorporeal life support organization registry international report 2016. *ASAIO J.* (2017) 63:456–63. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000603
- Dalton HJ, Reeder R, Garcia-Filion P, Holubkov R, Berg RA, Zuppa A, et al. Factors associated with bleeding and thrombosis in children receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 196:762–71. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201609-1945OC
- Dalton HJ, Garcia-Filion P, Holubkov R, Moler FW, Shanley T, Heidemann S, et al. Association of bleeding and thrombosis with outcome in extracorporeal life support. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2015) 16:167–74. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000317
- Andrew M, Paes B, Milner R, Johnston M, Mitchell L, Tollefsen DM, et al. Development of the human coagulation system in the full-term infant. *Blood*. (1987) 70:165–72.
- Andrew M, Paes B, Milner R, Johnston M, Mitchell L, Tollefsen DM, et al. Development of the human coagulation system in the healthy premature infant. *Blood.* (1988) 72:1651–7.
- Andrew M, Vegh P, Johnston M, Bowker J, Ofosu F, Mitchell L. Maturation of the hemostatic system during childhood. *Blood.* (1992) 80:1998–2005.
- 8. Toulon P. Developmental hemostasis: laboratory and clinical implications. *Int J Lab Hem.* (2016) 38:66–77. doi: 10.1111/ijlh.12531
- Monagle P, Barnes C, Ignjatovic V, Furmedge J, Newall F, Chan A, et al. Developmental haemostasis. Impact for clinical haemostasis laboratories. *Thromb Haemost.* (2006) 95:362–72. doi: 10.1160/TH05-01-0047
- Strauss T, Sidlik-Muskatel R, Kenet G. Developmental hemostasis: primary hemostasis and evaluation of platelet function in neonates. *Semin Fetal Neonatal Med.* (2011) 16:301–4. doi: 10.1016/j.siny.2011.07.001
- Roschitz B, Sudi K, Kostenberger M, Muntean W. Shorter PFA-100 closure times in neonates than in adults: role of red cells, white cells, platelets and von Willebrand factor. *Acta Paediatr.* (2001) 90:664–70. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2001.tb02431.x
- Bednarek FJ, Bean S, Barnard MR, Frelinger AL, Michelson AD. The platelet hyporeactivity of extremely low birth weight neonates is age-dependent. *Thromb Res.* (2009) 124:42. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2008.10.004
- Deschmann E, Sola-Visner M, Saxonhouse MA. Primary hemostasis in neonates with thrombocytopenia. J Pediatr. (2014) 164:167–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.08.037
- Katz JA, Moake JL, McPherson PD, Weinstein MJ, Moise KJ, Carpenter RJ, et al. Relationship between human development and disappearance of unusually large von Willebrand factor multimers from plasma. *Blood.* (1989) 73:1851–6.
- Favaloro EJ, Lippi G. Translational aspects of developmental hemostasis: infants and children are not miniature adults and even adults may be different. *Ann Transl Med.* (2017) 5:212–6. doi: 10.21037/atm.2017.04.18
- Despotis GH, Avidans MS, Hogue CW Jr. Mechanisms and attenuation of hemostatic activation during extracorporeal circulation. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2001) 72:S1821–31. doi: 10.1016/S0003-4975(01)03211-8
- Eaton MP, Lannoli EM. Coagulation considerations for infants and children undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass. *Pediatr Anaesth.* (2001) 21:31–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2010.03467.x
- Annich G, Adachi I. Anticoagulation for pediatric mechanical circulatory support. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2013) 14:S37–42. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e318292dfa7
- Wan S, LeClerc JL, Vincent JL. Inflammatory response to cardiopulmonary bypass. Chest. (1997) 112:676–92. doi: 10.1378/chest.112.3.676
- Peek GJ, Firmin RK. The inflammatory and coagulative response to prolonged extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. ASAIO J. (1999) 45:250– 63. doi: 10.1097/00002480-199907000-00003
- Vroman L, Adams AL, Fisher GC, Munoz PC. Interaction of high molecular weight kininogen, factor XII, and fibrinogen in plasma at interfaces. *Blood.* (1980) 55:156–9.
- 22. Wendel HG, Ziemer G. Coating-techniques to improve the hemocompatibility of artificial devices used for extracorporeal

circulation. Eur J CardioThoracic Surg. (2011) 16:342–50. doi: 10.1016/S1010-7940(99)00210-9

- 23. Miller JE, Fanning JP, McDonald CI, McAuley DF, Fraser JF. The inflammatory response to extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO); a review of the pathophysiology. *Crit Care.* (2016) 20:1–10. doi: 10.1186/s13054-016-1570-4
- Doyle AJ, Hunt BJ. Current understanding of how extracorporeal membrane oxygenators activate haemostasis and other blood components. *Front in Med.* (2018) 5:352:1–9. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00352
- Plotz FB, van Oeveren W, Bartlett RH, Wildevuur CR. Blood activation during neonatal extracorporeal life support. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (1993) 105:823–32.
- Saini A, West AN, Harrell C, Jones TL, Nellis ME, Joshi AD, et al. Platelet transfusions in the PICU: Does Disease Severity Matter?. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2018) 19:e472–e78. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000001653
- Anderson HL III, Coran AG, Drongowski RA, Ha HJ, Bartlett RH. Extracellular fluid and total body water changes in neonates undergoing extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *J Pediatr Surg.* (1992) 27:1003–8. doi: 10.1016/0022-3468(92)90547-K
- Kelly RE, Phillips JD, Foglia RP, Bjerke HS, Barcliff LT, Petrus L, et al. Pulmonary edema and fluid mobilization as determinants of the duration of ECMO support. J Pediatr Surg. (1991) 26:1016–22. doi: 10.1016/0022-3468(91)90665-G
- Graulich J, Walzog B, Marcinkowski M, Bauer K, Kössel H, Fuhrmann G, et al. Leukocyte and endothelial activation in a laboratory model of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO). *Pediatr Res.* (2000) 48:679– 84. doi: 10.1203/00006450-200011000-00021
- Oliver WC. Anticoagulation and coagulation management for ECMO. Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesthes. (2009) 13:154–75. doi: 10.1177/1089253209347384
- Saini A, Spinella PC. Management of anticoagulation and hemostasis for pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Clin Lab Med.* (2014) 34: 655–73. doi: 10.1016/j.cll.2014.06.014
- Davies M, Hagen PO. Systemic inflammatory response syndrome. Br J Surg. (1997) 84:920–35. doi: 10.1002/bjs.1800840707
- 33. Tayama E, Hayashida N, Akasu K, Kosuga T, Fukunaga S, Akashi H, et al. Biocompatibility of heparin-coated extracorporeal bypass circuits: new heparin bonded bioline system. *Artif. Organs.* (2000) 24:618–23. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1594.2000.06615.x
- 34. Fortenberry JD, Bhardwaj V, Niemer P, Cornish JD, Wright JA, Bland L. Neutrophil and cytokine activation with neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. J Pediatr. (1996) 128:670–8. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(96)80133-8
- Foley JH, Conway EM. Cross talk pathways between coagulation and inflammation. *Circ Res.* (2016) 118:1392–408. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.306853
- Edmunds LH Jr, Colman RW. Thrombin during cardiopulmonary bypass. Ann Thorac Surg. (2006) 82:2315–22. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2006.06.072
- Hundalani SG, Nguyen KT, Soundar E, Kostousov V, Bomgaars L, Moise A, et al. Age-based difference in activation markers of coagulation and fibrinolysis in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2014) 15:e198–205. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000107
- Saini A, Hartman ME, Gage BF, Said A, Gazit AZ, Eghtesady P, et al. Incidence of platelet dysfunction by thromboelastography-platelet mapping in children supported with ECMO: a pilot retrospective study. *Front Pediatr.* (2016) 3:116. doi: 10.3389/fped.2015.00116
- Bochsen L, Johansson PI, Kristensen AT, Daugaard G, Ostrowski ST. The influence of platelets, plasma and red blood cells on functional haemostatic assays. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis*. (2011) 22:167–75. doi: 10.1097/MBC.0b013e3283424911
- Lukito P, Wong A, Jing J, Arthur JF, Marasco SF, Murphy DA, et al. Mechanical circulatory support is associated with loss of platelet receptors glycoprotein Ibα and glycoprotein VI. J Thromb Haemost. (2016) 14:2253–60. doi: 10.1111/jth.13497
- Italiano JE, Mairuhu ATA, Flaumenhaft R. Clinical relevance of microparticles from platelets and megakaryocytes. *Curr Opin Hematol.* (2010) 17:578–84. doi: 10.1097/MOH.0b013e32833e77ee

- Meyer AD, Gelfond JA, Wiles AA, Freishtat RJ, Rais-Bahrami K. Platelet-derived microparticles generated by neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation systems. ASAIO J. (2015) 1:37–42. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000164
- Peyvandi F, Garagiola I, Baronciani L. Role of von Willebrand factor in hemostasis. Blood Transfus. (2011) Suppl. 2:s3–8. doi: 10.2450/2011.002S
- Pasala S, Fiser RT, Stine KC, Swearingen CJ, Prodhan P. Von WIllebrand factor multimers in pediatric extracorporeal membrane support. ASAIO J. (2014) 60:419–23. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000084
- 45. Kubicki R, Stiller B, Siepe M, Beyersdorf F, Benk C, et al. Acquired von Willebrand syndrome in pediatric patients during mechanical circulatory support. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2019) 55:1194–1201. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezy408
- 46. Dalton HJ, Cashen K, Reeder RW, Berg RA, Shanley TP, Newth CJL, et al. Hemolysis during pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: associations with circuitry, complications, and mortality. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2018) 19:1067–76. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000001709
- Lou S, MacLaren G, Best D, Delzoppo C, Butt W. Hemolysis in pediatric patients receiving centrifugal-pump extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: prevalence, risk factors, and outcomes. *Crit Care Med.* (2014) 42:1213–20. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000000128
- Bembea MM, Annich G, Rycus P, Oldenburg G, Berkowitz I, Pronovost P. Variability in anticoagulation management of patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: an international survey. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2013) 14:e77–84. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e31827127e4
- Hirsh J, Anand SS, Halperin JL, Fuster V. Mechanism of action and pharmacology of unfractionated heparin. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. (2001) 21:1094–6. doi: 10.1161/hq0701.093686
- Weitz JI. Low molecular weight heparins. N Engl J Med. (1997) 10:688–98. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199709043371007
- Wildhagen KC, García de Frutos P, Reutelingsperger CP, Schrijver R, Aresté C, Ortega-Gómez A, et al. Nonanticoagulant heparin prevents histone-mediated cytotoxicity *in vitro* and improves survival in sepsis. *Blood.* (2014) 123:1098– 101. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-07-514984
- Cassinelli G, Naggi A. Old and new applications of nonanticoagulant heparin. *Int J Cardiol.* (2016) 212(Suppl. 1):S14–21. doi: 10.1016/S0167-5273(16)12004-2
- Baird CW, Zurakowski D, Robinson B, Gandhi S, Burdis-Koch L, Tamblyn J, et al. Anticoagulation and pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: impact of activating clotting time and heparin on survival. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2007) 83:912–20. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2006.09.054
- Bridges BC, Ranucci M, Lequier LL. "Anticoagulation and disorders of haemostasis," In: Brogan RV, Lequier L, Lorusso R, MacLaren G, Peek G, editors. *Extracorporeal Life Support: The ELSO Red Book 5th ed.* Ann Arbor, MI: ELSO (2017). p. 93–103.
- Vieira A, Berry L, Ofosu F, Andrew M. Heparin sensitivity and resistance in the neonate: an explanation. *Thromb Res.* (1991) 63:85–98. doi: 10.1016/0049-3848(91)90272-X
- Griffith MJ. Kinetics of the heparin enhanced antithrombin III/thrombin reaction. Evidence for a template model for the mechanism of action of heparin. J Biol Chem. (1982) 257:7360–365.
- Todd Tzanetos DR, Myers J, Wells T, Stewart D, Fanning JJ, Sullivan JE. The use of recombinant antithrombin III in pediatric and neonatal ECMO patients. ASAIO J. (2017) 1:93–8. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000476
- Niebler RA, Christensen M, Berens R, Wellner H, Mikhailov T, et al. Antithrombin replacement during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Artificial Organs.* (2011) 35:1024–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1594.2011. 01384.x
- Perry R, Stein J, Young G, Ramanathan R, Seri I, Klee L, et al. Antithrombin III administration in neonates with congenital diaphragmatic hernia during the first three days of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *J Pediatr Surg.* (2013) 48:1837–42. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2012.11.037
- 60. Stansfield BK, Wise L, Ham PB, Patel P, Parman M, Jin C, et al. Outcomes following routine antithrombin III replacement during neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. J Pediatr Surg. (2017) 52:609–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2016.10.047
- 61. Wong TE, Nguyen T, Shah SS, Brogan TV, Witmer CM. Antithrombin concentrate use in pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a

multicenter cohort study. Pediatr Crit Care Med. (2016) 17:1170-8. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000055

- 62. Avila ML, Shah V, Brandão LR. Systematic review on heparin-induced thrombocytopenia in children: a call to action. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2013) 4:660–9. doi: 10.1111/jth.12153
- Bates SM, Weitz JI. The mechanism of action of thrombin inhibitors. J Invasive Cardiol. (2000) 12(Suppl. F):27F–32.
- 64. Scott LK, Grier LR, Conrad SA. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia in a pediatric patient receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation managed with argatroban. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2006) 7:255–7. doi: 10.1097/01.PCC.0000200966.56379.95
- 65. Kawada T, Kitagawa H, Hoson M, Okada Y, Shiomura J. Clinical application of argatroban as an alternative anticoagulant for extracorporeal circulation. *Hematol Oncol Clin N Am.* (2000) 14:445–57. doi: 10.1016/S0889-8588(05)70144-1
- Hursting MJ, Dubb J, Verme-Gibboney CN. Argatroban anticoagulation in pediatric patients: a literature analysis. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol. (2006) 28:4–10. doi: 10.1097/01.mph.0000195296.48319.38
- 67. Young G, Boshkov LK, Sullivan JE, Raffini LJ, Cox DS, Boyle DA, et al. Argatroban therapy in pediatric patients requiring nonheparin anticoagulation: An open-label, safety, efficacy, and pharmacokinetic study. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*. (2011) 56:1103–9. doi: 10.1002/pbc.22852
- Knoderer CA, Knoderer HM, Turrentine MW, Kumar M. Lepirudin anticoagulation for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia after cardiac surgery in a pediatric patient. *Phamacotherapy.* (2006) 26:709–12. doi: 10.1592/phco.26.5.709
- Deitcher SR, Topoulos AP, Bartholomew JR, Kichuk-Chrisant MR. Lepirudin anticoagulation for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. J Pediatr. (2002) 140:264–6. doi: 10.1067/mpd.2002.121384
- Dager WE, Gosselin RC, Yoshikawa R, Owings JT. Lepirudin in heparininduced thrombocytopenia and extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Ann Pharmacother.* (2004) 38:598–601. doi: 10.1345/aph.1D436
- Forbes TJ, Hijazi ZM, Young G, Ringewald JM, Aquino PM, Vincent RN, et al. Pediatric catheterization laboratory anticoagulation with bivalirudin. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2011) 77:671–9. doi: 10.1002/ccd.22817
- Sanfilippo F, Asmussen S, Maybauer DM, Santonocito C, Fraser JF, Erdoes G, et al. Bivalrudin for alternative anticoagulation in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a systematic review. J Intensive Care Med. (2017) 32:312–9. doi: 10.1177/0885066616656333
- 73. Pollak U, Yacobobich J, Tamary H, Dagan O, Manor-Shulman O. Heparininduced thrombocytopenia and extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a case report and review of the literature. *J Extra Corpor Technol.* (2011) 43:5–12.
- Ranucci M, Ballotta A, Kandil H, Isgrò G, Carlucci C, Baryshnikova E, et al. Bivalrudin-based versus conventional heparin anticoagulation for postcardiotomy extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *BMC Criti Care.* (2011) 15:R275. doi: 10.1186/cc10556
- 75. Nagle EL, Dager WE, Duby JJ, Roberts AJ, Kenny LE, Murthy MS, et al. Bivalrudin in pediatric patients maintained on extracorporeal life support. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2013) 14:e182–8. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e31827200b6
- Elkelboom J, Connolly S, Bruekmann M, Granger CB, Kappetein AP, et al. Dabigatran versus warfarin in patients with mechanical heart valves. N Engl J Med. (2013) 13:1206–14. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1300615
- 77. Fraser CD, Jaquiss RD, Rosenthal DN, Humpl T, Canter CE, et al. Berlin Heart Study Investigators: prospective trial of a pediatric ventricular assist device. N Engl J Med. (2012) 367:532–41. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1014164
- Korn RL, Fisher CA, Livingston ER, Stenach N, Fishman SJ, Jeevanadam V, et al. The effects of carmeda bioactive surface on human blood components during simulated extracorporeal circulation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (1996) 111:1073–84. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5223(96)70384-7
- 79. Ontaneda A, Annich GM. Novel surfaces in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation circuits. *Front Med.* (2018) 5:321. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00321
- Nankervis CA, Preston TJ, Dysart KC, Wilkinson WD, Chicoine LG, Welty SE, et al. Assessing heparin dosing in neonates on venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. ASAIO. (2007) 53:111–4. doi: 10.1097/01.mat.0000247777.65764.b3
- 81. Henderson N, Sullivan JE, Myers J, Wells T, Calhoun A, Berkenbosch J, et al. Use of thromboelastography to predict thrombotic complications in pediatric

and neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *J Extra Corpor Technol.* (2018) 50:149–54.

- Northrop MS, Sidonio RF, Phillips SE, Smith AH, Daphne HC, Pietsch JB, et al. The use of an extracorporeal membrane oxygenation anticoagulation laboratory protocol is associated with decreased blood product use, decreased hemorrhagic complications, and increased circuit life. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2015) 1:66–74. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000000278
- 83. Yu JS, Barbaro RP, Granoski DA, Bauman ME, Massicotte MP, Lequier LL, et al. Prospective side by side comparison of outcomes and complications with a simple versus intensive anticoagulation monitoring strategy in pediatric extracorporeal life support patients. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2017) 11:1055–62. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000001306
- Downard CD, Betit P, Chang RW, Garza JJ, Arnold JH, Wilson JM. Impact of Amicar on hemorrhagic complications of ECMO: a ten year review. *J Pediatr Surg.* (2003) 38:1212–6. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3468(03)00270-7
- 85. van der Staak FH, de Haan AF, Geven WB, Festen C. Surgical repair of congenital diaphragmatic hernia during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: hemorrhagic complications and the effect of tranexamic acid. *J Pediatr Surg.* (1997) 32:594–9. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3468(97)90715-6
- Long M, Wagener D, Maslach-Hubbard A, Pasko D, Baldridge P, Annich G. Safety and efficacy of recombinant activated factor VII for refractory hemorrhage in pediatric patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a single center review. *Perfusion*. (2014) 29:163–70. doi: 10.1177/0267659113499782
- Swaminathan M, Shaw A, Greenfield R, Grichnik K. Fatal thrombosis after factor VII administration during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. (2008) 22:259–60. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2007.09.009
- Ashikhmina E, Said S, Smith MM, Rodriguez V, Oliver WC, Nuttall GA, et al. Prothrombin complex concentrates in pediatric cardiac surgery: the current state and the future. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2017) 104:1423–31. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2017.04.009
- Bui JD, Despotis GD, Trulock EP, Patterson GA, Goodnough LT. Fatal thrombosis after administration of activated prothrombin complex concentrates in a patient supported by extracorporeal membrane oxygenation who had received activated factor VII. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2002) 124:852–54. doi: 10.1067/mtc.2002.126038

- Smith A, Hardison D, Bridges B. Red blood cell transfusion volume and mortality among patients receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Perfusion*. (2013) 28:54–60. doi: 10.1177/0267659112457969
- 91. Muszyinski JA, Reeder RW, Hall MW, Berg RA, Shanley TP, Newth CJL, et al. Red blood cell transfusion practices in pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Crit Care Med.* (2018) 46:e552–9. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000003086
- Tillman B, Gailani D. Inhibition of factor XI and XII for prevention of thrombosis induced by artificial surfaces. *Semin Thromb Hemost.* (2018) 44:60-9. doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1603937
- 93. Larsson M, Rayzman V, Nolte MW, Nicke KF, Bjorkqvist J, Jämsä A, et al. Cardiovascular disease: a factor XIIa inhibitory antibody provides thromboprotection in extracorporeal circulation without increasing bleeding risk. *Sci Transl Med.* (2014) 6:222ra17. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3006804
- Arroyo AB, Reyes-Garcia Ascension M, Teruel-Montoya R, Vicente Vicente, Gonzalez-Conejero R, Martinez C. microRNAs in the haemostatic system: more than witnesses of thromboembolic disease?. *Thromb Res.* (2018) 166:1– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2018.03.021
- Bijak M., Dzieciol M, Rywaniak J, Saluk J, Zielinska M. Platelets miRNA as a Prediction marker of thrombotic episodes. *Dis Mark*. (2016) 2872507:1–7. doi: 10.1155/2016/2872507

Conflict of Interest Statement: HD declares that she is the consultant medical director for Innovative ECMO Concepts.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Cashen, Meert and Dalton. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Surgical Expertise in Neonatal Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation (ECMO): A Single Center Experience

Francesco Macchini^{1*}, Antonio Di Cesare¹, Anna Morandi¹, Martina Ichino¹, Genny Raffaeli^{2,3}, Federica Conigliaro^{2,4}, Gabriele Sorrentino², Simona Neri⁵, Fabio Mosca^{2,3}, Ernesto Leva¹ and Giacomo Cavallaro²

¹ Department of Pediatric Surgery, Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milan, Italy, ² Neonatal Intensive Care Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milan, Italy, ³ Department of Clinical Sciences and Community Health, Università degli Studi di Milano, Milan, Italy, ⁴ Betamed Perfusion Service, Rome, Italy, ⁵ Pediatric Anesthesiology and Intensive Care Unit, Department of Anesthesia and Critical Care, Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milan, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Timothy M. Maul, Nemours Children's Hospital, United States

Reviewed by:

Robert Jan Houmes, Erasmus Medical Center, Netherlands Gail Mary Annich, Hospital for Sick Children, Canada

*Correspondence: Francesco Macchini francesco.macchini@policlinico.mi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Critical Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 28 May 2019 Accepted: 13 September 2019 Published: 27 September 2019

Citation:

Macchini F, Di Cesare A, Morandi A, Ichino M, Raffaeli G, Conigliaro F, Sorrentino G, Neri S, Mosca F, Leva E and Cavallaro G (2019) Surgical Expertise in Neonatal Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation (ECMO): A Single Center Experience. Front. Pediatr. 7:398. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00398 **Introduction:** The surgical technique for peripheral cannulation aimed at providing extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) is well described. Training methods for surgeons still need proper standardization, especially in newborn patients. This study aims to evaluate the surgical training outcomes of a neonatal ECMO team.

Materials and Methods: A 4 year training program (2014–2018) was developed to achieve the skills in the surgical technique for neonatal veno-arterial ECMO. Surgeons with experience in neonatal and vascular surgery were selected for the training. The training consisted of educational sessions, high-fidelity simulations, *in vivo* swine model procedures, international fellowship, and periodical simulations. The preliminary clinical experience in surgical neonatal ECMO management (2016-present) was analyzed by recording the following data: indications for ECMO and patients' data; effectiveness of cannulations (number; perioperative complications of cannulation; major surgical events during ECMO); efficacy of decannulation (number and perioperative complications).

Results: 12 neonates (5 females) fitted the ELSO criteria for ECMO. Nine newborns were affected by CDH; 1 by H1N1 flu-related pneumonia; 1 by meconium aspiration syndrome and one by Respiratory Syncytial Virus related bronchiolitis. Mean weight at cannulation was 3,281 g (range 2,330–3,840 g); mean gestational age was 36 weeks. No procedure was aborted, and no intra-operatory mortality was recorded. Mean operative time was 86 ± 30 min. The caliber of the carotideal cannulas ranged from 8F (8 patients) to 10F (2 patients); the caliber of the jugular cannulas were: 8F cannula (2 patients), 10F (6 patients), and 12F (2 patients). Four complications occurred: a case of air in the circuit, two cases of azygous vein cannulation and a partial dislocation of the venous cannula during the daily care maneuvers. All of them were promptly recognized and successfully treated. The mean ECMO duration was 7.1 \pm 4.2 days (range 2–16 days). Seven patients (78%) were decannulated effectively. Mean decannulation time was

76

53 min (range 45–80 min). No complications occurred during the decannulation process. No ECMO–related deaths were recorded.

Conclusions: Neonatal respiratory ECMO still represents a challenge. Experienced neonatal surgeons can manage the neck vascular cannulation. The codified procedure must be adhered to after appropriate training and following a proper learning curve.

Keywords: neonatal, child, ECMO, surgery, training

INTRODUCTION

Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) is an advanced life support therapy for life-threatening pulmonary and cardiac diseases in children (1). ECMO is a high-risk procedure and requires quick and effective decisions based on well-established knowledge as well as technical and organizational proficiency in an emergency setting (2). Despite the advances in equipment and technology, the adoption of standardized protocols and preventive strategies, and the increasing experience of providers, neonatal ECMO still remains a challenging procedure, due to its intrinsic high morbidity and mortality (3).

Accordingly, the Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO) strongly supports specific programs for education and training in order to improve patients' outcomes (4). Multidisciplinary team training has been previously described in the neonatal and pediatric ECMO setting (5, 6). Simulation-based cannulation curricula have been reported in the cardiac, pediatric setting (7).

Although the surgical technique for peripheral VA-ECMO cannulation is well-described (8), surgical training methods to acquire and master the procedure still need standardization.

Regarding neonatal respiratory ECMO, the most common indications are congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH), meconium aspiration syndrome (MAS), pulmonary hypertension (PPHN), sepsis, and respiratory distress syndrome (RDS). The veno-arterial (VA) cannulation is the selected method in most Neonatal Intensive Care Units (NICU) (8).

ECMO-related mortality is still high in neonates, with only a 73% survival to hospital discharge (SHD) according to the ELSO registry reports (9) and a 57% according to a single center experience (3).

Mortality is particularly high for CDH, which have an SHD rate of 50%, as compared to MAS (92%) and PPHN (73%) (9). An early start of ECMO within 24 h after birth and a reduced time of ECMO duration (<7 days) seems effective in leading to SHD independently of other factors (3).

Next, with regards to survival rates, efforts are needed to be shifted toward the improvement of ECMO patients' outcomes (10).

The overall complication rate of ECMO in newborns is 49% (9). The ELSO registry reports 54.5% of surgical complications, with hemorrhagic ones accounting for 26.2%, mechanical ones for 16.2%, pulmonary ones for 10.6% and cardiovascular ones for 1.5% (9).

The aim of this study is to evaluate the clinical impact of surgical team training, in terms of technical performance of VA

peripheral cannulation and decannulation in newborns treated by a single team of neonatal surgeons since the establishment of a new ECMO program.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We conducted a retrospective, single-center, cohort study at the NICU of the Department of Clinical Sciences and Community Health, Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico in Milan, Italy. No modifications were made to the standard of care for newborns requiring respiratory ECMO. Ethics committee approval was not required for this observational retrospective study on a small series of patients. Parents gave written informed consent for the publication of this series in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Training Curriculum

The ELSO guidelines, the "ELSO Redbook" and the "ELSO ECMO Specialist Training Manual" were selected as reference guidelines for our Institute (4, 8, 11).

The VA cannulation was selected as the preferred modality in our Institute for neonatal respiratory ECMO.

A 4-year training program (September 2014–2018) was delivered to achieve surgical skills in neonatal VA ECMO. The following multistep training program was designed for the whole ECMO team to reach full autonomy. Only surgeons with at least 2 years of experience and more than 100 procedures of neonatal and vascular surgery were selected for the training after being evaluated by the head of Department. The surgical training was supported by the implementation of a larger multi-disciplinary training program (5). As previously reported, the training process started with the delivery of educational material, attendance to national and international courses, and observership programs at ECMO referral centers. Next, with regards to the educational session, hands-on training was delivered through "wet labs," animal-based, and mannequinbased high-fidelity simulation sessions.

During the whole training process, attention was focused on both technical and behavioral factors that would impact the patient's outcome. Each session ended with extensive debriefing and immediate feedback.

The "wet labs" aimed to familiarize the participants with equipment and procedures. They consisted of hands-on training on a closed-loop ECMO circuit filled with saline. The animal laboratory consisted of isolating and cannulating neck vessels on anesthetized piglets to start a VA ECMO. During the ECMO run, all members of the team, including pediatric surgeons, were involved in routine practices. According to the participants, this step appeared more similar to reality and crucial from a surgical point of view to develop adequate technical skills.

High-fidelity simulation sessions were performed with a neonatal mannequin (SimNewB[®] Laerdal). Tubes were inserted in the right side of the neck and distally connected to a reservoir bag, filled with fake blood.

Once the surgeon in training had completed the whole program, having effectively cannulated at least 10 piglets, they were considered for the clinical surgical approach (5). Simulations were carried on systematically even after treating the first patients in order to maintain a high level of technical ability.

Surgical Procedure

VA-ECMO was offered, based on ELSO criteria (11). Based on our institutional protocol, we considered neonates weighing over 2 kg and with a post-gestational age of 34 weeks (12) as eligible for ECMO.

Vascular access was obtained by a right neck incision and cannulation of the internal jugular vein and carotid artery. Cannulation was always performed in a dedicated and isolated room of the NICU. Adequate exposure of the neck was obtained by putting a small roll transversely beneath the shoulders of the neonate and by a minor contralateral rotation of the head. Deep sedation/anesthesia with muscle relaxation was required to prevent spontaneous breathing. After a transverse cervical incision, a complete exposition of the vessels was obtained. Titration of heparin occurred before placing the cannula every 3 min following boluses of 25 IU/kg, to achieve an activated clotting time of 220–250 s. The average dose was 50 IU/kg, while the maximum cumulative dose was 100 IU/Kg.

Cannula selection occurred after cut down with direct inspection of the vessels; the biggest caliber of both arterial and venous cannulas was chosen according to the patient's vessel sizes, maximal blood flow needed and the pressure drop of the cannula itself. Therefore, the Single Lumen Venous (8F, 10F, 12F, or 14F) and Arterial (8F, 10F, or 12F) cannulas (Bio-Medicus[®], Medtronic), heparin-based coated (Carmeda[®]) BioActive Surface), were selected for our neonates. Nonabsorbable braided 4.0 ligatures were slid around the vessels above and below the cannulation site (Figure 1A). The cephalic ends of the vessels were ligated. The vessels were opened and the cannulas placed. The venous cannula was inserted for 6-9 cm while the arterial one for 3-5 cm, according to the size of the newborn (Figure 1B). Cannulas were then connected to the ECMO circuit, carefully avoiding air embolism (Figure 1C). Chest X-ray was performed to verify the position of the tip of the cannula after ECMO support was initiated, and minor cannula position adjustments were made (Figure 1D). Intraoperative echocardiography with Doppler flow was implemented to assess the position of the tip of the cannula in the right atrium. Once the correct position was confirmed, the cannulas were secured to the muscle insertions and to the retro-auricular skin to prevent dislocation.

At the time of decannulation, ligation of the neck vessels was the chosen option in our Center (8).

Surgical Outcome

To evaluate the impact of the surgical expertise on ECMO cannulation, we retrospectively analyzed our case-series from the establishment of the ECMO program (March 2016) to present (March 2019). We retrieved the following data: indications to ECMO and demographic data; effectiveness of cannulation; caliber of venous and arterial cannulas; perioperative complications of cannulation; major surgical events during ECMO; effectiveness of decannulation and perioperative complications.

As reported by the ELSO Registry, complications are classified as (1) mechanical (oxygenator failure, raceway rupture, other tubing rupture, pump failure, circuit air, cannularelated problems); (2) hemorrhagic (cannulation site bleeding, surgical site bleeding); (3) cardiovascular (CPR required, cardiac arrhythmia, tamponade); (4) pulmonary (pneumothorax, pulmonary hemorrhage); (5) infectious (9). We considered only the surgical complications.

The severity of every complication was assessed according to the Clavien-Dindo Classification of Surgical Complications (**Table 1**). It is a morbidity scale based on the therapeutic consequences of complications, that constitutes a simple, objective, and reproducible approach for comprehensive surgical outcome assessment (13).

RESULTS

Three neonatal surgeons completed the training process after 3 years and were considered ready to start with the first patient. In the following year, they continued with the simulation sessions while other surgeons were selected to start the training program. Within the study period, 12 neonates (5 females) fitted the ELSO criteria for ECMO. Nine newborns were affected by CDH; 1 by H1N1 flu-related pneumonia; 1 by meconium aspiration syndrome and one by Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) related bronchiolitis.

The main characteristics of the population are summarized in **Table 2**.

Mean weight at cannulation was 3,281 g (range 2,330–3,840 g); mean gestational age was 36 weeks. No procedure was aborted, and no intra-operatory mortality was recorded. Mean operative time was 86 ± 30 min (from draping to the skin closure including the external fixation of the cannulas and the radiological check). The caliber of the carotideal cannula ranged from 8F (8 patients) to 10F (2 patients); the caliber of the jugular cannula showed a wider range: 8F (2 patients), 10F (6 patients), and 12F (2 patients).

As for the complications, two grade I and two grade III complications occurred (**Table 3**). Among Grade I complications, a 30-day old male affected by RSV infection presented microbubbles of air in the circuit immediately after connection. The amount of air resulted minimal so that it was promptly fixed through the circuit, without any clinical consequence. The second one, a 1 day old male (GA 39 w; BW 3,280 g) with a right CDH, was cannulated with 8F arterial and 10F venous cannulas. The ECMO support was initiated, but the maintenance of adequate blood flow was impaired by worsening



FIGURE 1 | Neonatal veno-arterial Surgical cannulation site in the neck for respiratory ECMO: surgical steps. (A) Neck skin incision and isolation of internal jugular vein (a) and carotid artery (b). (B) Vascular cannulation. Drainage cannula (10 French) inserted in the jugular vein (a), inflow cannula (8 French) inserted in the carotid artery (b). (C) ECMO start. Drainage cannula (10 French) inserted in the jugular vein (a), inflow cannula (8 French) inserted in the carotid artery (b). (C) ECMO start. Drainage cannula (10 French) inserted in the jugular vein (a), inflow cannula (8 French) inserted in the carotid artery (b). (D) Chest X-ray. Drainage cannula (10 French) inserted in the jugular vein (a) french) inserted in the carotid artery (b).

 TABLE 1 | Classification of surgical complications grades definition (modified from Clavien-Dindo Classification).

Grade I	Any deviation from the normal post-operative course without the need for pharmacological treatment or surgical, endoscopic, and radiological interventions. Acceptable therapeutic regimens are: drugs as antiemetics, antipyretics, analgesics, diuretics and electrolytes and physiotherapy. This grade also includes wound infections opened at the bedside
Grade II	Requiring pharmacological treatment with drugs other than such allowed for grade I complications. Blood transfusions and total parenteral nutrition are also included
Grade III	Requiring surgical, endoscopic or radiological intervention Grade III-a: intervention not under general anesthesia
Grade III-b	Intervention under general anesthesia
Grade IV	Life-threatening complication (including CNS complications)‡ requiring IC/ICU-management
Grade IV-a	Single organ dysfunction (including dialysis)
Grade IV-b	Multi-organ dysfunction
Grade V	Death of a patient

[‡]Brain hemorrhage, ischemic stroke, subarachnoidal bleeding, but excluding transient ischemic attacks (TIA); CNS, central nervous system; IC, intermediate care; ICU, intensive care unit.

drainage pressure. Despite the administration of multiple fluid boluses, we couldn't reach a satisfactory blood flow support. Echocardiography demonstrated the correct position of the arterial cannula, but the venous cannula was not visualized in the superior vena cava or the right atrium, thus raising the suspicion of azygous vein cannulation. Lateral X-ray of the thorax confirmed the diagnosis of cannula displacement. By modifying the head position, we could reach a 100 ml/kg blood flow, until the decannulation 3 days later.

As for grade III complications, a left CDH female (GA 36 w; BW 3,200 g) had a partial dislocation of the 10F venous cannula during the daily care maneuvers. The event was successfully treated, pushing the cannula back inside the jugular vein. ECMO support did not stop. The correct position of the cannula was subsequently confirmed by echocardiography. After this episode an increased level of attention was devoted to the securing of the cannulas.

The last complication occurred in a 1 day old male (GA 37 w; BW 2,530 g) with a right-sided CDH. A 10F venous cannula and an 8F arterial cannula were positioned without any difficulties. As in the previous patient with right CDH, we experienced high drainage pressure, which was not justified by the cannulation caliber and the clinical state of the neonate. Despite fluid therapy, repositioning of the head and multiple attempts to direct the venous cannula into the right atrium, we failed to support the neonate adequately. Consequently, caval cannulation via sternotomy was obtained on day 2 of life and ECMO was maintained for 16 days. The procedure was performed in association with a pediatric cardio-thoracic surgeon to offer the best multi-disciplinary approach.

No other minor or major complications were recorded during the procedure.

TABLE 2 | Population characteristics.

CDH	- Number of patients	9 Malaa, 5
	- Sex	Males: 5
		Females: 4 36.5 \pm 1.8
	- GA (weeks)	
	 Birth weight (gr) Site 	2.660 ± 383
	- Sile	right: 3 left: 6
	- Defect size	B: 2
	- Delect size	D. 2 C: 5
		D: 2
	- O/E LHR (%)	D. 2 27 ± 17
	- Diaphragmatic patch	21 ± 11
	(n pts)	7
	- Liver up (n pts)	9
	- Stomach up (n pts)	9
	- Age at ECMO (days)	8.5 (range 1–52)
	- Weight at ECMO (gr)	3.272 ± 632
	- ECMO duration (days)	6.6 ± 4.1
	- Age at CDH repair (days)	2.9 ± 1.9
	- Repair on ECMO (n pts)	3
		0
H1N1 flu	- Number of patients	1
pneumonia	- Sex	Female
	- GA (weeks)	32
	 Birth weight (gr) 	1.955
	 Age at ECMO (days) 	53
	 Weight at ECMO (gr) 	gr 3.310
	- ECMO duration (days)	12
Meconium	- Number of patients	1
aspiration	- Sex	Male
syndrome	- GA (weeks)	39
	- Birth weight (gr)	3.635
	- Age at ECMO (days)	3
	- Weight at ECMO (gr)	3.840
	- ECMO duration (days)	2
Respiratory	- Number of patients	1
Syncytial Virus	- Sex	Male
bronchiolitis	- GA (weeks)	34
	- Birth weight (gr)	2.400
	- Age at ECMO (days)	30
	- Weight at ECMO (gr)	2.850
	- ECMO duration (days)	6

Data are expressed as mean \pm SD.

The mean ECMO duration was 7.1 ± 4.2 days (range 2–16 days). Seven patients (58%) tolerated the weaning trial of ECMO flow, and they were all decannulated effectively. Mean decannulation time was 53 min (range 45–80 min).

No intra-operative complications occurred during the decannulation process.

Finally, five patients survived to hospital discharge after ECMO treatment (42%). Among the causes of death of the other seven patients, none were ECMO-related. In the CDH population the survival rate was 22%.

DISCUSSION

ECMO is a well-established advanced life support therapy for critically-ill children with pulmonary or cardiac

TABLE 3 Neonatal VA ECMO: classification of complications according to the
Clavien-Dindo Classification.

Grade	Cannulation
I	2
	Malposition
	Microbubble air in circuit
II	_
111	2
	Malposition
	Dislocation
IV	_
V	_
Total (%)	4/12 (33%)

failure (1). It involves technically challenging procedures and extensive multidisciplinary coordination. Even with skilled providers, ECMO has significant risks of morbidity and mortality (3). Knowledge and routine training are essential to improve patient outcomes, as recommended by ELSO (4, 5).

ECMO clinical specialists (CS) and technicians are the first line of defense in recognizing and responding to acute and potentially life-threatening complications. The ECMO-CS is defined as "the technical specialist trained to manage the ECMO system and the clinical needs of the patient on ECMO"; therefore, their ability to identify and appropriately react to a deteriorating patient is essential for optimal care. The education and training of the ECMO-CS are supported by ELSO, which requires the providers to complete didactics on circuit and patient emergencies (4).

While most centers rely on ECMO-CS to serve as first responders to circuit emergencies, there are no nationally established standards or certifications to provide ECMO care (2). Therefore, the CS, which may include surgeons, nurses, neonatologists, anesthesiologists, and perfusionists, may vary in training and experience depending on local institutional training standards.

As a result, there is wide variation amongst institutions in protocols used to address ECMO circuit emergencies (2).

Due to the different surgical approaches, ECMO for cardiac failure is generally managed by cardiothoracic surgeons with central cannulation, while ECMO for neonatal respiratory diseases is more frequently managed by pediatric surgeons with a neck approach. Respiratory diseases in newborns that may require ECMO include CDH, MAS, and PPHN. These conditions account for almost 75% of all neonatal respiratory ECMO cases. Other diagnostic categories that may constitute indications for ECMO are sepsis (10%) and RDS (5%) (14).

In addition, many Neonatal Departments treating children with pulmonary indications to ECMO are not equipped with pediatric cardiothoracic surgeons, so that different pediatric surgeons' teams have to be involved in the ECMO training and management. In particular, neonatal surgeons were identified as suitable for the neonatal ECMO program in our Center. Only surgeons highly experienced in neonatal and vascular treatment were selected. A 4-year multi-step theoretical and practical training program was required. Only surgeons who completed the training program were considered suitable to manage the cannulation and decannulation procedures in newborns.

As previously described, according to most centers, a VA, as opposed to VV ECMO support, was employed for neonatal respiratory diseases (14).

According to our results, we believe that one of the keys of a successful ECMO cannulation in the neonatal period is based on the strict adherence to standardized surgical procedures. In our opinion, some techniques may help in increasing surgical effectiveness when applying a neck approach. Before surgery, the newborn has to be positioned supine, with neck extension under the shoulders and contralateral head rotation. This position must not be extreme in order to reduce the risk related to cannula progression and malposition at the end of the surgical procedure, when the newborn is placed back in a neutral position. A transverse cervical incision, approximately 3-4 cm in length to achieve a satisfactory exposure of the vessels, is made one finger's breadth above the clavicle over the lower aspect of the right sternocleidomastoid muscle. Direct handling of the vessels has to be minimized to avoid spasm. Finally, while connecting cannulas to the ECMO circuit, a member of the surgical team has to fill both ends of the tubes with saline to prevent air entrapment in the circuit, thus avoiding turbulences and embolism.

As for the decannulation procedure, a high degree of attention is required while managing the arterial cannula, as in newborns it is inserted in the carotid artery only for 3–4 cm and a spontaneous dislocation leading to major bleeding is not unlikely.

Although complications show decreasing trends over time, this therapy remains associated to a high percentage of morbidities and risks (14).

In our study, we decided to adopt a classification of surgical complications in order to make our results comparable to other series. We chose the Clavien-Dindo Classification because, even if it was designed for adults, it has been found to have high sensitivity for pediatric urology, oncology and also neonatal surgery. Its merit is that it moved the focus from the mere occurrence of complications to the grade of complication as a function of the resulting outcome (15).

Even in our preliminary series, complications occurred in 4/12 (33%) patients after cannulation.

In the first ones, two minor complications occurred (Grade I) and were managed without the need for pharmacological or surgical treatment. One of these complications consisted of air entrapment in the circuit, but the amount of air was minimal so that it was immediately fixed through the circuit, without any clinical consequence. Accurate filling of the connections between cannulas and ECMO circuit with saline may prevent such complications.

Clots may also be dangerous both for the circuit, leading to a mechanical obstruction, and the patient, with the risk of embolism. They represent the most common mechanical complication for neonatal respiratory and cardiac ECMO support (9). Clot development in the oxygenator, bridge, and bladder has decreased since 2000, while there has been an increased number in the "Other clots" category. Additional mechanical complications, such as air bubbles in the circuit and oxygenator failures, have been stable to decreasing over time (14). In our series, we did not experience any clot formation during cannulation time.

Also, two complications of medium severity occurred (Grade III), leading to surgery. However, in both cases, problems were effectively solved, with no need for ECMO interruption nor patient instability.

A special mention has to be given to one of the potential complications in the right CDH newborns. As described in a previous paper (16), misplacements of the venous cannulas were also recorded in group 2, with the tip located at the confluence of the azygous vein with the Superior Vena Cava (SVC).

Previous papers suggest that infants with right CDH experience higher morbidity and statistically borderline higher mortality than their left-sided counterparts (17).

Regarding ECMO, the anatomical distortion of the mediastinal vessels that develop as a consequence of right CDH is of particular concern. The combination of a leftward mediastinal shift, intrathoracic liver, and compression of the inferior vena cava (IVC) can perturb the orientation of the great vessels and interfere with venous cannulation. Correct diagnosis of this complication is not always easy, and signs may appear later in the course of ECMO. In our experience, a combination of impaired ECMO flow maintenance with increased drainage pressures, echocardiographic assessment, and cross-table lateral chest X-rays can help to confirm suspected azygous vein cannulation by demonstrating a posteriorly orientated venous cannula (18).

Direct cannulation of the right atrial appendage via sternotomy is an aggressive but feasible method to provide ECMO support in such cases, and may be the only available alternative. In such an occurrence, it may be advisable to seek the collaboration of a cardiothoracic team. Indeed, sternotomy is not frequently needed for respiratory ECMO and the availability of a multidisciplinary team may offer the best results.

The indication must be carefully evaluated according to the effectiveness of ECMO exchanges and the general conditions of the child. As previously suggested by Kuenzler et al., we agree that intraoperative ultrasound guidance can be effective in decreasing the ECMO catheter malposition rate and may prove to be a useful tool, especially in cases where an anatomical variance is suspected (19).

Furthermore, as previously mentioned, limited contralateral head rotation and neck extension may reduce the risks related to cannula progression and malposition at the end of the surgical procedure, when the newborn is placed back in a neutral position.

Our rate of surgical complications seems to be similar to other series (9). However, it is difficult to make a proper comparison because, as far as we know, other series considered surgical and medical complications together. We strongly recommend adopting specific classifications for surgical complications, especially when evaluating the outcome of selected surgeries, such as the neonatal and oncological ones.

In our experience, SHD is lower than the mean value reported in the ECLS Registry Report 2019 (42 vs. 73%), especially considering the CDH population (22 vs. 50%). Nonetheless, no ECMO-related mortalities due to technical issues were recorded in our series. A possible explanation of the low survival rate may be found in the high number of severe CDH newborns in our series, as shown by the low O/E LHR. In fact, a Fetal Endo-Tracheal Occlusion (FETO) program is available in our center and therefore we frequently deal with severe conditions.

In the future, based on a larger population, we should evaluate SHD in different severity groups, according to pre-natal observed/expected lung-to-head ratio (O/E LHR), side and size of the defect.

Conversely, when considering the population other than CDH, the SHD was 100% in our population.

Despite the limited numbers, our results support the value of a standardized training program and a dedicated multidisciplinary team aimed to improve the management of severe cases.

In conclusion, neonatal respiratory ECMO represents a challenge even after prolonged dedicated training. Experienced neonatal surgeons can manage the neck vascular cannulation. The codified procedure must be adhered to after appropriate training and following a proper learning curve. This seems to provide adequate surgical skills, effective execution of ECMO in the neonatal period, and prompt intervention to manage the limited complications, with a positive impact on clinical prognosis.

REFERENCES

- Mok YH, Lee JH, Cheifetz IM, Newnam K. Neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Adv Neonatal Care.* (2016) 16:26– 36. doi: 10.1097/ANC.0000000000244
- Abulebda K, Hocutt GR, Gray BW, Ahmed RA, Slaven JE, Malin S, et al. Development of validated checklists to evaluate clinical specialists in pediatric ECMO emergencies using delphi method. *ASAIO J.* (2019). doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000988. [Epub ahead of print].
- 3. Hirakawa E, Ibara S, Tokuhisa T, Maede Y, Kuwahara T, Ishihara C, et al. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in 61 neonates: Single-center experience. *Pediatr Int.* (2017) 59:438–42. doi: 10.1111/ped.13178
- 4. ELSO. *Guidelines for Training and Continuing Education of ECMO Specialists.* Version 1.5. Ann Arbor, MI: ELSO office (2010).
- Raffaeli G, Ghirardello S, Vanzati M, Baracetti C, Canesi F, Conigliaro F, et al. Start a neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation program: a multistep team training. *Front Pediatr.* (2018) 6:151. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018. 00151
- Di Nardo M, David P, Stoppa F, Lorusso R, Raponi M, Amodeo A, et al. The introduction of a high-fidelity simulation program for training pediatric critical care personnel reduces the times to manage extracorporeal membrane oxygenation emergencies and improves teamwork. *J Thorac Dis.* (2018) 10:3409–3417. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2018.05.77
- 7. Allan CK, Pigula F, Bacha EA, Emani S, Fynn-Thompson F, Thiagarajan RR, et al. An extracorporeal membrane oxygenation cannulation curriculum featuring a novel integrated skills trainer leads to improved performance

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FMa, GC, GR, AM, MI, EL, and FMo contributed conception and design of the review. FC, AD, SN, and GS collected and analyzed the data retrospectively. FMa, GC, GR, AM, and MI wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript critical revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank all the Neonatal ECMO Team Mangiagalli of the Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico: nurses and neonatologists of the NICU, surgeons of the Department of Pediatric Surgery, anesthesiologists of the Pediatric Anesthesiology and Intensive Care Unit, nurses of the operating room. The authors would like to thank Camilla Pieretti and James Nixon for the English language revision.

among pediatric cardiac surgery trainees. *Simul Healthcare.* (2013) 8:221-8. doi: 10.1097/SIH.0b013e31828b4179

- ELSO. Neonatal Respiratory Failure Supplement to the ELSO General Guidelines. Version 1.4. Ann Arbor, MI: ELSO office (2017).
- 9. ELSO. ELSO registry report. International Summary (2019).
- Yangyang RY, Carpenter JL, DeMello AS, Keswani SG, Cass DL, Olutoye OO, et al. Evaluating quality of life of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation survivors using the pediatric quality of life inventory survey. *J Pediatr Surg.* (2018) 53:1060–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2018.02.039
- 11. ELSO. *Extracorporeal Life Support: The Red Book: the ELSO Red Book.* 5th ed. Ann Arbor, MI: Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (2017).
- Delaplain PT, Zhang L, Chen Y, Nguyen DV, Di Nardo M, Cleary JP, et al. Cannulating the contraindicated: effect of low birth weight on mortality in neonates with congenital diaphragmatic hernia on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. J Pediatr Surg. (2017) 52:2018– 25. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2017.08.037
- Dindo D, Demartines N, Clavien P-A. Classification of surgical complications: a new proposal with evaluation in a cohort of 6336 patients and results of a survey. *Ann Surg.* (2004) 240:205–13. doi: 10.1097/01.sla.0000133083.54934.ae
- Mahmood B, Newton D, Pallotto EK. Seminars in Perinatology. Elsevier (2018) 42:80–8.
- Sethi MVA, Zimmer J, Ure B, Lacher M. Prospective assessment of complications on a daily basis is essential to determine morbidity and mortality in routine pediatric surgery. J Pediatr Surg. (2016) 51:630– 3. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2015.10.052

- Fisher JC, Jefferson RA, Kuenzler KA, Stolar CJ, Arkovitz MS. Challenges to cannulation for extracorporeal support in neonates with right-sided congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J Pediatr Surg. (2007) 42:2123–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2007. 08.007
- Losty PD, Vanamo K, Rintala RJ, Donahoe PK, Schnitzer JJ, Lloyd DA. Congenital diaphragmatic hernia—does the side of the defect influence the incidence of associated malformations? *J Pediatr Surg.* (1998) 33:507–10. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3468(98) 90099-9
- Irish MS, O'Toole SJ, Kapur P, Bambini DA, Azizkhan RG, Allen JE, et al. Cervical ECMO cannula placement in infants and children: recommendations for assessment of adequate positioning and function. J Pediatr Surg. (1998) 33:929–31. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3468(98) 90676-5
- Kuenzler KA, Arthur LG, Burchard AE, Lawless ST, Wolfson PJ, Murphy SG. Intraoperative ultrasound reduces ECMO catheter

malposition requiring surgical correction. J Pediatr Surg. (2002) 37:691–4. doi: 10.1053/jpsu.2002.32254

Conflict of Interest: FC was employed by company Betamed Perfusion Service.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Macchini, Di Cesare, Morandi, Ichino, Raffaeli, Conigliaro, Sorrentino, Neri, Mosca, Leva and Cavallaro. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Neurocognitive Outcome After Treatment With(out) ECMO for Neonatal Critical Respiratory or Cardiac Failure

Raisa M. Schiller and Dick Tibboel*

Department of Pediatric Surgery/IC Children and Child and Adolescent Psychiatry/Psychology, Erasmus MC-Sophia Children's Hospital, Rotterdam, Netherlands

Over the years, it has become clear that children growing up after neonatal critical illness are at high risk of long-term neurocognitive deficits that impact their school performance and daily life activities. Although the pathophysiological mechanisms remain largely unknown, emerging evidence seems to suggest that long-term neuropsychological deficits following neonatal critical illness are not associated with the type of treatment, such as extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO), but rather with underlying disease processes. In this review, neurocognitive outcome and brain pathology following neonatal critical respiratory and cardiac illness, either treated with or without ECMO, are described and compared in order to gain insight into potential underlying pathophysiological mechanisms. Putting these findings together, it becomes apparent that both children with complex congenital heart disease and children who survived severe respiratory failure are at risk of neurocognitive deficits later in life. Neurorehabilitation strategies, such as Cogmed working-memory training, are discussed. While prevention of neurocognitive deficits altogether should be strived for in the future, this is not realistic at this moment. It is therefore of great importance that children growing up after neonatal critical illness receive long-term care that includes psychoeducation and personalized practical tools that can be used to improve their daily life activities.

Keywords: ECMO (extracorporeal membrane oxygenation), Newborn, respiratory failure, circulatory failure, hippocampus

INTRODUCTION

Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) can be used as a lifesaving therapy in critically ill neonates with severe refractory respiratory and/or cardiac failure. As more and more of these patients survive to discharge (73% following respiratory illness and 42% after cardiac illness) (1), long-term outcomes become increasingly important. It has become clear that children growing up after neonatal critical illness are at high risk of long-term neurocognitive deficits that have a profound impact on school performance and daily life activities (2). Survivors are at risk of 'growing into deficit' as subtle brain injuries acquired at a young age only become functionally evident over time when demands on cognitive functioning increases (3). This phenomenon is nested within different developmental processes that occur in the brain [e.g., myelination, synaptic pruning, and neurogenesis (4)] during the period of critical illness.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Paolo Biban, Integrated University Hospital Verona, Italy

Reviewed by:

Vijay Srinivasan, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, United States Thomas Schaible, University Medical Center Mannheim (UMM), Germany

> *Correspondence: Dick Tibboel d.tibboel@erasmusmc.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Critical Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 16 July 2019 Accepted: 13 November 2019 Published: 26 November 2019

Citation:

Schiller RM and Tibboel D (2019) Neurocognitive Outcome After Treatment With(out) ECMO for Neonatal Critical Respiratory or Cardiac Failure. Front. Pediatr. 7:494. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00494

84

The pathophysiological mechanisms underlying the longterm neurodevelopmental deficits remain largely unknown. Most likely, a complex interplay amongst different factors associated with the underlying disease (pharmacological), treatment and "iatrogenesis," further complicated by the child's genetic predisposition (5) and social economic status (6), determines a child's neurodevelopment. Emerging evidence seems to suggest that long-term neuropsychological deficits following neonatal critical illness are not associated with the type of treatment, such as extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) (7), but rather with underlying disease processes, such as hypoxia-ischemia, stress, and neuroinflammation (2, 8, 9). However, whether this is similar between neonates with severe respiratory failure and neonates with cardiac anomalies remains largely unknown. Furthermore, whether brain alterations and its neurocognitive consequences are selective or generalized in these patients and differs between patients treated with and without ECMO is not yet clear.

In this review, long-term neurocognitive outcome and brain pathology following neonatal critical respiratory and cardiac illness, either in children treated with or without ECMO, will be described and compared. In light of this, potential common pathophysiological mechanisms across these patients will be explored. Finally, suggestions to improve longterm neurodevelopmental care, both through intervention and counseling, will be provided.

NEURODEVELOPMENTAL OUTCOME AFTER SEVERE RESPIRATORY FAILURE, TREATED WITH OR WITHOUT ECMO

There are relatively few studies that have compared outcome between ECMO and non-ECMO treated patients after severe respiratory failure (Table 1A). In one of the first studies comparing outcome between 7-year-old children treated with neonatal ECMO to children treated with conventional management (CM) in response to severe respiratory failure, global cognitive loss, poor spatial skills, difficulties with reading comprehension and deficits in visual and verbal memory were found equally in both groups (12). Madderom et al. (11) directly compared CDH survivors treated with (n = 16)or without ECMO (n = 19) on IQ, school performance and sustained attention at 8 years of age. Mean IQ significantly differed between the ECMO group [91.7 (19.5)] and non-ECMO group [111.6 (20.9)], but was normal in both groups compared to the general population. The proportions of children with above average, average and below average IQ did not differ significantly between both groups (p = 0.052), but there was a trend toward more children with below average IQ in the ECMO group compared to the non-ECMO group. In both groups, however, twice as many children needed extra help in school compared to healthy peers and both groups showed significantly impaired sustained attention compared to healthy peers (11). The difficulties experiences in school by these children therefore seem to be largely independent of IQ.

Indeed, when elaborate neuropsychological assessment was used to compare outcome between 8-year-old survivors of congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH) survivors treated with neonatal ECMO (CHD-ECMO), CDH survivors treated without ECMO (CDH-non-ECMO) and survivors of other types of severe respiratory failure treated with neonatal ECMO (ECMOother), lower IQ in the CDH-ECMO group was found compared to the other groups. However, deficits in sustained attention and in verbal and visuospatial memory (both immediate and delayed recall) were found across all three groups, while other neuropsychological outcomes were normal (9). In all groups, the observed attention and memory problems were more severe than expected based on their IQ, indicating specific impairments in these domains that were independent of underlying diagnosis or ECMO treatment (9).

Behavioral problems have been compared between neonatal ECMO vs. non-ECMO treated survivors of respiratory failure as well. McNally et al. (12) found an increased risk of behavioral problems among 7-yearold children who had been treated conventionally, in particular hyperactivity. Madderom et al. compared self-perceived competence at 8 years of age and found no differences between groups. Furthermore, scores were similar to the general population. Behavioral problems did not differ between groups either, but the groups studied were small which makes the results less definitive (11). Future studies with large sample sizes are needed to gain a better understanding of how ECMO may or may not negatively influence behavioral outcome.

In recent years, studies have assessed long-term brain pathology and brain-function associations in these patient groups as well. Cooper et al. (10) assessed cognitive functioning and brain outcomes between 12-year-old survivors of acute hypoxemic respiratory failure (AHRF) who had either received treatment with neonatal ECMO or CM and were free of overt neurological impairment. In both groups, a similar degree of hippocampal atrophy was found at 12 years of age that positively correlated with memory outcome (10). The ECMO group was more impaired in Learning and Delayed Recognition relative to the CM subgroup, but their total IQ was lower as well (10). These findings thus seem to be similar to the results mentioned in the previous paragraph (9, 11), where specific neuropsychological deficits exist that are incongruent with their general intellectual abilities. Furthermore, the brain alterations seem to be specific as well. In another study, school-age survivors of neonatal ECMO and/or CDH, hippocampal volume reductions were observed, adjusted for total brain volume, that were associated with worse verbal memory delayed recall. This association was found both in children treated with and without ECMO (15). In the same cohort, white matter microstructure was assessed, showing alterations in the parahippocampal region of the cingulum, a white matter tract connecting the medial temporal lobe with the parietal and occipital lobes, to be associated with worse visuospatial memory (15). Again, these structure-function relationships existed in both the patients treated with and without ECMO (15).

Specific long-term neurodevelopmental deficits, particularly in memory and the hippocampus, seem to exist in survivors of critical illness, irrespective of ECMO treatment. Nonetheless, TABLE 1 | Studies assessing neurocognitive outcome in ECMO vs. non-ECMO treated patients for severe respiratory failure or cardiac failure.

References	Participants	Assessed	Methods and materials	Findings
(A) SEVERE RESPIR	RATORY FAILURE			
Cooper et al. (10)	40 children treated for acute hypoxic respiratory failure: 27 treated with ECMO and 13 with conventional management. 64 healthy controls	8–15 years	Neuroimaging: Structural MRI 1.5 Tesla. Neurocognitive domains: intelligence, memory	Smaller left, right and bilateral hippocampal volume in patients. No difference in hippocampal volume between patients treated with ECMO and conventional treatment. The ECMO and CM subgroups differed consistently on Learning and Delayed Recognition, in both of which the ECMO subgroup scored below the CM subgroup
Leeuwen et al. (9)	65 survivors of severe respiratory failure: 35 treated with ECMO (CDH and other) and 30 treated with conventional management (CDH)	8 years	Neurocognitive domains: intelligence, attention, verbal and visuospatial memory, executive functioning, visuospatial processing	Patients had average intelligence (mean intelligence quotient \pm SD, 95 \pm 16), but significantly poorer sustained attention and memory than the norm population. ECMO-treated CDH patients had significantly lower mean IQ (84 \pm 12) than other neonatal ECMO patients (94 \pm 10) and CDH patients treated with conventional management (100 \pm 20). Mean (SD) IQ for the ECMO
Madderom et al. (11)	35 survivors of congenital diaphragmatic hernia: 16 treated with neonatal ECMO and 19 with conventional management	8 years	Neurocognitive domains: Intelligence, concentration and attention	Mean (SD) IQ for the ECMO group was 91.7 (19.5) vs. 111.6 (20.9) for the non-ECMO group ($p = 0.015$). For all participants, problems with concentration (68%, $p < 0.001$) and with behavioral attention (33%, $p = 0.021$) occurred more frequently than in reference groups, with no difference between treatment groups
McNally et al. (12)	90 survivors of severe respiratory failure: 56 treated with neonatal ECMO and 34 with conventional management	7 years	Neurocognitive domains: Cognitive ability (verbal, nonverbal reasoning, and spatial abilities), number skills, spelling, word reading, reading comprehension and visual and verbal memory	76% recorded a cognitive level within the normal range. Learning problems were similar in the 2 groups, and there were notable difficulties with spatial and processing tasks.
Schiller et al. (13)	38 children with CDH and/or treated with neonatal ECMO. No controls	8–12 years	Neuroimaging: Structural MRI and DTI 3Tesla. Neurocognitive domains: intelligence, attention, verbal and visuospatial memory, executive functioning, visuospatial processing	Mean diffusivity (MD) in the left parahippocampal region of the cingulum (PHC) was negatively associated with visuospatial memory. MD in the left and right PHC were negatively associated with verbal memory. Bilateral hippocampal volume was positively associated with verbal memory. No differences between groups in the structure-function associations found
(B) SEVERE CARDI	AC FAILURE			
Tindall et al. (14)	9 survivors of cardiac disease treated with ECMO compared to 13 controls matched for cardiac disease and age of surgery. 31 healthy controls	4–6 years	Neurocognitive domains: general cognitive ability, sustained attention, memory, spatial construction, verbal ability	Children treated with ECMO demonstrated significant impairment in general cognitive ability compared to normal controls. No group differences were found in impulsivity or sustained attention. On lateralized measures, children treated with ECMO demonstrated significant impairment in left-hand motor skill, visual memory, and spatial construction compared to both cardiac controls and normal controls. There were no group differences in general verbal ability, verbal memory, right-hand motor skills, or tactile perception

ECMO, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation; CDH, congenital diaphragmatic hernia; CM, conventional management; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; DTI, diffusion tensor imaging; MRS, magnetic resonance spectroscopy.

more widespread neuropsychological impairment has also been reported in survivors of neonatal ECMO compared to those treated with CM (9–12). These differences may be due to more global brain alterations as a result of greater illness severity in the neonatal period. In line with this, in the study by Cooper et al. (10) an increase in CSF and trend toward reduced global white matter was observed in the ECMO group compared to the CM group. On the contrary, although global alterations in white matter microstructure were found in survivors of severe neonatal respiratory failure by others as well, these were independent of ECMO treatment (13). The explanation of this discrepancy remains speculative, but may be because the differences are small and are therefore difficult to detect in relatively small study populations.

NEURODEVELOPMENTAL OUTCOME AFTER SEVERE CARDIAC FAILURE—TREATED WITH OR WITHOUT ECMO

In neonates with congenital or acquired heart disease, ECMO is used as a perioperative bridge to recovery or temporary support. Although respiratory failure remains the most common indication for extracorporeal life support today, the proportion of cardiac ECMO cases has increased dramatically. ECMO has evolved into a standard therapy for support of cardiac failure refractory to medical care alone (16). Fortunately, this has led to lower mortality rates in these patients and improvement of short-term outcome (1, 16). Because of this, monitoring long-term neurodevelopment in these patients is of great importance.

Several long-term studies have shown that neonates with congenital or acquired heart disease are at risk of long-term deficits in multiple neurocognitive domains, such as visuospatial skills, executive functioning, attention and memory (17–22). Subsequently, just as in patients with severe respiratory failure, survivors of cardiac failure within the first weeks of life are at increased risk of academic difficulties (17–21). Whether patients treated with ECMO are at an even higher risk of these long-term neurodevelopmental problems remains largely unknown. Patients in need of ECMO obviously represent a negative case selection due to circulatory failure post-cardiac repair. In some patients, such as in selected patients with TGA and pulmonary hypertension, survival is even dependent on pre-surgery support by ECMO.

Studies comparing neurocognitive outcome after severe cardiac failure between ECMO and non-ECMO treated patients are very scarce (**Table 1B**). In an early study on this topic, Tindall et al. (14) compared neuropsychological outcome in 4–6 yearold children who were treated with ECMO following repair of congenital heart defects to patients not treated with ECMO and healthy controls. General cognitive ability was within the normal range in both patients groups, yet significantly lower in patients treated with ECMO when compared to healthy controls (14). On more specific neuropsychological tasks, the ECMO group scored significantly lower on left-hand motor skill, visual memory, and spatial construction compared to both cardiac controls and healthy children (14). No group differences were found in sustained attention, general verbal ability, verbal memory, righthand motor skills, or tactile perception (14). Although providing some insight into long-term neuropsychological outcome in these patients, studies with older children are of interest as these patients may "grow into deficit." This phenomenon has been described in survivors of severe respiratory failure (2), in which early brain damage becomes only functionally evident at a school-age due to brain maturation and increasing demands on cognitive functioning (23, 24).

Both global and specific brain alterations have been described in survivors of congenital heart disease (25–27). In 8–16 yearold children with transposition of the great arteries that were treated with the arterial switch, significant memory impairment and abnormally small hippocampal volumes were found (20). These impairments were similar to those described previously in patients with acute hypoxemic respiratory failure by the same group (10). Although the neurocognitive deficits were found to be independent of surgical repair, no comparison was made between patients treated with and without ECMO (20).

PATHOPHYSIOLOGICAL MECHANISMS UNDERLYING NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DEFICITS

Putting these findings together, it becomes apparent that children with complex congenital heart disease and children who survived severe respiratory failure are at risk of neurocognitive deficits later in life. In both groups, irrespective of ECMO treatment, these deficits lead to difficulties in school. This is highly problematic and underscores the need to understand the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying the long-term neurodevelopmental deficits.

Although some studies seem to suggest that patients treated with ECMO have worse outcomes than patients not treated with ECMO, this is not a consistent finding (9, 11, 14). Both global and specific brain alterations have been described in both of these patient groups. In patients with severe respiratory failure, these brain alterations were largely independent of the need for ECMO treatment (13, 15). However, in a study with school-age survivors of AHRF, patients treated with ECMO seemed to have more widespread brain alterations than patients not treated with ECMO (10). The question rises what pathophysiological mechanisms are underlying these long-term neurodevelopmental deficits. Severity of illness and factors associated with critical illness in general have been described to determine outcome following neonatal critical illness (2). In addition, ECMO treatment may further complicate neurodevelopment by affecting cerebral blood flow and subsequently cerebral autoregulation (28). However, a conclusive cause-effect relationship with ECMO has not been established (28). Moreover, despite lower IQ in patients treated with ECMO compared to patients treated without ECMO (11), the degree of neuropsychological deficits (i.e., specific memory and/or attention problems) and the extent to which these interfere with daily life are similar between these two groups

(9, 15, 29). Furthermore, in long-term imaging studies conducted by our group, no differences in (subtle) brain abnormalities were found either between ECMO vs. no-ECMO treated patients, nor between patients treated with veno-arterial and venovenous ECMO (15). These findings suggest that disease processes other than ECMO treatment are underlying the long-term neuropsychological deficits in these patients. An explanation for this may be that, while studies have shown major neurologic complications in about 20% of ECMO-treated patients (30), more subtle brain abnormalities that cannot be detected using standard neonatal MRI seem to be present in both ECMO and non-ECMO patients [12, 14, 28]. While major neurologic complications may lead to severe neurocognitive impairments such as generally lower intellectual ability, these more subtle brain injuries seem to be underlying the long-term neurocognitive deficits in the memory and attention domains observed in the survivors at school-age (29). Neuromonitoring before, during and after neonatal ECMO treatment in these patients is therefore of great importance. Future studies are needed in which neuromonitoring data from near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS), transcranial Doppler, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and/or electroencephalogram (EEG) is coupled with neurodevelopmental outcome to see whether early predictors can be identified.

In survivors of perinatal cardiac failure, the effect of ECMO treatment on long-term brain alterations has, to our knowledge, not been studied. Comparing survivors of cardiac failure to survivors of severe respiratory failure shows both similarities in neurodevelopmental outcome, such as memory deficits with hippocampal alterations (10, 20), as well as differences. In survivors of CHD, multiple neurocognitive domains, such as visuospatial skills, executive functioning, attention and memory (17-21), are found to be compromised. Neurodevelopmental deficits therefore seem to be more widespread in these patient groups than in patients with severe respiratory failure. This may be due to the timing of brain injury. Several studies have shown that brain alterations in patients with CHD already exist prenatally, presumably due to lower oxygen tension in utero (31-33). In contrast, patients with severe respiratory failure are generally born at term and only exposed to deleterious conditions that may affect brain development postnatally. Although evidence from studies in patients with severe respiratory failure seem to suggest otherwise, ECMO treatment in patients with CHD may lead to an even increased risk of diffuse or global brain alterations and subsequent neuropsychological deficits due to its potential effect on cerebral autoregulation (28). However, future studies in CHD patients are needed to assess this notion.

Looking at similarities, we know that all patients described in this review are at risk of hypoxia-ischemia. Evidence has shown that white matter, in particular in the periventricular regions, and the hippocampus are particularly susceptible to hypoxicischemic insults (2, 34, 35). Using animal models, premyelinating oligodendrocytes (pre-OLs) in cerebral white matter have been found to be selectively targeted by oxidative stress. These cells account for ~90% of the total oligodendroglial population at 28 weeks of gestation and ~50% at term (35). Increased regional susceptibility of the periventricular white matter is suggested

to be due to the distribution of these pre-OLs and relative underdevelopment of distal arterial fields to these areas (35, 36). In addition, studies using animal and in vitro models have demonstrated that the hippocampus shows more pronounced changes following hypoxia-ischaemia than other brain structures (34). Indeed, critically ill neonates exposed to hypoxic-ischemic injuries, irrespective of gestatational age or underlying diseasse, have been shown to be at increased risk of periventricular white matter abnormalities and hipopcampal damage (2). Since white matter is important for high-speed transmission of neuronal signals between distant brain regions, aberrations in white matter development affects the orchestration of specific cognitive functions (13, 15). Furthermore, hippocampal alterations have shown to lead to significant memory deficits, which has been described as developmental amnesia in this population (37, 38). In line with this, our group previously found a specific negative association between the maximum dose of vasoactive medication received during first admission (measured by the Vasoactive Inotropic Score; VIS) and long-term verbal and visuospatial memory in survivors of neonatal ECMO and/or congenital diaphragmatic hernia. The association was found in both ECMO and non-ECMO treated patients (9). Although currently speculative, receiving high levels of vasoactive medication in the first period of life may be an indirect marker of temporarily (regional) inadequate brain perfusion. As the hippocampus, is particularly vulnerable for hypoperfusion and/or hypoxia, the association between the VIS and memory may be the indirect result of this pathophysiological mechanism. Future research in which dense and detailed data on continuous oxygen saturation and supplemental oxygen supply is combined with neurodevelopmental outcome is needed to gain further insight in this potential cause-effect relationship.

Finding ways to protect the brain against hypoxic-ischemic injury is therefore an important goal for future studies. The use of pharmacological agents that may have neuroprotective effects may be of great value in critically ill infants. Dexmedetomidine, used in particular for sedation in the pediatric ICU population, may have neuroprotective effects against hypoxic-ischemic damage (39). These effects have been suggested to result from an activation of α_2 -adrenergic receptors by dexmedetomidine, which inhibits inflammation following brain ischemia (40). However, these findings are mostly based on animals models and studies in adult populations (39, 40). Future clinical trials that assess the efficacy and safety of dexmedetomidine in critically ill neonates are therefore needed.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS TO IMPROVE NEURODEVELOPMENT AFTER NEONATAL CRITICAL ILLNESS

Neurorehabilitation

Given the complex interplay of factors that are likely to affect the developing brain in critically ill infants, rehabilitation strategies aimed at improving impaired neuropsychological functions are of great interest in these patients. Our group has recently demonstrated short-term gains in verbal working-memory

and associated increased FA in the left superior longitudinal fasciculus (SLF) following Cogmed working-memory training (CWMT) in school-age survivors of neonatal ECMO and/or CDH (29). These findings are in line with the effects demonstrated in other clinical and non-clinical groups after CWMT (8, 41-46). One year after CWMT, neuropsychological follow-up showed that gains in visuospatial memory delayed recall persisted long-term (47). Unfortunately, MRI was not performed at this time, hampering our understanding of the neurobiological mechanisms that may be underlying these longterm changes. Nonetheless, as previous findings showed that over 50% of school-age survivors of neonatal ECMO and/or CDH have long-term visuospatial memory deficits (9), improving memory in these children is of great importance.

Ideally, intervention should take place before memory problems have interfered with school performance. In children with very low birth weight, memory improvements have been found 6 months after CWMT at preschool-age (41), suggesting earlier intervention may lead to similar results. However, these results need to be replicated in preschool survivors of neonatal ECMO and/or CDH with long-term visuospatial memory deficits, as well as in other survivors of critical illness such as following complex cardiac anomalies, before any definitive conclusions can be drawn. In future trials, neuropsychological assessment and neuroimaging should be conducted both immediately and 1 year post-intervention.

These studies demonstrate that neurocognition is malleable with CWMT in survivors of neonatal critical illness. However, it is not the (complete) answer to the long-term neuropsychological deficits observed in these children. Results described in this paper demonstrate that multiple neuropsychological domains are affected in both survivors of neonatal severe respiratory failure and complex cardiac anomalies, either treated with or without ECMO. It is therefore essential to conduct an elaborate neuropsychological assessment before initiating CWMT in survivors of neonatal critical illness to determine its clinical utility. Furthermore, if multiple domains are affected in a child, treatment strategies should ideally affect multiple domains as well. A combination of different intervention programs may therefore be of interest. Findings from both experimental and clinical studies have suggested that multimodal training leads to better results compared to a single training program (48, 49). Exercise training in children has been found to affect memory and learning by targeting the hippocampus (50). Combining such a physical program with cognitive training aimed at improving attention or memory, may strengthen the results and be beneficial in survivors of neonatal critical illness. However, these are future perspectives and of little use in today's clinical practice.

Currently, survivors of neonatal critical illness with longterm neuropsychological deficits may have to manage with practical tools to improve school performance and daily life activities. To improve long-term neurocognitive outcome in these children, we recommend that survivors of neonatal critical illness receive information on the practical implications of the deficits they may experience (e.g., difficulty remembering homework that is due tomorrow or appointments with friends), as well as learn about compensatory techniques or external (memory) aids that may be used to improve their activities of daily living [e.g., errorless learning, mental imagery to improve recall, writing important things down and using a schedule book (51)]. Ideally, this information is personalized to the patient's specific neuropsychological impairments and needs. Personalized information on neuropsychological deficits and practical tools can be realized by conducting neuropsychological assessment to evaluate the degree of neuropsychological deficits, as well as by evaluating the degree to which these deficits affect activities of daily living in the patient (51).

For all survivors of neonatal critical respiratory and cardiac illness, whether treated with or without ECMO, a long-term follow-up program with regular assessments across development that covers various medical and neurodevelopmental domains is recommended. It is important that follow-up continues until school-age and into adolescence, as these children seem to "grow into deficit" where early brain damage does not become functionally evident until cognitive functioning increases later in life (3). The neuropsychologist as such can play an essential role in (the improvement of) long-term outcome following neonatal critical illness (Figure 1). A multidisciplinary approach to longterm follow-up after neonatal critical illness should therefore be strived for. Please refer to IJsselstijn et al. (52) for more detailed recommendations on multidisciplinary age-appropriate follow-up programs in these patients.

Prevention

Ideally, the deleterious effects of neonatal critical illness on the neonatal brain should be prevented. This may be (partly) accomplished by fine-tuning therapy or treatment strategies, but may also be achieved with the use of neuroprotective agents in the future. While the specific pathophysiological mechanisms underlying the neurocognitive deficits are yet to be identified, we do know that the hippocampus is highly vulnerable in this population (2). The use of pharmacological agents that may have neuroprotective effects may therefore be of great value in



after neonatal critical illness.

critically ill infants. For instance, maternal allopurinol, which may protect the fetus against hypoxic-ischemic brain injury, is currently being conducted (53). Here, we mention two other potentially neuroprotective agents that are already commonly used in the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU).

Dexmedetomidine, used in particular for sedation in the pediatric ICU population, may have neuroprotective effects on the hippocampus, in particular against hypoxic-ischemic damage (39). These effects have been suggested to result from an activation of α_2 -adrenergic receptors by dexmedetomidine, which inhibits inflammation following brain ischemia (40). As the hippocampus has been found to be vulnerable to both hypoxia-ischemia as well as inflammation (2), this specific mechanisms of action is of interest. However, these findings are mostly based on animals models and studies in adult populations (39, 40). Future clinical trials that assess the efficacy and safety of dexmedetomidine in critically ill neonates are therefore needed that also include neurobiological outcome parameters, such as hippocampal volume. Another agent that may be of interest in this respect is erythropoietin. Erythropoietin is produced by various cell types in the developing brain as a growth factor and as an endogenous neuroprotective response to hypoxia (54). As previously mentioned, in addition to hypoxia, high oxygen concentrations as a result of supplementary oxygen may lead to neonatal brain damage as well (34, 55-58). A recent study in 6-day-old rat pups showed that a single dose of erythropoietin at the onset of hyperoxia (24 h 80% oxygen) improved memory impairment and reduced acute oligodendrocyte degeneration up to the adolescent and adult stage (59). Given the vulnerability of pre-oligodendrocytes in the periventricular white matter during the perinatal period (35), which may potentially be (partly) underlying the attention and memory deficits observed later in life in survivors of neonatal critical illness (9, 11), reducing microstructural abnormalities in these fibers would have direct clinical benefits. In addition, studies have found that erythropoietin may have neurotrophic effects as well by increasing synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus and improving memory formation (59, 60).

The hippocampus shows a high degree of neuroplasticity, which means it has the unique ability to adapt and reorganize in response to internal or external stimuli (58). Although this unfortunately seems to result in more pronounced vulnerability than plasticity—the mechanisms underlying this (im)balance remaining largely unknown—its ability to generate new neurons throughout life does make it a promising target

REFERENCES

- 1. Organization ELS. *ECLS Registry Report, International Summary*. Ann Arbor, MI (2019).
- Schiller RM, IJsselstijn H, Hoskote A, White T, Verhulst F, van Heijst A, et al. Memory deficits following neonatal critical illness: a common neurodevelopmental pathway. *Lancet Child Adolesc Health*. (2018) 2:281–9. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(17)30180-3
- 3. Rourke PD BD, Fisk JL, Strang JD. *Child Neuropsychology: an Introduction to Theory, Research, and Clinical Practice.* New York, NY: The Guilford Press (1983).

in this respect (58). Trials on potentially neurotrophic agents such as erythropoietin are therefore of interest. In infants with extreme prematurity, hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy, perinatal stroke, and complex cyanotic heart disease, trials have demonstrated safety, and the potential for efficacy of erythropoietin (61). However, the optimal dose and regimen for neuroprotection in neonates remains largely unknown (62). Future clinical intervention trials assessing the effects of neuroprotective agents before, during or after exposure to both hypoxia and hyperoxia are needed in critically ill neonates.

CONCLUSIONS

Growing up after severe or cardiac respiratory failure in the neonatal period comes with an increased risk of neurocognitive deficits, which seem to be independent of ECMO treatment. In survivors of cardiac failure, widespread neurodevelopmental deficits are more often described than in survivors of respiratory failure, who seem to have more selective neurodevelopmental deficits in attention and memory. This may be due to the timing of brain injury, as brain alterations have been found to exist already in utero in patients with congenital heart disease. Nonetheless, academic failure has been reported in both groups. It is therefore of utmost importance that long-term outcome improves in these patient groups. Future studies are needed to identify early biomarkers or risk factors to improve early identification and intervention of children at risk. Furthermore, neuroprotective strategies should be explored. To improve outcome following neonatal critical illness in current practice, psychoeducation, compensatory techniques and external (aids) should become a standard part of (long-term) care following neonatal critical illness.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RS designed the manuscript and wrote the first versions while DT agreed upon the final version of the manuscript and provided editorial support.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We like to express our gratitude to Dr. Faraneh Vargha-Khadem, University College London, UK, for her critical evaluation of the manuscript.

- 4. Andersen SL. Trajectories of brain development: point vulnerability of of opportunity? or window Neurosci Biobehav Rev. (2003) 27:3-18. doi: 10.1016/S0149-7634(03)0 0005-8
- Blair LM, Pickler RH, Anderson C. Integrative review of genetic factors influencing neurodevelopmental outcomes in preterm infants. *Biol Res Nurs.* (2016) 18:127–37. doi: 10.1177/1099800415 605379
- Hackman DA, Farah MJ, Meaney MJ. Socioeconomic status and the brain: mechanistic insights from human and animal research. *Nat Rev Neurosci*. (2010) 11:651–9. doi: 10.1038/nrn2897

- Pearson GA, Field DJ, Firmin RK, Sosnowski AS. UK experience in neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. Arch Dis Child. (1992) 67:822– 5. doi: 10.1136/adc.67.7_Spec_No.822
- Jolles DD, van Buchem MA, Crone EA, Rombouts SA. Functional brain connectivity at rest changes after working memory training. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2013) 34:396–406. doi: 10.1002/hbm.21444
- Leeuwen L, Schiller RM, Rietman AB, van Rosmalen J, Wildschut ED, Houmes RJM, et al. Risk factors of impaired neuropsychologic outcome in schoolaged survivors of neonatal critical illness. *Crit Care Med.* (2018) 46:401– 10. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000002869
- Cooper JM, Gadian DG, Jentschke S, Goldman A, Munoz M, Pitts G, et al. Neonatal hypoxia, hippocampal atrophy, and memory impairment: evidence of a causal sequence. *Cereb Cortex*. (2015) 25:1469–76. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bht332
- Madderom MJ, Toussaint L, van der Cammen-van Zijp MH, Gischler SJ, Wijnen RM, Tibboel D, et al. Congenital diaphragmatic hernia with(out) ECMO: impaired development at 8 years. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. (2013) 98:F316–22. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2012-303020
- McNally H, Bennett CC, Elbourne D, Field DJ. United Kingdom collaborative randomized trial of neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: followup to age 7 years. *Pediatrics*. (2006) 117:e845–54. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-1167
- Schiller RM, van den Bosch GE, Muetzel RL, Smits M, Dudink J, Tibboel D, et al. Neonatal critical illness and development: white matter and hippocampus alterations in school-age neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation survivors. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2017) 59:304– 10. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.13309
- Tindall S, Rothermel RR, Delamater A, Pinsky W, Klein MD. Neuropsychological abilities of children with cardiac disease treated with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Dev Neuropsychol.* (1999) 16:101–15. doi: 10.1207/S15326942DN160106
- Schiller RM, IJsselstijn H, Madderom MJ, Rietman AB, Smits M, van Heijst AFJ, et al. Neurobiologic correlates of attention and memory deficits following critical illness in early life. *Crit Care Med.* (2017) 45:1742– 50. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0000000002553
- Allen KY, Allan CK, Su L, McBride ME. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in congenital heart disease. *Semin Perinatol.* (2018) 42:104– 10. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2017.12.006
- Bellinger DC, Wypij D, duPlessis AJ, Rappaport LA, Jonas RA, Wernovsky G, et al. Neurodevelopmental status at eight years in children with dextro-transposition of the great arteries: the Boston Circulatory Arrest Trial. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2003) 126:1385–96. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5223(03)00711-6
- Bellinger DC, Wypij D, Rivkin MJ, DeMaso DR, Robertson RL, Dunbar-Masterson C, et al. Adolescents with d-transposition of the great arteries corrected with the arterial switch procedure: neuropsychological assessment and structural brain imaging. *Circulation*. (2011) 124:1361– 9. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.026963
- Sterken C, Lemiere J, Vanhorebeek I, Van den Berghe G, Mesotten D. Neurocognition after paediatric heart surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Open Heart.* (2015) 2:e000255. doi: 10.1136/openhrt-2015-000255
- Muñoz-López M, Hoskote A, Chadwick MJ, Dzieciol AM, Gadian DG, Chong K, et al. Hippocampal damage and memory impairment in congenital cyanotic heart disease. *Hippocampus*. (2017) 27:417–24. doi: 10.1002/hipo. 22700
- Pike NA, Woo MA, Poulsen MK, Evangelista W, Faire D, Halnon NJ, et al. Predictors of memory deficits in adolescents and young adults with congenital Heart Disease compared to healthy controls. *Front Pediatr.* (2016) 4:117. doi: 10.3389/fped.2016.00117
- Latal B, Patel P, Liamlahi R, Knirsch W, O'Gorman Tuura R, von Rhein M. Hippocampal volume reduction is associated with intellectual functions in adolescents with congenital heart disease. *Pediatr Res.* (2016) 80:531– 7. doi: 10.1038/pr.2016.122
- Anderson PJ. Neuropsychological outcomes of children born very preterm. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. (2014) 19:90–6. doi: 10.1016/j.siny.2013.11.012
- 24. Rourke BP, Bakker DJ, Fisk JL, Strang JD. Child Neuropsychology. An Introduction to Theory, Research, and Clinical Practice. New York, NY: The Guilford Press (1983).

- von Rhein M, Buchmann A, Hagmann C, Huber R, Klaver P, Knirsch W, et al. Brain volumes predict neurodevelopment in adolescents after surgery for congenital heart disease. *Brain*. (2014) 137:268–76. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt322
- 26. von Rhein M, Buchmann A, Hagmann C, Dave H, Bernet V, Scheer I, et al. Severe congenital heart defects are associated with global reduction of neonatal brain volumes. *J Pediatr.* (2015) 167:1259–63 e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2015.07.006
- Khalil A, Suff N, Thilaganathan B, Hurrell A, Cooper D, Carvalho JS. Brain abnormalities and neurodevelopmental delay in congenital heart disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol.* (2014) 43:14–24. doi: 10.1002/uog.12526
- Kazmi SO, Sivakumar S, Karakitsos D, Alharthy A, Lazaridis C. Cerebral pathophysiology in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: pitfalls in daily clinical management. *Crit Care Res Pract.* (2018) 2018;3237810. doi: 10.1155/2018/3237810
- Schiller RM, IJsselstijn H, Madderom MJ, van Rosmalen J, van Heijst AFJ, Smits M, et al. Training-induced white matter microstructure changes in survivors of neonatal critical illness: a randomized controlled trial. *Dev Cogn Neurosci*. (2019) 38:100678. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2019.100678
- van Heijst AF, de Mol AC, Ijsselstijn H. ECMO in neonates: neuroimaging findings and outcome. Semin Perinatol. (2014) 38:104–13. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2013.11.008
- McQuillen PS, Miller SP. Congenital heart disease and brain development. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (2010) 1184: 68–86. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05116.x
- 32. Lauridsen MH, Uldbjerg N, Henriksen TB, Petersen OB, Stausbøl-Grøn B, Matthiesen NB, et al. Cerebral oxygenation measurements by magnetic resonance imaging in fetuses with and without heart defects. *Circ Cardiovasc Imaging*. (2017) 10:e006459. doi: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.117.006459
- 33. Seed M. In utero brain development in fetuses with congenital heart disease: another piece of the jigsaw provided by blood oxygen leveldependent magnetic resonance imaging. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. (2017) 10:e007181. doi: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.117.007181
- Schmidt-Kastner R. Genomic approach to selective vulnerability of the hippocampus in brain ischemia-hypoxia. *Neuroscience*. (2015) 309:259– 79. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.08.034
- Volpe JJ, Kinney HC, Jensen FE, Rosenberg PA. The developing oligodendrocyte: key cellular target in brain injury in the premature infant. *Int J Dev Neurosci.* (2011) 29:423–40. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2011.02.012
- Back SA. Cerebral white and gray matter injury in newborns: new insights into pathophysiology and management. *Clin Perinatol.* (2014) 41:1– 24. doi: 10.1016/j.clp.2013.11.001
- Vargha-Khadem F, Gadian DG, Watkins KE, Connelly A, Van Paesschen W, Mishkin M. Differential effects of early hippocampal pathology on episodic and semantic memory. *Science*. (1997) 277:376–80. doi: 10.1126/science.277.5324.376
- Vargha-Khadem F, Salmond CH, Watkins KE, Friston KJ, Gadian DG, Mishkin M. Developmental amnesia: effect of age at injury. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:10055–60. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1233 756100
- 39. Wang Y, Han R, Zuo Z. Dexmedetomidine-induced neuroprotection: is it translational? *Transl Perioper Pain Med.* (2016) 1:15–9.
- Jiang L, Hu M, Lu Y, Cao Y, Chang Y, Dai Z. The protective effects of dexmedetomidine on ischemic brain injury: a meta-analysis. J Clin Anesth. (2017) 40:25–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinane.2017.04.003
- Grunewaldt KH, Skranes J, Brubakk AM, Lähaugen GC. Computerized working memory training has positive long-term effect in very low birthweight preschool children. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2016) 58:195– 201. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.12841
- Klingberg T, Fernell E, Olesen PJ, Johnson M, Gustafsson P, Dahlström K, et al. Computerized training of working memory in children with ADHD– a randomized, controlled trial. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2005) 44:177–86. doi: 10.1097/00004583-200502000-00010
- Conklin HM, Ogg RJ, Ashford JM, Scoggins MA, Zou P, Clark KN, et al. Computerized cognitive training for amelioration of cognitive late effects among childhood cancer survivors: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol. (2015) 33:3894–902. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.61.6672
- 44. Conklin HM, Ashford JM, Clark KN, Martin-Elbahesh K, Hardy KK, Merchant TE, et al. Long-term efficacy of computerized cognitive training

among survivors of childhood cancer: a single-blind randomized controlled trial. J Pediatr Psychol. (2017) 42:220–31. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsw057

- Klingberg T. Training and plasticity of working memory. Trends Cogn Sci. (2010) 14:317–24. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2010.05.002
- Olesen PJ, Westerberg H, Klingberg T. Increased prefrontal and parietal activity after training of working memory. *Nat Neurosci.* (2004) 7:75– 9. doi: 10.1038/nn1165
- Schiller RM, Madderom MJ, van Rosmalen J, van Heijst AFJ, de Blaauw I, Utens E, et al. Working memory training following neonatal critical illness: a randomized controlled trial. *Crit Care Med.* (2018) 46:1158– 66. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000003151
- Fabel K, Wolf SA, Ehninger D, Babu H, Leal-Galicia P, Kempermann G. Additive effects of physical exercise and environmental enrichment on adult hippocampal neurogenesis in mice. *Front Neurosci.* (2009) 3:50. doi: 10.3389/neuro.22.002.2009
- Ward N, Paul E, Watson P, Cooke GE, Hillman CH, Cohen NJ, et al. Enhanced learning through multimodal training: evidence from a comprehensive cognitive, physical fitness, and neuroscience intervention. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:5808. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-06237-5
- Chaddock L, Erickson KI, Prakash RS, Kim JS, Voss MW, Vanpatter M, et al. A neuroimaging investigation of the association between aerobic fitness, hippocampal volume, and memory performance in preadolescent children. *Brain Res.* (2010) 1358:172–83. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2010.08.049
- Ptak R, der Linden MV, Schnider A. Cognitive rehabilitation of episodic memory disorders: from theory to practice. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2010) 4:57. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2010.00057
- IJsselstijn H, Hunfeld M, Schiller RM, Houmes RJ, Hoskote A, Tibboel D, et al. Improving long-term outcomes after extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: from observational follow-up programs toward risk stratification. *Front Pediatr.* (2018) 6:177. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00177
- Martinello KA, Sheperd E, Middleton P, Crowther CA. Allopurinol for women in pregnancy for neuroprotection of the fetus. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2017) 2017:CD012881. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD012881
- Juul SE, Pet GC. Erythropoietin and neonatal neuroprotection. *Clin Perinatol.* (2015) 42:469–81. doi: 10.1016/j.clp.2015.04.004
- 55. Graulich J, Hoffmann U, Maier RF, Ruscher K, Pomper JK, Ko HK, et al. Acute neuronal injury after hypoxia is influenced by the reoxygenation mode in juvenile hippocampal slice cultures. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res.* (2002) 137:35–42. doi: 10.1016/S0165-3806(02)00365-6

- Ramani M, van Groen T, Kadish I, Bulger A, Ambalavanan N. Neurodevelopmental impairment following neonatal hyperoxia in the mouse. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2013) 50:69–75. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2012. 10.005
- 57. Shimabuku R, Ota A, Pereyra S, Véliz B, Paz E, Nakachi G, et al. Hyperoxia with 100% oxygen following hypoxia-ischemia increases brain damage in newborn rats. *Biol Neonate*. (2005) 88:168–71. doi: 10.1159/000 086206
- Bartsch T, Wulff P. The hippocampus in aging and disease: From plasticity to vulnerability. *Neuroscience*. (2015) 309:1– 16. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.07.084
- Hoeber D, Sifringer M, van de Looij Y, Herz J, Sizonenko SV, Kempe K, et al. Erythropoietin restores long-term neurocognitive function involving mechanisms of neuronal plasticity in a model of hyperoxia-induced preterm brain injury. Oxid Med Cell Longev. (2016) 2016:9247493. doi: 10.1155/2016/ 9247493
- Miskowiak KW, Vinberg M, Harmer CJ, Ehrenreich H, Kessing LV. Erythropoietin: a candidate treatment for mood symptoms and memory dysfunction in depression. *Psychopharmacology*. (2012) 219:687–98. doi: 10.1007/s00213-011-2511-1
- Rangarajan V, Juul SE. Erythropoietin: emerging role of erythropoietin in neonatal neuroprotection. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2014) 51:481–8. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2014.06.008
- Hassell KJ, Ezzati M, Alonso-Alconada D, Hausenloy DJ, Robertson NJ. New horizons for newborn brain protection: enhancing endogenous neuroprotection. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. (2015) 100:F541– 52. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2014-306284

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Schiller and Tibboel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





ECMO for Neonatal Sepsis in 2019

Warwick Wolf Butt 1,2,3* and Roberto Chiletti 1,2*

¹ Paediatric Intensive Care Unit, Royal Children's Hospital, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ² Murdoch Children's Research Institute, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ³ Department of Paediatrics, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

Sepsis and septic shock in newborns causes mortality and morbidity depending on the organism and primary site. ECMO provides cardiorespiratory support to allow adequate organ perfusion during the time for antibiotics and source control surgery (if needed) to occur. ECMO mode and cannulation site vary depending on support required and local preference. Earlier and more aggressive use of ECMO can improve survival.

Keywords: sepsis, shock, ECMO, neonate, infection

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Giacomo Cavallaro, IRCCS Ca 'Granda Foundation Maggiore Policlinico Hospital, Italy

Reviewed by:

Gail Mary Annich, Hospital for Sick Children, Canada Timothy M. Maul, Nemours Children's Hospital, United States Neysan Rafat, University Medical Center Mannheim, Germany

*Correspondence:

Warwick Wolf Butt warwick.butt@rch.org.au Roberto Chiletti roberto.chiletti@rch.org.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neonatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 01 October 2019 Accepted: 03 February 2020 Published: 21 February 2020

Citation:

Butt WW and Chiletti R (2020) ECMO for Neonatal Sepsis in 2019. Front. Pediatr. 8:50. doi: 10.3389/fped.2020.00050

INTRODUCTION

Sepsis secondary to a bacterial, a viral, or a fungal infection during the first 28 days of life remains a significant cause of mortality and long-term morbidity. Despite advances in neonatal care and maternal antibiotic prophylaxis for group B streptococcus (GBS), the incidence of neonatal sepsis remains high with 1–4 cases every 1,000 live births in the USA with mortality and long-term disability affecting 40% of neonates with sepsis (1–3). Risk factors for the development of sepsis in the neonatal period can be maternal (prolonged rupture of membranes, poor or no antenatal care, meconium-stained liquor, premature labor and chorioamnionitis, GBS colonization) and neonatal (prematurity, low birth weight, APGAR 5 min <5, male gender, resuscitation at birth, neutropenia, lack of enteral feeding, need for vascular catheters and mechanical ventilation) (4). While GBS and Escherichia Coli are the most common bacteria involved, viral sepsis (Herpes Simplex Virus, HSV) and fungal infections are responsible for increased mortality and neurological sequelae, especially in the premature group. Mortality rates for neonatal sepsis vary between 10 and 30% across studies based on gestational age (term vs. birth weight <1,000 g, 52% vs. 72%, respectively) and pathogen (up to 73% for systemic candidiasis) (1, 5–7).

Neonatal sepsis is a heterogeneous entity with different clinical presentations depending on the time of onset and is classified as early (within the first 72 h of life) and late-onset (beyond 72 h of life). These differences correlate with the physiological changes the myocardium and vascular system undergo during the first weeks of life.

The definition of sepsis in neonates is adapted from the pediatric population complicating further diagnosis and management of neonatal sepsis; in a retrospective review of term neonates, only 53% of the cases of culture-positive early-onset sepsis were diagnosed by the consensus definition (8, 9).

Extracorporeal mechanical oxygenation (ECMO) is routinely used around the world to support children and adults with respiratory and/or cardiovascular dysfunction with increasing numbers of children supported over the last three decades (10). The American College of Critical Care Medicine, in their latest edition of the neonatal sepsis guidelines, recommends ECMO for refractory shock as last tier intervention when medical management has failed (11). Despite early reluctance of the ECMO community in supporting adults and children with septic shock due to high morbidity and mortality, ECMO has been routinely utilized for the neonatal population with reported survival rate of up to 70% (12–16).

SEPSIS & SEPTIC SHOCK	Newborn	Child	Adult	
Physiological differences	↓ myocardial mass ↓ compliance and contractility High baseline HR with poor compensatory capacity ↓ α-adrenergic receptors ↑ circulating catecholamines ↓ PMN recruitment and BM depletion ↓ phagocytic activity	Developmental transition from neonatal to adult features through first 5 years of life	Normal mass Normal compliance and contractility HR can double/triple to maintain DO2 Normal α -adrenergic receptors and circulatin catecholamines PMN margination at infection site and inflammatory cascade activation	
Incidence (USA)	1–5 cases per 1,000 live births	1 case per 1,000 person-year	13–78 cases per 100,000 person-year	
Predominant cardiovascular status	↑PVR & ↓RV function ↓ LV function/Cl	↓ LV function/Cl & \uparrow or↓ SVR	↓ SVR and \uparrow CI	
Clinical features	PPHN & respiratory failure and/or cardiogenic shock	Cardiogenic shock and/or distributive shock	Distributive shock and/or cardiogenic shock	
ECMO survival	50-77% (13, 16, 17)	31–74% (16, 18, 19)	22–78% (20–22)	

HR, heart rate; DO2, oxygen delivery; PMN, polymorphonuclear cells; BM, bone marrow; PVR, pulmonary vascular resistance; RV, right ventricle; LV, left ventricle; CI, cardiac index; SVR, systemic vascular resistance; PPHN, persistent pulmonary hypertension on the newborn.

NEONATAL CARDIOVASCULAR PHYSIOLOGY VS. CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS

The neonatal myocardium has functional and structural features that differ markedly from the heart of older children and adults (Table 1). The myocardium has less contractile protein per 100 grams of tissue than an older child's heart; only half of the tissue is composed of contractile elements while the remaining 50% is made of connective tissue, large nuclei, and mitochondria (see Figure 1). Therefore, the mass of the myocardium is reduced, as well as its compliance and contractile capacity and reserve. Equally important is the "disorganization" of the neonatal myocardium as compared to the well-organized sheets of muscle of the older child's heart. The reduced compliance of the heart leads to higher filling pressure and reduced pre-load augmentation (23-25). These factors limit the reserve capacity of the neonatal heart, making it highly dependent on heart rate and susceptible to negative inotropic drugs or acidosis. While adults hearts can double or triple their heart rate to maintain oxygen delivery (high output shock), the high baseline rate of neonates limits this compensatory mechanism. Furthermore, differently from adult hearts, cardiac function is highly dependent on the resting beta-adrenergic stimulation leading to a reduced response to beta-agonist agents, meaning higher doses are required in neonates to achieve the same effect.

The neonatal myocardium expresses less alpha-adrenergic receptors which contribute to the reduced left ventricular function. To compensate for the reduced myocardial function, the concentration of circulating catecholamines is higher than in adults; therefore, the higher depressing effect in neonates on cardiac output by anesthetic agents. Calcium ion transport in the myocardial cells is fundamental to guarantee contraction and relaxation. Myocardial sarcolemma and Ttubular system is less well-developed and calcium entry into cells is compromised in the newborn. Also, neonatal myocytes have reduced mitochondrial calcium and rely mostly on extracellular calcium for contractility; volatile agents used in anesthesia, modulate calcium inflow and can lead to severe myocardial depression in neonates. Decreased kinetics of cytosol calcium contribute to delay in diastolic relaxation (26, 27).

During fetal life, the circulation is in parallel with equal right and left ventricular pressures, right ventricular (RV) predominance, and half of the cardiac output directed to the placenta circulation for its low vascular resistance. After cord clamping and initiation of ventilation, systemic vascular resistance (SVR) rises, and pulmonary vascular resistance (PVR) falls with rising in left atrial (LA) pressure and closure of the foramen oval (FO), and transition to a series circulation, finalized after several days by closure of the ductus arteriosus (through increase in oxygen tension, endothelin I and catechol amines and reduction in prostaglandins). Early infections during this transition period can interfere with this process leading to PPHN, right to left shunt via FO and persistent ductus arteriosus (PDA) (25).

During sepsis, the difference between neonates, children, and adults have also been described at the level of endothelium and interaction between pathogen and immune system (28). Differently from adults, neonates have reduced recruitment of polymorphonucleate cells (PMN) to the site of infection, diminished phagocytic activity, and intracellular killing by reactive oxygen radicals, and a higher pathogen load per ml of blood as part as a "microbe-tolerant" strategy (29, 30). Furthermore, *in vitro* studies showed lower levels of circulating TNF, IL-1B, and IL10 (31).

CLINICAL FEATURES OF SEPSIS IN NEONATES VS. CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS

During the neonatal period, depending on gestation age, the timing of infection (early vs. late-onset), etiology



FIGURE 1 | Stained myocardial section in a neonate and a 12 year old at same magnification.

(bacterial, fungal, or viral), and primary focus (pneumonia vs. systemic), sepsis can present with different clinical features of cardiovascular disturbance.

Lack of transition from fetal to neonatal circulation with severe PPHN and persistent fetal circulation (PFC) is a frequent complication of early-onset sepsis. Therapeutic target remains agents that act on reduction of PVR and RV support.

Late-onset sepsis can have the same clinical features of early onset sepsis or can present with increased SVR and severely reduced left ventricular (LV) function and cardiac output, disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC), and multiorgan failure (MOF). Older children with septic shock, or "cold shock," manifest the same features of severely depressed myocardial function.

Clinical features of septic shock in adults are reduced SVR (hypotension), standard or increased cardiac index, tachycardia and increased mixed venous saturations. This clinical presentation is also described as "warm shock" or distributive shock (32, 33). This is uncommon in children and very rare in neonates due to the developmental differences mentioned above.

INDICATIONS FOR ECMO IN NEONATAL SEPSIS

From 2012 to 2017, the Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO) reports that, of all neonates receiving ECMO, in <10% the indication was sepsis (34). In neonates where sepsis presents as RV failure, pulmonary hypertension and hypoxemia, indications for initiation of mechanical support do not differ from the ones for respiratory and/or cardiovascular failure secondary to meconium aspiration, congenital diaphragmatic hernia or pneumonia: oxygenation index >40 for more than 4 h, failure to wean from 100% oxygen despite maximal medical therapy, severe hypoxic respiratory failure and pulmonary hypertension with evidence of RV and/or LV failure. On the

other hand, for neonates whose sepsis presents with systemic inflammatory response (SIRS), refractory septic shock (RSS), and MOF, the only indication for mechanical support provided by the latest ESLO guidelines is "pressor resistant hypotension" (34). At the current state, there is no consensus on level of inotropic/vasoactive support, level of organ dysfunction, time frame from onset to MOF or rapidity of medical therapy escalation that should trigger ECMO initiation for neonates with RSS. Validation of the septic shock scores for pediatric RSS in the neonatal population could potentially identify in future more targeted clinical parameters [vaso-inotrope score (VIS), arterial lactate and myocardial dysfunction] on the timing of ECMO (35).

ECMO MODALITY DURING NEONATAL SEPSIS

Depending on the critical clinical features of sepsis, neonates have been supported with different modalities of ECMO.

Veno-Venous ECMO

During veno-venous ECMO (VV-ECMO), blood is drained from the venous system [superior vena cava (SVC) or inferior vena cava (IVC)] or right atrium (RA) and returned into the venous system (SVC or IVC) or RA after carbon dioxide removal and oxygenation. Historically, this modality was deemed to provide only respiratory support although by decreasing ventilation, it can augment cardiac output by decreasing lung over-distension thus reducing PVR and increasing venous return to the LA, improve coronary blood oxygen content and LV performance, and diminish intrathoracic pressure. Neonates with severe pneumonia and sepsis, manifesting as severe PPHN, are the best candidates for VV-ECMO support. In clinical practice, there have been no predictors able to identify for which neonates VV-ECMO will provide sufficient myocardial support not to need veno-arterial support. Failing cardiovascular support with persistent acidosis, reduced lactate clearance and low mixed venous saturation (SvO2) on VV-ECMO should trigger early conversion to VA-ECMO via cannulation of the carotid artery. In an ELSO database review of ECMO in septic children, VV-ECMO was mostly used in the neonatal age (87%) compared to older children (13%) and associated with improved survival when compared to VA-ECMO (83% vs. 70%, respectively) (16). Both in adults and children supported for respiratory failure, VV-ECMO was associated with lower complications rates and improved survival (36, 37). In the 2019 report from the Karolinska Institute on ECMO for septic shock in adults, VV-ECMO was associated with reduced ECMO and hospital survival when compared to VA (60 vs. 85%, respectively); survival was also higher for adults with LV failure (90%) when compared to distributive shock (64.7%) (20). This study reinforces the concept of different outcomes for the same condition depending on clinical features and modality of support for it.

VV-ECMO has a safer profile than VA-ECMO not requiring arterial cannulation and subsequent potential risk of arterial embolic phenomena to the brain, to the splanchnic region, and to the peripheries. A major downside of veno-venous support remains the potential for recirculation and hypoxemia. Since 2009, double-lumen cannulae were introduced, and have been widely utilized, to obviate for the risk of recirculation. Despite the positive aspect of requiring single vascular access, these devices are difficult to position correctly in neonates and children, and allow partial support when compared to a two cannulae strategy. In a single center review comparing complications of dual-lumen cannula vs. a two cannulae approach, children supported with a dual lumen-cannula had increased mechanical complications on ECMO and seizure episodes (38).

Veno-Arterial ECMO

Peripheral VA-ECMO

Septic neonates in whom the clinical presentation is dominated by severely depressed myocardial function with progressive left ventricular dilatation and increased systemic vascular resistance (SVR) require VA-ECMO. This modality provides the best level of cardiovascular support to the failing heart, ensuring adequate blood flow, and oxygen delivery to organs. It also allows a decrease of inotropic drugs and vasopressors with their potential complications. During peripheral VA-ECMO, blood is drained via a cannula in the SVC/RA and is returned through a cannula inserted in the carotid artery and tip positioned ideally at the junction with the aortic arch. Cerebrovascular accidents (cerebral infarction or hemorrhage) remain the more significant and severe complication. In an ELSO database review, 22% of neonates cannulated peripherally onto VA-ECMO developed a neurologic injury (39). Despite lack of evidence, carotid artery repair, and not ligation after decannulation could potentially limit long term neurological complication; many centers do this.

Left atrial (LA) dilatation due to poor myocardial function and /or myocardial stunning can delay left ventricular recovery and cause pulmonary hemorrhage; this is particularly likely in the settings of severe left ventricular failure pre-ECMO or differential ventricular function with right better than left. Signs of LA hypertension on echo, lack of native myocardial ejection, and LV dilatation should trigger ECMO flows and SVR manipulation; consideration should rapidly be given to LA decompression via percutaneous atrial septostomy, percutaneous cannulation of the LA via the Foramen Ovale or direct surgical LA cannulation. After ECMO initiation, an echo should also document the presence of a patent ductus arteriosus which might contribute to high pulmonary to systemic flow ratio (Qp:Qs), arterial diastolic steal (reverse flow in aorta during diastole) and pulmonary over circulation with increasing levels of lactate or lack of clearance, pulmonary oedema and hemorrhage, contributing to higher morbidity of this modality.

Central VA-ECMO

While peripheral VA-ECMO might be sufficient to ensure adequate cardio circulatory support for isolated cardiogenic or cold shock, in the presence of distributive shock or mixed shock (distributive and cardiogenic), higher ECMO flows may be required to maintain adequate end-organ oxygen delivery and function. Central cannulation is primarily utilized in the post-cardiotomy pediatric population and in ECMO centers with cardio surgical programs.

This modality is similar to what happens in a cardiac operating theater during cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB); the sternum is open, blood is drained via a large bore cannula placed directly into the RA and returned into the ascending aorta. Higher flows up to 200-250 ml/kg/min can be achieved to meet the circulatory needs during mixed cardiogenic/distributive shock. Rarely low dose vasopressors (Vasopressin or Noradrenaline infusions) might be required to achieve physiological blood pressure for age. Flows should be adjusted to guarantee the best oxygen delivery to tissue (SvO2 60-70%) and flow adequate to meet metabolic demand and clear lactate (lactate <2 mmol/L); counter to intuition, continuous infusion of systemic vasodilators (and not ECMO flow reduction) might be required to manage hypertension on this high flow. This is usual for the first 6 h of mechanical support. As time passes and organ resuscitation continues, flow reduction is possible and guided by SvO2, lactate, peripheral perfusion and individual organ function.

Left heart distention is a possible complication as for peripheral VA-ECMO, and direct drainage of LA or LV can be addressed during the cannulation process as well as the ligation of a PDA. Disadvantages remain the invasive nature of the procedure, the potential for secondary mediastinal infection and high risk of bleeding, especially in neonates with liver dysfunction, DIC, and coagulopathy. During the first 24-48 h of support aggressive blood products replacement with Platelets, Fresh Frozen Plasma (FFP), and Cryoprecipitate might be required. Chest exploration for mediastinal blood accumulation and inspection for secondary bleeding points is frequently needed and clot removal is mandatory to limit secondary fibrinolysis and consumptive coagulopathy which can worsen bleeding. Careful monitoring of inlet and outlet pressures are fundamental when high ECMO flows on centrifugal pumps are utilized, in order to avoid hemolysis or cavitation. High ECMO flows and excessively negative venous pressure (<-20 mmHg) can lead to hemolysis which is associated with increased odds of ICU and in hospital mortality (40).

Duration of ECMO

The duration of ECMO support for sepsis is generally 4-6 days and varies on the microorganism, clinical presentation (pneumonia vs. shock), timing of ECMO and pre-existing endorgan dysfunction. In the 2012-2016 ELSO registry report, 168 neonates received ECMO for sepsis, 41 of which had primary diagnosis of pneumonia and an average duration of support of 163 h (longest duration of 1,155 h) (34). Similar duration of mechanical support is reported in other single center studies on neonates and children with sepsis (18, 41, 42). Longer duration of ECMO might be expected for neonates with chronic or pre-ECMO lung disease and/or acute post-infective lung damage with cystic transformation to limit ventilator induced lung injury (VILI). The efficacy of antimicrobial therapy, the onset of any complications on ECMO, the development of other organ failures and the neonates' lung function all contribute to prolongation of ECMO; if lung disease is prominent and ECMO is needed for another 5-7 days, then conversion from VA to VV is common. Likewise, the adequacy of ECMO support has to be reassessed R

Μ

Re Sk

Cł R

Sc

References	Study population	Neonates included	Method	Total survival (%)	Neonatal survival (%)	Predictors of mortality
Meyer et al. (13)	1,060 neonates (S)	1,060 (S)	ELSO registry retrospective	77	77	CPR pre-ECMO, low pH & high ventilatory rate
Reiterer et al. (14)	43 neonates resp. failure	9 (RSS)	SCR	65	44	_
Skinner et al. (16)	4,551 children (S)	3,645 (S)	ELSO registry retrospective	68	73	VA-ECMO compared to VV-ECMO
Chang et al. (19)	55 children (RSS)	4 (RSS)	SCR	31	25	Higher SOFA score
Rambaud et al. (15)	22 children (RSS)	14 (RSS)	ELSO registry retrospective	59	64	Higher inotropic requirement pre-ECMO
Sole et al. (17)	21 children (RSS)	12 (RSS)	SCR	43	50	Disease time before ECMO

TABLE 2 | Neonatal reports for ECMO and sepsis.

S, sepsis; RSS, refractory septic shock; SCR, single center retrospective.

during the run and consideration placed on conversion to a different cannulation strategy. Conversion from VV to VA-ECMO might be required in neonates with early PPHN/PFC and worsening signs and symptoms of cardiogenic/distributive shock. Persistent lung disease and respiratory failure after the resolution of cardiovascular instability might trigger conversion from VA to VV-ECMO. Long term VV-ECMO for 3-6 months might be required for severe lung parenchyma injury (HSV cystic pneumonia or necrotizing pneumonitis, severe VILI). An alternative cannulation modality recently deployed in our center is transthoracic RA-PA ECMO which offers reduced mechanical complications (cannula migration, skin breakdown and site infection), no recirculation and RV support. Destination of therapy might involve lung transplant or withdrawal of active treatment in the face of no lung recovery and in countries where neonatal/infant lung transplant is not undertaken.

Furthermore, increased duration of ECMO can be expected in the presence of secondary acquired infections (43, 44). This risk is higher in previously septic neonates because of the immaturity of the immune system, because of the immunosuppression due to the initial pathogen leading to ECMO and the immunomodulatory effect of the circuit itself. In a 2018 report by Cashen, although not affecting outcome, 16% of neonates and children on ECMO acquired a secondary infection at a median time of 5.2 days from initiation (45).

RISK FACTORS AND OUTCOME

ECMO for neonatal sepsis has been utilized for over three decades with variable survival rates (Table 2). An ELSO registry report from 2014 to 2019 describes 119 neonates supported for sepsis with a survival rate of 51% (12). Survival rate for older children vary from to 43 to 74% based on local experience, while reported mortality for adults remains high, up to 75% (17, 18, 21, 46) (Table 1).

A multitude of factors influences the outcome after ECMO. Even a simple binary measure like survival or death is dependent on underlying pathogen and natural history of the disease, on clinical presentation and timing of support, on individual risk factors (age, weight, maturity of immune system, nutritional status), on the modality of support and the onset of complications.

Underlying etiological microorganism has been described as influencing outcome.

Survival with bacterial sepsis has been reported up to 75%; mortality for candida infection pre-ECMO remains very high in neonates (61%), children (69%), and adults (81%) (47).

Only one in four neonates supported with ECMO for herpes (HSV) survived, with sepsis/septic shock independently associated with mortality (OR 10.2) (42).

Similarly, survival after adenoviral infection for neonates supported with ECMO was only 11% (48). The high mortality for neonates on ECMO for disseminated viral infections might be correlated to the immaturity of the immune system, especially in premature babies, together with the invasive nature of the viral pathogen responsible for severe neurological and hepatic cytotoxic effect.

In a large ELSO review of 7,190 neonates supported on ECMO, the authors identified birth weight <3 Kg, gestational age <34 weeks and VA-ECMO as factors associated with neurological events, especially cerebral hemorrhage. In the same review, of 366 neonates supported for sepsis, 33% developed a neurological injury (49).

It remains difficult to ascertain if the onset of neurological events is solely due to ECMO or intrinsic to the natural history of the disease. In a retrospective cohort review of neonates with bacteremia, neurological complications were present in 19.4% of the study population who presented with septic shock and associated with a 57.1% mortality (50).

Similarly, intraventricular hemorrhage (IVH) grade III and IV were reported in 18% of premature babies with antenatal infection compared to 8.6% without infection (51).

Over the last two decades, as ECMO deployment has become standard of care for tertiary units, outcomes have improved, and complications have diminished, eligibility criteria have become less rigid. Gestational age lower than 34 weeks and birth weight under 2 Kg have become relative contraindications, while IVH grade III or IV and lethal chromosomal abnormality remained absolute contraindications. No significant difference in mortality for neonatal sepsis on ECMO were described for gestational age of 34 weeks (41%) and 29-33 weeks GA (46%) (52).

Timing of mechanical support for neonates with sepsis remains difficult to establish, but one can postulate that early reversal of tissue oxygen debt and organ dysfunction would improve outcome. While no data are available in neonates, in an adult case series by Cheng, ECMO for sepsis within 96 h from admission was associated with better survival when compared to later support (60 vs. 19%), reflecting an earlier reversal of multiorgan dysfunction (53). Similarly, for septic adults, persistence of shock beyond 30.5 h before ECMO initiation was associated with no survival, accentuating the importance of timing of reversal of cardiovascular dysfunction (22). Higher lactate pre-cannulation, a pH < 7.2, higher VIS and the presence of a cardiac arrest pre-ECMO have been identified as predictors for increased ECMO mortality (19, 54).

While ECMO remains a supportive therapy, administration of adequate antimicrobial therapy remains fundamental to improve survival of septic neonates. Vast interest in ECMO research, for the last decade, has been the pharmacokinetic (PK) and the pharmacodynamics (PD) of medications, especially of antimicrobials, during ECLS. Neonates have an immature liver and kidney and their capacity of metabolizing and excreting drugs varies between individuals. Septic neonates represent even more a complex system because of fluid overload and changes in distribution volume (Vd), multiorgan dysfunction (kidneys and liver), hypoalbuminemia, capillary leak, and disruption in perfusion. Adding an ECMO circuit to the equation modifies further the Vd and allows for medications to be sequestered within its component (both polyvinylchloride of tubing and poly-methyl pentene of the oxygenator). Careful dosing and monitoring of the efficacy of antimicrobial therapy is fundamental for successful weaning off mechanical support. In a recent review, Raffaeli gives great insight in the pharmacotherapy of antimicrobials, sedatives and inotropic drugs for neonates supported with ECMO (55).

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Earlier Use of ECMO With Better Technology and Less Sick Patients

Survival and long-term sequelae post-ECMO are multifactorial, only some of which are modifiable when a septic neonate is referred for ECMO. Early referral and/or transfer to an ECMO center might reduce the time neonates are exposed to high ventilatory pressures, and limit potential VILI, and excessive inotropic and vasopressor support. Established endorgan dysfunction pre-ECMO might not allow the deployment of "safer" ECMO modalities (VV vs. VA-ECMO) and could increase the complication rates on ECMO (bleeding and/or thrombosis, renal dysfunction, fluid overload, and need for RRT, high blood products requirements, neurological accidents). An ELSO review by Polito identified cardiac arrest and lower pH at ECMO initiation risk factors for neurological complications in neonates (cerebral hemorrhage, infarction, seizures, and brain death) (49). Several other pediatric series highlight the weight of pre-ECMO lactate on ECMO survival (18, 56, 57). Close collaboration with neonatologists and open discussion about local protocols and indications/inclusion criteria for ECMO could reduce the delay between clinical presentation and ECMO cannulation, and therefore improve outcomes.

Role of Adjunctive Extracorporeal Therapies

Despite limited data specific for the neonatal septic population, utilization of adjunctive extracorporeal techniques during ECMO has become standard practice. In a retrospective analysis of pediatric admissions for sepsis between 2004 and 2012 collected via Pediatric Health Information System (PHIS), 169 children under 1 year of age received both ECMO and renal replacement therapy (RRT) (58). Hypoxia, arterial hypotension, low cardiac output state, diastolic steal via PDA, and high vasoactive support can lead to acute kidney injury (AKI) in neonates with sepsis (59). In a mixed pediatric and neonatal report, the incidence of AKI on ECMO was of 60-74% while in a retrospective cohort study on neonates on ECMO, the presence of AKI was associated with a 3.2 Odds Ratio of death (60, 61). Renal replacement therapy (RRT) is commonly used in patients on ECMO to obviate for fluid overload and AKI, both associated with increased duration of circulatory support and mortality (60, 61). Furthermore, both in vitro and animal studies, have shown reduction of inflammatory mediators in sepsis and post cardio-pulmonary bypass (62, 63). In a case series by Blijdorp, the deployment of RRT in neonates on ECMO was associated with reduced duration of ECMO and ventilatory support (64).

Although the deployment and timing of RRT during ECMO remains controversial with non-neonatal studies showing either increased mortality or unaffected outcome, physiologically early renal support seems the best approach to reverse fluid overload and/or maintain even fluid balance, correct electrolyte disequilibrium, remove cytokines and enhance caloric intake (58, 61, 65, 66).

Thrombocytopenia-associated multi-organ failure (TAMOF) secondary to sepsis has been focus of interest over the last 5 years and has triggered utilization of plasma exchange (PE) techniques for patients off and on ECMO. In a clinical picture similar to thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP), inflammatory mediators during sepsis can inhibit or inactivate ADAMTS-13, a metalloprotease whose deficiency leads to microangiopathic thrombosis, end-organ dysfunction and death. Children with TAMOF receiving PE have shown improved 28-days survival and reduction in end-organ dysfunction (67). In a case series of 14 children on ECMO for sepsisrelated MOF and TAMOF, utilization of PE was associated with reduced organ failure index and VIS with a survival of 71.4% (68). Despite promising results of this technique in this subgroup of children, routine deployment should be balanced with the potential complications caused by it (hypotension, hypocalcaemia, coagulopathy, removal of proteinbound medications and antibiotics) (69).

Limited experience based on single case reports is available for extracorporeal blood purification techniques (EBPTs). Adsorptive therapies have been utilized mostly for hyperinflammatory syndromes (hemophagocytic lymphohystiocitosis, macrophage activation syndrome) or toxin-mediated infections manifesting as SIRS/septic shock. Two clinical reports from Japan on non ECMO neonates with sepsis/toxic shock highlight the potential adoption of these techniques on ECMO (70, 71). Similarly, non ECMO studies on adults with septic shock treated with HA330 adsorption cylinder showed improved hemodynamic parameters and decreased mortality (72).

Adequacy of ECMO Blood Flow

In a multicenter study of children supported with ECMO for septic shock, VA-ECMO showed beneficial effect for children with a cardiac arrest and ECMO flows over 150 ml/kg/min were associated with higher survival compared to "standard" flows (survival 82 vs. 43%) (56).

Anticoagulation Is More Complex Than in Children/Adolescents

Anticoagulation for neonates on ECMO is difficult because of the immaturity of their clotting pathways and their hypercoagulable state, and propensity for cerebral hemorrhage. In a large prospective observational cohort study, bleeding and thrombotic events in neonates receiving respiratory ECMO were 60% and 43% respectively; furthermore, 22% of the events were cerebral hemorrhage while 3.3% were intracranial infarctions (73). Bleeding and thrombotic events are responsible for increased morbidity and mortality on ECMO (73–75).

Neonates present a unique and very fine balance between anticoagulant and procoagulant state. Neonatal platelet activity is reduced compared to children and adults compensating the increased level of von Willebrand factor. Plasma levels of clotting factors are reduced while there is reduced expression of anticoagulant factors (protein C and S and antithrombin III) (76). Sepsis with DIC and thrombocytopenia puts neonates at very high risk for both thrombotic and hemorrhagic complications and adds further complexities to the anticoagulation regimen.

Precipitant that disrupt the fine neonatal hemostatic homeostasis like sepsis and/or ECMO lead to platelet activation

REFERENCES

- Shane AL, Sanchez PJ, Stoll BJ. Neonatal sepsis. Lancet. (2017) 390:1770–80. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31002-4
- Group IC, Brocklehurst P, Farrell B, King A, Juszczak E, Darlow B, et al. Treatment of neonatal sepsis with intravenous immune globulin. N Engl J Med. (2011) 365:1201–11. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1100441
- Lukacs SL, Schrag SJ. Clinical sepsis in neonates and young infants, United States, 1988-2006. J Pediatr. (2012) 160:960–5 e961. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2011.12.023
- Wynn JL, Wong HR. Pathophysiology and treatment of septic shock in neonates. *Clin Perinatol.* (2010) 37:439–79. doi: 10.1016/j.clp.2010.04.002
- Stoll BJ, Hansen NI, Sanchez PJ, Faix RG, Poindexter BB, Van Meurs KP, et al. Early onset neonatal sepsis: the burden of group B Streptococcal and *E. coli* disease continues. *Pediatrics*. (2011) 127:817–26. doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-2217
- Weston EJ, Pondo T, Lewis MM, Martell-Cleary P, Morin C, Jewell B, et al. The burden of invasive early-onset neonatal sepsis in the United States, 2005-2008. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2011) 30:937–41. doi: 10.1097/INF.0b013e31822 3bad2

and secondary depletion, complement cascade activation, leukocyte margination and cytokine release, thrombin generation and subsequently secondary fibrinolysis are responsible for both hemorrhagic and/or thrombotic events and the difficulty of managing anticoagulation on ECMO. In a neonatal ECMO report by Doymaz, low fibrinogen (<150 mg/dL) and low platelet count (<50.000/ μ L) were associated with increased risk for intracranial hemorrhage (77).

Inconsistency of blood test results due to the small volumes of blood and reagents make goal setting for anticoagulation difficult and varied throughout the world. This is particularly relevant to APTT and ACT but less so with INR and Anti-Xa. Bedside tests such as TEG or Rotem are increasingly being evaluated. Exposure to the foreign surface of the ECMO circuits only accentuates the existing coagulopathy with further consumption of clotting factors and platelets (78, 79). Future biocompatible materials might limit the need for systemic anticoagulation or antiplatelet agents on ECMO limiting transfusion requirements and hemorrhagic or thrombotic events. Circuits that act as nitric oxide donors have been investigated for this purpose for the last decade (80–82).

CONCLUSIONS

High survival rates can be achieved for neonates with bacterial sepsis and septic shock and ECMO should be always considered in the absence of severe intracerebral pathology. Worse outcome is associated with non-bacterial sepsis, extreme prematurity, need for ECPR, higher lactate and severity of organ dysfunction pre-ECMO. Predominant pathophysiological features should dictate modality of support (VV-ECMO for right ventricular failure and PPHN, VA-ECMO for left ventricular failure and RSS). Future study is warranted to determine the optimal timing of support.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WB and RC contributed in equal parts at the development of the manuscript.

- Kermorvant-Duchemin E, Laborie S, Rabilloud M, Lapillonne A, Claris O. Outcome and prognostic factors in neonates with septic shock. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2008) 9:186–91. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e31816689a8
- Wynn JL. Defining neonatal sepsis. Curr Opin Pediatr. (2016) 28:135–40. doi: 10.1097/MOP.0000000000315
- Hofer N, Zacharias E, Muller W, Resch B. Performance of the definitions of the systemic inflammatory response syndrome and sepsis in neonates. J Perinat Med. (2012) 40:587–90. doi: 10.1515/jpm-2011-0308
- Thiagarajan RR, Barbaro RP, Rycus PT, McMullan DM, Conrad SA, Fortenberry JD, et al. Extracorporeal life support organization registry international report 2016. ASAIO J. (2017) 63:60–7. doi: 10.1097/MAT. 0000000000000475
- Davis AL, Carcillo JA, Aneja RK, Deymann AJ, Lin JC, Nguyen TC, et al. The American College of Critical Care Medicine Clinical Practice Parameters for hemodynamic support of pediatric and neonatal septic shock: executive summary. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2017) 18:884–90. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000001259
- ELSO. ECLS Registry Report- International Summary. Ann Arbor, MI: ELSO (2019).

- Meyer DM, Jessen ME. Results of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in neonates with sepsis. The Extracorporeal Life Support Organization experience. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (1995) 109:419–25; discussion: 425–7. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5223(95)70272-5
- Reiterer F, Resch E, Haim M, Maurer-Fellbaum U, Riccabona M, Zobel G, et al. Neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation due to respiratory failure: a single center experience over 28 years. *Front Pediatr.* (2018) 6:263. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00263
- Rambaud J, Guellec I, Leger PL, Renolleau S, Guilbert J. Venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support for neonatal and pediatric refractory septic shock. *Indian J Crit Care Med.* (2015) 19:600–5. doi: 10.4103/ 0972-5229.167038
- Skinner SC, Iocono JA, Ballard HO, Turner MD, Ward AN, Davenport DL, et al. Improved survival in venovenous vs venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for pediatric noncardiac sepsis patients: a study of the Extracorporeal Life Support Organization registry. *J Pediatr Surg.* (2012) 47:63–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2011.10.018
- Sole A, Jordan I, Bobillo S, Moreno J, Balaguer M, Hernandez-Platero L, et al. Venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support for neonatal and pediatric refractory septic shock: more than 15 years of learning. *Eur J Pediatr.* (2018) 177:1191–200. doi: 10.1007/s00431-018-3174-2
- MacLaren G, Butt W, Best D, Donath S. Central extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for refractory pediatric septic shock. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2011) 12:133–6. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e3181e2a4a1
- Chang TH, Wu ET, Lu CY, Huang SC, Yang TI, Wang CC, et al. Pathogens and outcomes in pediatric septic shock patients supported by extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. J Microbiol Immunol Infect. (2018) 51:385–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jmii.2017.07.012
- Falk L, Hultman J, Broman LM. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for septic shock. *Crit Care Med.* (2019) 47:1097–105. doi: 10.1097/CCM. 000000000003819
- Cheng A, Sun HY, Lee CW, Ko WJ, Tsai PR, Chuang YC, et al. Survival of septic adults compared with nonseptic adults receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for cardiopulmonary failure: a propensity-matched analysis. J Crit Care. (2013) 28:532 e531–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2012.11.021
- Park TK, Yang JH, Jeon K, Choi SH, Choi JH, Gwon HC, et al. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for refractory septic shock in adults. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2015) 47:e68–74. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezu462
- 23. Vrancken SL, van Heijst AF, de Boode WP. Neonatal hemodynamics: from developmental physiology to comprehensive monitoring. *Front Pediatr.* (2018) 6:87. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00087
- Baum VC, Palmisano BW. The immature heart and anesthesia. Anesthesiology. (1997) 87:1529–48. doi: 10.1097/0000542-199712000-00032
- Finnemore A, Groves A. Physiology of the fetal and transitional circulation. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. (2015) 20:210–6. doi: 10.1016/j.siny.2015.04.003
- Huang J, Hove-Madsen L, Tibbits GF. Ontogeny of Ca2+-induced Ca2+release in rabbit ventricular myocytes. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. (2008) 294:C516-25. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00417.2007
- Brillantes AM, Bezprozvannaya S, Marks AR. Developmental and tissuespecific regulation of rabbit skeletal and cardiac muscle calcium channels involved in excitation-contraction coupling. *Circ Res.* (1994) 75:503–10. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.75.3.503
- Pietrasanta C, Pugni L, Ronchi A, Bottino I, Ghirardi B, Sanchez-Schmitz G, et al. Vascular endothelium in neonatal sepsis: basic mechanisms and translational opportunities. *Front Pediatr.* (2019) 7:340. doi: 10.3389/ fped.2019.00340
- Andrade EB, Alves J, Madureira P, Oliveira L, Ribeiro A, Cordeiro-da-Silva A, et al. TLR2-induced IL-10 production impairs neutrophil recruitment to infected tissues during neonatal bacterial sepsis. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:4759– 68. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301752
- Gentile DA, Reimer RA, Nathanson AI, Walsh DA, Eisenmann JC. Protective effects of parental monitoring of children's media use: a prospective study. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2014) 168:479–84. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2014.146
- Dowling DJ, Levy O. Ontogeny of early life immunity. Trends Immunol. (2014) 35:299–310. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2014.04.007
- Wheeler DS, Wong HR, Zingarelli B. Pediatric sepsis part I: "children are not small adults!." Open Inflamm J. (2011) 4:4–15. doi: 10.2174/ 1875041901104010004

- Aneja RK, Carcillo JA. Differences between adult and pediatric septic shock. *Minerva Anestesiol.* (2011) 77:986–92.
- 34. ELSO. Neonatal Respiratory ECMO Guideline V 1.4. Ann Arbor, MI (2017).
- 35. Morin L, Ray S, Wilson C, Remy S, Benissa MR, Jansen NJG, et al. Refractory septic shock in children: a European Society of Paediatric and Neonatal Intensive Care definition. *Intensive Care Med.* (2016) 42:1948–57. doi: 10.1007/s00134-016-4574-2
- 36. Kon ZN, Bittle GJ, Pasrija C, Pham SM, Mazzeffi MA, Herr DL, et al. Venovenous versus venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for adult patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome requiring precannulation hemodynamic support: a review of the ELSO registry. Ann Thorac Surg. (2017) 104:645–9. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2016.11.006
- Delius R, Anderson H 3rd, Schumacher R, Shapiro M, Otsu T, Toft K, et al. Venovenous compares favorably with venoarterial access for extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in neonatal respiratory failure. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (1993) 106:329–38. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5223(19)34132-7
- Zamora IJ, Shekerdemian L, Fallon SC, Olutoye OO, Cass DL, Rycus PL, et al. Outcomes comparing dual-lumen to multisite venovenous ECMO in the pediatric population: the Extracorporeal Life Support Registry experience. J Pediatr Surg. (2014) 49:1452–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2014.05.027
- 39. Teele SA, Salvin JW, Barrett CS, Rycus PT, Fynn-Thompson F, Laussen PC, et al. The association of carotid artery cannulation and neurologic injury in pediatric patients supported with venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation^{*}. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2014) 15:355–61. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000103
- Lou S, MacLaren G, Best D, Delzoppo C, Butt W. Hemolysis in pediatric patients receiving centrifugal-pump extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: prevalence, risk factors, and outcomes. *Crit Care Med.* (2014) 42:1213–20. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000000128
- Schaible T, Hermle D, Loersch F, Demirakca S, Reinshagen K, Varnholt V. A 20-year experience on neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in a referral center. *Intensive Care Med.* (2010) 36:1229–34. doi: 10.1007/ s00134-010-1886-5
- Prodhan P, Wilkes R, Ross A, Garcia X, Bhutta AT, Rycus P, et al. Neonatal herpes virus infection and extracorporeal life support. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2010) 11:599–602. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e3181ce71e2
- Bizzarro MJ, Conrad SA, Kaufman DA, Rycus P, Extracorporeal Life Support Organization Task Force on Infections EMO. Infections acquired during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in neonates, children, and adults. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2011) 12:277–81. doi: 10.1097/PCC. 0b013e3181e28894
- Tse-Chang A, Midodzi W, Joffe AR, Robinson JL. Infections in children receiving extracorporeal life support. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol.* (2011) 32:115–20. doi: 10.1086/657937
- Cashen K, Reeder R, Dalton HJ, Berg RA, Shanley TP, Newth CJL, et al. Acquired infection during neonatal and pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Perfusion*. (2018) 33:472–82. doi: 10.1177/0267659118766436
- 46. Tembo M, Harvey C, Duthie M, Pooboni S, Whitelaw J, Pandya H, et al. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for refractory septic shock in children: one institution's experience. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2009) 10:534–5. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e3181a63cee
- 47. Pluim T, Halasa N, Phillips SE, Fleming G. The morbidity and mortality of patients with fungal infections before and during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2012) 13:e288–93. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e31824fbaf7
- Prodhan P, Bhutta AT, Gossett JM, Stroud MH, Rycus PT, Bratton SL, et al. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support among children with adenovirus infection: a review of the Extracorporeal Life Support Organization registry. ASAIO J. (2014) 60:49–56. doi: 10.1097/MAT. 000000000000013
- Polito A, Barrett CS, Wypij D, Rycus PT, Netto R, Cogo PE, et al. Neurologic complications in neonates supported with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. An analysis of ELSO registry data. *Intensive Care Med.* (2013) 39:1594–601. doi: 10.1007/s00134-013-2985-x
- Chu SM, Hsu JF, Lee CW, Lien R, Huang HR, Chiang MC, et al. Neurological complications after neonatal bacteremia: the clinical characteristics, risk factors, and outcomes. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e105294. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0105294

- Huang J, Meng J, Choonara I, Xiong T, Wang Y, Wang H, et al. Antenatal infection and intraventricular hemorrhage in preterm infants: a meta-analysis. *Medicine*. (2019) 98:e16665. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000016665
- Church JT, Kim AC, Erickson KM, Rana A, Drongowski R, Hirschl RB, et al. Pushing the boundaries of ECLS: outcomes in <34 week EGA neonates. J Pediatr Surg. (2017) 52:1810–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2017.03.054
- Cheng A, Sun HY, Tsai MS, Ko WJ, Tsai PR, Hu FC, et al. Predictors of survival in adults undergoing extracorporeal membrane oxygenation with severe infections. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2016) 152:1526–36 e1521. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2016.08.038
- 54. Mehta NM, Turner D, Walsh B, Zurakowski D, Betit P, Wilson J, et al. Factors associated with survival in pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation–a single-center experience. *J Pediatr Surg.* (2010) 45:1995–2003. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2010.05.028
- Raffaeli G, Pokorna P, Allegaert K, Mosca F, Cavallaro G, Wildschut ED, et al. Drug disposition and pharmacotherapy in neonatal ECMO: from fragmented data to integrated knowledge. *Front Pediatr.* (2019) 7:360. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00360
- Oberender F, Ganeshalingham A, Fortenberry JD, Hobson MJ, Houmes RJ, Morris KP, et al. Venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation versus conventional therapy in severe pediatric septic shock. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2018) 19:965–72. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000001660
- 57. Lasa JJ, Rogers RS, Localio R, Shults J, Raymond T, Gaies M, et al. Extracorporeal cardiopulmonary resuscitation (E-CPR) during pediatric inhospital cardiopulmonary arrest is associated with improved survival to discharge: a report from the American Heart Association's Get With The Guidelines-Resuscitation (GWTG-R) Registry. *Circulation.* (2016) 133:165– 76. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.016082
- Ruth A, McCracken CE, Fortenberry JD, Hebbar KB. Extracorporeal therapies in pediatric severe sepsis: findings from the pediatric health-care information system. *Crit Care.* (2015) 19:397. doi: 10.1186/s13054-015-1105-4
- Mathur NB, Agarwal HS, Maria A. Acute renal failure in neonatal sepsis. Indian J Pediatr. (2006) 73:499–502. doi: 10.1007/BF02759894
- 60. Fleming GM, Sahay R, Zappitelli M, King E, Askenazi DJ, Bridges BC, et al. The incidence of acute kidney injury and its effect on neonatal and pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation outcomes: a multicenter report from the kidney intervention during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation study group. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2016) 17:1157–69. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000970
- Askenazi DJ, Ambalavanan N, Hamilton K, Cutter G, Laney D, Kaslow R, et al. Acute kidney injury and renal replacement therapy independently predict mortality in neonatal and pediatric noncardiac patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2011) 12:e1– 6. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e3181d8e348
- 62. Grootendorst AF, van Bommel EF, van der Hoven B, van Leengoed LA, van Osta AL. High volume hemofiltration improves right ventricular function in endotoxin-induced shock in the pig. *Intensive Care Med.* (1992) 18:235–40. doi: 10.1007/BF01709839
- Skogby M, Adrian K, Friberg LG, Mellgren G, Mellgren K. Influence of hemofiltration on plasma cytokine levels and platelet activation during extra corporeal membrane oxygenation. *Scand Cardiovasc J.* (2000) 34:315–20. doi: 10.1080/713783129
- 64. Blijdorp K, Cransberg K, Wildschut ED, Gischler SJ, Jan Houmes R, Wolff ED, et al. Haemofiltration in newborns treated with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a case-comparison study. *Crit Care.* (2009) 13:R48. doi: 10.1186/cc7771
- 65. Tsai TY, Tsai FC, Chang CH, Jenq CC, Hsu HH, Chang MY, et al. Prognosis of patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation plus continuous arteriovenous hemofiltration. *Chang Gung Med J.* (2011) 34:636–43.
- Lou S, MacLaren G, Paul E, Best D, Delzoppo C, Butt W. Hemofiltration is not associated with increased mortality in children receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2015) 16:161–6. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000290
- Fortenberry JD, Nguyen T, Grunwell JR, Aneja RK, Wheeler D, Hall M, et al. Therapeutic plasma exchange in children with thrombocytopeniaassociated multiple organ failure: the thrombocytopenia-associated multiple organ failure network prospective experience. *Crit Care Med.* (2019) 47:e173– 81. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000003559

- Kawai Y, Cornell TT, Cooley EG, Beckman CN, Baldridge PK, Mottes TA, et al. Therapeutic plasma exchange may improve hemodynamics and organ failure among children with sepsis-induced multiple organ dysfunction syndrome receiving extracorporeal life support. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2015) 16:366–74. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000351
- Dyer M, Neal MD, Rollins-Raval MA, Raval JS. Simultaneous extracorporeal membrane oxygenation and therapeutic plasma exchange procedures are tolerable in both pediatric and adult patients. *Transfusion*. (2014) 54:1158–65. doi: 10.1111/trf.12418
- Nanishi E, Hirata Y, Lee S, Kaku N, Momii K, Kubota K, et al. Polymyxin-B immobilized column-direct hemoperfusion for adolescent toxic shock syndrome. *Pediatr Int.* (2016) 58:1051–4. doi: 10.1111/ped.13087
- Morishita Y, Kita Y, Ohtake K, Kusano E, Hishikawa S, Mizuta K, et al. Successful treatment of sepsis with polymyxin b-immobilized fiber hemoperfusion in a child after living donor liver transplantation. *Dig Dis Sci.* (2005) 50:757. doi: 10.1007/s10620-005-2569-x
- Huang Z, Wang SR, Su W, Liu JY. Removal of humoral mediators and the effect on the survival of septic patients by hemoperfusion with neutral microporous resin column. *Ther Apher Dial.* (2010) 14:596–602. doi: 10.1111/ j.1744-9987.2010.00825.x
- Dalton HJ, Reeder R, Garcia-Filion P, Holubkov R, Berg RA, Zuppa A, et al. Factors associated with bleeding and thrombosis in children receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 196:762–71. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201609-1945OC
- Barbaro RP, Paden ML, Guner YS, Raman L, Ryerson LM, Alexander P, et al. Pediatric extracorporeal life support organization registry international report 2016. ASAIO J. (2017) 63:456–63. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000603
- Dalton HJ, Garcia-Filion P, Holubkov R, Moler FW, Shanley T, Heidemann S, et al. Association of bleeding and thrombosis with outcome in extracorporeal life support. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2015) 16:167–74. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000317
- Cashen K, Meert K, Dalton H. Anticoagulation in neonatal ECMO: an enigma despite a lot of effort! *Front Pediatr.* (2019) 7:366. doi: 10.3389/fped. 2019.00366
- Doymaz S, Zinger M, Sweberg T. Risk factors associated with intracranial hemorrhage in neonates with persistent pulmonary hypertension on ECMO. *J Intensive Care.* (2015) 3:6. doi: 10.1186/s40560-015-0071-x
- Cheung PY, Sawicki G, Salas E, Etches PC, Schulz R, Radomski MW. The mechanisms of platelet dysfunction during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in critically ill neonates. *Crit Care Med.* (2000) 28:2584–90. doi: 10.1097/00003246-200007000-00067
- Hundalani SG, Nguyen KT, Soundar E, Kostousov V, Bomgaars L, Moise A, et al. Age-based difference in activation markers of coagulation and fibrinolysis in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2014) 15:e198–205. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000107
- Major TC, Brisbois EJ, Jones AM, Zanetti ME, Annich GM, Bartlett RH, et al. The effect of a polyurethane coating incorporating both a thrombin inhibitor and nitric oxide on hemocompatibility in extracorporeal circulation. *Biomaterials*. (2014) 35:7271–85. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.05.036
- Zhang H, Annich GM, Miskulin J, Osterholzer K, Merz SI, Bartlett RH, et al. Nitric oxide releasing silicone rubbers with improved blood compatibility: preparation, characterization, and *in vivo* evaluation. *Biomaterials*. (2002) 23:1485–94. doi: 10.1016/S0142-9612(01)00274-5
- Annich GM, Meinhardt JP, Mowery KA, Ashton BA, Merz SI, Hirschl RB, et al. Reduced platelet activation and thrombosis in extracorporeal circuits coated with nitric oxide release polymers. *Crit Care Med.* (2000) 28:915–20. doi: 10.1097/00003246-200004000-00001

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Butt and Chiletti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Sequestration of Voriconazole and Vancomycin Into Contemporary Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation Circuits: An *in vitro* Study

Genny Raffaeli^{1,2,3*}, Giacomo Cavallaro³, Karel Allegaert^{4,5}, Birgit C. P. Koch⁵, Fabio Mosca^{2,3}, Dick Tibboel¹ and Enno D. Wildschut¹

¹ Intensive Care and Department of Pediatric Surgery Erasmus MC–Sophia Children's Hospital, University Medical Center Rotterdam, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ² Department of Clinical Sciences and Community Health, University of Milan, Milan, Italy, ³ Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, NICU, Milan, Italy, ⁴ Department of Development and Regeneration and Department of Pharmaceutical and Pharmacological Sciences, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium, ⁵ Hospital Pharmacy, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, Netherlands

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

John McGuire, University of Washington, United States

Reviewed by:

Uri Pollak, Hadassah-Hebrew University Medical Center, Israel Arun Saini, Texas Children's Hospital, United States

> *Correspondence: Genny Raffaeli genny.raffaeli@unimi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Critical Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 12 May 2020 **Accepted:** 03 July 2020 **Published:** 27 August 2020

Citation:

Raffaeli G, Cavallaro G, Allegaert K, Koch BCP, Mosca F, Tibboel D and Wildschut ED (2020) Sequestration of Voriconazole and Vancomycin Into Contemporary Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation Circuits: An in vitro Study. Front. Pediatr. 8:468. doi: 10.3389/fped.2020.00468 **Background:** Bacterial and fungal infections are common and often contribute to death in patients undergoing extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO). Drug disposition is altered during ECMO, and adsorption in the circuit is an established causative factor. Vancomycin and voriconazole are widely used, despite the lack of evidence-based prescription guidelines.

Objective: The objective of this study was to determine the extraction of voriconazole and vancomycin by the Xenios/Novalung ECMO circuits.

Methods: We have set up nine closed-loop ECMO circuits, consisting of four different *iLAActivve*[®] kits for neonatal, pediatric, and adult support: three *iLA-ActivveMiniLung*[®] *petite* kits, two *iLA-ActivveMiniLung*[®] kits, two *iLA-ActivveMiniLung*[®] kits, two *iLA-ActivveMiniLung*[®] kits. The circuits were primed with whole blood and maintained at physiologic conditions for 24 h. Voriconazole and vancomycin were injected as a single-bolus age-related dose into the circuits. Pre-membrane (P2) blood samples were obtained at baseline and after drug injection at 2, 10, 30, 180, 360 min, and 24 h. A control sample at 2 min was collected for spontaneous drug degradation testing at 24 h.

Results: Seventy-two samples were analyzed in triplicate. The mean percentage of drug recovery at 24 h was 20% for voriconazole and 62% for vancomycin.

Conclusions: The extraction of voriconazole and vancomycin by contemporary ECMO circuits is clinically relevant across all age-related circuit sizes and may result in reduced drug exposure *in vivo*.

Keywords: extracorporeal membrane oxygenation, pharmacokinetics, pharmacology, antibiotics, infection, antifungals, drug disposition

INTRODUCTION

Critically ill patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) are at high risk of serious infections, with rates of 15.4 per 1,000 ECMO days across all age groups (1). As the mortality of ECMO patients facing an infective event increases up to 68%, a timely and adequate antimicrobial therapy is essential to improve outcomes (1-3).

Vancomycin is widely used as the first-line treatment for both the empiric and targeted treatment of blood stream infections caused by methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA), coagulase-negative staphylococci (CONS), and ampicillinresistant enterococci (1, 4-6). Although bacteria remain the most common causative agents, fungi contribute to the healthcare burden being the second cause of nosocomial infection during ECMO (1), with a prevalence ranging from 0.04 to 5%, and differences based upon age and timing of infection (2, 5). Voriconazole is a second-generation triazole and a synthetic derivative of fluconazole, acting against Candida and Aspergillus spp., which are the most frequently isolated fungi in ICU (7). Indeed, the azole class is pivotal in the prevention and treatment of invasive fungal infections in critically ill patients (7, 8). While the pharmacology of fluconazole, which is the recommended first-line treatment against Candida spp., has been extensively addressed in the pediatric ECMO population (9-11), scanty evidence is available for voriconazole, a first-line treatment for invasive aspergillosis (7, 12, 13).

Besides the choice of the proper agent, the selection of the right dose to attain target exposure is crucial for therapeutic success (14). Drug dosing is known to be complex in critically ill patients, and it is further complicated in specific populations, in which pathology-related factors sum up to physiologic age-specific PK changes (15). The need for an extracorporeal support adds interfering mechanisms, which are responsible for further PK variability (16).

ECMO is increasingly spreading, especially across adult intensive care settings, to support potentially reversible cardiac or respiratory failure, unresponsive to conventional treatment (17). This procedure requires the addition of fluids and exogenous blood products to prime the circuit, thereby increasing the circulating volume. As a consequence of hemodilution, priming compositions, and organ dysfunction, both the volume of distribution (Vd) and clearance (Cl) of drugs are altered (18). A certain degree of sequestration into the circuit may be expected based on the physicochemical characteristics of a drug, such as molecular size, plasma protein binding, degree of ionization at physiological pH, and lipophilicity, as all are based on the characteristics of the circuits and oxygenators (18-21). Moreover, the exposure of blood to the exogenous surface triggers a systemic inflammatory response, further contributing to altered antimicrobial disposition and overall therapeutic efficacy (16, 20, 22).

Despite the wide use of antimicrobial agents during ECMO (23), PK data related to newer systems are limited and heterogeneous, resulting in a poor level of evidence-based pharmacotherapy (22, 24). Previous pharmacological knowledge (25–27) needs to be updated according to the recent advances

of extracorporeal technology to prevent altered antimicrobial exposure during ECMO. Furthermore, the optimization of pharmacotherapy is required to limit the burden of microbial resistance (28, 29).

The aim of this study was to provide new insights into the disposition of voriconazole and vancomycin in contemporary neonatal, pediatric, and adult ECMO circuits.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was carried out at the Intensive Care Unit of the Sophia Children's Hospital—ECMO Center, Erasmus MC in Rotterdam, the Netherlands. The need for the institutional review board approval was waived as ethical approval was not required, according to the Dutch Law of research on human subjects. In particular, the fact that no patients were used in this *in vitro* study determined this decision. Study circuits were provided by the Xenios[®] company as part of an unrestricted research grant.

In vitro ECMO Model

The in vitro ECMO model has been previously published (28). Here, we present a brief overview of the setting. We have set up nine different in vitro ECMO circuits, consisting of four *iLAActivve*[®] kits: *iLA-ActivveMiniLung*[®] petite kits (n = 3), *iLA-ActivveMiniLung*[®] kits (n = 2), *iLA-ActivveiLA*[®] kits (n = 2), *iLA-ActiveiLA*[®] kits (n = 2), *iLA-ActiveiLA*[®] kits (n= 2), and *iLA-Activve X-lung*[®] kits (n = 2). They were made up of hollow fiber oxygenators with a diffusion membrane for neonatal, pediatric, and adult patients. All circuits were whole blood primed, connected to a 100-ml reservoir bag and run for 24 h at a flow rate of 500 ml/min (neonatal), 700 ml/min (infant), 2.5 L/min (pediatric), and 3.5 L/min (adult) with an estimated circuit volume of 225, 280, 360, and 400 ml, respectively. Anticoagulation was provided by administering a bolus of heparin 500 UI to maintain activated clotting times over 200 s. Experimental conditions (temperature, pH, hematocrit) have been maintained stable throughout the study period, as previously described (30).

Drug Selection and Administration

We selected voriconazole and vancomycin for their clinical relevance in the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) practice and as illustrative examples of different chemical properties and their drug classes. Dosing for neonatal circuits was based on a standardized neonatal weight (3.5 kg), while for the other systems, we have increased the dose in proportion to the rise of volume to achieve similar theoretical concentrations. We injected voriconazole 35 mg/40 mg/52.5 mg/68 mg (neonatal/infant/pediatric/adult) followed by vancomycin 45 mg/54 mg/67.5 mg/91.8 mg through a line connected to the tubing right after the reservoir bag (P1), with 5-s intervals inbetween injections. We flushed the line with 1 ml of physiological saline solution (0.9%) after voriconazole administration to avoid crystallization or pooling effects.

Samples

A line attached to the tubing prior to the reservoir bag was used as a pre-membrane (P2) sample-drawing site. For each system, we collected samples before a single-bolus drug administration (T0) and during the circuit run at the following time intervals: 2 (T2), 10 (T10), 30 (T30), 180 (T180), 360 (T360) min, and 24 h (T24) after injection. At T2, a control sample was collected and analyzed at 24 h (T2-24) to determine spontaneous drug degradation. The T2–24 samples were stored in ethylenediaminetetraacetate (EDTA) sample tubes, which were maintained at the same temperature as the tested systems until 24 h. For all other samples (T0–T24), whole blood was collected in polypropylene EDTA tubes and stored at 4°C for a maximum of 12 h until further processing. Afterward, all blood samples were centrifuged (3,000 rounds/min for 6 min), and the plasma supernatant was transferred to labeled polypropylene cryogenic vials with polyethylene screw caps (Nalgene Labware, Rochester, NY, USA). Plasma samples were maintained at -80° C until measurement.

Quantification of Drugs in Plasma Samples

Voriconazole and vancomycin were analyzed by means of ultrafast liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) in the pharmacy laboratory of Erasmus MC, as previously described (30) with regard to voriconazole or a validated immune-assay (Architect, Abbott) for vancomycin. Methods were validated according to the US Food and Drug Administration guidelines for bioanalytical method validation (31).

Reference values are reported [including lower limit of quantification (LLOQ) and upper limit of quantification (ULOQ)]. Intra- and inter-assay means were within 15% of the target range value, as requested by the FDA. For voriconazole, the linear calibration range was 0.1–10 ng/ml. For vancomycin, the linear calibration range was 0.6–50 mg/L.

Spontaneous Drug Degradation and Expected Drug Levels

Spontaneous drug degradation was defined as the amount of drug left after 24 h of spontaneous decay, and it was calculated as a difference in drug recovery between T2 and T2–24. Expected blood drug levels were calculated, accounting for the amount of drug administered and the total circulating volume. Mean recovery of each circuit category at 24 h was corrected by the average drug spontaneous degradation.

Data Analysis

We performed a comparative evaluation of drug disposition between four different ECMO circuits (MiniLung[®] petite: MLP, MiniLung[®]: ML, iLAActivve[®]: iLA, Xlung[®]). We calculated the average recovery corrected by spontaneous drug degradation at 2, 10, 30 min and 3, 6, and 24 h across all circuit categories. The trend over time is presented for the entire study period for each drug (see **Figures 1**, **2**). Data are expressed as mean (\pm SD) or percentage. All analyses were performed using R version 3.4.3 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).

RESULTS

In vitro ECMO models were maintained under physiological conditions for 24 h. Throughout the experimental time, we did

not experience any circuit complications. A total of 72 samples (eight for each circuit) were analyzed, in triplicate, for each drug. All baseline plasma samples were free of study drugs.

The recovery of drugs after a 24-h exposure to the extracorporeal circuit has been corrected for average drug spontaneous degradation, and it is graphically reported in **Figures 1**, **2**. The mean percentage of drug recovery at 24 h was 20% for voriconazole and 62% for vancomycin. While the loss of voriconazole was similar across all age circuits, vancomycin levels decreased by 38% in the miniLung petite, by 25% in the minilung, by 38% in the ILA active, and by 50% in the XLung circuits (**Table 1**). Drug physicochemical properties, namely, lipophilicity and protein binding, were derived from the Drug Bank online database (32) and are summarized in **Table 1**.

DISCUSSION

Suboptimal antimicrobial exposure may be associated with therapeutic failure, toxicity, antimicrobial resistance, and, ultimately, worsened patient outcomes (2, 3). In this *in vitro* study, we provide the equipment-related disposition of voriconazole and vancomycin in contemporary ECMO circuitry with *iLAActivve*, contributing insights into circuitand drug-specific determinants of PK changes during ECMO. Voriconazole was largely sequestered in the circuits, with no distinction across the different circuit sizes. Vancomycin was absorbed slightly more in the neonatal (miniLung petite), pediatric (ILA active), and adult (XLung) circuits than in the infant ones (miniLung). Spontaneous drug decay over 24 h was limited for both study drugs.

We consider these drugs as representative for the pharmacological classes they belong to, thus extending the relevance of our findings.

As expected, based on its lipophilicity and high protein binding (32), voriconazole was largely sequestered in the systems, uniformly across all size groups. Our data confirm those by Mehta et al., who reported a dramatic loss of 60% of voriconazole within 3 h from administration, in an *ex vivo* silicone membranebased model of blood primed circuit (33). Similarly, the altered PK profile of voriconazole has been observed in pediatric and adult case series (34, 35), showing a drop of voriconazole plasma levels immediately after ECMO initiation or membrane change (36). Higher initial loading and daily doses have been suggested, with an intense therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) to allow the attainment of therapeutic serum concentrations (37).

Vancomycin is a hydrophilic and moderately protein-bound agent and, given the narrow therapeutic window and the risk of nephrotoxicity, its PK profile has been extensively evaluated both in *in vitro* and *in vivo* settings (25–27). Indeed, targeting the ratio of the area under the vancomycin concentration–time curve over a 24-h period to the minimum inhibitory concentration of the bacteria is crucial, especially among critically ill patients (1, 38). Based on previous neonatal studies, vancomycin has shown an increased volume of distribution (Vd) and a decreased clearance (Cl) during ECMO, resulting in prolonged half-life (25–27). However, these findings were related to older roller







pump-based systems, whereas data on centrifugal pump-based circuits are limited. *In vitro* studies on adult contemporary circuits have revealed either steady vancomycin levels or minimal loss over 24 and 48 h (22, 39). In contrast, we have

observed a substantial decay of vancomycin, especially within the first 30 min. These results are in line with our previous *in vitro* findings on neonatal centrifugal-based circuits (18) (**Table 2**). The discrepancy among these results may reflect the TABLE 1 | Mean drug recovery (mg/L; ±SD) after 24 h of circulation in the study testing circuits (r), corrected for spontaneous drug degradation compared to expected drug levels (e).

Drug	e-MLP	r-MLP (<i>n</i> = 3)	e-ML	r-ML (<i>n</i> = 2)	e-iLA	r-iLA (<i>n</i> = 2)	e-XL	r-XL (<i>n</i> = 2)	Spontaneous degradation	LogP	РВ
VOR	140	24.9 (±3.5)	117.1	25 (±0.3)	134.7	26.3 (±0)	143.2	28.2 (±4.6)	0.8%	1.8	58
VAN	180	112 (±31.6)	177.1	133.2 (±49.7)	173.2	108.5 (±4,4)	193.7	96.5 (±13.5)	2.4%	-3.1	50

iLA, iLAActivve[®]; MLP, MiniLung[®] petite; ML, MiniLung[®]; PB, protein binding; VAN, vancomycin; VOR, voriconazole; XL, Xlung[®]. LogP values and protein binding (PB) of study drugs are derived from Drug Bank.

TABLE 2 | Comparison of mean drug recovery at 24 h (%) between centrifugal pump-based in vitro studies.

	Current experiment					Evidence from centrifugal-based systems			Physico-chemical data		
Drugs	MLP n = 3	ML n = 2	iLA n = 2	Xlung n = 2	Spontaneous drug degradation	Medos n Wildschut (18) n=2 180 min	Quadrox a Shekar (22) <i>n</i> = 4 24 h	Quadrox a Lemaitre (39) <i>n</i> = 3 24 h	LogP	PB %	Vd L/kg
VOR	17	20	19	19	0.8	-	-	-	1.8	58	4.6
VAN	60	73	60	48	2.4	67.1*	90	100	-3.1	50	0.4–1
Volume (ml)	250	310	400	480	-	200	670	800			

*Recovery at 180 min. iLA, iLAActivve[®]; MLP, MiniLung[®] petite; ML, MiniLung[®]; PB, protein binding; VAN, vancomycin; Vd, volume of distribution, VOR, voriconazole, XL, Xlung[®].

heterogeneity of experimental settings and highlights the need for a better understanding of drug-circuit interactions, as new materials and coatings become available. A matched-cohort study conducted in adult critically ill patients on ECMO receiving continuous infusion of vancomycin showed comparable drug concentrations between ECMO and non-ECMO patients (40). Similarly, other clinical studies showed no PK differences of vancomycin between ECMO adults and critically ill patients not on ECMO (41, 42). The inconsistency between neonatal, pediatric, and adult findings may originate from either ECMO circuit-related factors or (patho-) physiological determinants, as the priming fluid impacts more on neonatal circulating blood volume compared to adults. Pending new data from pediatric clinical PK of vancomycin, it is currently recommended to increase the loading dose and to perform TDM, with target trough plasma levels between 15 and 20 µg/ml (24, 37, 43-45).

Although spontaneous drug degradation was negligible for both voriconazole and vancomycin, it is methodologically rigorous to collect a dedicated sample on purpose, as the degradation may be relevant for certain drugs undergoing high spontaneous decay over time, such as midazolam (30). Moreover, according to standard practice, we have measured the total concentration of drugs, while in ECMO patients, the detection of free drug concentration could be worth exploring.

We acknowledge that our findings are not directly transferable to the bedside for a number of reasons. The number of circuits tested, which is limited by the high costs of the equipment required, calls for caution when interpreting the results to adapt the *in vitro* PK knowledge to clinical practice. Owing to the *ex vivo* setting, patient- and diseaserelated variables of drug disposition have not been taken into account. However, exploring the impact of circuit-related non-maturational covariates on antimicrobial PK variability is suitable to inform the ECMO compartment within the physiologically based PK modeling to develop a targeted dosing regimen during ECMO (24). Given the dearth of data related to antimicrobial drug disposition into contemporary ECMO circuits, our findings might be valuable to fill this knowledge gap in pharmacotherapy. Further efforts should be made to integrate both preclinical and clinical evidence to optimize pharmacotherapy in this vulnerable patient population by taking into account different ECMO circuit types provided by various manufacturers.

CONCLUSIONS

These results highlight the specific impact of contemporary extracorporeal technology on antimicrobial therapy in critically ill ECMO patients. Sequestration of voriconazole in newer circuits was significant and similar to older silicone-based ones. Although to a lesser extent than voriconazole, adsorption was relevant for vancomycin. As suboptimal antibiotic therapy may lead to treatment failure, maturational toxicity, and antimicrobial resistance, TDM should be performed where available.

Meanwhile, further research is required to improve dosing accuracy and move toward tailored pharmacotherapy with the aim to deliver safe and effective ECMO management, across all age groups.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The need for the institutional review board approval was waived as ethical approval was not required, according to the Dutch Law of research on human subjects. In particular, the fact that no patients were used in this *in vitro* study determined this decision.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GR was involved in the performance of experiments, acquisition, analysis, interpretation of data, writing of the first draft, and critical revision of the manuscript. GC and FM contributed to analysis, interpretation of data, and critical revision of the article. KA contributed to planning of the study, interpretation of the data, and critical revision of the article. BK performed the pharmacological analysis and critically revised the article. DT was involved in the conception and planning of the study, supervision

REFERENCES

- Bizzarro MJ, Conrad SA, Kaufman DA, Rycus P, Extracorporeal Life Support Organization Task Force on Infections, Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation. Infections acquired during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in neonates, children, and adults. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2011) 12:277–81. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e3181e28894
- Pluim T, Halasa N, Phillips SE, Fleming G. The morbidity and mortality of patients with fungal infections before and during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2012) 13:e288– 93. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e31824fbaf7
- Kumar A, Roberts D, Wood KE, Light B, Parrillo JE, Sharma S, et al. Duration of hypotension before initiation of effective antimicrobial therapy is the critical determinant of survival in human septic shock. *Crit Care Med.* (2006) 34:1589–96. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000217961.75225.E9
- MacLaren G, Schlapbach LJ, Aiken AM. Nosocomial infections during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in neonatal, pediatric, and adult patients: a comprehensive narrative review. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2020) 21:283–90. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000002190
- Grasselli G, Scaravilli V, Di Bella S, Biffi S, Bombino M, Patroniti, et al. Nosocomial infections during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: incidence, etiology, and impact on patients' outcome. *Crit Care Med.* (2017) 45:1726–33. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000002652
- 6. Rybak MJ, Lomaestro BM, Rotscahfer JC, Moellering RC Jr, Craig WA, Billeter M, et al. Vancomycin therapeutic guidelines: a summary of consensus recommendations from the infectious diseases Society of America, the American Society of Health-System Pharmacists, and the Society of Infectious Diseases Pharmacists. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2009) 49:325–7. doi: 10.1086/600877
- Chatelon J, Cortegiani A, Hammad E, Cassir N, Leone M. Choosing the right antifungal agent in ICU patients. *Adv Ther.* (2019). 36:3308– 20 doi: 10.1007/s12325-019-01115-0
- Watt K, Manzoni P, Cohen-Wolkowiez M, Rizzollo S, Boano E, Jacqz-Aigrain, et al. Triazole use in the nursery: fluconazole, voriconazole, posaconazole, and ravuconazole. *Curr Drug Metab.* (2013) 14:193–202. doi: 10.2174/138920013804870583
- Watt KM, Benjamin DK Jr, Cheifetz IM, Moorthy G, Wade KC, Smith PB, et al. Pharmacokinetics and safety of fluconazole in young infants supported with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2012) 31:1042–7. doi: 10.1097/INF.0b013e31825d3091
- Watt KM, Gonzalez D, Benjamin DK, Brouwer KL, Wade KC, Capparelli E, et al. Fluconazole population pharmacokinetics and dosing for prevention and treatment of invasive Candidiasis in children supported with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (2015) 59:3935– 43. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00102-15

of data collection, interpretation of the data, and critical revision of the article. EW was involved in the conception and planning of the study, performance of experiments, acquisition, analysis, interpretation of data, and critical revision of the manuscript. All authors revised the manuscript, gave final approval of the version to be submitted, and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank *Xenios Germany* for providing the circuits and *Griffini Miglierina Foundation* for supporting this study, without being involved in study design or interpretation of results. We would also like to thank Dr. Nicola Pesenti for graphical support.

- Watt KM, Cohen-Wolkowiez M, Barrett JS, Sevestre M, Zhao P, Brouwer KL, et al. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic approach to determine dosing on extracorporeal life support: fluconazole in children on ECMO. *CPT Pharmacometrics Syst Pharmacol.* (2018) 7:629–37. doi: 10.1002/psp4. 12338
- Ruiz S, Papy E, Da Silva D, Nataf P, Massias L, Wolff M, et al. Potential voriconazole and caspofungin sequestration during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Intensive Care Med.* (2009) 35:183. doi: 10.1007/s00134-008-1269-3
- Koch BC, Wildschut ED, de Goede AL, de Hoog M, Brüggemann RJ. Insufficient serum caspofungin levels in a paediatric patient on ECMO. *Med Mycol Case Rep.* (2013) 2:23–4. doi: 10.1016/j.mmcr.2012.12.006
- Roberts JA, Kumar A, Lipman J. Right dose, right now: customized drug dosing in the critically ill. *Crit Care Med.* (2017) 45:331–6. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000002210
- Allegaert K, van den Anker JN, Naulaers G, de Hoon J. Determinants of drug metabolism in early neonatal life. *Curr Clin Pharmacol.* (2007) 2:23– 9. doi: 10.2174/157488407779422294
- Buck ML. Pharmacokinetic changes during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: implications for drug therapy of neonates. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2003) 42:403–17. doi: 10.2165/00003088-200342050-00001
- Sauer CM, Yuh DD, Bonde P. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation use has increased by 433% in adults in the United States from 2006 to 2011. ASAIO J. (2015). 61:31–6. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000160
- Wildschut ED, Ahsman MJ, Allegaert K, Mathot RAA, Tibboel D. Determinants of drug absorption in different ECMO circuits. *Intensive Care Med.* (2010) 36:2109–16. doi: 10.1007/s00134-010-2041-z
- Mulla H., Lawson G, von Anrep C, Burke MD, Upton DU, Firmin RK, et al. In vitro evaluation of sedative drug losses during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. Perfusion. (2000) 15:21–6. doi: 10.1177/0267659100015 00104
- Wildschut ED, Ahsman M, Houmes RJ, Pokorna P, de Wildt SN, Mathot RAA, et al. Pharmacotherapy in neonatal and pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO). *Curr Drug Metab.* (2012) 13:767– 77. doi: 10.2174/138920012800840383
- Bhatt-Mehta V, Annich G. Sedative clearance during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Perfusion*. (2005) 20:309– 15. doi: 10.1191/0267659105pf8270a
- 22. Shekar K, Roberts JA, Mcdonald CI, Fisquet S, Barnett AG, Mullany DV, et al. Sequestration of drugs in the circuit may lead to therapeutic failure during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Crit Care.* (2012) 16:R194. doi: 10.1186/cc11679
- 23. Thibault C, Collier H, Naim MY, Heichel J, Schwartz E, Zuppa AF. Patterns of medication exposure in children on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation:
a step in prioritizing future pharmacologic studies. *Crit Care Explor.* (2019) 1:e0045. doi: 10.1097/CCE.00000000000045

- Raffaeli G, Pokorna P, Allegaert K, Mosca F, Cavallaro G, Wildschut ED, et al. Drug disposition and pharmacotherapy in neonatal ECMO: from fragmented data to integrated knowledge. *Front Pediatrics*. (2019) 7:360. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00360
- Hoie E, Swigart SA, Leuschen MP, Willett LD, Bolam DL. Vancomycin pharmacokinetics in infants undergoing extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Clin Pharm.* (1990) 9:711–5.
- Amaker RD, Dipiro JT, Bhatia J. Pharmacokinetics of vancomycin in critically ill infants undergoing extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (1996) 40:1139–42. doi: 10.1128/AAC.40.5.1139
- 27. Buck ML. Vancomycin pharmacokinetics in neonates receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pharmacotherapy*. (1998) 18:1082–6.
- Roberts JA, Kruger P, Paterson DL, Lipman J. Antibiotic resistance what's dosing got to do with it? *Crit Care Med.* (2008) 36:2433– 40. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e318180fe62
- Dryden M, Johnson AP, Ashiru-Oredope D, Sharland, M. Using antibiotics responsibly: right drug, right time, right dose, right duration. J Antimicrob Chemother. (2011) 66:2441–3. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkr370
- Raffaeli G, Allegaert K, Koch B, Cavallaro G, Mosca F, Tibboel D, et al. In vitro adsorption of analgosedative drugs in new extracorporeal membrane oxygenation circuits. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2018) 19:e251– 8. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000001484
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration. Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER) Center for Veterinary Medicine (CVM). Guidance for Industry Bioanalytical Method Validation. (2001). Available online at: https://www.fda.gov/downloads/ Drugs/Guidance/ucm070107.pdf (accessed October 15, 2017).
- Wishart DS, Knox C, Guo AC, Cheng D, Shrivastava S, Tzur D, et al. DrugBank: a knowledgebase for drugs, drug actions and drug targets. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2008) 36 (Suppl. 1):D901–6. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkm958
- Mehta NM, Halwick DR, Dodson BL, Thompson JE, Arnold JH. Potential drug sequestration during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: results from an ex vivo experiment. *Intensive Care Med.* (2007) 33:1018– 24. doi: 10.1007/s00134-007-0606-2
- 34. Spriet I, Annaert P, Meersseman P, Hermans G, Meersseman W, Verbesselt R, et al. Pharmacokinetics of caspofungin and voriconazole in critically ill patients during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. J Antimicrob Chemother. (2009) 63:767–70. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkp026
- 35. Brüggemann RJ, Antonius T, van Heijst A, Hoogerbrugge PM, Burger DM, Warris A. Therapeutic drug monitoring of voriconazole in a child with invasive aspergillosis requiring extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Ther Drug Monit.* (2008) 30:643–6. doi: 10.1097/FTD.0b013e3181898b0c
- 36. Winiszewski H, Rougny AC, Lagoutte-Renosi J, Millon L, Capellier G, Navellou JC, et al. The pharmacokinetic challenge of treating invasive aspergillosis complicating severe influenzae assisted by extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Crit Care.* (2018) 22:355. doi: 10.1186/s13054-018-2285-5

- Cheng V, Abdul-Aziz MH, Roberts JA, Shekar K. Optimising drug dosing in patients receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *J Thorac Dis.* (2018) 10 (Suppl. 5):S629–41. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.09.154
- Varghese JM, Roberts JA, Lipman J. Antimicrobial pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic issues in the critically ill with severe sepsis and septic shock. *Crit Care Clin.* (2011) 27:19–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ccc.2010. 09.006
- Lemaitre F, Hasni N, Leprince P, Corvol E, Belhabib G, Fillâtre P, et al. Propofol, midazolam, vancomycin and cyclosporine therapeutic drug monitoring in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation circuits primed with whole human blood. *Crit Care.* (2015) 19:1. doi: 10.1186/s13054-015-0772-5
- Donadello K, Roberts JA, Cristallini S, Beumier M, Shekar K, Jacobs F, et al. Vancomycin population pharmacokinetics during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation therapy: a matched cohort study. *Crit Care.* (2014) 18:632. doi: 10.1186/s13054-014-0632-8
- Wu, C.-C., Shen LJ, Hsu LF, Ko WJ, Wu, et al. Pharmacokinetics of vancomycin in adults receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *J Formos Med Assoc.* (2016) 115:560–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jfma.2015. 05.017
- 42. Park SJ, Yang JH, Park HJ, In YW, Lee YM, Cho H, et al. Trough concentrations of vancomycin in patients undergoing extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. PLoS ONE. (2015)10:e0141016. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 41016
- Sherwin J, Heath T, Watt K. Pharmacokinetics and dosing of anti-infective drugs in patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a review of the current literature. *Clin Ther.* (2016) 38:1976–94. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2016.07.169
- 44. Hahn J, Choi J, Chang M. Pharmacokinetic changes of antibiotic, antiviral, antituberculosis and antifungal agents during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in critically ill adult patients. *J Clin Pharm Ther.* (2017) 42:661– 71. doi: 10.1111/jcpt.12636
- Cies JJ, Moore WS, Nichols K, Knoderer CA, Carella DM, Chopra A, et al. Population pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamic target attainment of vancomycin in neonates on extracorporeal life support. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2017) 18:977–85. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000001250

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Raffaeli, Cavallaro, Allegaert, Koch, Mosca, Tibboel and Wildschut. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Surgery in Neonatal and Pediatric ECMO Patients Other Than Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia Repair: A 10-Year Experience

Casper M. Kersten, Sergei M. Hermelijn, René M. H. Wijnen, Dick Tibboel, Robert J. M. Houmes and J. Marco Schnater*

Department of Pediatric Surgery and Intensive Care, Erasmus University Medical Center Sophia Children's Hospital, Rotterdam, Netherlands

Aim of Study: The use of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) has increased as a result of technological developments and the expansion of indications. Relatedly, the number of patients undergoing surgery during ECMO is also rising, at least in the adult population. Little is known on surgery in children during ECMO-therapy. We therefore aimed to assess the frequencies and types of surgical interventions in neonatal and pediatric patients on ECMO and to analyze surgery-related morbidity and mortality.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Arun Saini, Texas Children's Hospital, United States

Reviewed by:

Katherine Cashen, Children's Hospital of Michigan, United States Lakshmi Raman, University of Texas Southwestem Medical Center, United States

> ***Correspondence:** J. Marco Schnater j.schnater@erasmusmc.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Critical Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 29 January 2021 Accepted: 30 March 2021 Published: 04 May 2021

Citation:

Kersten CM, Hermelijn SM, Wijnen RMH, Tibboel D, Houmes RJM and Schnater JM (2021) Surgery in Neonatal and Pediatric ECMO Patients Other Than Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia Repair: A 10-Year Experience. Front. Pediatr. 9:660647. doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.660647 **Methods:** We retrospectively collected information of all patients on ECMO over a 10-year period in a single tertiary and designated ECMO-center, excluding patients undergoing cardiac surgery, and correction of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Chi-squared test and Mann-Whitney U test were used to analyze data.

Main Results: Thirty-two of 221 patients (14%) required surgery when on ECMO. Common interventions were thoracotomy (32%), laparotomy (23%), fasciotomy (17%), and surgical revision of ECMO (15%). Complications occurred in 28 cases (88%), resulting in a 50% in-hospital mortality rate. Surgical patients had a longer ICU stay and longer total hospital stay compared to those not receiving surgery during ECMO. No significant difference in mortality was found when comparing surgical to non-surgical patients (50 vs. 41%).

Conclusions: Approximately one in seven neonatal or pediatric patients required surgical intervention during ECMO, of whom almost 90% developed a complication, resulting in a 50% mortality rate. These results should be taken into account in counseling.

Keywords: extracorporeal membrane oxygenation, surgery, outcome, complications, pediatric, neonate, critical illness, post-surgical complications

INTRODUCTION

Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) has been proven to be an efficient and costeffective addition to conventional ventilator support in both children and adults (1–3). In the last decades, the use of ECMO has increased as a result of technical developments and an extension of indications, especially beyond the neonatal period. Relatedly, the number of patients undergoing

109

surgery on ECMO is increasing. This increase is accompanied by higher complication rates in adults (4, 5). To date, complication rates and risks of surgical procedures in children on ECMO are still unknown, apart from those undergoing congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH) repair (6, 7).

Current indications for ECMO in the neonatal and pediatric populations include preoperative stabilization, post-surgical recovery, bridge to transplantation, bridge to recovery of organ function, and emergency cardiopulmonary resuscitation, socalled ECPR (8-10). Atkinson et al. (11) reported that 19 of 135 adults (14%) treated with ECMO underwent surgery while on ECMO in the years 1987 through 1989. Twenty-three years later, Taghavi et al. (5) reported a corresponding proportion of 269/563 (48%); an increase possibly demonstrating the effect of the extension of indications following new techniques and more experience. Surgical intervention during ECMO has not been associated with higher mortality rates in general (5, 11). Nevertheless, higher incidences of hemorrhage-related complications, due to the necessary anticoagulation during ECMO, have been reported (4, 5). The study of Taghavi et al. (5) found a significantly higher mortality rate in patients requiring blood transfusion because of hemorrhage.

In neonatal and pediatric patients, ECMO is often used as a bridge toward elective surgery of congenital abnormalities. Well-known examples are CDH, cardiac defects and bronchopulmonary abnormalities (4, 12–15). The role of ECMO in the management of CDH is debated and still subject of ongoing research (16). Although, clinical trials and subsequent systematic reviews have reported improved outcomes in CDH patients with the use of ECMO (2, 17, 18), repair of CDH on ECMO can lead to hemorrhage due to the necessary anticoagulation (6, 7). Considering this, we decided not to include correction of CDH in this study.

To our knowledge, outcomes of neonatal, and pediatric patients undergoing surgical procedures on ECMO have not been published so far, apart from one abstract describing a cohort of 98 neonatal and pediatric patients on ECMO, 36 of whom (37%) underwent surgery. In-hospital mortality was not higher in the surgical group, but a longer median length of stay, a longer intensive care unit (ICU) stay and more blood transfusions were required following surgery (19). The exact complication rate of surgery on ECMO in neonatal and pediatric patients is unknown. Consequently, clinical decision making is mostly subjective and based on expert opinion rather than evidence. The aim of our study was to analyze the frequencies and types of surgical interventions in neonatal and pediatric patients on ECMO as well as the surgery-related morbidity and mortality.

METHODS

We searched our center's electronic patient database as well as the national Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO) database for patients who had received ECMO-treatment between January 2009 and January 2019 in our center. This University center is one of two neonatal and pediatric ECMO centers in the Netherlands, executing more than 30 ECMO runs each year. Data of all patients who had undergone one or more surgical intervention on ECMO—apart from insertion and removal of cannulas—were analyzed in detail. Patients undergoing CDH repair and cardiac surgery during ECMO represent a distinctly different population with electively planned surgery. This population was therefore found to be beyond the scope of this article and was excluded. In addition, patients undergoing surgery in another hospital were excluded due to missing data.

We collected the following information: the child's sex, gestational age at birth, and weight at start of ECMO, indication for ECMO, type of ECMO, and duration and number of ECMO-runs. Indication for ECMO was categorized into ECPR and respiratory or cardiac support, broken down for neonatal (<28 days age) and pediatric patients (\geq 28 days age), as is customary in the ELSO registry (10). Type of ECMO was categorized into veno-venous double lumen (VVDL), veno-arterial (VA), veno-venous (VV), a combination of types (hybrid), or multiple consecutive types (multiple).

Surgical procedures were categorized as thoracic, abdominal, and vascular. Only the surgical removal, replacement or placement of additional ECMO cannulas apart from primary installation of ECMO was counted as a surgical procedure. The number of days on ECMO elapsed at the time of the surgery was noted. Furthermore, we distinguished between therapeutic and diagnostic surgical procedures and elective vs. emergency surgery. The following outcome parameters were recorded: total length of hospital stay, total days at ICU and complications including mortality. Complications were categorized as hemorrhage, ischemia, compartment syndrome, mortality, and other. Cause of death was categorized as futility, neurological, cardiovascular, pulmonary, therapy failure, or directly related to surgery. Deaths were measured up until discharge from our center.

Perioperative anticoagulation was administered according to local protocol, which was updated in 2015. Preoperatively thrombocytes were required to be above 150×10^9 /L. Thirty minutes before start of the surgery Tranexamic acid was administered with a loading dosage of 4 mg/kg intravenously, followed by a continuous infusion of 1 mg/kg/h for 24 h or longer, depending on the extent of post-operative hemorrhage. Before 2015 Heparin was continued during surgery to maintain an activated partial thromboplastin time (APTT) of either 50– 75 or 60–85 s depending on a normal or high thrombosis risk. After 2015 Heparin was stopped preoperatively, except when the risk of thrombosis was deemed high. Furthermore, fibrinogen levels were kept >1 g/L for 24 h after the surgical procedure (12, 20).

Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS (version 25, IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Differences in medians and percentages were assessed using the Mann-Whitney U test for continuous variables and the $\chi 2$ test for categorical variables.

RESULTS

In the 10-year study period, a total of 307 patients received ECMO-treatment in our center. Eighty-six patients were excluded; i.e., 58 (67%) who underwent cardiac surgery, 27 (31%) who underwent CDH repair, and one who underwent surgery elsewhere. Of the remaining 221 patients, 32 (14%) underwent surgery whilst on ECMO. See **Figure 1** for the corresponding flowchart.

Surgery vs. No Surgery (n = 221)

An overview of patient and ECMO characteristics is presented in **Table 1**. None of the baseline characteristics (sex, gestational age at birth, and birth weight) differed significantly between the surgical and non-surgical group.

ECMO Characteristics

Age and weight at start of ECMO were significantly higher in the surgical group compared to the non-surgical group. Furthermore, surgical patients had a significantly longer duration of ECMO compared to non-surgical patients.

Outcome

Both the length of stay on the ICU and the total length of hospital stay were significantly longer for the patients who underwent surgery on ECMO. However, the in-hospital mortality was not significantly different between the surgical and non-surgical group (41 vs. 50%, p = 0.327). While the mortality rate during ECMO was 38% in the surgical group compared to 28% in the non-surgical group, the mortality rate after cessation of ECMO was comparable between the two groups. Both differences were not statistically significant.



 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 1}}\xspace$] Baseline, ECMO, and outcome characteristics of surgical and non-surgical patients.

	Surgery <i>N</i> = 32 (14)	No surgery <i>N</i> = 189 (86)	P-value
Male	18 (56)	106 (62)	0.986
Gestational age at birth	38.79 (31.71–41.71)		0.531
Birthweight	2700 (1800–4134)	3225 (500–5100)	0.356
Weight at start of ECMO [†]	14 (2.55–75)	4.2 (1.94–120)	0.005*
Age at start of ECMO categorical [†]			0.005*
premature <28 days	0	9 (5%)	
At term <28 days	7 (22%)	70 (37%)	
28 days-2 years	4 (13%)	47 (25%)	
>2 years	21 (66%)	63 (33%)	
ECMO indication [†]			0.144
Neonatal-respiratory	6 (19%)	61 (32%)	
Neonatal-cardiac	0	9 (5%)	
Neonatal-ECPR [‡]	1 (3%)	7 (4%)	
Pediatric-respiratory	13 (40%)	78 (41%)	
Pediatric-cardiac	3 (9%)	9 (5%)	
Pediatric-ECPR [‡]	9 (28%)	25 (13%)	
ECMO type [†]	. ,	. ,	0.127
WDL	8 (25%)	80 (42%)	
VA	16 (50%)	85 (45%)	
W	2 (6%)	9 (5%)	
Multiple	6 (19%)	15 (8%)	
ECMO duration [†]	× ,		0.006*
<7 days	12 (38%)	120 (64%)	
7–20 days	13 (41%)	55 (29%)	
>20 days	7 (22%)	14 (7%)	
ECMO run(s) [†]	. (,.,,		0.707
1	30 (94%)	179 (95%)	011 01
2	2 (6%)	6 (3%)	
3	0	3 (2%)	
4	0	1 (1%)	
ICU days§	22 (2–179)	12 (1–275)	0.003*
Total hospital days	24 (0-179)	15 (0-300)	0.023*
Complications	24 (0-173)	10 (0-000)	0.020
Compartment syndrome	5 (16%)		
Other	3 (9%)		
Hemorrhage	2 (6%)		
Ischemia leg	2 (6%)	52 (000/)	0 070
Mortality on ECMO [†]	12 (38%)	53 (28%)	0.278
Mortality post-ECMO [†]	4 (13%)	24 (13%)	0.975
Complications total (including mortality)	28 (88%)		
Total in hospital mortality	16 (50%)	77 (41%)	0.327
Reason of death			0.69
Futility	8 (25%)	31 (16%)	
Neurological	2 (6%)	8 (4%)	
Cardiovascular	3 (9%)	19 (10%)	
ouraiovaooalai			

TABLE 1 | Continued

	Surgery <i>N</i> = 32 (14)	No surgery <i>N</i> = 189 (86)	P-value
Therapy failure	0	4 (2%)	
Surgical	0	1 (1%)	

Data are reported as n (%) and median (minimum-maximum).

*Indicates significance (p < 0.05).

[†]Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation.

[‡]Extracorporeal cardiopulmonary resuscitation.

§Intensive care unit.

Surgical Group

Thirty-two (14%) patients required surgery whilst on ECMO, 17 of whom (53%) received more than one intervention.

Types of Procedures

Thoracic surgery accounted for 40% of procedures, followed by vascular surgery (38%), and abdominal surgery (23%) (**Table 2**). In total 53 surgical procedures were performed in these 32 patients; thoracotomy was most frequently performed (n = 17, 32%), followed by laparotomy (n = 12, 23%), fasciotomy (n = 9, 17%), and surgical revision of ECMO (n = 8, 15%) (**Figure 2**).

Six out of the 17 thoracotomies were performed to obtain a lung biopsy, five for intra-thoracic hemorrhage, two for pleural effusion and two for empyema. One emergency thoracotomy was performed for a tension pneumothorax, and one for secondary closure of the thorax following a tracheal reconstruction.

Six out of the 12 laparotomies were indicated for suspicion of an abdominal compartment syndrome. In one case, a secondlook laparotomy was performed 2 days later following elevated lactic acid; this revealed extensive bowel ischemia. One patient required two laparotomy procedures on the same day because of hemorrhage 9 days after CDH correction. In this case ECMO was not started until 4 days after the CDH repair had taken place, following the development of fulminant sepsis. One laparotomy was performed for an anastomotic leakage of the bowel. The remaining two cases concerned acute laparotomy. In one case an abdominal compartment syndrome was suspected, in the other a volvulus was discovered.

Comparing survivors with non-survivors, it appeared that neither the categorical type of surgery nor the number of surgical procedures per patient was significantly different (**Table 2**).

Indications and Planning

Most surgical interventions were therapeutic (87%), as opposed to 13% being diagnostic (**Table 2**). One diagnostic laparotomy was performed following an ECPR ECMO procedure, and this revealed a volvulus. This patient did not survive. The other six diagnostic surgical procedures were lung biopsies; three were indicated to identify the cause of pneumonia, the other three intended to investigate the cause of pulmonary hypertension. In one case, the result of the lung biopsy led to immediate cessation of therapy because of alveolar capillary dysplasia. Four out of the other five patients who underwent a lung biopsy procedure did not survive (**Table 2**). Death was in these cases

TABLE 2 | Baseline, ECMO, and surgical characteristics of surgical patients.

	Total (N = 32, 14%)	Mortality (N = 16, 50%)	No mortality (N = 16, 50%)	P-value
Male	18 (56%)	6 (38)	12 (75)	0.033*
Gestational age at birth	38.79 (31.71–41.71)	38.57 (34.14–40.14)	38.71 (31.71–41.71)	0.482
Birthweight	2700 (1800–4134)	2670 (2075–3690)	2705 (1800–4134)	0.862
Weight at start of ECMO [†]	14 (2.55–75)	14.3 (2.55–60)	16.10 (2.84–75)	0.577
Age at start of ECMO categorical [†]				0.909
Premature <28 days	0	0	0	
At term <28 days	7 (22%)	4 (25%)	3 (19%)	
28 days–2years	4 (13%)	2 (12.5%)	2 (13%)	
>2 years	21 (66%)	10 (62.5%)	11 (69%)	
ECMO indication [†]				0.242
Neonatal-respiratory	6 (19%)	4 (25%)	2 (13%)	
Neonatal-cardiac	0	0	0	
Neonatal-ECPR [‡]	1 (3%)	0	1 (6%)	
Pediatric-respiratory	13 (40%)	8 (50%)	5 (31%)	
Pediatric-cardiac	3 (9%)	0	3 (19%)	
Pediatric-ECPR [‡]	9 (28%)	4 (25%)	5 (31%)	
ECMO type [†]		. ()		1
WDL	8 (25%)	4 (25%)	4 (25%)	
VA	16 (50%)	8 (50%)	8 (50%)	
W	2 (6%)	1 (6.3%)	1 (6%)	
Multiple	6 (19%)	3 (19%)	3 (19%)	
ECMO duration [†]	0 (1070)	0 (10,0)	0 (1070)	0.758
<7 days	12 (38%)	5 (31%)	7 (44%)	0.100
7–20 days	13 (41%)	7 (44%)	6 (38%)	
>20 days	7 (22%)	4 (25%)	3 (19%)	
ECMO run(s) [†]	1 (2270)	1 (2070)	0 (1070)	1
1	30 (94%)	15 (94%)	15 (94%)	
2	2 (6%)	1 (6%)	1 (6%)	
3	0	0	0	
4	0	0	0	
				0.524
Number of surgical interventions per patient	15 (470/)	6 (290/)	0 (569/)	0.524
	15 (47%)	6 (38%)	9 (56%)	
2	13 (40%)	8 (50%)	5 (31%)	
3	4 (13%)	2 (13%)	2 (13%)	
Total	53	28	25	0.041
Thoracic surgery	21 (40%)	14	7	0.241
Abdominal surgery	12 (23%)	7	5	0.465
Vascular surgery	20 (38%)	7	13	0.389
Day in ECMO-run 1st intervention	6 (1–38)	6 (1–18)	6 (1–38)	0.422
Day in ECMO-run 2nd intervention	10 (2–42)	8 (2–19)	12 (2-42)	0.567
Day in ECMO-run 3rd intervention	19 (9–41)	17 (14–19)	21 (9–41)	0.653
Reason of surgery	10 ()	00 (=== ')	0.4 (5 1)	0.061
Therapeutic	46 (87%)	22 (79%)	24 (96%)	
Diagnostic	7 (13%)	6 (21%)	1 (4%)	
Elective/emergency surgery	_ /			0.361
Elective	8 (15%)	6 (21%)	3 (12%)	
Emergency	45 (85%)	22 (79%)	22 (88%)	

Data are reported as n (%) and median (minimum-maximum).

*Indicates significance (p < 0.05).

[†]Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation.

[‡]Extracorporeal cardiopulmonary resuscitation.



not directly related to the surgical procedure. Comparison of the mortality rate related to either diagnostic or therapeutic surgical procedures did not show a significant difference. The majority of surgical procedures took place in an emergency setting (85%), as opposed to 15% being elective. Six of these procedures were the abovementioned diagnostic lung biopsies. In one case a tracheal reconstruction took place on ECMO due to an obstructive trachea and in one case an arterial line was placed by surgical cut down. The mortality rate was not significantly different between elective and emergency surgical cases (**Table 2**).

Outcome

Complications after surgery, including mortality, were seen in 88% of cases. The total in-hospital mortality was 50% in the surgical group. One quarter of deaths occurred after cessation of ECMO. Futility was the most reported reason of death (22%), resulting in cessation of therapy after multidisciplinary consensus was reached. Pulmonary failure was noted as reason of death in 13% of cases, and cardiovascular failure accounted for 9% of cases. Additional information concerning cause of death in the surgical cases can be found in the **Supplementary Material**.

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first study describing outcomes of neonatal and pediatric patients undergoing a surgical intervention while on ECMO, apart from CDH repair, and cardiac surgery. We found that 14% of the patients who received ECMOtreatment in the study period had undergone a surgical intervention while on ECMO, of whom more than half required multiple interventions. Thoracotomy was the most frequent intervention, followed by laparotomy, fasciotomy and surgical revision of ECMO cannulas. Complications occurred in 88% of surgical patients, associated with death in half of the cases. Other frequent complications included compartment syndrome and hemorrhage. The most common reason of death was futility, resulting in cessation of therapy. Patients who underwent surgery on ECMO had a significantly longer ICU stay and total hospital stay compared to non-surgical patients.

These results suggest that patients who undergo surgery while on ECMO have a higher risk of complications compared to those not operated on. In our cohort, this risk did not lead to a significantly higher in-hospital mortality in surgical patients (50 vs. 41% p = 0.327). This may be related to the relatively small sample sizes, as is also seen in literature in adults (5). In the present study, one quarter of deaths in surgical patients occurred after cessation of ECMO-treatment, which demonstrates that the critical period of patients in need of surgery while on ECMO does not end with decannulation.

The proportion of neonates and children on ECMO in our cohort receiving surgery (14%) is relatively low in comparison with studies in adults, reporting incidences from 14 to 48% (5, 11). We hypothesize that this relatively low proportion is related to the relatively large group of neonates in our cohort who need ECMO for respiratory support directly post-partum, few of whom require surgical intervention during ECMO. When comparing the ECMO-indication in surgical and non-surgical patients, a larger proportion within the non-surgical group is represented by neonates who are in need of ECMO due to respiratory failure (32% non-surgical vs. 19% surgical, p = 0.144). This patient group is known to have a relatively favorable prognosis (10). However, in our cohort we did not find a significant difference in mortality between the surgical and non-surgical group (50 vs. 41%, p = 0.327). We hypothesize that this is due to the fact that the neonatal-respiratory group represents a minority within our cohort (in total 68 out of 221 patients), and therefore does not significantly influence the mortality of either of the groups.

Various studies have focused on specific surgical interventions on ECMO such as cardiac catheterization, CDH correction and lung biopsies (13, 20, 21). We, however, investigated the surgical interventions in children on ECMO in general, and found a high complication rate as well as a high mortality rate in this group of patients. These findings can help improve the quality of counseling.

We searched the ELSO-registry but could not identify data on surgical interventions during ECMO. Though, complications including surgical site hemorrhage, cannulation site hemorrhage, and compartment syndrome were reported, numbers of surgical procedures appear not to be documented systematically (10). As we found that in our center approximately one in seven neonatal and pediatric patients on ECMO undergoes surgery—associated with a distinctly high complication rate—we advocate for the systematic registration of surgical interventions during ECMO in the future. Centralized registration will possibly lead to new insights and thereby influence clinical practice.

The retrospective nature of this study accounts for the possibility of missing data. The quality of data was especially poor concerning coagulation complications and transfusions in the perioperative period. Due to the large portion of missing data, analysis of these parameters was not possible. Colleagues Erdem et al. described coagulation complications on ECMO, however the relationship of these complications to surgical interventions during ECMO was not further analyzed in this study (22).

Follow-up was limited to either death or first hospital discharge after ECMO-treatment; we did not inventory whether complications had occurred thereafter. IJsselstijn et al. already stressed the importance of multidisciplinary long-term follow-up with a standardized approach, which is now being implemented in our center (23). Even though our cohort stems from the largest neonatal and pediatric ECMO-center in the Netherlands, we found it to be too small and heterogeneous for a clinically significant prediction model. In order to achieve a cohort fit for a prediction model, a multi-center study design will be necessary in order to include a sufficient number of patients. Large multi-center studies have reported high rates of complications due

to either bleeding or thrombosis, warranting future studies exploring new coagulation strategies during ECMO (24, 25). Likewise, future multi-center studies focusing on surgical procedures during ECMO could lead to identification of possible predictive variables for surgical outcome. ECMO-treatment is an evolving field of medical practice in which new instruments and techniques are frequently introduced. Consequently, it is plausible that during the 10 years of inclusion in the present study ECMO techniques, practice and the supportive care have changed, although, recent results suggest that the transition from roller to centrifugal pump techniques has not significantly influenced outcome (22).

In conclusion, approximately one in seven neonatal and pediatric patients required a surgical intervention during ECMOtreatment, 88% of them developed complications. In-hospital mortality after surgery on ECMO was 50%, which was not significantly higher than in non-surgical patients. These results should be taken into account in counseling.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Daily Board of the Medical Ethics Committee Erasmus MC. Written informed consent from the participants' legal guardian/next of kin was not required to participate in this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JS and RH contributed to conception and design of the study. CK organized the database, performed case study, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. CK and SH performed data analysis. CK, SH, JS, and RH drafted the manuscript for important intellectual content. JS, RW, and DT contributed to revising the manuscript and gave final approval. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Ko Hagoort for providing editorial advice.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fped. 2021.660647/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Peek GJ, Mugford M, Tiruvoipati R, Wilson A, Allen E, Thalanany MM et al. Efficacy and economic assessment of conventional ventilatory support versus extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for severe adult respiratory failure (CESAR): a multicentre randomised controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2009) 374:1351–63. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61069-2
- Morini, F, Goldman A, Pierro A. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia: a systematic review of the evidence. *Eur J Pediatr Surg.* (2006) 16:385–91. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-924751
- Roberts TE. Economic evaluation and randomised controlled trial of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: UK collaborative trial. The Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation Economics Working Group. BMJ. (1998) 317:911-5 doi: 10.1136/bmj.317.7163.911
- Joshi V, Harvey C, Nakas A, Waller DA, Peek GJ, Firmin R. The need for thoracic surgery in adult patients receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a 16-year experience. *Perfusion*. (2013) 28:328– 32. doi: 10.1177/0267659113480401
- Taghavi S, Jayarajan SN, Mangi AA, Hollenbach K, Dauer E, Sjoholm LO, et al. Examining noncardiac surgical procedures in patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Asaio J.* (2015) 61:520–5. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000258
- Lally KP, Paranka MS, Roden J, Georgeson KE, Wilson JM, Lillehei CW, et al. Congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Stabilization repair on ECMO. Ann Surg. (1992) 216:569–73. doi: 10.1097/0000658-199211000-00008
- Wilson JM, Bower LK, Lund DP. Evolution of the technique of congenital diaphragmatic hernia repair on ECMO. J Pediatr Surg. (1994) 29:1109– 12. doi: 10.1016/0022-3468(94)90289-5
- Sauer CM, Yuh DD, Bonde P. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation use has increased by 433% in adults in the United States from 2006 to 2011. Asaio J. (2015) 61:31–6. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000160
- Paden ML, Rycus PT, Thiagarajan RR, Registry E. Update and outcomes in extracorporeal life support. *Semin Perinatol.* (2014) 38:65–70. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2013.11.002
- Barbaro RP, Paden ML, Guner YS, Raman L, Ryerson LM, Alexander P, et al. Pediatric extracorporeal life support organization registry international report 2016. Asaio J. (2017) 63:456–63. doi: 10.1097/MAT.000000000000603
- Atkinson JB, Kitagawa H, Humphries B. Major surgical intervention during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. J Pediatr Surg. (1992) 27:1197– 8. doi: 10.1016/0022-3468(92)90786-7
- Keijzer R, Wilschut DE, Houmes RJ, van de Ven KP, van den Hout L, Sluijter I, et al. Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: to repair on or off extracorporeal membrane oxygenation? *J Pediatr Surg.* (2012) 47:631– 6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2011.11.016
- Guzeltas A, Kasar T, Tanidir IC, Ozturk E, Yildiz O, Haydin S. Cardiac catheterization procedures in pediatric patients undergoing extracorporeal membrane oxygenation cardiac catheterization, ECMO. *Anatol J Cardiol.* (2017) 18:425–30. doi: 10.14744/AnatolJCardiol.2017.7927
- Bond SJ, Lee DJ, Stewart DL, Buchino JJ. Open lung biopsy in pediatric patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. J Pediatr Surg. (1996) 31:1376–8. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3468(96)90832-5
- 15. Inwald D, Brown K, Gensini F, Malone M, Goldman A. Open lung biopsy in neonatal and paediatric patients referred for

extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO). *Thorax.* (2004) 59:328–33. doi: 10.1136/thx.2003.010793

- Reiss I, Schaible T, van den Hout L, Capolupo I, Allegaert K, van Heijst A, et al. Standardized postnatal management of infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia in Europe: the CDH EURO Consortium consensus. *Neonatology*. (2010) 98:354–64. doi: 10.1159/000320622
- Van Meurs KP, Newman KD, Anderson KD, Short BL. Effect of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation on survival of infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J Pediatr. (1990) 117:954–60. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(05)80144-1
- Mugford M, Elbourne D, Field D. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for severe respiratory failure in newborn infants. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2008) CD001340. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001340.pub2
- Schwartz S SJ, Kumar K, Bonadonna D, Hornik C, Turner D, Lodge A. Examining noncardiac surgical procedures in neonatal and pediatric patients on ECMO. *Crit Care Med.* (2018) 46:104. doi: 10.1097/01.ccm.0000528263.29456.0c
- Houmes RJ, Ten Kate CA, Wildschut ED, Verdijk RM, Wijnen RM, de Blaauw I, et al. Risk and relevance of open lung biopsy in pediatric ECMO patients: the Dutch experience. *J Pediatr Surg.* (2017) 52:405– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2016.11.031
- Bojanic K, Woodbury JM, Cavalcante AN, Grizelj R, Asay GF, Colby CE, et al. Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: outcomes of neonates treated at Mayo Clinic with and without extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Paediatr Anaesth*. (2017) 27:314–21. doi: 10.1111/pan.13046
- 22. Erdem O, Kuiper JW, Houmes RJ, van Ommen CH, van Rosmalen J, Tibboel D, et al. Coagulation complications after conversion from roller to centrifugal pump in neonatal and pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *J Pediatr Surg.* (2020). doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2020.11.018. [Epub ahead of print].
- IJsselstijn H, Hunfeld M, Schiller RM, Houmes RJ, Hoskote A, Tibboel D, et al. Improving long-term outcomes after extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: from observational follow-up programs toward risk stratification. *Front Pediatr.* (2018) 6:177. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00177
- 24. Dalton HJ, Reeder R, Garcia-Filion P, Holubkov R, Berg RA, Zuppa A, et al. Factors associated with bleeding and thrombosis in children receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 196:762–71. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201609-1945OC
- Dalton HJ, Cashen K, Reeder RW, Berg RA, Shanley TP, Newth CJL, et al. Hemolysis during pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: associations with circuitry, complications, and mortality. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2018) 19:1067–76. doi: 10.1097/PCC.000000000001709

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Kersten, Hermelijn, Wijnen, Tibboel, Houmes and Schnater. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Assessing Anticoagulation in Neonates With Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia During Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation: Does Anti-Factor Xa or Thromboelastometry Provide Additional Benefit?

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aparna Hoskote, Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children NHS Foundation Trust, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Marianne Nellis, Weill Cornell Medical Center, United States Uri Pollak, Hadassah-Hebrew University Medical Center, Israel

> *Correspondence: Alba Perez Ortiz alba.perez-ortiz@umm.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Critical Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 26 March 2021 Accepted: 16 August 2021 Published: 17 September 2021

Citation:

Perez Ortiz A, Dempfle CE, Jung T, Doniga T, Weiß C, Hetjens S, Schaible T and Rafat N (2021) Assessing Anticoagulation in Neonates With Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia During Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation: Does Anti-Factor Xa or Thromboelastometry Provide Additional Benefit? Front. Pediatr. 9:685906. doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.685906 Alba Perez Ortiz^{1*}, Carl E. Dempfle², Toni Jung¹, Thalia Doniga¹, Christel Weiß³, Svetlana Hetjens³, Thomas Schaible¹ and Neysan Rafat¹

¹ Department of Neonatology, University Children's Hospital Mannheim, University of Heidelberg, Mannheim, Germany, ² IMD Coagulation Center Mannheim, Mannheim, Germany, ³ Department for Medical Statistics and Biomathematics, Medical Faculty Mannheim, University of Heidelberg, Mannheim, Germany

Objective: The optimal management of anticoagulation in neonatal/pediatric patients during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) has not been established yet and varies greatly among ECMO centers worldwide. Therefore, we aimed to assess whether the use of anti-factor Xa assay and/or thromboelastometry correlate better than activated clotting time with heparin dose in newborns with congenital diaphragmatic hernia during ECMO. We also examined whether these coagulation assays correlate with thrombotic and/or hemorrhagic complications, when the management of anticoagulation is based only on activated clotting time values.

Methods: A prospective observational study in a neonatal ECMO center was conducted. We included all neonates with congenital diaphragmatic hernia born in our institution between March 2018 and January 2019 and requiring support with venoarterial ECMO. A total of 26 ECMO runs were analyzed. During the study, the heparin dose was still adjusted according to activated clotting time values. Measurements of anti-factor Xa assay, activated partial thromboplastin time, and a thromboelastometry from the same blood specimen were performed twice a day.

Results: Anti-factor Xa levels showed a moderate correlation with heparin dose, whereas the other tests showed a weak correlation. Four patients (17.4%) had thrombotic complications, 2 patients (8.7%) experienced life-threatening bleeding, and in 11 patients (47.8%) disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC) occurred. Anti-factor Xa levels were lower in the group with thrombotic complications (0.23 vs. 0.27 IU/ml; p = 0.002), while activated partial thromboplastin time was higher in the group with hemorrhagic complications (69.4 s vs. 59.8 s; p = 0.01). In patients experiencing DIC,

heparin dose and anti-factor Xa levels were lower, while no difference in activated clotting time and clotting time in INTEM and INTEM-HEPTEM were shown.

Conclusions: Anti-factor Xa levels correlate better to heparin dose than activated clotting time. The use of anti-factor Xa assay instead of activated clotting time for dosing of unfractionated heparin could reduce thrombotic complications in neonates with congenital diaphragmatic hernia on ECMO support. The thromboelastometry showed no additional benefit for this purpose.

Keywords: extracorporeal membrane oxygenation, congenital diaphragmatic hernia, thromboelastometry, anti-factor Xa, heparin

INTRODUCTION

Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) is an extracorporeal technique used to support patients with respiratory and/or cardiac failure refractory to conventional treatment. Since the first reported use of ECMO in a newborn in 1975, over 40,000 newborns worldwide have been treated with ECMO (1). Congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH) is nowadays the most common indication for ECMO in neonates with respiratory failure (2).

Despite increasing clinical practice and technical improvements, the optimal management of anticoagulation in patients during ECMO is still controversial and varies greatly among the various ECMO centers worldwide (3). The rate of hemostatic complications, including life-threatening bleeding and thrombotic events, remains high (10-33%) and represents a major cause of morbidity and mortality in these patient populations (1, 3, 4). Maintaining an optimal balance of hemostasis can be particularly challenging in neonates due to their immature hemostatic systems, with decreased plasma concentrations of most procoagulants and many anticoagulant factors and the resulting lack of reserve capacity (1, 4). Furthermore, these physiological differences may influence the monitoring and efficacy of the anticoagulation required during ECMO (1).

Although there is no standardized protocol, unfractionated heparin (UNFH) is the most commonly used anticoagulant during ECMO (1, 3, 5). Several tests to monitor coagulation and anticoagulation during ECMO have been developed over time, but the ideal test or combination of tests to adequately manage anticoagulation still remains to be established (1, 6–9).

The activated clotting time (ACT) is the most frequently used test to monitor UNFH activity in patients supported on ECMO, because it is available in real time at the bedside (4, 6). However, recent studies suggest that managing ECMO anticoagulation solely based on ACT measurements may lead to sub-optimal anticoagulation in these patients (4, 9-12). The activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT) is the second most frequently used test to monitor UNFH during ECMO (1). The anti-factor Xa assay does not provide a direct measurement of the UNFH concentration but of the UNFH effect instead (6). Its value appears to be more specific than ACT values for heparin control, as it is not affected by coagulopathy, thrombocytopenia, coagulation factor deficiency, or dilution

(6). Thromboelastometry (ROTEM[®]; Tem Innovations GmbH, Munich) is a whole blood viscoelastic point-of-care coagulation test that provides information on the overall kinetics of hemostasis, as well as on the interactions between coagulation factors, erythrocytes, platelets, and coagulation inhibitors (6). Such information makes the use of viscoelastic tests in ECMO patients compelling.

The objectives of this study were to examine the correlations between ACT, aPTT, anti-factor Xa assay, and two ROTEM[®] parameters that detect the UNFH effect (CT-INTEM and CT-INTEM–CT-HEPTEM) and the dose of UNFH in neonates with CDH during venoarterial ECMO. Furthermore, we were interested in assessing whether the different measurements of anticoagulation correlate with thrombotic and/or hemorrhagic complications when the management of anticoagulation is based only on ACT values.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

Neonates with CDH requiring venoarterial ECMO (n = 23) were selected directly after birth between March 2018 and January 2019 from the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) of the Department of Neonatology of the University Children's Hospital Mannheim, University of Heidelberg. The indication for and the allocation to ECMO was performed based on the recommendations made by the CDH EURO Consortium Consensus Team (2015 Update) (13). All gestational ages were included. Exclusion criteria were congenital heart defects (except patent ductus arteriosus and persistence of the foramen ovale), inborn errors of metabolism, other anatomical pulmonary anomalies, and severe pneumonia/sepsis. We selected only CDH patients in order to have a homogenous patient population for this study. This study was approved by the local ethics committee of the Medical Faculty Mannheim of the University of Heidelberg (Ethics Committee II), and informed consent was obtained from the parents of all study subjects.

Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation and Anticoagulation

All patients received an ECMO circuit consisting of a Jostra HL20 roller pump (Maquet Cardiopulmonary AG, Hirrlingen, Germany), a QUADROX-i Neonatal Oxygenator (Maquet

Cardiopulmonary AG, Hirrlingen, Germany), and a heparincoated system Maquet Bioline (Maquet Cardiopulmonary AG, Hirrlingen, Germany). Anticoagulation was performed with a continuous infusion of UNFH. The circuits were all primed with gas (carbon dioxide) following a prime with Ringer's solution with UNFH (0.5 IU/ml), an albumin prime (50 ml 20% Albumin), and finally a blood prime with one packed red blood cells, 50 ml fresh-frozen plasma, and 200 IU UNFH. During ECMO circuit prime, a continuous infusion of UNFH at 500 IU/h was started. After finishing the blood prime, an ACT measurement was taken, and if it was greater than 999 s, the UNFH infusion was reduced to 300 IU/h until connection to the patient. No bolus of UNFH was given to patients prior to cannulation. After cannulation and start of ECMO, continuous infusion of UNFH was decreased to 100 IU/h and gradually reduced until ACT values were within target range (160-180 s). During the study, UNFH was still titrated according to ACT values measured hourly. Target range from ACT was increased from 160-180 to 180-200s in case of the presence of thrombosis in ECMO circuit. According to our protocol, antithrombin (AT) activity was measured daily, and values below 60% were systematically supplemented. Transfusion requirement was monitored twice a day: platelet transfusions (15 ml/kg) were administered to achieve platelet counts higher than 80,000 cells/µl during the first 72 h of ECMO and greater than 60,000 cells/µl thereafter. Fresh-frozen plasma (15 ml/kg) was also administered to keep fibrinogen level above 100 mg/dl and Quick test value higher than 40%.

Monitoring of Anticoagulation

Measurements of ACT, anti-factor Xa assay, aPTT, and thromboelastometry from the same blood specimen were performed twice a day (7 a.m. and 7 p.m.). The ACT was measured at the bedside using ACT $\mathsf{Plus}^{\mathbb{R}}$ (Medtronic Biologic Therapeutics and Diagnostics, Minneapolis, USA). Both aPTT and anti-factor Xa were collected in citrated tubes and measured at the Institute of Clinical Chemistry of the University Hospital Mannheim. The aPTT was measured using a coagulometric test with addition of Actin FS and calcium chloride (Sysmex[®] CS-5100, Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Products GmbH, Marburg, Germany). The assessment of anti-factor Xa was performed with a chromogenic test without addition of exogenous ATIII (INNOVANCE® Heparin test, Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Products GmbH, Marburg, Germany). The thromboelastometry was performed as a point-of-care examination using ROTEM® delta (Tem Innovations GmbH, Munich, Germany). In each ROTEM[®] analysis, four tests were performed simultaneously: EXTEM, INTEM, FIBTEM, and HEPTEM. Since the effect of heparin can be specifically demonstrated by comparing INTEM (reflects the intrinsic coagulation pathway) and HEPTEM (it includes heparinase and reflects the intrinsic coagulation pathway in the absence of UNFH), both the coagulation time for INTEM (CT-INTEM) and the difference between the coagulation time for INTEM and HEPTEM (CT-Diff) were used to analyze the heparin effect.

Data Collection

Demographic, clinical, and laboratory data were collected, including demographic variables, duration of ECMO support, UNFH dosing, transfusion requirement, the presence of disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC), and thrombotic and hemorrhagic complications as defined by the Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO) registry (6). In the absence of ECMO-specific, validated DIC scores (14), DIC was defined as a composite of thrombocytopenia (<50,000 cells/µl), d-dimer >20 g/l, fibrinogen <100 mg/dl, and Quick test <39%. Laboratory values were collected twice a day and included platelet count, hemoglobin, ACT, Quick test, aPTT, fibrinogen, anti-factor Xa, and ROTEM[®] values. AT and d-dimer levels were measured once a day.

As described above and according to our protocol, the solution and the blood products used for the priming of the ECMO circuit contained UNFH, and a continuous infusion of UNFH (100 IU/h) was started after cannulation. Due to this high infusion rate of heparin, the values of the coagulation assays were outside the range of measurement in the first hours after initiation of ECMO support, and the UNFH infusion rate had to be significantly reduced until ACT values were within the target range. To guarantee that this situation did not affect the results, these outliers of the values from the coagulation tests (ACT levels >200 s in the first 2-12 h after cannulation until ACT target range of 180-200 s was reached for the first time) as well as the corresponding UNFH dose and associated bleeding complications (such as cannula site bleeding directly after cannulation) were excluded from the statistical analyses.

Statistical Methods

Statistical analysis was performed with SAS[®] Version 9.4 (SAS Institute GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany). Descriptive statistics were used to describe the demographic characteristics of the patients and to analyze the distribution of UNFH infusion rates and coagulation tests. Each ECMO course was divided into 12-h periods daily, and each laboratory value and UNFH infusion rate was recorded within its corresponding time point. Spearman correlation coefficients were used to assess correlations between heparin dose and values from the different coagulation assays. The Wilcoxon–Mann–Whitney test was used to compare the values from the coagulation assays and the heparin dose between groups with and without clinical complications. A *p*-value of 0.05 or less was considered significant.

RESULTS

Demographic and Clinical Characteristics of the Study Cohort

Twenty-three newborns (7 female and 16 male) were included in our study, of which two patients (8.7%) were late preterm infants (34^{+5} and 36^{+0} weeks). The remaining patients were term neonates (37^{+1} - 39^{+4} weeks). The median birth weight was 2,894 g (range 2,160–3,890 g). All patients were placed on ECMO in the first 48 h after birth. After 10 days, three patients required **TABLE 1** | Median values of the different coagulation assays.

Coagulation assay	Median (IQR)	
ACT (s), $n = 500$	181 (118–301)	
aPTT (s), <i>n</i> = 496	59.9 (35.6–135.6)	
Anti-factor Xa (IU/ml), $n = 455$	0.26 (0.09–0.68)	
CT-INTEM (s), $n = 409$	277 (164–856)	
CT-Diff (s), $n = 380$	56 (-148 to 560)	

ACT, activated clotting time; aPTT, activated partial thromboplastin time; CT-INTEM, clotting time in INTEM; CT-Diff, clotting time in INTEM minus clotting time in HEPTEM; IQR, interquartile range.

TABLE 2 | Spearman correlation coefficients between heparin dose and the different coagulation tests.

	ACT	aPTT	Anti-factor Xa	CT-INTEM	CT-Diff
r _s	0.19	0.20	0.38	0.03	0.17
p-value	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.46	0.0006

ACT, activated clotting time; aPTT, activated partial thromboplastin time; CT-INTEM, clotting time in INTEM; CT-Diff, clotting time in INTEM minus clotting time in HEPTEM; r_s, Spearman's rank correlation coefficient.

The bold values symbolize that the value is statistically significant.

a second ECMO run; hence, a total of 26 ECMO runs were analyzed. The median duration of ECMO support was 10.3 days (range 1–20 days). Nine patients (39.1%) died prior to discharge, four of them (17.4%) died while on ECMO support.

With regard to hemostatic complications, four patients (17.4%) showed significant thrombosis in the ECMO circuit, requiring an unplanned replacement of the circuit or an unplanned termination of the ECMO support. No patient experienced a clinically noticeable thrombotic complication. Eight patients (34.8%) had hemorrhagic complications, of which six developed immediate bleeding at cannulation site, and three required surgical revision. Two patients (8.7%) experienced life-threatening hemorrhagic complications (one pulmonary and one cerebral) after the first 24h of ECMO support. None of the patients experienced lethal bleeding. DIC occurred in 11 patients (47.8%).

Monitoring of Anticoagulation

The median values of the different coagulation tests are shown in **Table 1**. None of the coagulation assays showed a strong correlation with the heparin dose (**Table 2**). Anti-factor Xa assay showed a positive moderate correlation with the heparin dose, whereas the other tests correlated only weakly (**Table 2**). No significant correlation was found between heparin dose and CT-INTEM (**Table 2**). In **Figure 1**, the correlation of heparin dose to the values from the analyzed coagulation tests are displayed. The gently slanted horizontal lines shown in **Figures 1D,E** indicate a lack of sensitivity of the analyzed thromboelastometric tests in response to a change in heparin dose. In contrast, an increase in heparin dose increased the values of ACT, aPTT, and anti-Xa assay (**Figures 1A–C**), while the steeper regression line and the fewer outlying values in the case of anti-Xa assay indicated a stronger correlation of this test to heparin dose in comparison with ACT and aPTT.

Thrombotic Complications

Table 3 shows the median values of the analyzed coagulation assays in the group of patients with thrombotic complications compared to the group of patients without thrombotic complications. Anti-factor Xa assay was the only test which was statistically significant between the groups and was lower in the group with thrombotic complications.

Hemorrhagic Complications

A comparison of the median values of the different coagulation tests between the group of patients who experienced a bleeding complication and the patients without bleeding complication is shown in **Table 4**. aPTT was the only test that was statistically significant between the two groups and was higher in the group with clinically relevant hemorrhagic complications.

Disseminated Intravascular Coagulation

The median values of the coagulation assays when DIC occurred compared to median values of the tests in the absence of DIC are represented in **Table 5**. No statistically significant differences in ACT values were found, whereas the median values of anti-factor Xa test were significantly lower when DIC occurred. The same could be observed with the heparin dose. In contrast, the median values of aPTT were significantly higher. No differences in the thromboelastometric tests were shown.

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we evaluated the correlation of an administrated heparin dose to different coagulation assays in newborns with CDH undergoing venoarterial ECMO and assessed whether the different coagulation assays correlated with thrombotic and/or hemorrhagic complications, when the management of anticoagulation was based only on ACT values. Anti-factor Xa assay showed a moderate correlation with heparin dose, whereas the other tests correlated only weakly. The levels of anti-factor Xa were lower in the group with thrombotic complications, while aPTT was higher in the group with hemorrhagic complications. In patients experiencing DIC, heparin dose and anti-factor Xa levels were lower, while no differences in ACT and CT-INTEM and CT-Diff were seen.

The ACT, which is our standard assay to manage heparin administration on ECMO, showed only a weak correlation to heparin dose. This finding is consistent with prior studies of pediatric patients on ECMO (4, 11, 14–16) and may suggest that management of anticoagulation during ECMO based only on ACT measurements leads to sub-optimal anticoagulation in these patients. Although pediatric patients and neonates have physiologically prolonged aPTT values, several publications have shown a better correlation of heparin dose to aPTT compared to ACT, suggesting that the aPTT could be a more accurate test than the ACT to measure heparin effect in pediatric patients including neonates during ECMO (4, 14, 17, 18). Our findings



FIGURE 1 | Scatter plots representing the relationship between heparin dose and the different coagulation assays. The blue area represents the 95% confidence limit of the mean predicted values of the regression line. (A–C) The values of activated clotting time (ACT), activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), and anti-Xa assay increase with increasing heparin dose. In the case of anti-Xa assay, fewer outlying values and a steeper regression line are seen. (D,E) The slightly slanted horizontal line indicates a lack of sensitivity of the clotting time in INTEM (CT-INTEM) and INTEM-HEPTEM (CT-Diff) in response to a change in heparin dose.

do not support this hypothesis: the correlation of heparin doses to aPTT was only weak and not stronger than the correlation to ACT. Several studies have shown a more significant correlation of heparin dose to anti-factor Xa assay values in pediatric patients and neonates during ECMO, compared to ACT and aPTT values (4, 11, 15, 19). In our study, the anti-factor Xa assay showed the

TABLE 3 Comparison of the median values from heparin dose and coagulation
assays in the group of patients with and without thrombotic complications.

	Thrombotic complications ^a	No thrombotic complications ^a	<i>p</i> -value
Heparin dose (IU/kg/h)	21.2 (0–60.6)	20.6 (0–161.3)	0.39
ACT (s)	185 (125–999)	182 (118–999)	0.85
aPTT (s)	57.6 (36.7–151)	60.8 (28.7–151)	0.89
Anti-factor Xa (IU/ml)	0.23 (0.09-0.78)	0.27 (0.09–1.9)	0.002
CT-INTEM (s)	267 (195–1881)	286 (154–5126)	0.14
CT-Diff (s)	49 (-148 to 1597)	60 (-126 to 4785)	0.07
- (-)	- (,		

ACT, activated clotting time; aPTT, activated partial thromboplastin time; CT-INTEM, clotting time in INTEM; CT-Diff, clotting time in INTEM minus clotting time in HEPTEM. ^aMedian values and interouartile ranges.

The bold values symbolize that the value is statistically significant.

TABLE 4 | Comparison of the median values from heparin dose and coagulation assays in the group of patients with and without bleeding complications.

	Bleeding complications ^a	No bleeding complications ^a	p-value
Heparin dose (IU/kg/h)	26.3 (0-44)	20.6 (0–161.3)	0.03
ACT (s)	185 (141–999)	182 (118–999)	0.90
aPTT (s)	69.4 (35.1–151)	59.8 (28.7–151)	0.01
Anti-factor Xa (IU/ml)	0.28 (0.09–0.75)	0.27 (0.09-1.9)	0.42
CT-INTEM (s)	297 (204–1235)	279 (154–5126)	0.15
CT-Diff (s)	61 (-46 to 960)	58 (-148 to 4785)	0.6

ACT, activated clotting time; aPTT, activated partial thromboplastin time; CT-INTEM, clotting time in INTEM; CT-Diff, clotting time in INTEM minus clotting time in HEPTEM. ^aMedian values and interouartile ranges.

The bold values symbolize that the value is statistically significant.

strongest correlation to heparin dose. Nankervis et al. (11) found a strong correlation of anti-factor Xa assay to the administered heparin dose (r = 0.75), whereas the correlation in our study was only moderate (r = 0.38) and comparable to the findings of Bembea et al. (15) (r = 0.33). In the study of Nankervis et al. (11), the median heparin dose was 42.2 IU/kg/h, and the median value of anti-factor Xa assay was 0.7 IU/ml. These values are considerably higher in comparison with the median values reported by Bembea et al. (15) (34 IU/kg/h and 0.4 IU/ml) and our values (21.2 IU/kg/h and 0.26 IU/ml). This could suggest that the correlation of anti-factor Xa assay to heparin is stronger when higher heparin doses are administered.

Although the use of viscoelastic tests to monitor coagulation on ECMO is not widespread, the literature reports benefits of their use (20). Major obstacles for the use of thromboelastometry for coagulation management in neonatal ECMO are the scarcity of data on reference ranges for ROTEM[®] parameters in neonates and the lack of established therapeutic ranges for monitoring anticoagulation (19, 21). Panigada et al. concluded in a study of an adult population that the use of a thromboelastography-driven protocol to manage heparin anticoagulation during venovenous ECMO seemed to be feasible, not associated with an increased rate of complications, and even allowed the administration of **TABLE 5** | Comparison of the median values from heparin dose and coagulation assays in the presence and absence of disseminated intravascular coagulation.

	DIC ^a	Absence of DIC ^a	р
Heparin dose (IU/kg/h)	15.1 (0–37.2)	20.8 (0–161)	0.004
ACT (s)	189.5 (143–289)	182 (118–999)	0.27
aPTT (s)	64.7 (47.4–151)	60.2 (28.7–151)	0.04
Anti-factor Xa (IU/ml)	0.16 (0.09–1.2)	0.27 (0.09–1.9)	<0.0001
CT-INTEM (s)	298 (237–1157)	278 (154–5126)	0.13
CT-Diff (s)	56 (-148 to 788)	58 (-126 to 4785)	0.60

ACT, activated clotting time; aPTT, activated partial thromboplastin time; CT-INTEM, clotting time in INTEM; CT-Diff, clotting time in INTEM minus clotting time in HEPTEM; DIC, disseminated intravascular coagulation.

^aMedian values and interquartile ranges.

The bold values symbolize that the value is statistically significant.

lower heparin doses compared to the use of an aPTT-driven protocol (22). Northrop et al. (10) showed that the use of a protocol which included anti-factor Xa assays, AT measurements, and thromboelastometry was associated with a reduction of thrombotic and hemorrhagic complications in pediatric patients on ECMO. Henderson et al. (19) showed a feasible management of heparin administration using the thromboelastography in a study of pediatric patients and neonates on ECMO and established the optimal target for one thromboelastographic parameter for predicting a significant thrombotic event. In contrast to these findings, we did not find a strong correlation of the evaluated thromboelastometric parameters to heparin dose. CT-Diff correlated only weakly, and no significant correlation of CT-INTEM to heparin dose was found. The graphical representation of the obtained thromboelastometric values showed a lack of sensitivity of the tests in response to a change in the heparin dose.

Showing the strongest correlation to heparin dose is not enough to demonstrate a superiority of one coagulation assay to manage the anticoagulation during ECMO. The goal of anticoagulation during ECMO is to minimize thrombotic complications in patients and the ECMO circuit without increasing hemorrhagic complications. Therefore, in a study that compares different coagulation assays, these clinical complications should be considered.

Irby et al. (23) published the first study in 2014, which linked anti-factor Xa concentrations with clinically relevant thrombotic complications in pediatric patients during ECMO. This study suggested that higher anti-factor Xa activity levels were associated with a lower probability of requiring a change of the ECMO circuit. In our study, only anti-factor Xa assay out of the evaluated tests showed statistically significant values between groups with and without thrombotic complications. Because heparin was still being administered according to ACT values, median values of anti-factor Xa assay were below 0.3 IU/ml in both groups. According to the current literature, such values are in a sub-therapeutic range (3). Nevertheless, the median value of anti-factor Xa assay was significantly lower in the group with clinically relevant thrombotic complications in comparison with the group without thrombotic complications. This observation would potentially suggest that dosing heparin according to anti-factor Xa assay values would not only lead to higher anti-factor Xa assay values but also to a greater difference in terms of thrombotic complications.

When considering hemorrhagic complications, only aPTT out of all evaluated coagulation assays was significantly higher in the group with clinically relevant bleeding in comparison with the group without hemorrhagic complications. The median dose of heparin infusion was also significantly higher in the group with hemorrhagic complications. This finding could suggest that monitoring aPTT could be important to prevent bleeding complications. In a systematic review, Willems et al. (24) compared time-guided vs. anti-factor Xaguided anticoagulation strategies for UNFH titration in patients on ECMO. This meta-analysis showed that an anti-factor Xa-based anticoagulation strategy was associated with fewer hemorrhagic complications without an increase in thrombotic events, when compared to a time-based anticoagulation strategy (24). In contrast to these findings, we found no differences regarding anti-factor Xa values, when comparing the groups with and without bleeding events. However, we did not compare two different anticoagulation strategies. Nevertheless, the results shown in the study by Willems et al. (24) could suggest that an anti-factor Xa-based UNFH titration strategy could also reduce bleeding complications in neonatal patients on ECMO.

Values of ACT and aPTT are typically elevated in the setting of DIC. If heparin is titrated according to ACT values, it will need to be reduced to keep ACT in the target values. This finding is demonstrated in our study: while median values of ACT showed no significant differences, the median of the heparin dose and the median value of anti-factor Xa assay were significantly lower in the setting of DIC. In contrast, the median value of aPTT was significantly higher. No difference was observed by the thromboelastometric parameters CT-INTEM and CT-Diff. This finding supports that anti-factor Xa assay correlates better to heparin dose than ACT, aPTT, and the two evaluated parameters of the thrombelastometry. The clinical correlations of ACT, aPTT, and anti-factor Xa in the setting of DIC are relatively unknown and should be investigated in future studies (4).

Our homogenous study population, comprising only CDH patients, offered several advantages. First, confounders derived from the differences in hemostatic system between neonates and older children were avoided. Furthermore, general inflammation, as present in sepsis or pneumonia, which might affect coagulation, interfering and influencing the anticoagulation management during ECMO, was excluded.

There are several limitations to our study. First, even though we have a number of measurements conducted, the sample size is still small. Also, results may not be applicable to older children supported by ECMO, because of developmental hemostasis in neonates. A second issue is that the design of the study does not allow declaration of superiority and/or inferiority of one of the coagulation assays. In our study, anticoagulation was managed based on ACT values, and the other assays were only measured but not used for the management of anticoagulation. However, our results are consistent with prior studies in pediatric patients on ECMO. A prospective study to evaluate if managing anticoagulation based on anti-factor Xa assay measurements instead of ACT could reduce thrombotic and bleeding complications in neonates during ECMO is currently being conducted at our institution.

CONCLUSIONS

Anti-factor Xa correlates stronger to heparin dose than ACT and could be a more accurate method to dose anticoagulation with heparin in neonates during ECMO. Moreover, managing ECMO anticoagulation based on anti-factor Xa assay measurements instead of ACT could reduce thrombotic and bleeding complications in these patients. Nevertheless, the moderate correlation of anti-factor Xa assay to heparin dose indicated that it is not the ideal test. Furthermore, the anti-factor Xa assay does not provide any information about the status of the patient's hemostasis. To allow an optimal management of the anticoagulation during ECMO and to avoid complications, additional tests which can assess the status of the patient's hemostasis are probably necessary. The use of thromboelastometry does not seem to have any additional benefit for dosing heparin in neonates supported with ECMO. However, due to the potential information that viscoelastic tests can provide, the use of thromboelastometry in pediatric and neonatal ECMO should be further explored.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics committee of the Medical Faculty Mannheim of the University of Heidelberg (Ethics Committee II). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AP, CD, CW, SH, TS, and NR contributed to the concept and design, acquisition, interpretation of data, and drafting of the article. TJ and TD contributed to the interpretation of data and revised the article for important intellectual content. All authors approved the final version of the article.

FUNDING

This study was supported by a research grant from the German ECMO booster club (Förderverein ECMO Deutschland e.V.).

REFERENCES

- Van Ommen CH, Neunert CE, Chitlur MB. Neonatal ECMO. Front Med. (2018) 5:289. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00289
- Brogan T V., Lequier L, Lorusso R, MacLaren G, Peek G. Extracorporal Life Support : The ELSO Red Book. 5th Edn. Brogan TV, Lequier L, Lorusso R, MacLaren G, Peek G, editors. Ann Arbor: Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (2017). 831 p.
- Bembea MM, Annich G, Rycus P, Oldenburg G, Berkowitz I, Pronovost P. Variability in anticoagulation management of patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: an international survey. *Pediatric Critical Care Med.* (2013) 14:e77–84. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e31827127e4
- Liveris A, Bello RA, Friedmann P, Duffy MA, Manwani D, Killinger JS, et al. Anti-factor Xa assay is a superior correlate of heparin dose than activated partial thromboplastin time or activated clotting time in pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2014) 15:72– 9. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000028
- Cho HJ, Kim DW, Kim GS, Jeong IS. Anticoagulation therapy during extracorporeal membrane oxygenator support in pediatric patients. *Chonnam Med J.* (2017) 53:110. doi: 10.4068/cmj.2017.53.2.110
- Lequier L, Annich G, Al-Ibrahim O, Bembea M, Brodie D, Brogan T, et al. ELSO anticoagulation guideline. *ELSO*. (2014) p. 1–17. Available online at: https://www.elso.org/Portals/0/Files/elsoanticoagulationguideline8-2014table-contents.pdf
- Ryerson LM, Lequier LL. Anticoagulation management and monitoring during pediatric extracorporeal life support: a review of current issues. *Front Pediatr.* (2016) 4:67. doi: 10.3389/fped.2016.00067
- Barton R, Ignjatovic V, Monagle P. Anticoagulation during ECMO in neonatal and paediatric patients. *Thromb Res.* (2019) 173:172–7. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2018.05.009
- Cashen K, Meert K, Dalton H. Anticoagulation in neonatal ECMO: an enigma despite a lot of effort! *Front Pediatr.* (2019) 7:366. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00366
- Northrop MS, Sidonio RF, Phillips SE, Smith AH, Daphne HC, Pietsch JB, et al. The use of an extracorporeal membrane oxygenation anticoagulation laboratory protocol is associated with decreased blood product use, decreased hemorrhagic complications, and increased circuit life. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2015) 16:66–74. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000278
- Nankervis CA, Preston TJ, Dysart KC, Wilkinson WD, Chicoine LG, Welty SE, et al. Assessing heparin dosing in neonates on venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. ASAIO J. (2007) 53:111–4. doi: 10.1097/01.mat.0000247777.65764.b3
- Sulkowski JP, Preston TJ, Cooper JN, Duffy VL, Deans KJ, Chicoine LG, et al. Comparison of routine laboratory measures of heparin anticoagulation for neonates on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *J Extra Corpor Technol.* (2014) 46:69–76.
- Snoek KG, Reiss IKM, Greenough A, Capolupo I, Urlesberger B, Wessel L, et al. Standardized postnatal management of infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia in Europe: the CDH EURO Consortium Consensus -2015 Update. *Neonatology*. (2016) 110:66–74. doi: 10.1159/000444210
- Bembea MM. Complications during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: why collaboration is key. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2015) 16:193–5. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000328
- Bembea MM. Anticoagulation monitoring during pediatric ECMO. ASAIO J. (2013) 59:63–8. doi: 10.1097/MAT.0b013e318279854a

- Khaja WA, Bilen O, Lukner RB, Edwards R, Teruya J. Evaluation of heparin assay for coagulation management in newborns undergoing ECMO. Am J Clin Pathol. (2010) 134:950–4. doi: 10.1309/AJCPGVD62LKKVDLH
- Baird CW, Zurakowski D, Robinson B, Gandhi S, Burdis-Koch L, Tamblyn J, et al. Anticoagulation and pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: impact of activated clotting time and heparin dose on survival. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2007) 83:912–20. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2006.09.054
- Maul TM, Wolff EL, Kuch BA, Rosendorff A, Morell VO, Wearden PD. Activated partial thromboplastin time is a better trending tool in pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2012) 13:e363–71. doi: 10.1097/PCC.0b013e31825b582e
- Henderson N, Sullivan JE, Myers J, Wells T, Calhoun A, Berkenbosch J, et al. Use of thromboelastography to predict thrombotic complications in pediatric and neonatal extracorporeal membranous oxygenation. J Extra Corpor Technol. (2018) 50:149–54.
- Alexander DC, Butt WW, Best JD, Donath SM, Monagle PT, Shekerdemian LS. Correlation of thromboelastography with standard tests of anticoagulation in paediatric patients receiving extracorporeal life support. *Thromb Res.* (2010) 125:387–92. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2009.07.001
- Oswald E, Stalzer B, Heitz E, Weiss M, Schmugge M, Strasak A, et al. Thromboelastometry (ROTEM®) in children: age-related reference ranges and correlations with standard coagulation tests. *Br J Anaesth.* (2010) 105:827–35. doi: 10.1093/bja/aeq258
- 22. Panigada ME, Iapichino G, Brioni M, Panarello G, Protti A, Grasselli G, et al. Thromboelastography-based anticoagulation management during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a safety and feasibility pilot study. *Ann Intensive Care.* (2018) 8:7. doi: 10.1186/s13613-017-0352-8
- 23. Irby K, Swearingen C, Byrnes J, Bryant J, Prodhan P, Fiser R. Unfractionated heparin activity measured by anti-factor xa levels is associated with the need for extracorporeal membrane oxygenation circuit/membrane oxygenator change: a retrospective pediatric study. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* (2014) 15:e175–82. doi: 10.1097/PCC.00000000000101
- Willems A, Roeleveld PP, Labarinas S, Cyrus JW, Muszynski JA, Nellis ME, et al. Anti-Xa versus time-guided anticoagulation strategies in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Perfusion*. (2020) 36:501–12. doi: 10.1177/0267659120952982

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Perez Ortiz, Dempfle, Jung, Doniga, Weiß, Hetjens, Schaible and Rafat. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

